

# Mathematical and statistical modelling to inform polio and measles vaccination programming

Megan Auzenbergs

Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy of the University of London December 2024

Faculty of Epidemiology and Population Health Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology and Dynamics LONDON SCHOOL OF HYGIENE & TROPICAL MEDICINE

Funded by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation and the Vaccine Impact Modelling Consortium

# Declaration

# Statement of Own Work

I, Megan Auzenbergs, confirm that the work presented in this thesis is my own. Any information derived from other sources has been indicated in the thesis. I have read and understood the school's definition of plagiarism and cheating given in the Research Degrees Handbook.

## Megan Auzenbergs

# COVID-19 impact statement

This PhD began in April 2020 at the start of the COVID-19 pandemic. Undoubtedly, the pandemic and switch to remote working affected my PhD, especially during the first formative year of my studies. At the start, I had a different secondary supervisor. Both of my supervisors began contributing towards modelling work for the UK pandemic response, resulting in infrequent supervisory meetings. I switched secondary supervisors and topics during the pandemic, and under the supervision of Dr. Kaja Abbas and Prof Mark Jit, began working on measles modelling projects. Alongside the return to the office, I resumed polio research, the topic initially proposed for this PhD. Additionally, global stakeholder engagement was hindered during the pandemic as many in-person meetings and conferences I had planned to attend or was invited to present at were cancelled or moved to online forums. Despite these obstacles, I was still able to produce high quality research during this difficult time and make a meaningful contribution to the field of vaccine epidemiology.

# Abstract

An important criterion for eradication of a disease is the availability of an efficacious vaccine that can be administered to reduce the global worldwide disease incidence to zero. However, deployment strategies for vaccination vary across diseases and geographies and depend on many factors, such as disease burden, political will, vaccine availability and financial resources. Polio and measles are two vaccine preventable diseases that have been targeted for eradication and global elimination, respectively, but have different transmission dynamics, vaccines and mechanisms of vaccine administration. For this PhD, I use statistical and mathematical models to explore aspects of polio and measles vaccination programming, from measuring the efficiency and cost-effectiveness of vaccination strategies, to evaluating vaccine impact and comparing disease surveillance systems. The overall aim of my thesis is to assess the effect of different vaccination strategies for polio and measles using statistical and mathematical models.

First, I explore the costs and benefits of different polio vaccination strategies using a compartmental transmission model. I evaluate outbreak risk and associated costs if a case of wild poliovirus serotype 1 (WPV1) was imported into a low- and middle-income country (LMIC) in sub-Saharan Africa. I model varying frequencies of preventative supplementary immunisation activities (SIAs) in comparison to a baseline comparator strategy consisting of only routine immunisation (RI) and outbreak response. This work concluded that both annual and biennial preventative SIAs are cost-effective when RI coverage is low. At higher levels of RI coverage, annual preventative SIAs are more costly, but result in the greatest probability of no outbreaks in comparison to the baseline strategy with no preventative SIAs.

Next, I use the Dynamic Measles Immunization Calculation Engine (DynaMICE) to estimate the incremental health effects of routine measles vaccination and measles SIAs in 14 high-burden countries: India, Nigeria, Indonesia, Ethiopia, China, Philippines, Uganda, Democratic Republic of the Congo (DRC), Pakistan, Angola, Madagascar, Ukraine, Malawi, and Somalia. I evaluate the effectiveness and efficiency of historical vaccination strategies that were implemented at varying points in time in the high-burden countries. I found that adding routine measles containing vaccine (MCV) dose 2 to MCV dose 1 (MCV1) prevented fewer cases and deaths than adding SIAs to MCV1. However, despite larger incremental effects, adding SIAs to MCV1 showed reduced efficiency because of the wide age range targeted by SIAs.

Finally, I explore the role of vaccination in seeding future vaccine derived poliovirus (VDPV) outbreaks. I estimate the time from emergence to VDPV outbreak detection across all poliovirus serotypes and evaluate factors associated with decreased time to detection. This work emphasises the role of surveillance in VDPV detection and the importance of maintaining surveillance for poliomyelitis even after local elimination is achieved to quickly respond to both emergence of VDPVs and potential importations.

Collectively, the research included in this PhD demonstrates the utility of using statistical and mathematical models to inform global vaccination programming. Whilst measles and polio are ultimately different diseases with independent goals and targets for elimination and eradication, there are parallels in the evaluation of vaccination strategies for both diseases. Understanding the risks and benefits of different vaccination strategies and factors that can improve quality and efficiency are important for global policy and decision-making.

# Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors Dr. Kathleen M O'Reilly and Dr. Kaja Abbas, and Dr. Han Fu, who sits on my advisory board, for their intellectual insight, advice and mentoring throughout my PhD. During my studies, I was also mentored by Prof Mark Jit, Prof Felicity Cutts, Prof Anna Vassall, Dr. Simon Procter, Dr. Yang Liu, Dr. Stéphane Hué, Dr. Sushant Sahastrabuddhe, Clara Maure, Dr. Oliver Brady and Dr. Grace Macklin.

I am grateful for the funding I received from the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation (BMGF) (OPP1191821) and the Vaccine Impact Modelling consortium (VIMC) (OPP1157270). I appreciate the support and feedback received from researchers at the BMGF and the Institute for Disease Modeling (IDM): Dr. Arie Voorman, Corey M Peak, Dr. Hil Lyons and Dr. Rachel Burke. I thank stakeholders from the Global Polio Eradication Initiative (GPEI) who provided feedback during meetings for the Strategic Advisory Group of Modellers.

I value the comradery and friendship with other PhD students and postdocs within the Centre for Mathematical Modelling of Infectious Diseases (CMMID), namely, Tomoka Nakamura, Dr. Alyssa Sbarra and Dr. Emily Nightingale. I thank my family, friends and especially my partner for their unending support and patience while I worked to complete my PhD.

# Table of Contents

Declaration	2
COVID-19 impact statement	3
Abstract	4
Acknowledgements	6
Table of Contents	7
Acronyms	12
1. Chapter 1: Introduction	14
1.1 Introduction	14
1.1.1 Motivation for this thesis	14
1.1.2 Overview of the viruses	14
1.1.3 Disease surveillance	15
1.1.4 Vaccinology	16
1.1.4 Vaccination strategies	23
1.1.5 Epidemiology over time	25
1.1.6 Features of measles and polio that makes them amenable to elimination or eradication	29
1.1.7 Using models to inform vaccine policy – literature reviews	32
1.1.8 Evidence gaps	34
1.2 Aims and objectives	36
1.3 Thesis structure	37
1.4 Chapter 1 references	38
2. Chapter 2: Methods	46
2.1 Using models to evaluate vaccine impact	46
2.1.1 Strengths	49
2.1.2 Limitations	49
2.2 Evaluating vaccination strategies	51
2.2.1 Defining vaccine impact	51
2.2.2 Effectiveness vs. efficiency	51
2.2.3 Economic models and checklists	52
2.3 Tying it all together	55

2.5 Chapter 2 references
3. Chapter 3: Vaccination strategies against wild poliomyelitis in polio-free settings:
outbreak risk modelling study and cost-effectiveness analysis
3.1 Research paper cover sheet
3.2 Bridging section
3.3 Abstract and author summary62
3.3.1 Abstract
3.3.2 Author summary
3.4. Introduction
3.5 Methods67
3.5.1 Vaccination strategies
3.5.2 Model structure
3.5.3 Model assumptions
3.5.4 Outbreak probability
3.5.5 DALYs
3.5.6 Health and economic outcomes
3.5.7 Perspectives
3.5.8 Vaccine costs
3.5.9 SIA data and costs
3.5.10 Adverse events
3.5.11 Ethics
3.5.12 Patient and public involvement
3.6 Results72
3.7 Discussion81
3.7.1 Contributors
3.7.2 Data sharing
3.7.3 Patient and public involvement
3.7.4 Declaration of interests
3.7.5 Acknowledgements
3.8 Chapter 3 references89

4. Chapter 4: Health effects of routine measles vaccination and sup	oplementary
immunisation activities in 14 high-burden countries: a Dynamic Me	easles Immunization
Calculation Engine (DynaMICE) modelling study	88
4.1 Research paper cover sheet	89
4.2 Bridging section	91
4.3 Abstract and author summary	91
4.3.1 Abstract	
4.3.2 Author summary	
4.4. Introduction	92
4.5 Methods	94
4.5.1 Data sources	
4.5.2 DynaMICE model	
4.5.3 Measles vaccination strategies and effect estimates	
4.5.4 Sensitivity analysis	
4.5.6 Role of the funding source	
4.6 Results	97
4.7 Discussion	
4.7.1 Acknowledgements	
4.8 Chapter 4 references	
5. Chapter 5: The impact of surveillance and other factors on detec	tion of emergent and
circulating vaccine derived polioviruses	
5.1 Research paper cover sheet	114
5.2 Bridging section	116
5.3 Abstract and author summary	
5.3.1 Abstract	
5.3.2 Author summary	117
5.4 Introduction	118
5.5 Methods	119
5.6 Results	
5.6.1 Independent cVDPV outbreaks	122

5.6.2 Estimating the time to outbreak detection	127
5.7 Discussion	128
5.7.1 Acknowledgements	131
5.8 Chapter 5 references	132
6. Chapter 6: Discussion	136
6.1 Summary of findings	136
6.1.1 Understanding risks and benefits of different polio vaccination strategies to avert outbreaks	;
following WPV1 importations	136
6.1.2 Which measles vaccination strategies have resulted in the greatest impact over time?	136
6.1.3 Determining the importance of surveillance in quickly detecting cVDPVs	137
6.2 Strengths and limitations	138
6.2.1 Strengths	138
6.2.2 Limitations and remaining gaps in knowledge	140
6.3 Feasibility of polio eradication	142
6.3.1 Criticisms of global polio eradication efforts	142
6.3.2 Support for the feasibility of polio eradication	144
6.4 Feasibility of measles elimination	144
6.4.1 Why measles elimination is still feasible	145
6.4.2 Challenges for measles elimination given current timelines	145
6.5 The polio legacy and global health programmes	146
6.6 Implications of this PhD and future work	148
6.7 Concluding remarks	148
6.7.1 Continued academic pathway	148
6.8 Chapter 6 references	150
7. Appendices	154
7.1 Other published work to supplement this PhD research	154
7.1.1 Programmatic considerations and evidence gaps for chikungunya vaccine introduction in co	untries
at risk of chikungunya outbreaks: Stakeholder analysis	155
7.1.2 Desirable BUGS in models of infectious diseases	185
7.2 Chapter 3 appendix	210
7.2.1 References - Chapter 3 appendix	239

7.3 Chapter 4 appendix	241
7.4 Chapter 5 appendix	258
7.4.1 References - Chapter 5 appendix	

# Acronyms

AFP	Acute Flaccid Paralysis
AIC	Akaike information criteria
aVDPV	ambiguous Vaccine Derived Poliovirus
BCG	Bacillus Calmette-Guérin
BMGF	Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation
bOPV	bivalent Oral Polio Vaccine
BUGS	Bayesian inference using Gibbs sampling
CAR	Central African Republic
CBA	Cost-benefit analysis
CEA	Cost-effectiveness analysis
CHEERS	Consolidated Health Economic Evaluation Reporting Standards
CMA	Cost-minimization analysis
CMMID	Centre for Mathematical Modelling of Infectious Diseases
CUA	Cost-utility analysis
cVDPV	circulating Vaccine Derived Poliovirus
DALYs	Disability-Adjusted Life Year
DHS	Demographic and Health Surveys
DRC	Democratic Republic of the Congo
DTP	Diphtheria-Tetanus-Pertussis vaccine
DynaMICE	Dynamic Measles Immunization Calculation Engine
EPI	Expanded Programme for Immunisation
ES	Environmental Surveillance
EtR	Evidence to Recommendation
GAVI	Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunization
GMRLN	Global Measles Rubella Laboratory Network
GPEI	Global Polio Eradication Initiative
HiB	Haemophilus influenzae type B
IA2030	Immunization Agenda 2021-2030
IDM	Institute for Disease Modeling
lgM	Immunoglobulin M
IHME	Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation
IPV	Inactivated Polio Vaccine
IRR	Incidence Rate Ratio
iVDPV	immunodeficiency-associated Vaccine Derived Poliovirus
LMICs	Low-and-Middle-Income Countries
LSHTM	London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine
MCMC	Markov chain Monte Carlo
MCV	Measles Containing Vaccine
MCV1	Measles Containing Vaccine dose 1
MCV2	Measles Containing Vaccine dose 2
MMR	Measles-Mumps-Rubella

mOPV2	monovalent Oral Polio Vaccine serotype 2
MWMR	Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Reports
NITAGs	National Immunisation Technical Advisory Groups
NNV	Number of doses Needed to Vaccinate
nOPV2	novel Oral Polio Vaccine serotype 2
ODE	Ordinary Differential Equation
OPV	Oral Polio Vaccine
oSIA	outbreak response Supplementary Immunisation Activity
pSIA	preventative Supplementary Immunisation Activity
QUALYs	Quality-Adjusted Life Years
RI	Routine Immunisation
R <sub>0</sub>	Basic reproductive number
SIAs	Supplementary Immunisation Activities
tOPV	trivalent Oral Polio Vaccine
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
VAPP	Vaccine-Associated Paralytic Polio
VDPV	Vaccine Derived Poliovirus
VIMC	Vaccine Impact Modelling Consortium
WHA	World Health Assembly
WHO	World Health Organization
WPV1	Wild Poliovirus Serotype 1
WUENIC	WHO and UNICEF Estimates of National Immunization Coverage

# 1. Chapter 1: Introduction

# 1.1 Introduction

## 1.1.1 Motivation for this thesis

Vaccines have been consistently shown to be the public health intervention which results in the largest reduction in disease burden or mortality for every dollar spent. Since inception of the Expanded Programme for Immunisation (EPI) in 1974, vaccination has averted 154 million deaths, alongside substantial gains in childhood survival in all global regions [1]. In the latest Global Vaccine Action Plan (2020) and Immunization Agenda 2030 (IA2030), several goals were set to improve access to life-saving vaccines, including the interruption of wild poliovirus transmission and elimination of measles [2, 3].

In addition to the tremendous reduction in global polio and measles incidence attributed to vaccination, an improved understanding of the risks and benefits of different vaccination strategies is needed to inform vaccine policy. To make informed decisions about future vaccination programming, is important to understand specific factors that drive successful vaccination strategies and if any approaches can be improved or made more efficient.

In this thesis, I use statistical and mathematical models to evaluate vaccination strategies for both polio and measles. This introductory chapter explores the biology of viruses, temporal trends in global epidemiology, vaccines available, targets for elimination and eradication and vaccination strategies deployed for each disease. I highlight existing evidence gaps in vaccination programming and outline my research objectives to contribute to future decision making.

## 1.1.2 Overview of the viruses

## 1.1.2.1 Poliovirus

Poliovirus is an enterovirus belonging to the Picornaviridae family that is the causative agent of poliomyelitis, a paralysing infection that exclusively infects humans. Transmission of the virus occurs from person-to-person via the faecal-oral route, or through food or water contaminated with infected human faeces. There are three different serotypes of poliovirus (1, 2, & 3), each with a slightly different capsid protein and varying viral antigenicity. Wild poliovirus (WPV) type 1 is the most common strain of the virus found in nature, but all serotypes are highly infectious [4]. Poliovirus infection targets the spinal cord, resulting in paralytic disease knows as poliomyelitis or polio. Paralysis

usually occurs in the legs, and while some cases recover from polio, the disease can result in life-long disability or death, especially if the paralysis reaches respiratory muscles and prevents breathing. Infected people who do not have any symptoms of poliomyelitis can still shed virus, which is able to survive in infected faeces for many weeks, allowing for ongoing transmission [5].

#### 1.1.2.2 Measles virus

Measles virus is a highly contagious paramyxovirus that causes measles disease, which is characterised by a systemic rash. Complications from measles can lead to death, especially in younger malnourished or immunosuppressed children. Long-term morbidity is also associated with measles as infected individuals are predisposed to other infections through immunosuppression [6]. Transmission of the virus occurs from person-to-person, specifically, through contact with infected nasal or throat secretions or by breathing air that was breathed by a measles infected person [7]. Measles can affect all age groups, although children are often disproportionately affected in measles endemic settings due to lack of immunity, induced by both vaccination and natural infection [6].

#### 1.1.3 Disease surveillance

#### 1.1.3.1 Polio surveillance

The World Health Organization (WHO) defines a case of acute flaccid paralysis (AFP) as a child <15 years of age presenting with sudden onset of paralysis or muscle weakness, due to any cause [8]. As AFP is also symptom of poliomyelitis, two key performance indicators are used to measure the sensitivity and quality of AFP surveillance: (1) non-polio AFP rate and (2) the proportion of AFP cases with adequate stool specimens. For the non-polio AFP rate, a country's surveillance system is expected to detect at least one case of non-polio AFP in every 100,000 children under 15 years of age. Additionally, at least 80% of AFP cases should have adequate stool specimens, where 'adequate' refers to both the quality of the sample and the timeliness of collection [8].

Another form of poliovirus surveillance is environmental surveillance (ES), which utilises wastewater systems to examine sewage for the presence of poliovirus isolates. Because infected individuals excrete poliovirus for several weeks, even if they are asymptomatic, large amounts of excreted poliovirus can remain in the environment. Even though this type of surveillance does not directly identify infected individuals, it can provide valuable information about the populations that the wastewater system serves [9]. From 2022-2023, of the 28 countries with ongoing poliovirus transmission or considered at high risk of an outbreak, only 20 (71%) met the target rate of AFP

surveillance [10]. Therefore, ES is particularly beneficial in areas where AFP surveillance is lacking or inadequate.

#### 1.1.3.2 Measles surveillance

Measles surveillance is case-based and depends on clinical diagnoses based on symptomatic manifestations of measles virus. Symptoms include fever and generalised maculopapular rash. Although the utility of ES for measles virus detection has been demonstrated in high-income countries [11], ES is rarely done for measles in low-and-middle-income countries (LMICs). Suspected measles cases undergo laboratory confirmation to detect measles-specific immunoglobulin M (IgM) antibodies in serum samples and are reported through the Global Measles Rubella Laboratory Network (GMRLN) [12]. Enzyme immunoassays are used for laboratory confirmation, but research on different rapid-diagnostic tests for measles IgM antibodies is currently being done to assess sensitivity of alternative confirmatory detection methods, especially in low resource settings [12]. Like AFP surveillance for polio, specific key indicators are established to measure the sensitivity of measles surveillance. One such indicator is that at least 2 suspected cases per 100,000 population should be identified and confirmed as neither measles nor rubella [12].

#### 1.1.4 Vaccinology

Vaccines are biological substances that protect against a particular disease or pathogen by stimulating the body's immune response [13]. Different biological mechanisms, administration routes, dose scheduling (see Table 1) and dosing recommendations exist for different vaccines. Following receipt of a vaccine, a person can become protected from a disease if their body has successfully used the vaccine to mount a protective immune response. *Immunity* is usually measured using a laboratory test and determines if a person has antibodies present in the blood, referred to as *seroconversion*. *Active immunity* involves the production of antibodies against a particular disease and occurs following vaccination or by natural infection with a disease [13]. *Passive immunity* is protection from a disease through antibodies produced by another human, for example, when *maternal antibodies* are passed from mother to child, but these antibodies usually decrease over time [13].

*Vaccine efficacy* varies across different vaccines and is a measure of how effective a vaccine is at protecting an individual against infection and/or disease or protecting an individual from severe disease or hospitalisation. Vaccine efficacy is measured by a vaccinated individual's reduced risk of infection relative to a susceptible, unvaccinated individual [14] and often refers to the estimated protection obtained from phase 3 clinical trials. For example, if a vaccine has an efficacy of 90%, it

means that in controlled trials, people who received the vaccine were 90% less likely to develop the infection and/or disease or become hospitalised compared to those who did not receive the vaccine.

*Vaccine effectiveness* can be derived from phase clinical 4 trials as well as mass (or more targeted) vaccination campaigns. Vaccine effectiveness can also be measured against infection and/or disease, but an important distinction between vaccine efficacy and effectiveness is that vaccine effectiveness is derived from the general population rather than the specific population enrolled in clinical trials. Vaccine effectiveness can also depend on the reduced rate of viral transmission for an individual in a particular population with a given level of vaccination *coverage*, or the proportion of the population that has received a vaccine [14]. Vaccine effectiveness and vaccine efficacy often differ. For example, the Pfizer-BioNTech (BNT162b2) vaccine had an initial vaccine efficacy of 95% efficacy against symptomatic COVID-19 infection after two doses (based on the Phase 3 clinical trial) [15], but the real-world effectiveness was approximately 88% against symptomatic disease from the Delta variant [16].

It is also important to note that vaccine efficacy can vary not only by antigen, but also on outcome of interest. Sterilising immunity occurs when the immune response completely prevents a pathogen from infecting a host and the individual cannot spread the disease [17]. In other words, the immune system eliminates the pathogen before it can begin to replicate in the body. As a result, a person with sterilising immunity does not get infected and therefore cannot transmit the pathogen to others. Some vaccines, like the measles vaccine, can produce sterilising immunity in most people, which is why measles transmission is rare among vaccinated populations. Immunity against morbidity refers to the ability of the immune system to prevent the severe consequences or illness associated with infection, even if the pathogen still manages to enter and replicate in the body [18]. In this case, a person may get infected, but their immune system controls the infection to the point that they experience mild or no symptoms, and are protected from severe disease, hospitalization, or death. Many COVID-19 vaccines offer strong protection against severe illness, hospitalisation, and death, even though vaccinated individuals can still get infected.

*Herd immunity* occurs when a sufficient proportion of a population has acquired immunity to a disease or infection either through vaccination or recovering from natural infection. If herd immunity is achieved, transmission of infection from person to person is unlikely at the population level [13]. The proportion of the population that is required to be immune for herd immunity to be achieved is referred to as the *herd immunity threshold*. The herd immunity threshold varies for different diseases. For example, to achieve herd immunity for polio, 80-85% of the population needs to be immunised, whilst measles requires 90-95% of the population to be immunised because it is a more contagious disease [19-21].

#### 1.1.4.1 Polio vaccines

Two forms of polio vaccine are currently available: a live Sabin oral poliovirus vaccine (OPV) that induces mucosal immunity, prevents infection and therefore halts transmission; and an injectable inactivated poliovirus vaccine (IPV) that contains live attenuated forms of the virus, but only protects from disease (poliomyelitis), and does not induce mucosal immunity to prevent infection or onwards transmission. OPV is therefore integral to polio eradication as it prevents circulating poliovirus transmission and helps move towards the permanent reduction of worldwide infections to zero. Additionally, the OPV can be administered via drops in the mouth and does not require injectable equipment or a cold chain to ensure temperature-controlled storage and transport. bOPV vaccine efficacy against clinical poliomyelitis, obtained from a case-control study comparing immunocompetent (i.e. immune) children to unvaccinated children (i.e. no bOPV doses), was estimated at 82% after one dose, 96% after two doses and 98% after three or more doses of bOPV [22]. For IPV, data on the vaccine efficacy against clinical poliomyelitis is limited. For example, in Senegal, a case-control study during an outbreak of poliomyelitis in 1986–1987 resulted in an estimated efficacy of 36% after a single dose and 89% efficacy for two IPV doses [23], although both estimates had very broad 95% confidence intervals, whilst a study in the USA found efficacy to be 44% and 82% for one and two doses, respectively [24].

Research on the long-term immunogenicity of IPV and OPV estimates that protective antibodies against all three poliovirus serotypes lasts for *at least* 18 years and no statistically significant difference in levels of protection were found between IPV and OPV [25]. This age distinction is important because most poliovirus cases occur in the under-five age group, meaning that the duration of protection for IPV and OPV exceeds the ages at which children are most at risk of poliovirus infection [26].

Prior to 2016, trivalent oral polio vaccine (tOPV) was administered, which contains components of all poliovirus serotypes. After the certified elimination of wild poliovirus type 2 in 2015, serotype 2 was withdrawn from the tOPV and the bivalent vaccine (bOPV) was routinely used instead, which contains antigens against serotypes 1 and 3 only. This event is referred to as *'The Switch'*. *The Switch* was accomplished globally in a two-week period at the end of April 2016 and consequently, 100% of countries had reported cessation by the end of May 2016 [27]. Since then, because the genetically unstable Sabin vaccine perpetuates the spread and existence of poliomyelitis, complete removal of

OPV from use has become an important part of the polio eradication strategy, referred to hereafter as 'bOPV cessation'.

#### 1.1.4.2 Vaccine derived poliovirus

OPV is important for polio eradication, although it also poses a problem due to the genetic instability of viral strains comprising the vaccine [28]. During viral replication in the intestine, the live attenuated virus can undergo mutations, causing it to lose the attenuation and gain transmissibility and neurovirulence similar to WPV [29, 30]. Whilst OPV can be beneficial for stopping poliovirus transmission, vaccine-derived polioviruses (VDPVs) can arise consequently. By definition, a VDPV is a poliovirus strain that originates from OPV but has >1% nucleotide divergence from the vaccine strain (known as the Sabin strain), increasing both the risk of paralysis and transmissibility [28]. Therefore, when vaccine strains are excreted, much like wild type poliovirus would be, VDPVs can be shed. In areas where sanitation infrastructure is insufficient and vaccination coverage is low, VDPVs can circulate (cVDPV) in the community and cause outbreaks.

cVDPVs are of particular concern in areas of low vaccine coverage, as the virus can establish circulation and maintain transmission [31]. OPV vaccination, or lack thereof, is a key risk factor for occurrence of cVDPV outbreaks. Other risk factors include continued OPV use at low rates of coverage, prior elimination of the corresponding WPV serotype, use of monovalent OPV (mOPV), bOPV in SIAs, and insensitive acute flaccid paralysis (AFP) surveillance [28]. Concerningly, cVDPVs carry the same public health risk as WPVs as these revertant strains have recovered the neurovirulence and transmissibility that can lead to poliomyelitis, and outbreaks can potentially re-establish endemicity in regions with low vaccination coverage [28].

Following *The Switch*, a global cohort of children had limited, or no, immunity against serotype 2. Consequently, vaccine derived outbreaks of paralytic poliomyelitis associated with serotype 2 (VDPV2) emerged. To respond to these outbreaks, the only solution at the time was to administer mOPV serotype 2 during reactive outbreak response Supplementary Immunisation Activities (oSIAs), potentially seeding future VDPV2 outbreaks. As the risks of OPV have begun to outweigh the benefits, the continued use of mOPV2 has been deemed unnecessary due to ongoing VDPV2 cases [32]. A novel OPV2 (nOPV2), with greater genetic stability has been developed and licensed for emergency use. In 2022, over 94% of the type 2 vaccine used in outbreak response was nOPV2 and by the end of 2023, over 600 million doses of nOPV2 have been administered via oSIAs in over 28 countries [33].

#### 1.1.4.3 Measles vaccines

There are four measles containing vaccine (MCV) types — measles only as a standalone vaccine, combination measles-rubella vaccine, measles-mumps-rubella (MMR) vaccine and measles-mumps-rubella-varicella vaccine. LMICs with a high burden of measles usually administer standalone measles vaccine or measles-rubella vaccine whilst many high-income countries, such as the UK and USA predominantly administer MMR. All measles vaccine types are live-attenuated vaccines and require both injectable equipment and a cold chain to ensure temperature-controlled storage and transport.

The research included in this thesis primarily features vaccination strategies that use MCV. The efficacy of MCV varies based on whether it is administered as one dose or two doses. For example, one dose of the measles vaccine (MCV1) provides approximately 93% efficacy in preventing measles infection and a second dose (MCV2) increases the efficacy to 97%-99%, providing near-complete protection against measles infection [34]. This second dose is important to catch individuals who did not develop immunity from the first dose. Previously, it was thought that the sterilising immunity induced by measles vaccination provided lifetime protection, with no waning over time [35]. However, recent research has shown the contrary to be true amongst MMR vaccinated individuals in England [36]. For example, Robert et al. (2024) estimated the waning rate in England was slow (95% credible interval: 0.036% to 0.044% per year) but was sufficient to increase measles burden because vaccinated cases caused onwards transmission.

#### 1.1.4.4 Vaccination schedules

Vaccination schedules for both polio and measles vary by country. For polio, high income countries in Europe and North America predominantly administer IPV only. For example, the US Centres for Disease Control and Prevention recommend four doses of IPV given at 2, 4 6-18 months of age and a fourth dose between ages 4 and 6 years. Most non-polio endemic countries at high risk of polio outbreaks (countries in the WHO African, Eastern Mediterranean, South East Asian and Western Pacific regions), recommend four doses of bOPV and at least one dose IPV given in a sequential schedule, with the first IPV dose given alongside the fourth dose of bOPV [37]. However, Table 1 shows how the exact age at which these doses are given can vary between countries.

Since the introduction of measles vaccination in high-income countries in the 1960s and in low-income and middle-income countries in the 1970s and 1980s, recommendations around measles vaccination strategies have been revised. For measles, the WHO recommends MCV dose 1 (MCV1) should be given during the first year of life, ideally at age 9 months or age 12 months and MCV dose 2 (MCV2) is

recommended to be given between age 15 months and 18 months. As of 2023, all countries have implemented at least one dose of MCV [38]. Although, different countries implemented MCV2 at different points in time, and as of 2024, Benin, Central African Republic (CAR), Gabon, and South Sudan have not yet introduced a second dose [38]. Table 1 includes the schedules for measles vaccines in the 14-measles high-burden countries modelled in this PhD.

**Table 1.** Age at which polio and measles vaccine doses are given across a range of countries as of December 2023. IPV = inactivated polio vaccine, OPV = oral polio vaccine, MR = measles-rubella vaccine, MCV = measles containing vaccine, MMR = Measles, mumps rubella vaccine, AFRO = African region, EMRO = Eastern Mediterranean region, SEARO = South East Asia region, WPRO = Western Pacific region, EURO = European region. Data source: https://immunizationdata.who.int (accessed on 6 June 2024).

Country	WHO Region	Vaccine	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	Months of age 9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	3 1 2	345	ears of	fage 3 9 10 11 12 13 14
		IPV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2	3 4 5	6 7 8	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
Angola	AFRO	OPV	Birth 0	1 <b>2</b> 3 <b>4</b> 5 <b>6</b> 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
		MR	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	23 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
Potowono	AFRO	IPV	Birth O	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22 3	1 2	3 4 5	678 c 78	3 9 10 11 12 13 14 0 10 11 12 13 14
DOISWalla	AFRO	MR	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1 4 15 16 17 1	<b>8</b> 19 20 21 22 .	3 1 2	3 4 5		3 9 10 11 12 13 14 3 9 10 11 12 13 14
		IPV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2	3 4 5	6 7 8	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
Cameroon	AFRO	OPV	Birth 0	<b>1 2 3</b> 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	13 1 2	3 4 5	678	8 9 10 11 12 13 14
		MR	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	23 1 2	3 4 5	6 7 8	<u>3 9 10 11 12 13 14</u>
Central African Republic	AFRO	OPV	Birth 0	<b>1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8</b>	9 10 11 12 13 1	14 15 16 17 1 14 15 16 17 1		3 1 2	345	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14 3 9 10 11 12 13 14
central Amean Republic		MCV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	23 1 2	3 4 5	6 7 8	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
		IPV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	<b>9</b> 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	23 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
Chad	AFRO	OPV	Birth 0	<b>1 2 3</b> 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	23 1 2	3 4 5	6 7 8	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
		MCV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 <b>15</b> 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14 0 10 11 12 13 14
Congo	AFRO	OPV	Birth 0	1 <b>2 3 4</b> 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	14 15 16 17 1 14 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2 2 3 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14 3 9 10 11 12 13 14
		MR	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
		IPV	Birth 0	1 2 <mark>3</mark> 4 5 6 7 8	<b>9</b> 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2	3 4 5		3 9 10 11 12 13 14
DRC	AFRO	OPV	Birth 0	<b>1 2 3</b> 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	23 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
		IPV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1 9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22 . 8 19 20 21 22 .	3 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14 3 9 10 11 12 13 14
Ethiopia	AFRO	OPV	Birth 0	<b>1 2 3</b> 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	13 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
		MCV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	14 <b>15</b> 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2	3 4 5	678	8 9 10 11 12 13 14
		IPV	Birth 0	1 2 <mark>3</mark> 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
Madagascar	AFRO	OPV	Birth 0	<b>1 2 3</b> 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22 . 9 19 20 21 22 .	23 1 2	3 4 5	678 678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14 9 10 11 12 13 14
		IPV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2	3 4 5	6 7 8	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
Malawi	AFRO	OPV	Birth 0	<b>1 2 3</b> 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	3 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
		MR	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
Mali	4500	IPV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1		1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14 0 10 11 12 13 14
wian	AFRO	MCV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	3 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14 3 9 10 11 12 13 14
		IPV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	23 1 2	3 4 5	6 7 8	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
Mozambique	AFRO	OPV	Birth 0	1 <b>2 3 4</b> 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	23 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
		MR	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2	3 4 5	6 7 8	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
Niger	AFRO	OPV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1 9 10 11 12 13 1	14 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22 3	3 1 2	345	678 678	8 9 10 11 12 13 14 9 10 11 12 13 14
Niger		MCV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2 2 3 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14 3 9 10 11 12 13 14
		IPV	Birth 0	<b>1</b> 2 <b>3</b> 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	23 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
Nigeria	AFRO	OPV	Birth 0	<b>1 2 3</b> 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	23 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
		MCv IDV	Birth 0		9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14 0 10 11 12 13 14
South Africa	AFRO	OPV	Birth 0	<b>1</b> 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	13 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14 3 9 10 11 12 13 14
		MCV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	14 <b>15</b> 16 17 1		1 2	3 4 5		
		IPV	Birth 0	1 2 <mark>3</mark> 4 5 6 7 8	<b>9</b> 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	23 1 2	3 4 5	6 7 8	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
South Sudan	AFRO	OPV	Birth 0	<b>1 2 3</b> 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1		1 2	3 4 5		3 9 10 11 12 13 14 0 10 11 12 13 14
		IPV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2 2 3 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14 3 9 10 11 12 13 14
Tanzania	AFRO	OPV	Birth 0	<b>1 2 3</b> 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
		MR	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	23 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
Zambia	4500	IPV OPV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1		1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14 0 10 11 12 13 14
Zampia	AFRO	MR	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 <b>1</b>	<b>8</b> 19 20 21 22 1	1 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14 3 9 10 11 12 13 14
		IPV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	23 1 2	3 4 5	6 7 8	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
Zimbabwe	AFRO	OPV	Birth 0	<b>1 2 3</b> 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	14 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	23 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
		MR	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	<b>8</b> 19 20 21 22	1 2	3 4 5	6 7 8	<u>9 10 11 12 13 14</u>
Afghanistan	EMRO	OPV	Birth 0	<b>1 2 3</b> 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1		1 2 2 3 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14 3 9 10 11 12 13 14
- ingrid instant		MCV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2	3 4 5	678	9 10 11 12 13 14
		IPV	Birth 0	1 2 <mark>3</mark> 4 5 6 7 8	<b>9</b> 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2	3 4 5	6 7 8	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
Pakistan	EMRO	OPV	Birth 0	<b>1 2 3</b> 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14 0 10 11 12 13 14
		IPV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1 9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	3 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14 3 9 10 11 12 13 14
Somalia	EMRO	OPV	Birth 0	<b>1 2 3</b> 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2	3 4 5	678	9 10 11 12 13 14
		MCV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	14 <b>15</b> 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
		IPV	Birth O	<b>1</b> 2 <b>3</b> 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1		23 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
Sudan	EMRO	MCV	Birth 0	<b>1 2 3</b> 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	14 15 16 17 1 14 15 16 17 1		3 1 2	3 4 5	678	8 9 10 11 12 13 14 8 9 10 11 12 13 14
		IPV	Birth 0	<b>1</b> 2 <b>3</b> 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 23 1 2	3 4 5	6 7 8	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
India	SEARO	OPV	Birth 0	<b>1 2 3</b> 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 <b>16 17 1</b>	8 19 20 21 22	23 1 2	3 4 5	678	8 9 10 11 12 13 14
		MR	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	3 1 2	3 4 5	678	<u>9 10 11 12 13 14</u>
Indonesia	SEARO	OPV	Birth 0	1 Z 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1 9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1 4 15 16 17 1		1 1 2 1 1 2	3 4 5	078 673	5 5 10 11 12 13 14 3 9 10 11 12 13 14
		MR	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2	3 4 5	6 <b>7</b> 8	9 10 11 12 13 14
		IPV	Birth 0	1 2 <mark>3</mark> 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	23 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
Philippines	WPRO	OPV	Birth 0	<b>1 2 3</b> 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	23 1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14 0 10 11 12 13 14
		IPV/	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1 9 10 11 12 12 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22 . 8 19 20 21 22 .	1 2 13 1 2	3 4 5	078 674	5 9 10 11 12 13 14 3 9 10 11 12 13 14
China	WPRO	OPV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2	3 4 5	6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 14
		MMR	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	1 2	3 4 5	678	3 9 10 11 12 13 14
Ultraine	FURS	IPV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	4 15 16 17 1	8 19 20 21 22	23 1 2	3 4 5	678	9 10 11 12 13 14
Ukraine	EURO	OPV	Birth 0	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8	9 10 11 12 13 1	14 15 16 17 1	<b>8</b> 19 20 21 22	1 2	3 4 5	<b>b</b> 7 8	5 9 10 11 12 13 <b>14</b>

#### 1.1.4 Vaccination strategies

#### 1.1.4.1 Routine immunisation and the Expanded Programme for Immunisation

Routine immunisation (RI) refers to vaccinations given at recommended routine vaccination schedules and are usually delivered in a medical setting, sometimes alongside other childhood vaccines, as part of the EPI. The Expanded Programme for Immunisation (EPI) is a global initiative established by the WHO in 1974 with the primary goal of ensuring that all children, especially those in LMICs, are immunised against common, vaccine preventable diseases. The EPI initially focused on six vaccinepreventable diseases: tuberculosis, poliomyelitis diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis, and measles, however, now, the programme has expanded to also include: hepatitis B, Haemophilus influenzae type B, pneumococcal disease, rotavirus, human papillomavirus, rubella, yellow fever, Japanese encephalitis, meningococcal meningitis, typhoid, and in some regions, influenza and cholera [39]. The EPI continues to evolve, and new vaccines are considered for inclusion as they become available and based on the disease burden in specific regions. Vaccinations delivered through RI are usually indicated in medical records or denoted on a vaccination card. For polio, RI includes both bOPV and IPV. For measles, both MCV1 and MCV2 can be delivered via RI, if the country has implemented the second dose.

#### 1.1.4.2 Supplementary Immunisation Activities

Supplementary immunisation activities (SIAs) occur in addition to RI and target hard-to-reach populations otherwise missed by RI. Preventative SIAs (pSIAs) boost population immunity and are done to prevent outbreaks, whilst reactive outbreak response SIAs (oSIAs) occur following an outbreak and aim to increase population immunity to stop an ongoing outbreak.

Both preventative and reactive polio SIAs occur with the bOPV and are given via drops in the mouth and usually involve going house-to-house and vaccinating all children in a defined target area under five years of age. SIAs remain controversial because of their expense and shift in resources away from routine services. Especially within the African continent and in Afghanistan and Pakistan, repeated use of SIAs appear to reduce the impact of improving OPV RI coverage within children under five years of age [40]. For polio SIAs, an important distinction is that the target population for both pSIAs and oSIAs include all children (usually under five years of age) in a defined geographical area, regardless of previous vaccination history (i.e. *non-selective* SIAs). Conversely, preventative measles SIAs are usually *selective*, meaning that they consider previous measles vaccination history. Target populations for measles oSIAs depend on the outbreak risk assessment, if there is a high risk of measles spread, then the oSIA will be *non-selective* in vaccinating susceptible individuals in the affected area, regardless of vaccination history [41].

Like polio SIAs, measles SIAs also aim to vaccinate hard-to-reach children with MCV and usually target children between 9-59 months of age, although the impact of extending the upper age limit for measles SIAs is currently under research, with an upper age limit of 14-years. However, due to the cold chain requirements, the campaigns are usually fixed-post campaigns, meaning they do not go door-to-door, and instead set up a central vaccination hub in a defined geographical area [42]. Examples of these posts include: (1) permanent fixed immunization posts, which are often located at permanent health facilities and community health posts. Immunisation services are provided at these health facilities for the days during the SIA. These sites will also serve as depots for storage and distribution of vaccine to temporary fixed sites and mobile teams; (2) temporary outreach immunization posts, which may be located at schools, churches, mosques, local administrators' offices, bus depots, roadblocks, market areas, border crossing points, village squares, etc. Villages and settlements with small populations may also be served through these temporary posts. MCV vaccination will be provided at these sites for either the duration of the campaign or partially, depending on the population density; and (3) mobile immunisation posts, which move from community to community reaching populations that are living in hard-to-reach areas without access to a fixed site, are too small to justify an all-day fixed post or are unlikely to visit the fixed sites. Villages and settlements with very small populations may also be served through these mobile posts [42].

#### 1.1.4.3 Polio outbreak response

A poliovirus outbreak is defined as detection of WPV or cVDPV with evidence of community transmission. This can be demonstrated several ways: (1) virus detection in a human sample, (2) two separate ES detections from two different ES sites with no overlapping catchment areas, or from the same site >2 months apart, or (3) a newly detected cVDPV that can be genetically linked to another VDPV [43]. All poliovirus detections are notifiable under International Health Regulations and trigger a public health investigation and risk assessment. Within 72 hours of initial detections, all polio outbreaks are graded—grade 1 outbreaks can be managed in-country, grade 2 outbreaks require regional or WHO support, and grade 3 outbreaks are emergencies that require global support and usually involve multiple geographical regions [43]. WHO standard operating procedures for polio state that within 56 days of detection, large-scale outbreak response should occur, usually involving an oSIA [43], that vaccinates children under five years of age, regardless of previous vaccination history.

#### 1.1.4.4 Measles outbreak response

A measles outbreak is defined as five or more epidemiologically linked (geography and time) measles cases with onset of rashes occurring 7-21 days apart, or at least 2 laboratory confirmed measles cases that are genetically linked [44]. The same aforementioned outbreak grading criteria for polio is used for grading measles outbreaks and all outbreaks trigger an investigation and risk assessment. Quantitatively, the magnitude of a measles outbreak can be determined using the test positivity rate of specimens from at least ten or more suspected cases, where the test positivity rate is defined as the proportion of suspected measles cases with specimens collected that are then laboratory confirmed for measles. In outbreaks with low measles circulation or where herd immunity exists, the test positivity rate would be low, whilst during larger measles outbreaks among susceptible populations, the test positivity rate could exceed 75% [44]. If the risk of measles spread is medium or low, an oSIA may be *selective*, meaning a child's vaccination status is checked (based on a vaccination card, registration book or electronic registry) and only susceptible individuals in the affected area receive MCV [44]. If the risk assessment finds a high risk of measles spread, then the oSIA will be nonselective in vaccinating susceptible individuals in the affected area, regardless of vaccination history. An oSIA should be completed within 7-10 days of measles outbreak confirmation and an outbreak can officially be declared over if no epidemiologically or virologically linked measles cases occur for 46 days from the date of onset of the last case [44].

#### 1.1.5 Epidemiology over time

#### 1.1.5.1 Polio epidemiology

The global incidence of WPV has dramatically declined since the late 1900s, mostly driven by the vaccination approaches outlined above, shown by the differences between Figure 1A versus Figure 1B. As of June 2024, WPV was only endemic in Afghanistan and Pakistan, although cVDPV outbreaks are more geographically widespread. In 2019, the African Region was certified free from endogenous transmission of WPV, with the last clinical case reported in Nigeria in August 2016 [45, 46]. However, in early late 2021 and early 2022, Malawi and Mozambique reported WPV1 cases, respectively, linked to ongoing circulation in Pakistan [47, 48].

For cVDPVs, post Switch, the number of cVDPV2 outbreaks and the geographical spread has been increasing [49], especially during the years of the COVID-19 pandemic. From January 2020 – April 30, 2022, a total of 1,856 paralytic cVDPV cases across all serotypes were reported worldwide, 399 of which were reported in 2022 alone [48]. Most detections occurred throughout the African continent,

but 2022 also saw cVDPV detection in high income countries previously unaffected by VDPVs. In May 2022, six environmental samples positive for VDPV2 were collected in the United Kingdom and in December 2022, a cVDPV2 case was reported in New York, USA, followed by a total of 30 environmental samples [50]. These detections in New York were then genetically linked to a cVDPV2 isolate detected from two environmental samples in Montreal, Quebec [50, 51].

The viral spread throughout the UK, USA and Canada highlights the emerging risk that VDPVs pose. Also, the response to these poliovirus detections in high-income countries is worth noting. For example, in the UK, VDPV2 isolates that were genetically linked to poliovirus detected in Israel and the US were found in sewage samples collected from the Beckton sewage treatment works. This sewage treatment centre covers a catchment area with a population of about 4 million people across north-east and north-central London. However, the UK declared a *national* enhanced incident response to these detections and recalled unvaccinated and partially vaccinated children under the age of 5 in all of London to receive IPV [52]. Following this initial response, a second targeted catchup campaign offering IPV and MMR vaccine to unvaccinated or partially vaccinated children aged 1 to 11 years in London was launched in May 2023 [52]. This vaccination response was geographically more widespread than a traditional outbreak response in countries in the WHO African region, for example, highlighting how different countries respond to the perceived risk of polio outbreaks.

Globally, the total number of polio cases caused by cVDPVs decreased from 881 in 2022 to 524 in 2023, but eight new countries reported cVDPV outbreaks than in 2022, highlighting the increasing geographical spread of cVDPVs [53]. As of 5 June 2024, there were 8 WPV1 cases and 62 global cVDPV cases [54].

## Paralytic polio: estimated cases by world region, 1980



Estimates of the total number of paralytic polio1 cases, due to wild polioviruses and vaccine-derived polioviruses.



В

Α

# Paralytic polio: estimated cases by world region, 2023

Estimates of the total number of paralytic polio<sup>1</sup> cases, due to wild polioviruses and vaccine-derived polioviruses.





Data source: World Health Organization (2019; 2024); Tebbens et al. (2010)

OurWorldInData.org/polio | CC BY

*Figure 1. Global distribution of paralytic polio cases* in (A) 1980 and (B) 2023. The darker colours correspond to a greater number of cases. Figures were obtained from Our World in Data: https://ourworldindata.org/estimating-total-global-paralytic-polio-cases (accessed on 6 June 2024).

## 1.1.5.2 Measles epidemiology

Measles cases have also dramatically declined since the 1980s, attributed to the success of measles vaccination, Figure 2. Most of the measles burden is now confined to several high-burden countries. For example, India, Nigeria, Indonesia, Ethiopia, China, Philippines, Uganda, DRC, Pakistan, Angola, Madagascar, Ukraine, Malawi, and Somalia represented 78% of the global measles burden in 2022 [55].



Data source: WHO, Global Health Observatory (2022)

OurWorldInData.org/vaccination | CC BY

*Figure 2. Global distribution of measles cases* in (A) 1980 and (B) 2022. The darker colours correspond to a greater number of cases. Figures were obtained from Our World in Data: https://ourworldindata.org/grapher/reported-cases-of-measles (accessed on 6 June 2024).

However, because measles is a very transmissible virus, even modest dips in vaccination coverage can result in measles outbreaks. Consequently, despite the global reduction in measles burden since 1980, resurgence of measles is a current issue. For example, in 2018, there was a resurgence in measles cases, with the WHO reporting a 300% increase in measles cases compared to the previous year. In 2019, the outbreaks continued and worsened in many parts of the world, and over 869,000 cases of measles were recorded in 2019, the highest number in decades [56]. Factors that contributed to this resurgence included vaccine hesitancy and misinformation campaigns, such as the misinformation spread by Andrew Wakefield's 1998 retracted study that incorrectly supported the claim that the MMR vaccine causes autism [57, 58]. Although vaccine coverage has increased since, vaccine hesitancy and misinformation remain an obstacle for achieving high enough levels of vaccination coverage to interrupt measles transmission and achieve elimination.

#### 1.1.6 Features of measles and polio that makes them amenable to elimination or eradication

*Elimination* is broadly defined as the reduction to zero cases of infection in a geographical area, although explicit definitions of elimination can vary by pathogen. *Eradication* refers to the permanent reduction to zero of the worldwide incidence of infection. There are certain features of pathogens that make them suitable for eradication (Figure 4) including: scientific feasibility, epidemiological susceptibility, political commitment, availability of effective interventions, such as vaccines, and demonstrated feasibility of elimination [59].

Whilst polio has been targeted for eradication, measles is only targeted for elimination due to several differences that stem from factors related to the biology of the viruses, transmission dynamics, vaccine effectiveness, and public health infrastructure. Measles is a more contagious respiratory virus with a longer infectious period, and though humans are the only known reservoir, its mode of transmission and extreme contagiousness makes achieving eradication more challenging [60]. The virus can spread rapidly in populations with any gaps in immunity. Polio vaccines (OPV and IPV) are highly effective, and their widespread use has led to the elimination of endemic WPV in most of the world (other than Afghanistan and Pakistan). The success of these vaccines, combined with sustained global coordination, has made the goal of polio eradication feasible. Measles vaccines, though very effective, require extremely high coverage (at least 95%) to achieve herd immunity because of the virus's contagiousness. This makes global eradication more difficult, and the focus remains on regional elimination rather than complete eradication. Finally, the global coordination and initiatives for polio eradication are longstanding and have gained political will and support, whilst measles initiatives have been more region specific [61].



Figure 3. Criterion for disease eradication.

## 1.1.6.1 Progress towards polio eradication

Whilst the first clinical case description of polio predates the 19<sup>th</sup> century, research on the virus and its transmission dynamics began to accelerate after the global polio epidemic in the early 20<sup>th</sup> century. In 1988, when more than 1,000 children were paralysed from polio every day, the World Health Assembly (WHA) passed a resolution to eradicate polio by 2000.

At this point in time, disease burden was highest across the African continent and a range of Asian countries including Afghanistan, Pakistan and northern India. However, in 1999, the last case of WPV2 was reported in Uttar Pradesh, India, a tremendous feat reinforcing the potential for global eradication [62]. By 2001, the number of endemic countries had decreased from over 100 to less than ten. Most recently, Nigeria was removed from the list of WPV endemic countries at the end of 2019, leaving only Afghanistan and Pakistan with ongoing WPV transmission. With no detections of wild type 3 globally since 2012, certification of type 3 eradication is underway.

Since its inception in 1988 following the WHA's resolution to eradicate polio, the Global Polio Eradication Initiative (GPEI) has set forth a mission to interrupt transmission of WPV and VDPVs. Since

GPEI's inaugural year, the global incidence of polio has decreased by 99.9% and it is estimated that 16 million cases of paralysis and 1.5 million deaths due to severe poliomyelitis have been prevented [63].

The GPEI is facing a critical time where the endgame for polio is in sight and global polio eradication is deemed an attainable feat. Core strategies of the GPEI now focus on interruption of WPV transmission through AFP surveillance, environmental sampling, and vaccination through both RI and SIAs. Implementing these strategies at the subnational level allows for concentrated geographic focus on the most vulnerable and hard to reach populations. Recently, however, global pressures to eradicate polio have been inversely related to budget allocations for vaccination and outbreak response. Arguably, a level of fatigue has been witnessed to complete the final stages of eradication and feared complacency with the global epidemiology has been coupled with ongoing outbreaks [53]. Therefore, as we move towards global certification of eradication, research must continue to improve the effectiveness of vaccination programmes, increase vaccination coverage in the hardest to reach communities, maximise cost-savings, and align synergies between polio eradication efforts and emergency programmes.

#### 1.1.6.2 Progress towards measles elimination

In 1989, the WHA announced a goal of reducing global measles morbidity and mortality by 90% and 95%, respectively, by 1995 [64]. Initial measles elimination targets were set depending on region: elimination from the Americas by 2000, from Europe by 2007 and from the Eastern Mediterranean region by 2010 [65]. In 2010, the WHA revised these goals and set the following targets for measles control by 2015: increase MCV1 RI coverage in children aged 1 year to 90% at the national level and 80% in subnational districts; reduce global annual measles incidence to under 5 cases per 1 million population; and reduce global mortality attributed to measles by 95% from the 2000 estimate of measles mortality [66].

Furthermore, in 2012, the WHA endorsed the Global Vaccine Action Plan to eliminate measles in five of the six WHO regions by 2020 [67], which aligns with the global IA2030 [68]. Since then, the Measles and Rubella Strategic Framework 2021-2030 and the Measles Outbreaks Strategic Response Plan have aligned with these IA2030 goals and emphasise the need for robust measles surveillance systems to identify immunity gaps, explore causes of under-vaccination and prioritise local interventions to increase MCV2 administration [6, 69].

Though the global burden of measles has reduced tremendously since the WHA's initial resolution, in 2018 there was a global resurgence of measles cases and in 2019, the WHO responded to measles outbreaks in all six WHO regions. Since this resurgence, no WHO region has been verified as having eliminated measles [67]. Disruption to health systems during the COVID-19 pandemic further exacerbated the need for catch-up vaccination and mobilisation of resources to vaccinate susceptible populations [69, 70].

#### 1.1.7 Using models to inform vaccine policy – literature reviews

Mathematical and statistical models have been used previously to inform vaccination decisions for the control of both measles and polio. In this section, I highlight three topics of existing literature to align with the objectives of this thesis: (1) economic models have been used to estimate the costs and benefits of polio vaccination strategies, (2) modelling has been used to estimate the impact of measles vaccination strategies, and (3) statistical approaches have been used for evaluating the indirect effects of vaccination with OPV, specifically the seeding and detection of cVDPVs.

#### 1.1.7.1 Polio economic models

Economic considerations for polio began appearing in the literature in the early 1990s, following the WHO's 1988 commitment to polio eradication. Economic models have been used in the past to quantify the cost-effectiveness of achieving polio eradication. I searched PubMed for manuscripts published in English between Jan 1, 1980, and August 29, 2023, that contained the following search terms: (((polio) OR (poliovirus)) OR (poliomyelitis)) AND ((economic\*) OR (cost\*)) AND (model\*). I identified 18 modelling studies that investigated the costs and benefits of vaccination strategies to effectively control poliovirus and included these studies in a risk-of-bias assessment. Several identified studies analysed policy decisions for future control or eradication of polio, including varying assumptions around SIAs. However, to date, most research looking into polio economics has focused on the cost benefit ratios of eradicating polio vs. the cost of controlling endemic polio long term [71-78].

Some researchers believe if polio eradication remains technically achievable, eradication offers lower cumulative costs and a fewer number of cases than adopting a global control strategy [79]. Research by Barrett et al. explored investments in polio eradication and concluded that maintaining a high level of control will never be optimal since the eradication of polio is technically feasible [71]. Zimmerman et al. also assessed the costs of a permanent control strategy vs. eradication of polio. Authors concluded that eradication of polio would be cost-saving compared to permanent control because

eradication will likely have a high return on investment in avoided costs of vaccination [78], i.e., eradication is only deemed cost-effective here because vaccination is assumed to stop. If it is decided that IPV vaccination will be given indefinitely [80], there will be different implications for costs.

In 2020, work by Kalkowska and Thompson et al. modelled risk management scenarios for cVDPVs and recommended aggressive outbreak response SIAs. Cost-effectiveness and affordability were not considered, neither were budget constraints nor the geographical spread of cVDPVs in present day [81], both of which are limitations for current vaccination programming. The same authors published a 2021 analysis investigating whether improving the quality of SIAs in Pakistan and Afghanistan could eliminate endemic WPV1 [82]. Authors concluded that increasing the quality of pSIAs could lead to WPV1 elimination in the first quarter of 2021, a timeline already in the past. Moreover, their definition of 'improved quality' is vague at best and authors do not explicitly state what it takes to increase 'impact level', i.e., what operational components of SIAs would need to change to 'improve quality'? The most recent analysis published by this same team of researchers in 2023 considers the cost-effectiveness of specific operational decisions for pSIAs and oSIAs in a hypothetical population, but only focuses on co-circulation of cVDPVs, and does not consider importations of WPV1 [83]. Therefore, research is needed to expand the scope of cost-effectiveness analyses for polio vaccination strategies.

#### 1.1.7.2 Measles vaccination impact modelling

To evaluate existing literature on modelling measles vaccination strategies, I searched PubMed for manuscripts published in English between Jan 1, 2000, and March 10, 2022, that contained the following search terms: ("measles" or "MCV" or "MCV1" or "MCV2") and ("vaccin\*" or "immun\*") and ("supplementary immun\* activit\*" or "campaign" or "catch-up") and "model". 13 modelling studies investigating vaccination strategies to effectively control measles were identified and included in a risk-of-bias assessment. Although several articles recommended that sustaining a high coverage of routine immunisation and campaigns was optimal for measles control, I found only three studies that explicitly addressed the interactions between different delivery strategies of MCV doses.

One modelling study concluded that, in Zambia, an MCV2 vaccination strategy can sustain high levels of population immunity and that frequent, low-coverage SIAs might sustain higher levels of immunity than less frequent, high-coverage SIAs [84]. However, direct comparisons of the incremental differences between strategies were not conducted. The second modelling study assessed the vaccination effects of incrementally introducing MCV1, MCV2, and SIAs compared with a counterfactual scenario without measles vaccination, but also did not directly compare MCV2 with SIAs [85]. The third modelling study showed that in addition to MCV1, delivering MCV2 was more costeffective and prevented more cases of measles than SIAs in a hypothetical cohort in the DRC.

#### 1.1.7.3 Evaluating factors associated with cVDPV detection

A scoping review was undertaken to identify cVDPV outbreaks using the search terms: 'vaccinederived poliovirus\* OR VDPV OR circulating vaccine-derived poliovirus\* OR cVDPV'. Because poliomyelitis is a notifiable disease, the GPEI and WHO laboratories report all confirmed outbreaks through the Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Reports (MMWR), so most existing literature on cVDPVs is in the form of outbreak reports. Modelling reports on cVDPVs vary in approach from analysing the spatial spread of genetically linked clusters, to evaluating SIAs linked to ongoing cVDPVs. For example, a stochastic mathematical model has shown that the probability of polio elimination is 95% if a case has not been detected for three years, increasing to 99% if after four years no case has been detected [86]. Research by Macklin et al. has shown that six outbreaks in the first year following *The Switch* were seeded before or close to the time of *The Switch*, occurring in DRC, Pakistan and Syria, but no virus was detected later than six months following *The Switch*. In the second year after *The Switch* (May 2017 to April 2018) however, five more outbreaks emerged, one seeded before and four after *The Switch* [49].

Research related to cVDPVs for this thesis was completed between 2020-2021. At the time, a better understanding of time from seeding to detection of historical cVDPV outbreaks was needed. Before November 2020 when nOPV2 was authorised for emergency use, the bulk of existing literature on cVDPVs was concerned with the increasing number of outbreaks alongside geographical spread of genetically linked lineages. Since 2023, cVDPV2 research has been focused on population immunity to serotype 2 post *Switch* [87], and the utility of nOPV2 [88, 89] or IPV in SIAs [90] to control cVDPV2 outbreaks.

#### 1.1.8 Evidence gaps

#### 1.1.8.1 Polio economic models

While some research has concluded polio eradication to be cost-effective, this does not necessarily mean eradication is affordable in the present day, and sometimes, adopting cost-effective interventions requires eliminating other, more beneficial expenditures [91].

Traditional cost-effectiveness analyses (CEAs) are limited in evaluating polio eradication for several reasons, primarily because they are not designed to capture the unique long-term dynamics and

uncertainties associated with eradication efforts. In the case of polio eradication, key factors such as upfront costs, long-term benefits, and the economic implications of cessation strategies are difficult to incorporate into standard CEAs. Polio eradication requires significant upfront costs (e.g., vaccination campaigns, infrastructure, and surveillance) with long-term benefits that might not be realized for years or even decades. Traditional CEAs typically focus on short- to medium-term costs and benefits, which makes it hard to capture the true value of eradication, which includes avoiding future cases, healthcare costs, and maintaining a polio-free world. The benefits of eradication extend into the future, but these are highly dependent on when vaccination can be stopped and when surveillance costs can be scaled back. CEAs struggle to account for the dynamic interplay between ongoing investments and future savings [92].

Also, polio eradication deals with non-linear costs. In a typical vaccination program, cost-effectiveness improves as vaccine coverage increases because the health burden decreases proportionally. However, with polio eradication, the costs increase non-linearly as the goal nears. Eradication requires intensive efforts to reach the last remaining cases in hard-to-reach areas, which incurs disproportionately high costs relative to the number of cases averted in the final stages [92]. Traditional CEAs are not equipped to address these rising marginal costs and may underestimate the resources needed for complete eradication. Finally, the financial success of polio eradication depends on how quickly the financial benefits of stopping vaccination programs can be realised after the virus is eradicated. Traditional CEAs do not usually consider the transition period between cessation of vaccination and recouping the costs of eradication, which includes ongoing expenses for surveillance and emergency preparedness [79].

Considering recent budget pressures, the polio programme could benefit from a better understanding of which programmatic scenarios for SIAs are not only cost-effective, but also affordable. Though several studies have concluded that eradication is cost-effective, we are more than two decades past the initially proposed timeline for polio eradication. Annually, the global polio budget is around \$1 billion and recent trends in cVDPV outbreaks have further stretched this budget. Therefore, more research is needed to better understand which scenarios and programmatic interventions can be altered or made more effective.

#### 1.1.8.2 Measles vaccination impact modelling

Knowledge of the incremental health effects of historical measles vaccination policies implemented in high-burden countries is needed. Specifically, the relative roles of MCV1, MCV2, and SIAs in preventing measles transmission is important as countries rebuild health systems following the COVID-19 pandemic. As countries continue to introduce MCV2, in principle, reliance on SIAs should decrease and eventually stop once high population immunity (i.e., above the herd immunity threshold) can be maintained with a routine two-dose schedule alone. Instead of relying on hypothetical scenarios, using models to directly compare historical vaccination strategies that countries implemented at different time points can add great value to future measles vaccination programming decisions. To achieve high levels of vaccination coverage and meet targets for measles elimination in high-burden areas, SIAs should be strengthened. However, an evidence gap persists in understanding the historical efficiency SIAs in different countries.

#### 1.1.8.3 Evaluating factors associated with cVDPV detection

The capacity of polio infrastructure has been applied to other infectious disease outbreaks in the past to mitigate risk and disease spread [93-95]. However, in the most recent GPEI Endgame Strategy, the GPEI cites the lack of *"systematic collaboration between polio and emergency programmes"* as one of its major challenges in efforts to control cVDPVs. This lack of coordination means that synergies between GPEI and emergency responses often go unrecognised, and consequently, cost-efficiencies and humanitarian needs of communities are not met [96]. As planning for global bOPV cessation is underway, it is important to better understand why the predictions for OPV2 removal did not hold true. Analysing nucleotide divergence and estimated date of seeding of cVDPVs, including historic outbreaks pre-2016, is essential to address this issue.

## 1.2 Aims and objectives

The overall aim of my thesis is to evaluate the effect of different vaccination strategies for polio and measles using statistical and mathematical models. I hypothesise that the impact and effectiveness of different strategies will depend on population level baseline vaccination coverage and the implementation, quality and frequency of preventative vaccination activities.

The aim is met by the following objectives, each corresponding to a chapter in this thesis:

- 1. Identify outbreak risk and associated costs and benefits for conducting pSIAs at varying frequencies in a LMIC in sub-Saharan Africa, at risk of WPV1 importation.
- Evaluate the health impact of different measles vaccination strategies that were implemented at different time points in 14 high-burden countries and identify which strategies were effective and/or efficient in preventing outbreaks and vaccinating unvaccinated children.
3. Identify factors associated with quicker time from emergence to outbreak detection for cVDPVs to understand the indirect effects of vaccination strategies using the OPV.

### 1.3 Thesis structure

This thesis follows the *research paper style* and includes an introduction chapter, methods chapter, three analyses chapters that include research published as peer-reviewed scientific papers, and a final discussion chapter. Each analysis chapter includes a bridging section that outlines how the analysis relates to the overall aims of this thesis. The three analysis chapters are as follows:

- Chapter 3: Outbreak risks, cases, and costs of vaccination strategies against wild poliomyelitis in polio-free settings: a modelling study. This study has been peer-reviewed in BMJ Global Health. This chapter covers thesis objective 1.
- Chapter 4: Health effects of routine measles vaccination and supplementary immunisation activities in 14 high-burden countries: a Dynamic Measles Immunization Calculation Engine (DynaMICE) modelling study. This study was peer-reviewed and published in the Lancet Global Health in August 2023. This chapter covers thesis objective 2.
- Chapter 5: The impact of surveillance and other factors on detection of emergent and circulating vaccine derived polioviruses. This study was peer-reviewed and published in Gates
  Open Research in May 2021. This study covers thesis objective 3.

#### 1.4 Chapter 1 references

1. Shattock AJ, Johnson HC, Sim SY, Carter A, Lambach P, Hutubessy RC, et al. Contribution of vaccination to improved survival and health: modelling 50 years of the Expanded Programme on Immunization. The Lancet. 2024.

2. Global Vaccine Action Plan. Monitoring, Evaluation & Accountability 2020. Available from: https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/337433/9789240014329-eng.pdf?sequence=1.

3. Immunization Agenda 2030 - A global strategy to leave no one behind.

4. Global Polio Eradication Initiative. Global Polio Eradication Initiative. Polio eradication and endgame: strategic plan 2013–2018. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2013.

5. Racaniello VR. One hundred years of poliovirus pathogenesis. Virology. 2006;344(1):9-16.

6. World Health Organization. Measles and rubella strategic framework: 2021-2030. 2020.

7. World Health Organization. Measles Factsheet 2023 [12 October 2023]. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-</u>

#### sheets/detail/measles#:~:text=Who%20is%20at%20risk%3F,the%20Middle%20East%20and%20Asia.

8. World Health Organization. WHO-recommended standards for surveillance of selected vaccine preventable diseases. World Health Organization, 1999.

9. World Health Organization. Guidelines for environmental surveillance of poliovirus circulation. World Health Organization, 2003.

Kishore N. Surveillance to track progress toward polio eradication—worldwide, 2022–2023.
MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2024;73.

11. Benschop KS, van der Avoort HG, Jusic E, Vennema H, van Binnendijk R, Duizer E. Polio and measles down the drain: environmental enterovirus surveillance in the Netherlands, 2005 to 2015. Applied and environmental microbiology. 2017;83(13):e00558-17.

12. Brown DW, Warrener L, Scobie HM, Donadel M, Waku-Kouomou D, Mulders MN, et al. Rapid diagnostic tests to address challenges for global measles surveillance. Current Opinion in Virology. 2020;41:77-84. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coviro.2020.05.007</u>.

13. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Vaccine and Immunization Glossary of Terms 2021. Available from: <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/terms/glossary.html#active">https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/terms/glossary.html#active</a>.

14. Shim E, Galvani AP. Distinguishing vaccine efficacy and effectiveness. Vaccine. 2012;30(47):6700-5. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.08.045</u>.

15. Pfizer and BioNTech Conclude Phase 3 Study of COVID-19 Vaccine Candidate, Meeting All Primary Efficacy Endpoints [Internet]. 2020 [cited 30 September 2024]. Available from: <u>https://www.pfizer.com/news/press-release/press-release-detail/pfizer-and-biontech-conclude-phase-3-study-covid-19-vaccine</u> 16. Kundi M. Vaccine effectiveness against delta and omicron variants of SARS-CoV-2. British Medical Journal Publishing Group; 2023.

17. Focosi D, Maggi F, Casadevall A. Mucosal vaccines, sterilizing immunity, and the future of SARS-CoV-2 virulence. Viruses. 2022;14(2):187.

18. Yewdell JW. Individuals cannot rely on COVID-19 herd immunity: Durable immunity to viral disease is limited to viruses with obligate viremic spread. PLoS Pathogens. 2021;17(4):e1009509.

19. Fine PE. Herd immunity: history, theory, practice. Epidemiologic reviews. 1993;15(2):265-302.

20. Fine P, Eames K, Heymann DL. "Herd Immunity": A Rough Guide. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2011;52(7):911-6. doi: 10.1093/cid/cir007.

21. Herd Immunity: How does it work? [Internet]. 2016 [cited 16 October 2023]. Available from: https://www.ovg.ox.ac.uk/news/herd-immunity-how-does-it-

work#:~:text=To%20achieve%20herd%20immunity%20for,for%20herd%20immunity%20to%20work.

22. World Health Organization. Efficacy/effectiveness of oral poliovirus vaccine (OPV) against clinical poliomyelitis. 2015.

23. Robertson S, Drucker J, Fabre-Teste B, N'Diaye M, Traverso H, Rovira E, et al. Clinical efficacy of a new, enhanced-potency, inactivated poliovirus vaccine. The Lancet. 1988;331(8591):897-9.

24. Salk J. Persistence of immunity after administration of formalin-treated poliovirus vaccine. 1960.

25. Larocca AMV, Bianchi FP, Bozzi A, Tafuri S, Stefanizzi P, Germinario CA. Long-term immunogenicity of inactivated and oral polio vaccines: an Italian retrospective cohort study. Vaccines. 2022;10(8):1329.

26. Wagner BG, Behrend MR, Klein DJ, Upfill-Brown AM, Eckhoff PA, Hu H. Quantifying the impact of expanded age group campaigns for polio eradication. PloS one. 2014;9(12):e113538.

27. Gonzalez AR FM, Menning L, Garon J, Everts H, Hampton L, et al. Implementing the Synchronized Global Switch from Trivalent to Bivalent Oral Polio Vaccines—Lessons Learned From the Global Perspective. J Infect Dis 2017.

28. Burns CC, Diop OM, Sutter RW, Kew OM. Vaccine-derived polioviruses. J Infect Dis. 2014;210 Suppl 1:S283-93. Epub 2014/10/16. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiu295. PubMed PMID: 25316847.

29. Parker EP, Molodecky NA, Pons-Salort M, O'Reilly KM, Grassly NC. Impact of inactivated poliovirus vaccine on mucosal immunity: implications for the polio eradication endgame. Expert Rev Vaccines. 2015;14(8):1113-23. Epub 2015/07/15. doi: 10.1586/14760584.2015.1052800. PubMed PMID: 26159938; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4673562.

30. O'Reilly KM, Lamoureux C, Molodecky NA, Lyons H, Grassly NC, Tallis G. An assessment of the geographical risks of wild and vaccine-derived poliomyelitis outbreaks in Africa and Asia. BMC Infect

39

Dis. 2017;17(1):367. Epub 2017/05/28. doi: 10.1186/s12879-017-2443-4. PubMed PMID: 28549485; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5446690.

31. McCarthy KA C-CG, Famulare M, Lyons HM, Mercer LD The risk of type 2 oral polio vaccine use in post-cessation outbreak response. BMC Med. 2017.

32. Thompson KM, Duintjer Tebbens RJ. Modeling the dynamics of oral poliovirus vaccine cessation. J Infect Dis. 2014;210 Suppl 1:S475-84. Epub 2014/10/16. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jit845. PubMed PMID: 25316870.

33. Zipursky S. Two years since rollout of novel oral polio vaccine type 2 (nOPV2): How's it all working out? In: Initiative GPE, editor. 2023.

34. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Measles Vaccine Recommendations 2024 [30 September 2024]. Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/measles/hcp/vaccine-</u> <u>considerations/index.html</u>.

35. Shelton JD, Jacobson JE, Orenstein WA, Schulz KF, Donnell Jr HD. Measles vaccine efficacy: influence of age at vaccination vs. duration of time since vaccination. Pediatrics. 1978;62(6):961-4.

36. Robert A, Suffel AM, Kucharski AJ. Long-term waning of vaccine-induced immunity to measles in England: a mathematical modelling study. The Lancet Public Health. 2024.

37. World Health Organization. Immunization schedules by country: WHO; 2019. Available from: <a href="http://apps.who.int/immunization\_monitoring/globalsummary/schedules">http://apps.who.int/immunization\_monitoring/globalsummary/schedules</a>.

38. World Health Organization. Measles vaccination coverage.

39. World Health Organization. Essential Programme on Immunization 2023. Available from: <a href="https://www.who.int/teams/immunization-vaccines-and-biologicals/essential-programme-on-immunization">https://www.who.int/teams/immunization-vaccines-and-biologicals/essential-programme-on-immunization</a>.

40. Voorman A, Lyons HM. Measuring polio immunity to plan immunization activities. Vaccine. 2016;34(48):5946-52. Epub 2016/10/25. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.10.017. PubMed PMID: 27771181; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5104692.

41. Auzenbergs M, Fu H, Abbas K, Procter SR, Cutts FT, Jit M. Health effects of routine measles vaccination and supplementary immunisation activities in 14 high-burden countries: a Dynamic Measles Immunization Calculation Engine (DynaMICE) modelling study. The Lancet Global Health. 2023;11(8):e1194-e204.

42. World Health Organization. Measles SIAs Planning & Implementation Field Guide. 2010.

43. Global Polio Eradication Initiative. Standard operating procedures: responding to a poliovirus event or outbreak 2022 [21 April 2022]. Version 4:[Available from: <u>https://polioeradication.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/Standard-Operating-Procedures-For-Responding-to-a-Poliovirus-Event-Or-Outbreak-20220417\_OBR\_SOP\_final\_pre\_pub\_website.pdf</u>.

40

44. World Health Organization. Measles outbreak guide. 2022.

45. Khan F, Datta SD, Quddus A, Vertefeuille JF, Burns CC, Jorba J, et al. Progress toward polio eradication—worldwide, January 2016–March 2018. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2018;67(18):524.

46. Nnadi C, Damisa E, Esapa L, Braka F, Waziri N, Siddique A, et al. Continued Endemic Wild Poliovirus Transmission in Security-Compromised Areas - Nigeria, 2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2017;66(7):190-3. Epub 2017/02/25. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6607a2. PubMed PMID: 28233765; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5657850.

47. Malawi Ministry of Health, Global Polio Eradication Initiative, Davlantes E. Notes from the Field: Initial Outbreak Response Activity Following Wild Poliovirus Type 1 Detection—Malawi, February 2022. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2022;71(23):776-7.

48. Rachlin A, Patel JC, Burns CC, Jorba J, Tallis G, O'Leary A, et al. Progress Toward Polio Eradication - Worldwide, January 2020-April 2022. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2022;71(19):650-5. Epub 2022/05/14. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm7119a2. PubMed PMID: 35552352; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC9098249 Journal Editors form for disclosure of potential conflicts of interest. No potential conflicts of interest were disclosed.

49. Macklin GR, O'Reilly KM, Grassly NC, Edmunds WJ, Mach O, Santhana Gopala Krishnan R, et al. Evolving epidemiology of poliovirus serotype 2 following withdrawal of the serotype 2 oral poliovirus vaccine. Science. 2020;368(6489):401-5. Epub 2020/03/21. doi: 10.1126/science.aba1238. PubMed PMID: 32193361.

50. Lee SE, Greene SA, Burns CC, Tallis G, Wassilak SG, Bolu O. Progress Toward Poliomyelitis Eradication—Worldwide, January 2021–March 2023. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2023;72(19):517.

51. Ryerson AB, Lang D, Alazawi MA, Neyra M, Hill DT, George KS, et al. Wastewater testing and detection of poliovirus type 2 genetically linked to virus isolated from a paralytic polio case—New York, March 9–October 11, 2022. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2022;71(44):1418.

52. Polio immunisation response in London 2022 to 2023: information for healthcare practitioners [Internet]. 2023; 24 May 2023 [cited 22 October 2024]. Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/inactivated-polio-vaccine-ipv-booster-information-for-healthcare-practitioners/polio-immunisation-response-in-london-2022-to-2023-information-for-healthcare-practitioners

53. Geiger K. Progress Toward Poliomyelitis Eradication—Worldwide, January 2022–December 2023. MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2024;73.

54. World Health Organization. Poliovirus weekly update 05 June 2024 2024 [07 June 2024]. Available from: https://polioeradication.org/this-week/.

55. Global Burden of Disease Collaborative Network. Global Burden of Disease Study 2019 (GBD 2019) Results Seattle, United States: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), 2020. Available from: <u>http://ghdx.healthdata.org/gbd-results-tool</u>.

56. Worldwide measles deaths climb 50% from 2016 to 2019 claiming over 207 500 lives in 2019 [Internet]. 2020 [cited 22 October 2024]. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news/item/12-11-</u>2020-worldwide-measles-deaths-climb-50-from-2016-to-2019-claiming-over-207-500-lives-in-2019

57. Cousins S. Measles: a global resurgence. The Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2019;19(4):362-3.

58. Motta M, Stecula D. Quantifying the effect of Wakefield et al.(1998) on skepticism about MMR vaccine safety in the US. PloS one. 2021;16(8):e0256395.

59. Dowdle WR. The principles of disease elimination and eradication. BULLETIN-WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION. 1998;76:22-5.

60. Orenstein WA, Seib K. Beyond vertical and horizontal programs: a diagonal approach to building national immunization programs through measles elimination. Expert review of vaccines. 2016;15(7):791-3.

61. Durrheim DN, Crowcroft NS, Strebel PM. Measles–The epidemiology of elimination. Vaccine. 2014;32(51):6880-3.

62. Nathanson N, Kew OM. From emergence to eradication: the epidemiology of poliomyelitis deconstructed. Am J Epidemiol. 2010;172(11):1213-29. Epub 2010/10/28. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwq320. PubMed PMID: 20978089; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2991634.

63. History of Polio. Available from: <u>http://polioeradication.org/polio-today/history-of-polio/</u>.

64. World Health Organization. Measles: progress towards global control and regional elimination, 1998-1999. Weekly Epidemiological Record= Relevé épidémiologique hebdomadaire. 1999;74(50):429-34.

65. Cutts FT, Henao-Restrepo AM, Olivé JM. Measles elimination: progress and challenges. Vaccine. 1999;17:S47-S52. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0264-410X(99)00309-6</u>.

66. Patel MK, Goodson JL, Alexander Jr JP, Kretsinger K, Sodha SV, Steulet C, et al. Progress toward regional measles elimination—worldwide, 2000–2019. Morbidity and mortality weekly report. 2020;69(45):1700.

67. World Health Organization. Global vaccine action plan 2011-2020. 2013.

68. World Health Organization. Immunization Agenda 2030: A Global Strategy to Leave No One Behind. 2020.

69. World Health Organization. Measles outbreaks strategic response plan 2021–2023. Forthcoming; 2020.

70. Abbas K, Procter SR, van Zandvoort K, Clark A, Funk S, Mengistu T, et al. Routine childhood immunisation during the COVID-19 pandemic in Africa: a benefit–risk analysis of health benefits versus excess risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection. The Lancet Global Health. 2020;8(10):e1264-e72.

71. Barrett S. Global disease eradication. Journal of the European Economic Association. 2003;1(2-3):591-600.

72. Barrett S. Eradication versus control: the economics of global infectious disease policies. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2004;82:683-8.

73. Barrett S, Hoel M. Optimal disease eradication. Environment and Development Economics. 2007:627-52.

74. Geoffard P-Y, Philipson T. Disease eradication: private versus public vaccination. The American Economic Review. 1997;87(1):222-30.

75. Francis PJ. Dynamic epidemiology and the market for vaccinations. Journal of Public Economics. 1997;63(3):383-406.

76. Gersovitz M, Hammer JS. Infectious diseases, public policy, and the marriage of economics and epidemiology. The world bank research observer. 2003;18(2):129-57.

77. Brito DL, Sheshinski E, Intriligator MD. Externalities and compulsary vaccinations. Journal of Public Economics. 1991;45(1):69-90.

78. Zimmermann M, Hagedorn B, Lyons H. Projection of Costs of Polio Eradication Compared to Permanent Control. The Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2019;221(4):561-5. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiz488.

79. Thompson KM, Tebbens RJD. Eradication versus control for poliomyelitis: an economic analysis. The Lancet. 2007;369(9570):1363-71.

80. Sutter RW, Cáceres VM, Mas Lago P. The role of routine polio immunization in the postcertification era. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2004;82:31-9.

81. Kalkowska DA, Pallansch MA, Wilkinson A, Bandyopadhyay AS, Konopka-Anstadt JL, Burns CC, et al. Updated Characterization of Outbreak Response Strategies for 2019–2029: Impacts of Using a Novel Type 2 Oral Poliovirus Vaccine Strain. Risk Analysis. 2020.

82. Kalkowska DA, Thompson KM. Insights from modeling preventive supplemental immunization activities as a strategy to eliminate wild poliovirus transmission in Pakistan and Afghanistan. Risk Analysis. 2021;41(2):266-72.

83. Kalkowska DA, Badizadegan K, Thompson KM. Outbreak management strategies for cocirculation of multiple poliovirus types. Vaccine. 2023.

43

84. Lessler J, Moss WJ, Lowther SA, Cummings DAT. Maintaining high rates of measles immunization in Africa. Epidemiology and Infection. 2011;139(7):1039-49. Epub 2010/10/05. doi: 10.1017/S0950268810002232. PubMed PMID: 20920382.

85. Portnoy A, Jit M, Helleringer S, Verguet S. Comparative Distributional Impact of Routine Immunization and Supplementary Immunization Activities in Delivery of Measles Vaccine in Low- and Middle-Income Countries. Value in Health. 2020;23(7):891-7. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jval.2020.03.012.

86. Eichner M DK. Eradication of Poliomyelitis: When Can One Be Sure That Polio Virus Transmission Has Been Terminated? Am J Epidemiology. 1996;143(8):816–22.

87. Voorman A, Lyons H, Bennette C, Kovacs S, Makam JK, F Vertefeuille J, et al. Analysis of population immunity to poliovirus following cessation of trivalent oral polio vaccine. Vaccine. 2023;41:A85-A92. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2022.03.013.

88. Bandyopadhyay AS, Zipursky S. A novel tool to eradicate an ancient scourge: the novel oral polio vaccine type 2 story. The Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2023;23(2):e67-e71.

89. Gray EJ, Cooper LV, Bandyopadhyay AS, Blake IM, Grassly NC. The Origins and Risk Factors for Serotype-2 Vaccine-Derived Poliovirus Emergences in Africa During 2016–2019. The Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2023;228(1):80-8. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiad004.

90. Estivariz CF, Kovacs SD, Mach O. Review of use of inactivated poliovirus vaccine in campaigns to control type 2 circulating vaccine derived poliovirus (cVDPV) outbreaks. Vaccine. 2023;41:A113-A21.

91. Bilinski A, Neumann P, Cohen J, Thorat T, McDaniel K, Salomon JA. When cost-effective interventions are unaffordable: Integrating cost-effectiveness and budget impact in priority setting for global health programs. PLoS medicine. 2017;14(10):e1002397-e. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002397. PubMed PMID: 28968399.

92. Thompson KM, Tebbens RJD, Pallansch MA, Kew OM, Sutter RW, Aylward RB, et al. The risks, costs, and benefits of possible future global policies for managing polioviruses. American journal of public health. 2008;98(7):1322-30.

93. Michael CA, Waziri, N., Gunnala, R., Biya, O., Kretsinger, K., Wiesen, E., ... Cochi, S. Polio Legacy in Action: Using the Polio Eradication Infrastructure for Measles Elimination in Nigeria-The National Stop Transmission of Polio Program. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2017;216:S373–S9.

94. Rui G. Vaz PM, Richard Banda, William Komkech, Olubowale O. Ekundare-Famiyesin, Rosemary Onyibe, Sunday Abidoye, Peter Nsubuga, Sylvester Maleghemi, Bolatito Hannah-Murele, Sisay G. Tegegne. The Role of the Polio Program Infrastructure in Response to Ebola Virus Disease Outbreak in Nigeria 2014. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2016;213:S140–S6.

44

95. Katrina Kretsinger PS, Robert Kezaala, James L. Goodson. Transitioning Lessons Learned and Assets of the Global Polio Eradication Initiative to Global and Regional Measles and Rubella Elimination. The Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2017;216:S308-S15

96. Organization WH. Polio Endgame Strategy 2019-2023: Eradication, integration, certification and containment. 2019.

## 2. Chapter 2: Methods

This chapter summarises several overarching methods used throughout this PhD and offers a critical appraisal of the strengths and limitations of each methodological approach. Each subsequent research chapter will have an independent methods section outlining explicit methodologies used in each research paper. This chapter provides an overview of the justification for using mathematical modelling, economic evaluation and statistical approaches to evaluate vaccination strategies.

#### 2.1 Using models to evaluate vaccine impact

Historically, mathematical models for infectious disease dynamics were developed nearly a century ago and described in a paper by Kermack and McKendrick in 1927 [1]. Since then, mathematical models for disease dynamics have been used in a wide range of applications, including modelling vaccination events. In this PhD specifically, transmission models are used to model historical measles outbreaks under different vaccination strategies and to predict polio outbreak size and probability given an importation of WPV1 infection.

Transmission models separate the population into different compartments based on epidemiological status. For example, in an SIR model, susceptible individuals are in the 'S' compartment, infectious individuals are in the 'I' compartment and recovered individuals are in the 'R' compartment. Individuals move through these compartments based on predetermined rates that are unique to the disease being modelled. Another commonly used model structure is the SEIR model, which includes an exposure 'E' compartment. It is important to include an 'E' compartment for diseases when there is a significant latent period between exposure and the time when individuals become infectious, for example, COVID-19. During this latent period, individuals are infected but cannot transmit the disease, which should be accounted for in models because it affects the timing of disease transmission.

SIR and SEIR models describe the spread of infectious diseases through a population in time, where the spread of infection depends on parameters such as the transmission rate ( $\beta$ ), the duration of infectiousness and recovery rate ( $\gamma$ ) [2]. The basic reproduction number R<sub>0</sub> describes the contagiousness or transmissibility of an infectious disease in a fully susceptible population. It represents the average number of secondary infections that one infected person is expected to cause in a population where everyone is susceptible to the infection.

- If R<sub>0</sub>>1: Each infected person, on average, infects more than one other person, meaning the infection will likely spread through the population, potentially leading to an outbreak or epidemic.
- If R<sub>0</sub>=1: Each infected person, on average, infects exactly one other person, meaning the infection will remain stable in the population without significant growth or decline.
- If R<sub>0</sub><1: Each infected person, on average, infects fewer than one person, meaning the disease will likely die out in the population over time.

Most conventional SIR and SEIR models assume that the rate at which an individual has infectious contacts is constant in time and the proportion of infectious individuals in the population depends on infection prevalence [3]. To calculate the frequency of individuals in each compartment at time (t), three simple ordinary differential equations (ODEs) are used, shown below in Figure 1. In Figure 1, the SIR model structure has been used as a baseline model structure, but the schematic has been extended to illustrate how vaccination, importations of infection, births/deaths and immunity from maternal antibodies could be accounted for.

Several considerations need to be made to include vaccination in an SIR model structure. Conceptually, modelling *all-or-nothing* and *leaky* vaccines involves simulating different ways that a vaccine affects the population, either by fully protecting a proportion of vaccinated individuals or partially reducing susceptibility to the disease or infection in all vaccinated individuals. In an all-or-nothing model, a vaccine either fully protects some individuals or provides no protection at all to others. This means that a proportion of vaccinated individuals is completely immune (not susceptible to infection or disease), while the remaining proportion is just as susceptible as unvaccinated individuals [4]. In a leaky model, a vaccine reduces the probability of infection or disease severity for all vaccinated individuals rather than fully protecting a proportion of the population. In this case, all vaccinated individuals remain susceptible, but the risk of infection or disease is reduced compared to unvaccinated individuals [4].

OPV provides protection against infection and can reduce transmission of the virus in the population by inducing mucosal immunity. Therefore, OPV behaves as an all-or-nothing vaccine that protects individuals from both infection and disease and indirectly reduces transmission in the population through viral shedding. Similarly, MCV provides strong protection against both infection and disease and is also considered an all-or-nothing vaccine. In Figure 1, the 'M' compartment reflects protection from maternal antibodies. Maternal antibodies are antibodies that are passed from mother to child, either through the placenta during pregnancy or via breastfeeding. These antibodies provide temporary immunity to newborns against certain infections, giving them some degree of protection during the early months of life before their immune system is fully developed or before they can be vaccinated. The duration of this protection varies depending on the disease and the type of antibodies transferred. Over time, however, these antibodies wane, and the child becomes fully susceptible to infection, unless they are vaccinated. Because MCV is typically administered between 9-12 months of age, protection from maternal antibodies is crucial in shielding infants from infection in the early months of life before they are eligible for vaccination. Therefore, in an SIR model for measles, it is important to include an 'M' compartment to accurately model the period during which infants are protected by maternal antibodies. OPV is administered much earlier (6 weeks to 2 months of age) reducing the dependence on maternal antibodies for protection. Consequently, in an SIR model for polio, inclusion of maternal antibodies is less important because early vaccination provides more timely protection.



**Figure 1. SIR transmission model.** The model compartments shown here are for an SIR model and are accompanied by the rates at which individuals move through the compartments once infected. Individuals start in the M compartment (protected by maternal antibodies), and after their immunity wanes (arrow from M to S), they become susceptible. The rate at which susceptible individuals move into the vaccinated compartment is proportional to the number of susceptible individuals and the vaccination rate v, reflecting an all-or-nothing vaccine.

Beyond model structure, it is important to note that such models can be either stochastic or deterministic in nature. Deterministic models assume that disease dynamics are fully predictable and governed by fixed parameters and initial conditions. The outcomes of deterministic model simulations are determined entirely by the input parameters, and if the model is run multiple times with the same initial conditions, the results will always be the same. Deterministic models can be less computationally exhaustive, but they do not account for randomness or variability, which can be important in real-world settings. Stochastic models incorporate randomness or probability into model predictions and simulate individual-level events, such as infections or recoveries, that occur

probabilistically based on rates (e.g., a certain probability that one person will infect another in a given time period). Stochastic model outcomes vary between runs, even if the starting conditions are the same [5].

In this methods section, I highlight three strengths and limitations of using mathematical models for vaccine impact estimates and I explain how I address each strength and limitation in the subsequent research chapters.

#### 2.1.1 Strengths

- 1. Models can be used in the absence of real-world data
  - a. Transmission models can be useful in projecting the propagation of disease dynamics in the future, or modelling events that have not necessarily occurred [6]. Models can also help to explain disease dynamics in the absence of pharmaceutical therapeutics, or interventions, such as vaccination.
  - b. For example, this is the case in Chapter 3. I constructed a model to simulate polio transmission dynamics given an importation of WPV1 into Africa. In this chapter, using a transmission model allowed me to demonstrate risks and benefits under different polio vaccination strategies given a 'hypothetical' importation event that poses public health risk, but has not necessarily occurred in some geographies.
- 2. Models can be used to decide between different vaccination policies
  - a. Deciding between different vaccination policies can be challenging as a delicate balance between preventing disease and the costs associated with disease prevention needs to be considered. Models allow for risks and benefits of different vaccination scenarios to be compared alongside, ahead of real-world implementation.
  - b. This strength was highlighted in both Chapters 3 and 4, where recommendations for future polio and measles SIAs were made based on model simulations of risks and benefits of different strategies.

#### 2.1.2 Limitations

- 1. Models can be overly complex and rely on assumptions
  - a. Parameters, such as the rates described above in Figure 1, can be informed by the natural history of a disease, but often the natural history of disease can vary by individual or geographical location, or in the case of polio, can also depend on hygiene

[7]. Consequently, model assumptions can result in varying accuracy of model outputs.

- Advancements in computational techniques and computational capacity for disease modelling has improved over the years, but also allows for construction of very large and complex models [8]. Validating overly complex models can be challenging.
- c. Uncertainties in underlying model assumptions should not be overlooked and to ameliorate the effect of these assumptions, my subsequent research chapters are explicit about the inherent limitations in the models used.
- 2. "All models are wrong, but some are useful"
  - a. This aphorism coined by George Box, encapsulates the pros and cons of using modelling to inform decision making. There is weight in the first part of his statement about all models being wrong. It is impossible to accurately predict all human interactions and behaviours people do not always act in rational ways, which in turn can affect disease dynamics.
  - b. While assumptions are made in modelling that, in theory, should account for the uncertainties of human behaviour and natural disease progression, there will implicitly be elements of models that are not entirely accurate.
  - c. Communicating these uncertainties through sensitivity analyses, where model outputs are evaluated using different parameter assumptions, is one way to address model limitations. My research chapters that use mathematical modelling include many sensitivity analyses to evaluate model outputs under alternative parameter assumptions. For example, later in chapter 3, I conduct sensitivity analyses for the following parameters: WPV1 importation rate, basic reproductive number (R<sub>0</sub>), SIA coverage, vaccine wastage, costs of pSIAs and oSIAs and cost discounting assumptions.
- 3. Models can elicit scepticism and criticism from the public, stakeholders and policymakers
  - a. Because of the first two limitations described, communicating the outputs and implications of mathematical models to the public, stakeholders and policymakers can be challenging.
  - b. To bridge the gap between model outputs and vaccine policy, measles and polio stakeholders were involved in model conceptualisation, analysis of outputs and communication of results in both projects featured in Chapters 3-4. For Chapter 3 specifically, polio stakeholders were involved in an iterative process of model

refinement and validation that spanned several years and results were presented to global decision-making task teams that implement polio vaccine interventions.

c. During and alongside this PhD, I was also involved in mathematical modelling and qualitative stakeholder engagement for the newly licenced chikungunya vaccine. I used the Evidence to Recommendation framework for vaccine introduction to guide this research and learned about the applicability of this criterion to inform vaccine decision-making across a range of diseases. As part of my continued academic pathway, I learned how to communicate mathematical models and model outputs to stakeholders and further engaged in conversations around models being used to inform vaccine policy. An example of this stakeholder engagement can be read in Appendix section 7.1.1.

#### 2.2 Evaluating vaccination strategies

#### 2.2.1 Defining vaccine impact

Vaccine impact can estimate disease burden averted by vaccination by calendar year, birth year and year of vaccination [9]. In this PhD, I estimate vaccine impact by comparing the number of cases, deaths and disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) associated with measles infection in the same population for the counterfactual vaccination scenarios in comparison to a baseline strategy (such as no vaccination).

#### 2.2.2 Effectiveness vs. efficiency

The effectiveness of a vaccine refers to the protection provided by immunisation and considers both direct (vaccine-induced) and indirect (population-related) protection. The effectiveness of a vaccine depends on vaccination coverage, alongside other factors that may affect the target population. In this PhD, efficiency addresses the number of individuals that need to be vaccinated to control a disease, i.e., measles. There are several ways to measure the efficiency of vaccination. In this PhD, I use two metrics to measure vaccine efficiency: (1) the incremental number of doses needed to vaccinate (NNV) to prevent an additional measles case and (2) the ability of a vaccination strategy to keep the size of the susceptible population of children younger than five years below the size of the birth cohort. The latter is a rule of thumb that has been used historically in measles vaccination programming.

NNV is considered a measure of efficiency in the context of vaccination programs, as it helps quantify the effectiveness and efficiency of a vaccine in preventing disease in a population. A lower NNV means fewer vaccinations are required to prevent a case, making the vaccination program more resource efficient. High NNV values suggest that many vaccinations are required to prevent a single case, which may be less efficient in terms of cost or logistics.

#### 2.2.3 Economic models and checklists

Using health economics is another way to evaluate vaccination strategies. Economic evaluation involves comparisons of alternative vaccination approaches in terms of both costs and health outcomes. According to the WHO Guide for Standardization of Economic Evaluations of Immunization Programmes, several economic models are typically deployed for economic evaluation of childhood vaccination [10], including:

- Cost-minimization analysis (CMA): used to assess two or more interventions with identical health outcomes
- Cost-effectiveness analysis (CEA): used to compare different interventions or scenarios and usually considers the additional cost of providing a health care intervention in relation to additional health benefits [9]. Health outcomes are measured in natural health units (cases averted, deaths averted, life-years gained)
- Cost-utility analysis (CUA): reflects preferences for one intervention over another and often expresses the different outcomes in terms of quality-adjusted life years (QALYs) and DALYs.
- Cost-benefit analysis (CBA): converts programme benefits in all forms into a monetary value for comparison to show the broader benefits of an intervention (e.g. human capital or labour market), however, expressing health outcomes in monetary terms is controversial.

In Chapter 3, I use a CEA because I aim to compare vaccination strategies with different frequencies of preventative SIAs to a baseline strategy that relies only on RI and outbreak response. I consider the additional costs of SIAs in relation to the additional health benefits, specifically cases of paralytic polio averted. I adhered to the Consolidated Health Economic Evaluation Reporting Standards (CHEERS) 2022 framework for my CEA [11]. Next, I outline the components of the CHEERS checklist and provide commentary on why certain checklist items are pertinent to polio economic modelling.

#### 2.2.3.1 CHEERS Checklist

The CHEERs checklist is integral to using economic models in decision making. The reporting guidelines ensure that economic evaluations follow a specific format and are transparent in assumptions made

and methods followed. The checklist includes the following items: title, abstract, background and objectives, health economic analysis plan, study population, setting and location, comparators, perspective, time horizon, discount rate, measurement and valuation of outcomes, valuation of resources and costs, currency, rationale of model, analytics and assumptions, heterogeneity, uncertainties, public engagement, study parameters, main results, findings, and generalisability [10].

The entire CHEERs checklist (used in Chapter 3) is included in Appendix pp 238-239, but here I choose to highlight several checklist items that strongly influence polio economic evaluations, specifically, (1) perspective(s), (2) time horizon, (3) comparators, and (4) heterogeneity.

- Perspectives:
  - This refers to the view or perspective adopted for the health economic analyses. Or, who pays for the intervention and accounts for the DALYs incurred? Some examples of perspectives include payer, health system, funder, global or societal perspectives.
  - For polio, the perspective adopted for an economic analysis in an LMIC can greatly influence the findings and conclusions—the health system in many LMICs at risk of a poliovirus outbreak typically incurs the costs associated with paralytic polio cases, but the GPEI often funds vaccination interventions, such as outbreak response and pSIAs. Also, the governments of LMICs typically receive financial support from GAVI (Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunization) in the form of reduced costs on certain polio vaccine doses [12]. So, one would need to consider both the health system and funder perspectives to make recommendations on polio vaccination strategies.
  - These financing patterns are greatly shifted in high income countries, however. In high income countries, the governments pay for their own polio vaccine doses administered via RI, but given a low perceived risk of polio outbreaks, high income countries usually do not fund pSIAs. This keeps polio budgets relatively low in comparison to other health expenditures. However, high income countries that donate money towards international development funds, and in turn support global polio eradication efforts in other at-risk LMICs, also have a stake in financing of polio eradication activities.
  - The global perspective is equally important to consider in polio economic evaluations, as just one case of poliovirus can threaten eradication. From the global perspective, investing in preventative polio vaccination results in a greater probability of polio elimination and eradication, but still requires justification in a pragmatic environment of finite resources. These motivations align with the game theoretic approach

proposed by Barret et al. such that global eradication only succeeds if the country with the weakest elimination programme is successful, and that success depends on mutual assurance [13]. Many non-endemic countries in sub-Saharan Africa have an incentive to maintain elimination of polio, but domestic funding is limited and GPEI is left to support the budget gaps in polio programming. Well-resourced countries that have eliminated polio have an incentive to financially support or incentivise less resourced endemic countries to eliminate polio to realise the full potential of their investments already made, and therefore financially support GPEI.

- Time horizon:
  - The current GPEI strategic plan 2022-2026 has set out to eradicate polio by 2026, although this timeline has been revised several times since the WHA's initial commitment to eradicate polio in 1988. If all vaccination is assumed to stop once polio eradication has been achieved, economic analyses need to consider a longer time horizon to account for the costs saved by halting vaccination. However, to address shorter term financial needs and budget expenditures, a shorter time horizon may be appropriate. In Chapter 3, I model a five-year time horizon, in line with the current GPEI strategic plan to demonstrate imminent costs and benefits of different vaccination strategies.
- Comparators:
  - Comparators refers to the health interventions being compared in an economic analysis. In many economic analyses for vaccination, the baseline strategy is 'no vaccination', as was done in Chapter 4 for estimating measles vaccine impact. This is an important CHEERS checklist item for polio because the baseline strategy for polio vaccination may differ from other diseases. For example, even just one polio case triggers an outbreak response [14], therefore it is sensible if the baseline strategy against which other vaccination strategies are compared accounts for baseline RI plus outbreak response (if an outbreak were to occur), not 'no vaccination.' If a longer time horizon is considered for polio eradication cost-effectiveness, the baseline comparator may be 'no vaccination'. So, the appropriate comparators also depend on the selected time-horizon.
- *Heterogeneity*:
  - Heterogeneity in the CHEERS checklist refers to differential health outcomes in different subgroups of the target population or in different geographical areas. For polio, heterogeneity can affect vaccination coverage, transmission of virus and

exposure to infection. If subnational geographies within a country have different vaccination coverage levels, immunity against poliovirus may also vary. This is an important consideration for economic analyses as it may affect the costs of interventions in different regions. The analysis in Chapter 3 assumes a homogenous population, and whist the limitations of this approach are outlined in the discussion, this was a sensible assumption due to existing knowledge gaps on subnational polio SIA coverage.

#### 2.3 Tying it all together

This is an interdisciplinary PhD, with methodological approaches ranging from epidemiology, and mathematical modelling to health economics and statistics. Each subsequent research chapter includes in-depth explanations of specific methods used to answer the objectives of this PhD. Despite the interdisciplinary approaches used in this PhD, all methods tie together with the fundamental aim of evaluating vaccination strategies for measles and polio: Chapter 3 uses mathematical modelling and economic evaluation for polio vaccination strategies, Chapter 4 uses mathematical modelling and vaccine impact estimates for measles vaccine evaluation, and Chapter 5 uses epidemiological and statistical analyses to evaluate VPDVs, seeded by vaccination.

#### 2.5 Chapter 2 references

1. Kermack WO, McKendrick AG. A contribution to the mathematical theory of epidemics. Proceedings of the royal society of london Series A, Containing papers of a mathematical and physical character. 1927;115(772):700-21.

Renshaw E. Modelling biological populations in space and time: Cambridge University Press;
1993.

3. Keeling MJ, Rohani P. Modeling infectious diseases in humans and animals: Princeton university press; 2011.

4. Derek A. T. Cummings, Justin Lessler, Design and Analysis of Vaccine Studies: By M. Elizabeth Halloran, Ira M. Longini, Jr., and Claudio J. Struchiner, *American Journal of Epidemiology*, Volume 174, Issue 7, 1 October 2011, Pages 872–873, https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwr286

5. Allen, Linda JS. "A primer on stochastic epidemic models: Formulation, numerical simulation, and analysis." *Infectious Disease Modelling* 2.2 (2017): 128-142.

6. Afzal A, Saleel CA, Bhattacharyya S, Satish N, Samuel OD, Badruddin IA. Merits and Limitations of Mathematical Modeling and Computational Simulations in Mitigation of COVID-19 Pandemic: A Comprehensive Review. Arch Comput Methods Eng. 2022;29(2):1311-37. Epub 2021/08/17. doi: 10.1007/s11831-021-09634-2. PubMed PMID: 34393475; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC8356220.

7. Fine PEM, Carneiro IAM. Transmissibility and Persistence of Oral Polio Vaccine Viruses: Implications for the Global Poliomyelitis Eradication Initiative. American Journal of Epidemiology. 1999;150(10):1001-21. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a009924.

8. Echeverria-Londono S, Li X, Toor J, de Villiers MJ, Nayagam S, Hallett TB, Abbas K, Jit M, Klepac P, Jean K, Garske T, Ferguson NM, Gaythorpe KAM. How can the public health impact of vaccination be estimated? BMC Public Health. 2021 Nov 9;21(1):2049. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-12040-9

9. World Health Organization. WHO guide for standardization of economic evaluations of immunization programmes. World Health Organization, 2019.

10. Tsang C, Cromwell D. EBOOK: Health Care Evaluation: McGraw-Hill Education (UK); 2017.

11. Husereau D, Drummond M, Augustovski F, de Bekker-Grob E, Briggs AH, Carswell C, et al. Consolidated Health Economic Evaluation Reporting Standards 2022 (CHEERS 2022) statement: updated reporting guidance for health economic evaluations. BMJ. 2022;376: e067975. doi: 10.1136/bmj-2021-067975.

12. Vaccine investment strategy [Internet]. [cited 20 Nov 2020]. Available: https://www.gavi.org/our-alliance/strategy/vaccineinvestment-strategy

13. Barrett S. The smallpox eradication game. Public Choice. 2007; 130:179-207.

56

14. Global Polio Eradication Initiative. Standard operating procedures: responding to a poliovirus event or outbreak 2022 [21 April 2022]. Version 4: [Available from: https://polioeradication.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/Standard-Operating-Procedures-For-Responding-to-a-Poliovirus-Event-Or-Outbreak-20220417\_OBR\_SOP\_final\_pre\_pub\_website.pdf.

# 3. Chapter 3: Vaccination strategies against wild poliomyelitis in poliofree settings: outbreak risk modelling study and cost-effectiveness analysis

# Megan Auzenbergs<sup>1,2</sup>, Kaja Abbas<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Arend Voorman<sup>4</sup>, Corey M Peak<sup>4</sup>, Mark Jit,<sup>1,2</sup> Kathleen M O'Reilly<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Centre for Mathematical Modelling of Infectious Diseases, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK

<sup>2</sup> Faculty of Epidemiology and Population Health, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK

<sup>3</sup> School of Tropical Medicine and Global Health, Nagasaki University, Nagasaki, Japan

<sup>4</sup> Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, Seattle, Washington, USA

#### 3.1 Research paper cover sheet



London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT

T: +44 (0)20 7299 4646 F: +44 (0)20 7299 4656 www.lshtm.ac.uk

# **RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET**

Please note that a cover sheet must be completed for each research paper included within a thesis.

#### SECTION A - Student Details

Student ID Number	1604063	Title	Ms	
First Name(s)	Megan			
Surname/Family Name	Auzenbergs			
Thesis Title	Mathematical and statistical modelling to inform polio and measles vaccination programming			
Primary Supervisor	Dr. Kathleen M O'Reilly & Dr. Kaja Abbas			

# If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C.

#### SECTION B - Paper already published

Where was the work published?			
When was the work published?			
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Choose an item.	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Choose an item.

\*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

#### SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	BMJ Global Health
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	Megan Auzenbergs, Kaja Abbas, Arend Voorman, Corey M Peak, Mark Jit, Kathleen M O'Reilly
Stage of publication	Peer-reviewed, with editor

#### SECTION D - Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	I worked on: conceptualisation, methodology, formal analysis, visualisation, and writing - original draft
---	---

## SECTION E

Student Signature	
Date	30 May 2024

Supervisor Signature	
Date	31 May 2024

#### 3.2 Bridging section

This paper was peer-reviewed in *BMJ Global Health* in June 2024. This research evaluates the risk of outbreaks and associated costs with differing frequencies of pSIAs for a LMIC in sub-Saharan Africa where polio is not endemic, but there is a risk of WPV1 importation. pSIAs increase population immunity and prevent outbreaks but are also costly interventions. Consequently, many countries in sub-Saharan Africa have not conducted a pSIA in several years. Do these countries have high enough levels of RI coverage to prevent an outbreak given an importation of WPV1? This work estimates removal of pSIAs in countries with RI coverage <67% would have high risk of outbreaks following a WPV1 importation, however, in countries where RI coverage is >67%, reducing the frequency of pSIAs could still maintain a low risk of large outbreaks. Further, this work adopts several perspectives for economic outputs: health system, GPEI and a combined health system and GPEI perspective. From all perspectives, annual and biennial pSIAs are cost-saving and avert disability adjusted life years (DALYs) when RI coverage is low, but above 67% RI coverage, pSIAs become less cost-effective. These findings are extremely timely given current timelines for polio eradication and the GPEI strategic plan. The outputs from this research are being used as a guide to plan pSIAs ahead of bOPV cessation in consequential geographies at high risk of poliovirus outbreaks.

This work was conducted entirely on my own. I developed the underlying model, coded all vaccination strategies, validated, processed and analysed all model outputs, conducted the cost-effectiveness analysis, and wrote up the final manuscript. I received input from the GPEI Strategic Group of Modellers and GPEI colleagues based at the BMGF throughout the research process and presented this work at GPEI stakeholder meetings and the Institute for Disease Modelling symposium in 2023.

#### 3.3 Abstract and author summary

#### 3.3.1 Abstract

The 2021 importation of wild poliovirus serotype 1 (WPV1) into Malawi with subsequent international spread represented the first WPV1 cases in Africa since 2016. Preventing importations and spread of WPV1 is critical, and dependent on population immunity provided through routine immunisation (RI) and supplementary immunisation activities (SIAs). We aim to estimate outbreak risk and costs given an importation of WPV1 for non-endemic countries in the WHO AFRO region. We developed a stochastic mathematical model of polio transmission dynamics to evaluate the probability of an outbreak, expected number of poliomyelitis cases, costs, and incremental cost-effectiveness ratios under different vaccination strategies. Across variable RI coverage, we explore three key strategies:

RI+outbreak SIAs (oSIAs), RI+oSIAs+annual preventative SIAs (pSIAs), and RI+oSIAs+biennial pSIAs. Results are presented in 2023 USD over a five-year time horizon from the Global Polio Eradication Initiative (GPEI) and health system perspectives. The annual pSIA strategy has the greatest probability of no outbreaks in comparison to other strategies: under our model assumptions, annual pSIAs result in 80% probability of no outbreaks when routine immunisation coverage  $\geq$ 50%. The biennial pSIA strategy requires RI coverage  $\geq$ 65% to achieve equivalent risk of no outbreaks. The strategy with no pSIAs requires  $\geq$ 75% RI coverage to achieve equivalent risk of no outbreaks. For the health system, when RI coverage is between 35-60%, both pSIA strategies are cost-saving. For the GPEI, below 65% RI pSIA strategies are cost-effective, but the biennial pSIA strategy incurs higher costs in comparison to annual pSIAs due to more oSIAs. Prioritisation of pSIAs must balance outbreak risk against implementation costs, ideally favouring the smallest manageable outbreak risk compatible with elimination. We infer that there are few short-term risks due to population immunity from RI, but without pSIAs, long-term risks accumulate and can result in outbreaks with potential for international spread.

#### 3.3.2 Author summary

While previous modelling analyses have deemed polio eradication cost-effective, they were conducted under prior polio eradication timelines and/or modelled only trivalent oral polio vaccine (tOPV) since they were conducted before the switch from trivalent to bivalent OPV in 2016. There are current concerns of WPV1 importation in Africa that impact future planning and funding of polio vaccination activities. We simulate WPV1 importations in our model and estimate outbreak risk and costs for non-endemic countries in the WHO AFRO region. At low levels of RI coverage, pSIAs are cost-effective in reducing the probability and size of an outbreak following an importation of WPV1. To achieve low probability of a WPV1 outbreak, RI coverage and the frequency of pSIAs should be increased. If high levels of RI coverage have been maintained overtime, even in the absence of pSIAs, a country can remain at low risk of an outbreak following a WPV1 importation. Our study inferences can be mapped to different geographies in the WHO AFRO region to infer varying levels of outbreak risk risk from WPV1 importations. Without preventive supplementary immunisation activities, if routine immunisation coverage is above 70–80%, the risk of polio outbreaks is considerably less and a feasible and cost-effective approach for many non-polio endemic LMICs in sub-Saharan Africa.

#### 3.4. Introduction

In 2019, the African Region was certified free from endogenous transmission of wild poliovirus (WPV), with the last clinical case reported in Nigeria in August 2016 [1]. However, in late 2021 and early 2022, Malawi and Mozambique reported WPV serotype 1 (WPV1) cases, respectively, linked to ongoing circulation in Pakistan [2]. The geographic distribution and genetic linkage of these WPV1 cases suggest missed transmission of an unknown geographic extent [2]. These WPV1 cases highlight the importance of ensuring high and homogeneous levels of population immunity despite decreasing global incidence and elimination in the African continent.

Poliovirus infection typically initiates in the gut, and approximately one in every 200 infections of serotype 1 may go on to infect the central nervous system and the spinal cord, resulting in paralytic disease known as poliomyelitis, or polio. Since 2016, the recommended routine immunisation schedule is with bivalent oral polio vaccine (bOPV) and at least 1 dose of the inactivated polio vaccine (IPV). OPV induces mucosal immunity and protects against infection (and transmission), whilst IPV only protects against poliomyelitis and does not induce mucosal immunity. OPV is integral to eradication as it prevents infection and transmission. However, variable routine immunisation (RI) coverage leads to differential population immunity across countries.

The Global Polio Eradication Initiative (GPEI) is responsible for the coordination of activities to support polio eradication. The activities include surveillance for acute flaccid paralysis (AFP) which includes poliomyelitis and other infectious and non-infectious causes, environmental surveillance for poliovirus, and providing polio vaccinations through both supplementary immunisation activities (SIAs) and RI (through the Expanded Programme for Immunisation). SIAs typically aim to vaccinate all children under five years old, including those hard-to-reach children otherwise missed by RI. Despite an annual expenditure of around one billion USD, decision makers within polio eradication often must make complex decisions in allocating resources amid decreases in the global budget [3]. Alongside, the frequency of preventative supplementary immunisation activities (pSIAs) has decreased in almost all countries in Africa since 2017 (Figure 1) [4]. **Figure 1. Historical pSIAs and RI coverage in African countries.** (A) Mean number of pSIAs per year from 2013–2017 and 2018–2022 and (B) year of last pSIA and WUENIC estimates of Diphtheria Tetanus Toxoid and Pertussis vaccine third dose (DTP3) coverage, an indicator of vaccination via RI as the DTP vaccine is administered concurrently with OPV in the routine immunisation series. Preventative SIAs were defined as either a national or subnational immunisation day (NID, SNID) with bOPV (or tOPV pre-2016) and did not occur within 365 days after a WPV1 or VDPV1 detection, to distinguish historic pSIAs from oSIAs. Any SIAs that occurred within 365 days of a WPV1 or VDPV1 outbreak were not included in the pSIA count. Country selection represents low, lower middle and upper middle-income sub-Saharan African countries. CAR = Central African Republic; DRC = Democratic Republic of the Congo.



2019

2015

Sierra Leone

Ghana

91%

99%

The GPEI annual budget exists of contributions from donors and is used to support the GPEI's objectives. This budget is divided into pSIAs and outbreak response, and additional budget lines (not considered further in this study). Outbreak response includes outbreak response SIAs (oSIAs), whilst pSIAs are planned to prevent outbreaks in polio-free settings and raise population immunity in at-risk areas to stop transmission. Operationally, pSIAs and oSIAs differ both in the target populations for vaccination as well as the funding and planning for activities – oSIAs must be implemented soon after outbreak detection and require more resources for rapid mobilisation. pSIAs are planned well ahead of implementation and are less costly because logistics do not require rapid mobilisation, but as their need is not always acute, this can result in de-prioritisation.

Since the World Health Assembly's 1988 resolution to eradicate polio by the year 2000, economic analyses have informed strategies to progress towards this goal [5-7]. However, few studies distinguish between pSIAs and oSIAs, which is important because they have different strategic goals and funding approaches. Furthermore, of the economic analyses that include modelling of different vaccination strategies, several assume eradication will have already occurred [6, 8], include limited geographies [6, 9], or model populations where WPV1 is endemic [10]. One economic analysis that considers the cost-effectiveness of operational decisions for pSIAs and oSIAs does not consider importations of WPV1 [11]. Therefore, we provide a modelling approach for low-and-middle income countries (LMICs) in sub-Saharan Africa to compare strategies of differing frequencies of pSIAs to identify at what levels of RI the risks of outbreaks and polio cases may outweigh the associated costs of implementing pSIAs, given the risk of WPV1 importations. In this study, we consider only the risks of WPV1 outbreaks in a polio-free settings that are representative of LMICs in sub-Saharan Africa. This is an evidence gap identified by stakeholders involved in OPV cessation planning that is important to address as we approach the final stages of WPV1 transmission [12].

#### 3.5 Methods

We evaluated different vaccination strategies for a hypothetical population of 8 million children under five years of age, reflecting a mean population size across twenty-five LMICs in sub-Saharan Africa (Appendix pp 218-219). Model outputs from each strategy include probability of an outbreak, estimated cases of paralytic poliomyelitis and vaccine associated paralytic polio (VAPP), number of outbreaks and disability-adjusted life years (DALYs). The Consolidated Health Economic Evaluation Reporting Standards 2022 (CHEERS 2022) reporting guidance was used in the development of this analysis [13], Appendix pp 238-239.

#### 3.5.1 Vaccination strategies

We explored three vaccination strategies (Table 1). We assume that vaccination via RI follows a sequential immunisation schedule that includes 3 doses of bOPV given orally and 1 dose IPV administered intramuscularly or subcutaneously.

**Table 1. Polio vaccination strategies.** The target population for SIAs is children missed by RI. For example, both pSIAs and oSIAs vaccinate 25% of the population of children missed by RI. RI = Routine Immunisation, oSIA = outbreak response supplementary immunisation activity, pSIA = preventative supplementary immunisation activity. An outbreak response was only conducted if a simulation had at least 1 case of paralytic polio. Additional assumptions for R<sub>0</sub>, SIA target populations and importation rate are explored in sensitivity analyses (Appendix pp 233-235).

Vaccination strategy	RI coverage levels modelled	oSIA % of target population vaccinated	pSIA % of target population vaccinated	pSIA frequency	Ro	WPV1 importations
Baseline strategy	25%–100% in 5% increments	25%	no pSIAs	No pSIAs		
Annual pSIA strategy	25%–100% in 5% increments	25%	25%	Annual	3	2 per year
Biennial pSIA strategy	25%–100% in 5% increments	25%	25%	Every 2 years		

In all strategies, we define an outbreak as at least one case of paralytic polio. An oSIA is conducted in all simulations where at least one case was detected within any 90-day interval, in line with standard operating procedures [14]. oSIAs continue until all cases are stopped over the five-year time horizon. We do not account for case detections through environmental surveillance in this analysis. We assume that all SIAs reach 25% of children missed by RI, as prior evidence suggests that SIA coverage varies across locations and analysis with higher coverage assumptions for zero-dose children resulted in unrealistically high population immunity when compared to empirical data [15]. A sensitivity analysis of different SIA assumptions is on Appendix p 233.

#### 3.5.2 Model structure

We developed a stochastic SIR model to simulate polio transmission dynamics, whereby infectious individuals develop either asymptomatic or symptomatic infection, both of which are assumed to be infectious. We specify vaccine induced immunity based on OPV and IPV doses. In the model, children under the age of 5 years are either susceptible, fully vaccinated and protected from poliovirus infection, or have received an incomplete vaccination series (less than 3 bOPV doses + 1 IPV dose). Each subsequent dose of vaccine corresponds to additional protection and an opportunity for a child to seroconvert and be considered fully protected from infection (Appendix pp 213-215).

Whilst bOPV also has protective effects against poliovirus serotype 3, we only consider the vaccine's protective effects for serotype 1 for this analysis due to the greater risk of WPV1 given recent importations. Outbreaks of circulating vaccine-derived poliovirus (cVDPV) serotype 2 require alternative vaccines and assumptions and are therefore beyond the scope of this analysis. cVDPV serotypes 1 and 3 are also outside of the scope of this analysis due to the specific mechanisms of emergence.

#### 3.5.3 Model assumptions

The modelled time horizon is five years, in line with the current GPEI strategic plan 2022-2026 where a central aim is to interrupt all WPV transmission in the coming years [16]. R<sub>0</sub> is the basic reproductive number and estimates the expected number of secondary poliovirus infections in an immunologically naïve population. We have used an R<sub>0</sub> of 3, supported by data driven work exploring variable R<sub>0</sub> values in a non-endemic setting in Africa for children under five years of age [17] and higher R<sub>0</sub> assumptions were explored in sensitivity analysis (Appendix p 234). The proportion of children vaccinated with one dose of IPV is assumed to be equal to the third dose of bOPV RI coverage, in line with the joint assessment of immunization coverage by UNICEF and WHO (WUENIC) data [18] (Appendix p 218).

We assume a randomly mixed population of children under five with no heterogeneity in the probability of a child being vaccinated in an SIA or in transmission of poliovirus. Data shows a low mean age of wild poliomyelitis infections with under-5s accounting for more than 80% of cases in non-endemic settings [19]. Older children and adults are thought to play a minor role in WPV transmission (with a few notable exceptions) [15, 19], therefore, we focus only on children under five for this analysis. Simulations were run for 50 years before virus introduction allowing for historical pSIAs, then one infection was introduced into the population at the start of the simulation and further WPV1 importations were assumed to occur at a Poisson distributed rate of two importations per year.

Different importation rates and seasonality are addressed in a sensitivity analysis (Appendix p 235). The models were repeated for 10,000 stochastic simulations and run using the R package SimInf in R version 4.2.2 [20].

#### 3.5.4 Outbreak probability

The probability of an outbreak was calculated using the proportion of stochastic simulations that resulted in at least one paralytic polio case (i.e., a polio AFP case) following an importation of WPV1. This definition is not directly comparable to the WHO criteria for elimination status [21] but is useful for understanding outbreak risk. For example, the WHO criteria for elimination refers to the reduction to zero of the incidence of infection caused by a poliovirus in a defined area [21].

#### 3.5.5 DALYs

DALYs were calculated assuming that in LMICs, the mean discounted lifetime DALYs associated with one paralytic poliomyelitis case, with no age-weighting, is 14 DALYs per paralytic case [5], assuming that one in 200 infections leads to irreversible paralysis and among those paralysed, 5–10% die when respiratory muscles become paralysed [22] and long-term mortality is approximately 20% higher in paralytic polio cases than the general population [23]. The proportional contribution of YLD (years lost to disability) and YLL (years of life lost due to premature mortality) assuming a mean of 14 DALYs per case is 60% YLDs in addition to 40% YLLs per case [24]. After importation of infection, we assume no further international transmission during outbreaks for calculations of DALYs.

#### *3.5.6 Health and economic outcomes*

Incremental costs and DALYs averted were used to estimate incremental cost-effectiveness ratios (ICERs) under each pSIA strategy, calculated as follows:

$$ICER = \frac{(costs of pSIA strategy - costs of baseline strategy)}{(DALYs averted by pSIA strategy)}$$

We compare the ICER to three thresholds determined by Pichon-Riviere et al. 2023 [25] representing the lowest, median and highest cost-effectiveness thresholds among the sub-Saharan African countries used in the sample size calculation (appendix pp 218-219). We used a 3% discount rate for costs and 0% for health with no age-weighting [26], with other discounting assumptions explored on Appendix p 229. We do not include indirect costs of vaccination, such as opportunity costs of time spent for vaccination.

#### 3.5.7 Perspectives

Incremental costs are analysed from both the GPEI and health system perspectives and a combined perspective for both the health system and GPEI. The GPEI perspective is valuable for strategic planning and future programming as well for domestic health systems in their overall polio programming activities. For discounting, costs are calculated annually for each model simulation and then aggregated over all simulations and the 5-year time horizon.

The total costs for the health system perspective are calculated as follows:

(Cost per AFP case \* AFP cases) +

(Cost per VAPP case \* VAPP cases) +

(RI coverage \* (Newborns eligible for bOPV vaccination\* total doses received per child) \* (Cost per dose of bOPV + RI delivery cost per dose of bOPV) \* (1 + (bOPV wastage rate for RI / (1 – bOPV wastage rate for RI)))

#### The total costs for the GPEI perspective are calculated as follows:

(SIA coverage \* (Target population<sup>+</sup> \* Number of pSIAs) \* (Cost per dose of bOPV + pSIA delivery cost per dose of bOPV) \* (1 + bOPV wastage rate for SIAs)) +

(SIA coverage \* (Target population<sup>+</sup> \* Number of oSIAs) \* (Cost per dose of bOPV + oSIA delivery cost per dose of bOPV) \* (1 + (bOPV wastage rate for SIAs / (1 – bOPV wastage rate for SIAs))) +

(RI Coverage \* (Newborns eligible for IPV vaccination) \* (Cost per dose of IPV + RI delivery cost per dose of IPV) \* (1 + (bOPV wastage rate for RI / (1 – bOPV wastage rate for RI)))

<sup>+</sup> Target population for pSIAs and oSIAs refers to all children under five years of age

#### 3.5.8 Vaccine costs

Vaccine costs per dose for bOPV and IPV in Gavi supported countries were obtained from the latest UNICEF update in 2023 USD, with a mean cost of \$0.18 and \$2.00, respectively [27, 28] and costs associated with RI (administration, procurement and storage) were obtained from previous research [29], Appendix pp 220. All costs have been adjusted to 2023 USD. The main analysis assumes 10%

wastage for OPV in SIAs, 13% wastage for OPV in RI and 13% for IPV [30, 31]. Further wastage assumptions are on Appendix p 230.

#### 3.5.9 SIA data and costs

The Polio Information System (POLIS) was used to obtain SIA data from 2013–2022 and further analysis was done to distinguish pSIAs from oSIAs (Appendix p 210). The cost per child for pSIAs and oSIAs was obtained from GPEI data (Appendix p 236) and ranged from USD2023 0.28 - 1.12 for pSIAs and USD2023 0.22 - 2.79 for oSIAs. We assume oSIAs cost twice the cost of a pSIA and explore a range of proportional costs between pSIAs and oSIAs (Appendix pp 231). The stochasticity of outbreaks, which affects total estimated costs, is variable and contributes to the variability in expected costs across all strategies (Appendix p 222).

#### 3.5.10 Adverse events

The expected risk of adverse events, such as VAPP in countries using OPV is 1 case of VAPP per 0.9 million doses of bOPV administered and declines with subsequent doses [32]. A VAPP case was considered equivalent to a case of wild-acquired paralytic polio for calculation of the expected costs of VAPP and DALYs.

#### 3.5.11 Ethics

Ethical approval for this project was received from the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, project ID 15873.

#### 3.5.12 Patient and public involvement

Patients were not involved in this research.

#### 3.6 Results

Across all simulations, the mean expected number of WPV1 cases over five years is greatest in the baseline strategy and least in the annual pSIA strategy (Figure 2A). The annual pSIA strategy is the strategy under which the fewest number of outbreaks occur across all RI coverage levels. Under the base case assumptions (including R<sub>0</sub> and proportion of zero dose children reached by SIAs) annual pSIAs achieve and maintain >80% probability of no outbreaks when baseline RI coverage is 50% (Figure 2B). The biennial pSIA strategy achieves >80% probability of no outbreaks when RI is above 65% and the baseline strategy requires  $\geq$ 75% RI coverage to achieve >80% probability of no outbreaks.



Vaccination strategy — RI + oSIAs — RI + oSIAs + annual pSIAs — RI + oSIAs + biannual pSIAs

**Figure 2. Estimated number of paralytic polio cases and probability that no outbreaks occur over five years.** (A) number of expected paralytic polio cases (presenting as a polio AFP case). The solid line represents the mean estimate of 10,000 simulations, and (B) probability of no outbreaks occurring across all vaccination strategies. Outbreak probability was based on 10,000 simulations per vaccination strategy. The red dashed line corresponds to 80% probability that no outbreaks occur.

The annual pSIA strategy had the greatest expected VAPP cases over five years, since it was the strategy with the greatest number of vaccine doses administered and resulted in the fewest expected WPV1 cases over five-years. Estimated costs are shown in Figure 3 and Appendix pp 225-227. Calculating herd immunity as  $(1 - 1/R_0)$ , when RI coverage is below 66.6%, the point when herd immunity is achieved in this simple homogenously mixed model, total costs from all perspectives are highest in the baseline strategy. Above the herd immunity threshold, costs for the health system perspective are comparable across all strategies, due to fewer paralytic cases and increase with increasing RI coverage. From the GPEI perspective, from 25-40% RI coverage, costs are highest in the biennial pSIA strategy has the greatest costs due to a greater number of oSIAs required to stop outbreaks. When RI coverage exceeds the herd immunity threshold, costs are highest in the annual pSIA strategy due to the high costs associated with annual campaigns and increase with increasing RI coverage. From the combined health system and GPEI perspective, below the herd immunity threshold, costs are highest in the annual pSIA strategy. When RI coverage exceeds the herd immunity threshold, costs are highest in the annual pSIA strategy due to the high costs associated with annual campaigns and increase with increasing RI coverage. From the combined health system and GPEI perspective, below the herd immunity
threshold, costs are highest in the baseline strategy, due to the large number of AFP cases. Above the herd immunity threshold, the annual pSIA strategy becomes the costliest strategy.

# Total costs over 5 years Size of the circles is proportion to the number of expected AFP cases Solid points indicate >80% probability of no outbreak



Figure 3. Health system and GPEI estimated total costs over five years. The size of the circle is proportional to the mean number of expected paralytic polio cases across all model simulations. The solid circles correspond to >80% probability the strategy had no outbreaks over a five-year period.

For the health system (Figure 4A and Table 2), when RI coverage is below 66.6%, both pSIA strategies are cost-saving at the country-level upper, median and lower bounds (see Appendix p 237 for further explanation of the quadrants of a cost-effectiveness plane). At 65% RI and above, no DALYs are averted by either pSIA strategy, instead more DALYs are incurred with pSIAs due to VAPP, hence the negative ICERs. From the GPEI perspective, when RI is 25-30% the ICERs for annual pSIAs are USD\$15 and USD\$7 per DALY averted, but then the strategy becomes cost-saving between 30-60% RI (Figure 4B and Table 3). For biennial SIAs, the strategy is more costly when RI coverage is 25-40% and cost-saving from 45-60% RI coverage. When the health system and GPEI perspectives are combined, both pSIA strategies are cost-saving when RI coverage is below the herd immunity threshold (Figure 4C and Table 4). When RI coverage approaches 66.6%, the point when herd immunity is achieved, the ICERs for all perspectives (Tables 2-4) are negative for both annual and biennial pSIAs due to increased VAPP cases in comparison to the baseline strategy. However, even if the pSIA strategies are not cost-effective at >66.6% RI coverage and present challenges for VAPP, both pSIA strategies continue to avert outbreaks as RI coverage increases, which is important as a single outbreak under any vaccination strategy has implications for global polio eradication (Appendix p 228).

Table 5 outlines implications for decision making. When RI coverage falls below 50%, the annual pSIA strategy averts many cases, so removal of pSIAs entirely would create substantial risk. Countries with 50–90% RI coverage have a higher probability of no outbreaks occurring. However, the risk of an outbreak is not removed entirely until the probability of no outbreaks reaches 100% (when WPV1 transmission is interrupted globally). All strategies require >95% coverage for 100% probability that no outbreaks occur, however, above 80% RI coverage, outbreak probability is low and, if an outbreak does occur, the expected number of cases is low.



Baseline comparator strategy is RI + oSIAs 3% discounting for costs, 0% discounting for health

Figure 4. Cost-effectiveness planes for the annual and biennial pSIA vaccination strategies. Incremental costs and DALYs averted under the annual pSIA (RI+oSIAs+annual pSIAs) and biennial pSIA (RI+oSIAs+Biennial pSIAs) strategies are compared to the baseline strategy (RI+oSIAs). The pink circle is the mean estimate for the annual pSIA strategy and the pink triangle is the mean estimate for the biennial pSIA strategy. Each individual model simulation is represented as a single dot. The dashed lines represent three cost-effectiveness thresholds (representing the lowest (red=Democratic Republic of the Congo), median (green=Benin) and highest (blue=South Africa) country thresholds) among low, lower middle and upper middle-income sub-Saharan African countries.

 Table 2. Health system perspective - DALYs averted and differential costs between each pSIA strategy and the baseline strategy. Interpretation of the ICERs is provided in the commentary column. Negative ICERs are usually cost saving, but >65%, negative ICERs are due to VAPP.

RI	nSIA strategy	DALYs	Cost	ICER	Commentary		
coverage	point strategy	averted	difference	ICEN	,		
25	Annual pSIAs	307907	-15311684	-50			
30	Annual pSIAs	265881	-11656192	-50			
35	Annual pSIAs	220350	-13204856	-50			
40	Annual pSIAs	171969	-11384118	-50	Cost saving		
45	Annual pSIAs	111684	-10904822	-49	COSt Saving		
50	Annual pSIAs	49157	-10327265	-50			
55	Annual pSIAs	8172	-8492658	-49			
60	Annual pSIAs	185	-8392864	-49			
65	Annual pSIAs	-237	-5487803	-49			
70	Annual pSIAs	-287	-5480087	-49			
75	Annual pSIAs	-309	-2392834	-49	No DALKS averted instead more DALKS		
80	Annual pSIAs	-327	-2394881	-49	incurred with pSIAs due to VAPP hence		
85	Annual pSIAs	-345	-392734	-48	the negative ICER		
90	Annual pSIAs	-362	-396638	-48			
95	Annual pSIAs	-379	-8804	-48			
100	Annual pSIAs	-397	-13386	-47			
25	Biennial pSIAs	232850	11382	-48			
30	Biennial pSIAs	228148	6353	-49			
35	Biennial pSIAs	208311	13775	-48			
40	Biennial pSIAs	169876	8351	-49	Cost saving		
45	Biennial pSIAs	111523	14832	-48			
50	Biennial pSIAs	49200	9052	-49			
55	Biennial pSIAs	8255	15716	-48			
60	Biennial pSIAs	283	9594	-48			
65	Biennial pSIAs	-130	16560	-48			
70	Biennial pSIAs	-172	10095	-49			
75	Biennial pSIAs	-186	17387	-48	No DALYS averted instead more DALYS		
80	Biennial pSIAs	-198	10584	-49	incurred with pSIAs due to VAPP hence		
85	Biennial pSIAs	-208	18204	-48	the negative ICER		
90	Biennial pSIAs	-218	11065	-49	0		
95	Biennial pSIAs	-228	19053	-48			
100	Biennial pSIAs	-238	11569	-49			

**Table 3. GPEI perspective - DALYs averted and differential costs between each pSIA strategy and the baseline strategy.** Interpretation of the ICERs is provided in the commentary column. When RI coverage is 25 and 30% for the annual pSIA strategy, the strategies are more costly than the baseline because the baseline strategy results in explosive outbreaks that deplete susceptibles, resulting in the pSIA strategy requiring more total pSIAs throughout the time horizon.

RI	nSIA stratomy	DALYs	Cost	ICER	Commontary
coverage	poin strategy	averted	difference	ICEN	Commentary
25	Annual pSIAs	307907	4668615	15	More costly
30	Annual pSIAs	265881	1792608	7	Wore costly
35	Annual pSIAs	220350	-1312169	-6	
40	Annual pSIAs	171969	-3140650	-18	
45	Annual pSIAs	111684	-5392966	-48	Cost saving
50	Annual pSIAs	49157	-7111413	-145	
55	Annual pSIAs	8172	-5878933	-719	
60	Annual pSIAs	185	-681367	-3683	
65	Annual pSIAs	-237	4331306	-18276	
70	Annual pSIAs	-287	6416874	-22358	
75	Annual pSIAs	-309	6888407	-22293	No DALVS averted instead more DALVS
80	Annual pSIAs	-327	7022112	-21474	incurred with nSIAs due to VAPP hence
85	Annual pSIAs	-345	7095951	-20568	the negative ICER
90	Annual pSIAs	-362	7127935	-19690	
95	Annual pSIAs	-379	7127872	-18807	
100	Annual pSIAs	-397	7157937	-18030	
25	Biennial pSIAs	232850	7945495	34	
30	Biennial pSIAs	228148	8352947	37	More costly
35	Biennial pSIAs	208311	6679133	32	Wore costly
40	Biennial pSIAs	169876	3259477	19	
45	Biennial pSIAs	111523	-2327649	-21	
50	Biennial pSIAs	49200	-7150458	-145	Cost saving
55	Biennial pSIAs	8255	-7643058	-926	COSt Saving
60	Biennial pSIAs	283	-3049671	-10776	
65	Biennial pSIAs	-130	1713497	-13181	
70	Biennial pSIAs	-172	3650380	-21223	
75	Biennial pSIAs	-186	4067384	-21868	No DALKS averted instead more DALKS
80	Biennial pSIAs	-198	4203660	-21231	incurred with pSIAs due to VAPP hence
85	Biennial pSIAs	-208	4252305	-20444	the negative ICER
90	Biennial pSIAs	-218	4277093	-19620	
95	Biennial pSIAs	-228	4274782	-18749	
100	Biennial pSIAs	-238	4294966	-18046	

RI		DALYs	Cost		, Commonton (		
coverage	pSIA strategy	averted	difference	ICER	Commentary		
25	Annual pSIAs	307907	-10643069	-35			
30	Annual pSIAs	265881	-11412248	-43			
35	Annual pSIAs	220350	-12216992	-55			
40	Annual pSIAs	171969	-11633308	-68	Cost saving		
45	Annual pSIAs	111684	-10880769	-97	COSt saving		
50	Annual pSIAs	49157	-9504247	-193			
55	Annual pSIAs	8172	-6271667	-767			
60	Annual pSIAs	185	-690171	-3731			
65	Annual pSIAs	-237	4342688	-18324			
70	Annual pSIAs	-287	6430649	-22406			
75	Annual pSIAs	-309	6903240	-22341	No DALVS avorted instead more DALVS		
80	Annual pSIAs	-327	7037828	-21522	incurred with pSIAs due to VAPP hence		
85	Annual pSIAs	-345	7112511	-20616	the negative ICER		
90	Annual pSIAs	-362	7145322	-19738	the negative reliv		
95	Annual pSIAs	-379	7146075	-18855			
100	Annual pSIAs	-397	7176991	-18078			
25	Biennial pSIAs	232850	-3710697	-16			
30	Biennial pSIAs	228148	-3031171	-13			
35	Biennial pSIAs	208311	-3648131	-18			
40	Biennial pSIAs	169876	-5133387	-30	Cost saving		
45	Biennial pSIAs	111523	-7807735	-70	COSt Suving		
50	Biennial pSIAs	49200	-9545339	-194			
55	Biennial pSIAs	8255	-8039696	-974			
60	Biennial pSIAs	283	-3063057	-10824			
65	Biennial pSIAs	-130	1719850	-13230			
70	Biennial pSIAs	-172	3658730	-21272			
75	Biennial pSIAs	-186	4076436	-21916	No DALVS avorted instead more DALVS		
80	Biennial pSIAs	-198	4213253	-21279	incurred with pSIAs due to VAPP hence		
85	Biennial pSIAs	-208	4262400	-20492	the negative ICER		
90	Biennial pSIAs	-218	4287677	-19668	the negative ICER		
95	Biennial pSIAs	-228	4285847	-18798			
100	Biennial pSIAs	-238	4306535	-18095			

 Table 4. Combined health system and GPEI perspective - DALYs averted and differential costs between each pSIA strategy and the baseline strategy.

 Interpretation of the ICERs is provided in the commentary column.

**Table 5. Policy implications of polio vaccination strategies.** Expected paralytic polio cases are conditional means amongst simulations that resulted in at least one case. DALYs and outbreaks averted are mean and median values across all model simulations, respectively. The probability of no outbreaks occurring is obtained from the proportion of model simulations (out of 10,000 simulations) that resulted in zero paralytic cases. For outbreaks averted, the comparator is the baseline strategy with no pSIAs. The raw data used to create this table, alongside data for additional RI coverage levels is in Appendix pp 225-227. IQR = Interquartile Range.

	Estimated risk with	Estimated risk with	Estimated risk relying on	Outbreaks averted	Outbreaks averted by		
PLoovorago	annual pSIAs‡	Biennial pSIAs‡	oSIAs only‡	by annual pSIAs	Biennial pSIAs	Implications for desision making	
Kicoverage	Mean‡ polio cases if an outbreak occurs (95% CI)						
	(Probability <u>no</u>	outbreaks occur, from 10,00	00 simulations)	Medi	ian (IQR)		
259/	3 (3—4)	401 (368—434)	9,191 (8,834—9,547)	2 (2 4)	1/2 0	pSIA removal would have high risks and	
33%	(35%)	(3%)	(0%)	5 (2—4)	-1 (-2—0)	consequences	
F.0%	1 (1-1)	3 (3—3)	1,611 (2,526—1697)		F (2 - C)		
50%	(80%)	(33%)	(1%)	6 (5—6)	5 (3-6)		
	1 (1-1)	2 (1-2)	289 (263—315)		- (		
55%	(89%)	(60%)	(3%)	5 (5—6)	5 (4—6)	Removal of pSIAs altogether could lead to a	
C0%	1 (1-1)	1 (1-1)	20 (17—23)		- ()	high risk of outbreaks in subsequent years	
60%	(92%)	(76%)	(11%)	4 (2—4)	3 (2—4)		
65%	1 (1-1)	1 (1-1)	3 (2—3)	1 (0 - 2)	1 (0 - 0)		
03%	(94%)	(85%)	(37%)	1 (0—2)	1 (0—2)		
7.0%	1 (1-1)	1 (1-1)	1 (1-1)	0 (0 1)	0 (0 1)		
70%	(96%)	(91%)	(72%)	0 (0—1)	0 (0-1)		
0.0%	1 (1-1)	1 (1-1)	1 (1-1)			Reducing the frequency of pSIAs could still	
80%	(97%)	(96%)	(92%)	NA	NA	maintain a low risk of large outbreaks	
0.0%	1 (1-1)	1 (1-1)	1 (1-1)				
90%	(99%)	(99%)	(98%)	NA	NA		
100%	0 (0—0)	0 (0—0)	1 (1-1)	ΝΑ	ΝΑ	Even if pSIAs are removed, there is low to no	
100 /0	(100%)	(100%)	(100%)	INA	NA	risk of outbreaks	

#### 3.7 Discussion

The key messages of our study include: (i) with higher RI, the probability of outbreaks reduces considerably – under our model assumptions, outbreak size and risk are minimal when RI is above 66.6%; (ii) pSIAs of any frequency avert DALYs and are cost-saving for the combined GPEI and health system perspective below 66.6% RI; (iii) a strategy with only RI and oSIAs implicitly accepts some level of outbreak risk, but if RI is above 70–80%, the risk of outbreaks is considerably less than in other settings where RI is below 70%, which may be a feasible and cost-effective approach for many non-polio endemic LMICs in sub-Saharan Africa.

Our results are generalisable to different geographies. Using the modelled population size as a guide alongside national RI coverage and historical pSIA schedules, many geographies can be mapped to table 5. For countries with population sizes smaller or larger than our modelled population, model estimates can be scaled up or down.

Further, below 66.6% RI both pSIA strategies are cost-effective and avert a substantial number of DALYS, outweighing the increased number of expected VAPP cases. Countries such as Madagascar or Angola where 55% and 42% of the population under five years, respectively, are vaccinated with three or more DTP doses, have many subpopulations that could benefit from regular pSIAs. In Ghana and Sierra Leone, for example, future SIAs would not seem necessary as routine immunisation coverage of three doses of bOPV and 1 dose IPV exceeds 90% without reliance on historic pSIAs, unless there are subpopulations with substantially lower coverage. The proportion of the population in Malawi that has received three doses of bOPV peaked in 2011, but has been unstable since, falling to 83% in 2016 [18], with no historic reliance on pSIAs.

Our study has implications for global polio eradication decision making and health policy. Decisions on vaccination strategies should consider the combined perspective of the health system and GPEI rather than relying solely on one perspective. Despite the high costs and increased VAPP, reduced outbreak probability under annual pSIAs is an important consideration for polio eradication. Should the GPEI adopt an annual pSIA strategy irrespective of estimated RI and importations? Annual pSIAs that include all children under five in LMICs in sub-Saharan Africa would consume most of the GPEI annual budget for activities and would be an inefficient use of funds, potentially reducing funds for other activities (surveillance, vaccination against other serotypes). However, prioritising pSIAs in countries with low RI and perceived risk of introductions is a necessary compromise to which GPEI already adheres, and here we provide a framework to support decision making. Renewed commitment by donors was requested in 2022 [33] considering the 2022–2026 Strategic Plan, and these commitments remain essential to resource the activities needed to meet the objectives of polio eradication, including interrupting WPV transmission.

Our study has limitations. The main results assume a R<sub>0</sub> of 3 in a homogenous population (both with respect to transmission and population immunity), two imported infections per year and SIAs reaching 25% of children missed by RI. If SIAs reach up to 50% of zero-dose children, the impact of SIAs on reducing outbreak risk is further increased, consequently, for the same costs a better outcome is achieved (Appendix p 233). Assuming a higher  $R_0$  and increasing the frequency of importations would also increase the outbreak risk (Appendix pp 234-235). One of the most uncertain inputs of the analysis is importation rate: as poliovirus infection is typically asymptomatic this is not directly observable, and due to the changing epidemiology of polio globally, the importation rate will vary in time. We have not considered population heterogeneity. If there are pockets of the population with higher rates of transmission and/or lower vaccination coverage, then the probability of an outbreak occurring would increase. We only model children under five given the limited but uncertain extent to which older children and adults contribute to WPV transmission, which may under-estimate total expected cases. Research suggests no evidence of imperfect intestinal immunity in adults and older children in the transmission of WPV across different locations, which supports our modelled target population [15], but in the future, more research is needed to better understand context specific transmission by older ages.

While we have used cost-effectiveness thresholds based on the growth in life expectancy and health expenditures [25] alternative thresholds based on health opportunity costs could be further explored [34-36]. We do not consider the costs of further delaying the eradication timeline through outbreaks, or the societal implications of outbreaks on polio eradication, both of which may further emphasise the need to implement pSIAs even when the outbreak risks are small. We also do not include the impact of joint SIAs that might deliver other interventions or vaccines alongside OPV, as these joint campaigns occur less frequently and are programmed differently than polio specific SIAs. By limiting our analysis to a five-year time horizon, we underestimate the benefits of SIAs (particularly pSIAs) as they will increase the likelihood of eradication, meaning that control efforts after eradication can be scaled back. However, this time-horizon was chosen to specifically align with the current GPEI strategic plan for imminent programming decisions. Further, the pSIA health system costs only consider the geographical remit stated in the model and ignores the potential for further international spread.

International spread would be far more likely with larger outbreaks, consequently the health system costs are under-estimated.

From the global perspective, investing in pSIAs results in a greater probability of polio elimination, but still require justification in a pragmatic environment of finite resources. These motivations align with the game theoretic approach proposed by Barret et al. such that global eradication only succeeds if the country with the weakest elimination programme is successful, and that success depends on mutual assurance [37]. Many non-endemic countries in sub-Saharan Africa have an incentive to maintain elimination of polio, but domestic funding is limited and GPEI supports the budget gaps in polio programming [37]. Well-resourced countries that have eliminated polio have an incentive to financially support or incentivise less resourced endemic countries to eliminate polio to realise the full potential of their investments already made, and therefore financially support GPEI.

In conclusion, we assessed the outbreak risk and cost-effectiveness of different vaccination strategies and critically assessed the risks associated with adopting different strategies given baseline RI coverage. Decisions made solely based on fixed budget, cost-effectiveness or burden reduction may not fully capture all consequences or benefits associated with adopting a particular vaccination strategy. Urgently, as importations of WPV1 remain a threat to the AFRO region, this analysis serves as a valuable tool to estimate risk and plan vaccination activities across a range of settings at risk of importation of WPV1 cases.

### 3.7.1 Contributors

MA and KMOR conceptualised the study. MA curated the data, conducted the modelling analysis, prepared visualisations of results and wrote the original draft. MA, KMOR and KA independently validated the underlying data in this study and all results. MA, KA, AV, CMP, MJ and KMOR contributed to reviewing results and editing of the manuscript. All authors had full access to all the data in the study and had final responsibility for the decision to submit for publication. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript. The authors alone are responsible for the views expressed in this article and they do not necessarily present the decisions, policy or views of their affiliated organisations.

## 3.7.2 Data sharing

Simulation code used in the analysis and sample model outputs are publicly available at: https://github.com/mauzenbergs/polio\_econ.

# 3.7.3 Patient and public involvement

Patients or the public were not involved in the design, or conduct, or reporting, or dissemination plans of our research.

# *3.7.4 Declaration of interests*

We declare no conflicts of interest.

# *3.7.5 Acknowledgements*

This project was funded by the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation (BMGF), OPP1191821. KA is supported by the Japan Agency for Medical Research and Development (JP223fa627004). We would like to thank Rachel M. Burke (BMGF), Grace Macklin (WHO), John Edmunds (LSHTM), Anna Vassall (LSHTM), Stephan Widgren (SimInf), and others in the GPEI Subgroup for Analysis and Modelling for their feedback over the course of this project.

#### 3.8 Chapter 3 references

1. Khan F, Datta SD, Quddus A, Vertefeuille JF, Burns CC, Jorba J, et al. Progress toward polio eradication—worldwide, January 2016–March 2018. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2018;67(18):524.

2. Malawi Ministry of Health, Global Polio Eradication Initiative, Davlantes E. Notes from the Field: Initial Outbreak Response Activity Following Wild Poliovirus Type 1 Detection—Malawi, February 2022. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2022;71(23):776-7.

3. Global Polio Eradication Initiative. GPEI 2022 Expenditure Report 2022. Available from: https://polioeradication.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/GPEI\_2022\_Expenditure\_Report.pdf.

4. Voorman A, Lyons H, Bennette C, Kovacs S, Makam JK, F Vertefeuille J, et al. Analysis of population immunity to poliovirus following cessation of trivalent oral polio vaccine. Vaccine. 2022. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2022.03.013.

5. Duintjer Tebbens RJ, Pallansch MA, Cochi SL, Wassilak SGF, Linkins J, Sutter RW, et al. Economic analysis of the global polio eradication initiative. Vaccine. 2010;29(2):334-43. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.10.026.

6. Thompson KM, Tebbens RJD. Eradication versus control for poliomyelitis: an economic analysis. The Lancet. 2007;369(9570):1363-71. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(07)60532-7.

7. Zimmermann M, Hagedorn B, Lyons H. Projection of Costs of Polio Eradication Compared to Permanent Control. The Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2019;221(4):561-5. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiz488.

8. Thompson KM, Tebbens RJD, Pallansch MA, Kew OM, Sutter RW, Aylward RB, et al. The risks, costs, and benefits of possible future global policies for managing polioviruses. Am J Public Health. 2008;98(7):1322-30.

9. Verguet S, Jassat W, Bertram M, Tollman S, Murray CL, Jamison D, et al. Supplementary immunization activities (SIAs) in South Africa: comprehensive economic evaluation of an integrated child health delivery platform. Global Health Action. 2013;6(1):20056.

10. Kalkowska DA, Thompson KM. Insights from modeling preventive supplemental immunization activities as a strategy to eliminate wild poliovirus transmission in Pakistan and Afghanistan. Risk Analysis. 2021;41(2):266-72.

11. Kalkowska DA, Badizadegan K, Thompson KM. Outbreak management strategies for cocirculation of multiple poliovirus types. Vaccine. 2023.

World Health Organization. Global Polio Eradication Initiative Investment Case 2022-2026.
 2022.

13. Husereau D, Drummond M, Augustovski F, de Bekker-Grob E, Briggs AH, Carswell C, et al. Consolidated Health Economic Evaluation Reporting Standards 2022 (CHEERS 2022) statement: updated reporting guidance for health economic evaluations. BMJ. 2022;376:e067975. doi: 10.1136/bmj-2021-067975.

14. Global Polio Eradication Initiative. Standard operating procedures: responding to a poliovirus event or outbreak 2022 [21 April 2022]. Version 4:[Available from: https://polioeradication.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/Standard-Operating-Procedures-For-Responding-to-a-Poliovirus-Event-Or-Outbreak-20220417\_OBR\_SOP\_final\_pre\_pub\_website.pdf.

15. Blake IM, Martin R, Goel A, Khetsuriani N, Everts J, Wolff C, et al. The role of older children and adults in wild poliovirus transmission. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2014;111(29):10604-9.

16. World Health Organization, Global Polio Eradication Initiative. Polio eradication strategy 2022–2026: delivering on a promise. 2021.

17. Mangal TD, Aylward RB, Grassly NC. The Potential Impact of Routine Immunization with Inactivated Poliovirus Vaccine on Wild-type or Vaccine-derived Poliovirus Outbreaks in a Posteradication Setting. American Journal of Epidemiology. 2013;178(10):1579-87. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwt203.

18. World Health Organization. Poliomyelitis vaccination coverage.

19. Wagner BG, Behrend MR, Klein DJ, Upfill-Brown AM, Eckhoff PA, Hu H. Quantifying the impact of expanded age group campaigns for polio eradication. PloS one. 2014;9(12):e113538.

20. Widgren S, Bauer P, Eriksson R, Engblom S. SimInf: An R package for data-driven stochastic disease spread simulations. arXiv preprint arXiv:160501421. 2016.

21. Dowdle WR. The principles of disease elimination and eradication. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 1998;76(Suppl 2):22.

22. World Health Organization. Poliomyelitis [15 June 2023]. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/poliomyelitis.

23. Nielsen NM, Rostgaard K, Juel K, Askgaard D, Aaby P. Long-term mortality after poliomyelitis. Epidemiology. 2003:355-60.

24. World Health Organization. The global burden of disease: 2004 update: World Health Organization; 2008.

25. Pichon-Riviere A, Drummond M, Palacios A, Garcia-Marti S, Augustovski F. Determining the efficiency path to universal health coverage: cost-effectiveness thresholds for 174 countries based on growth in life expectancy and health expenditures. The Lancet Global Health. 2023;11(6):e833-e42.

26. World Health Organization. WHO guide for standardization of economic evaluations of immunization programmes, 2nd edition: World Health Organization; 2019 [3 January 2024]. Available

from: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/who-guide-for-standardization-of-economicevaluations-of-immunization-programmes-2nd-ed.

27. UNICEF. Inactivated Polio Vaccine (IPV) price data [26 April 2023]. Available from: https://www.unicef.org/supply/media/16266/file/IPV-vaccine-prices-14032023.pdf.

28. UNICEF. oral polio vaccine price data 2022. Available from: https://www.unicef.org/supply/media/12671/file/oral-polio-vaccine-price-data-08062022.pdf.

29. Kalkowska DA, Thompson KM. Health and economic outcomes associated with polio vaccine policy options: 2019–2029. Risk Analysis. 2021;41(2):364-75.

30. UNICEF. Guidance Note on Cold Chain Logistics and Vaccine Management During Polio Supplementary Immunization Activities. UNICEF, New York, NY; 2015.

31. Mvundura M, Hsu J-S, Frivold C, Kristensen D, Boyle S, Zehrung D, et al. Evaluating the cost per child vaccinated with full versus fractional-dose inactivated poliovirus vaccine. Vaccine: X. 2019;2:100032.

32. Ni L, Seward JF, Santibanez TA, Pallansch MA, Kew OM, Prevots DR, et al. Vaccine policy changes and epidemiology of poliomyelitis in the United States. Jama. 2004;292(14):1696-701.

33. Global Polio Eradication Initiative. GPEI calls for renewed commitments to achieve promise of a polio-free world 2022. Available from: https://polioeradication.org/news-post/global-polioeradication-initiative-calls-for-renewed-commitments-to-achieve-promise-of-a-polio-free-world/.

34. World Health Organization. Macroeconomics and health: investing in health for economic development. Report of the Commission on Macroeconomics and Health Geneva2001 [22 March 2024]. Available from: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/42435/1/924154550X.pdf.

35. Bertram MY, Lauer JA, De Joncheere K, Edejer T, Hutubessy R, Kieny M-P, et al. Cost– effectiveness thresholds: pros and cons. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2016;94(12):925.

36. Ochalek J, Lomas J, Claxton K. Estimating health opportunity costs in low-income and middleincome countries: a novel approach and evidence from cross-country data. BMJ global health. 2018;3(6):e000964.

37. Barrett S. The smallpox eradication game. Public Choice. 2007;130:179-207.

87

4. Chapter 4: Health effects of routine measles vaccination and supplementary immunisation activities in 14 high-burden countries: a Dynamic Measles Immunization Calculation Engine (DynaMICE) modelling study.

Megan Auzenbergs<sup>1</sup>\*, Han Fu<sup>1</sup>\*, Kaja Abbas<sup>1,2</sup>, Simon R Procter<sup>1</sup>, Felicity T Cutts<sup>1</sup>, Mark Jit<sup>1,3</sup> <sup>1</sup>Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, UK <sup>2</sup>Public Health Foundation of India, New Delhi, India <sup>3</sup>School of Public Health, University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, China \*Authors contributed equally

Paper link and copyright information: https://www.thelancet.com/journals/langlo/article/PIIS2214-109X(23)00220-6/fulltext

# 4.1 Research paper cover sheet



London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT

T: +44 (0)20 7299 4646 F: +44 (0)20 7299 4656 www.lshtm.ac.uk

# RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

Please note that a cover sheet must be completed for each research paper included within a thesis.

# SECTION A – Student Details

Student ID Number	1604063	Title	Ms	
First Name(s) Megan				
Surname/Family Name	Auzenbergs			
Thesis Title	Mathematical and statistical modelling to inform polio and measles vaccination programming			
Primary Supervisor	Dr. Kathleen M O'Reilly & Dr. Kaja Abbas			

If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C.

#### SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?	Lancet Global Health		
When was the work published?	August 2023		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Yes	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes

\*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

#### SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an item.

SECTION D - Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	I worked on: conceptualisation, methodology, formal analysis, visualisation, and writing - original draft
---	---

# SECTION E

Student Signature	
Date	30 May 2024

Supervisor Signature	
Date	31 May 2024

# 4.2 Bridging section

This paper was published in *The Lancet Global Health* in August 2023 following peer-review. The paper evaluates incremental measles cases, deaths and DALYs averted due to different vaccination strategies in 14 high-burden countries. It also measures the effectiveness and efficiency of these vaccination strategies. As many countries rebuild their health systems after the COVID-19 pandemic, quantifying the incremental effects of different vaccination strategies that have historically been implemented is useful. Equally, understanding the incremental effects and efficiency of each strategy can be used to minimise measles burden and maximise the reach of vaccines to children who are unvaccinated and under-vaccinated.

The DynaMICE model used in this analysis was previously developed at LSHTM and is routinely used to evaluate measles burden and measles vaccine impact across a range of projects. Alongside this PhD, I also used the DynaMICE model to produce annual vaccine impact estimates for the Vaccine Impact Modelling Consortium (VIMC). Like most research in academia, this project was a team effort and required good communication and project management skills. Dr. Han Fu is a postdoc who continually validates and improves this in-house model. I initiated the overall approach of this project and developed an analysis plan, then, I collaborated with Dr. Han Fu to use the DynaMICE model. Together, we refined the methodologies used in this paper, but we had different roles and responsibilities throughout the analysis. Dr. Han Fu was responsible for editing the model code and running model simulations. I conducted the literature review to identify evidence gaps, determined which highburden countries should be modelled, decided on the vaccination strategies for comparison, and wrote the public health implications for efficiency and effectiveness of the vaccination strategies. Alongside the wider study team, Dr. Han Fu and I both contributed to data analysis, interpretation of model outputs, data visualisation and write-up. I identified how measures of effectiveness and efficiency can be used to inform future decision making for measles SIAs, demonstrating my ability to use complex models to answer pressing vaccination policy questions. I also leveraged lessons learned from working on polio to explore trade-offs between RI and SIAs for measles.

# 4.3 Abstract and author summary

## 4.3.1 Abstract

Most countries worldwide use routine services to offer a first dose of measles-containing vaccine (MCV1) and later, a second dose of measles-containing vaccine (MCV2). Many countries worldwide conduct supplementary immunisation activities (SIAs), offering vaccination to all people in a specific

age range irrespective of previous vaccination history. We aimed to estimate the relative effects of each dose and delivery route in 14 countries with high measles burden. We used an age-structured compartmental dynamic model, the Dynamic Measles Immunization Calculation Engine (DynaMICE), to assess the effects of different vaccination strategies on measles susceptibility and burden during 2000–20 in 14 countries with high measles incidence (containing 53% of the global birth cohort and 78% of the global measles burden). Country-specific routine MCV1 and MCV2 coverage data during 1980–2020 were obtained from the WHO and UNICEF Estimates of National Immunization Coverage database for all modelled countries and SIA data were obtained from the WHO summary of measles and rubella SIAs. We estimated the incremental health effects of different vaccination strategies using prevented cases of measles and deaths from measles and their efficiency using the incremental number needed to vaccinate (NNV) to prevent an additional measles case. We found that SIAs resulted in larger incremental effects but were less efficient than vaccination strategies with only MCV1 and MCV2.

#### 4.3.2 Author summary

This work demonstrates the impact of vaccination on measles cases, deaths and DALYs from 2000-2020. Compared with no vaccination, MCV1 implementation was estimated to have prevented 824 million cases of measles and 9.6 million deaths from measles, with a median NNV of 1.41 (IQR 1.35–1.44). Adding routine MCV2 to MCV1 was estimated to have prevented 108 million cases and 404 270 deaths, whereas adding SIAs to MCV1 was estimated to have prevented 256 million cases and 4.4 million deaths. Despite larger incremental effects, adding SIAs to MCV1 (median incremental NNV 6.02, 5.30–7.68) showed reduced efficiency compared with adding routine MCV2 (5.41, IQR 4.76–6.11). Vaccination strategies, including non-selective SIAs, reach a greater proportion of children who are unvaccinated and reduce measles burden more than MCV2 alone, but efficiency is lower because of the wide age range targeted by SIAs. This analysis provides information to help improve the health effects and efficiency of measles vaccination strategies. The interplay between MCV1, MCV2, and SIAs should be considered when planning future measles vaccination strategies.

# 4.4. Introduction

Between 2000 and 2020, deaths from measles were estimated to have decreased by 94% globally [1], which was mostly achieved through routine immunisation and supplementary immunisation activities (SIAs) with measles-containing vaccines (MCVs) [2–5]. According to WHO, the first routine dose of measles-containing vaccine (MCV1) should be given during the first year of life, ideally at age 9 months or age 12 months. The second routine dose of measles-containing vaccine (MCV2) is recommended

to be given between age 15 months and 18 months. SIAs are vaccination campaigns that deliver vaccine doses using strategies other than via routine services and are usually non-selective (i.e., vaccination is offered irrespective of vaccination history). Throughout this chapter, the term SIA indicates non-selective SIAs.

Since the introduction of measles vaccination in high-income countries in the 1960s and in low-income and middle-income countries in the 1970s and 1980s, recommendations around measles vaccination strategies have been revised. Historically, low-income and middle-income countries relied on MCV1 with SIAs to interrupt transmission and reach children who were unvaccinated. In 2009, WHO recommended introducing MCV2 once a country reached 80% MCV1 coverage, retaining an emphasis on aiming for high coverage with MCV1 as soon as possible after a child loses antibodies from the birthing parent. In 2017, this recommendation was revised to state that countries should include MCV2 in routine immunisation schedules regardless of MCV1 coverage. Furthermore, operational support to strengthen routine immunisation infrastructure when incorporating MCV2 should be provided. Partly due to concerns about the sustainability of funding for nationwide, non-selective SIAs and their potential to disrupt routine services [6,7], WHO has proposed that such SIAs can be phased out once countries have more than 95% coverage of both routine doses [8].

The implementation of SIAs over time has been motivated by different goals and needs. SIAs were a major component of the measles elimination strategy implemented widely in the Americas in the 1990s, with high routine MCV1 coverage and occasional follow-up SIAs sustaining elimination since July 2015 [9,10]. In other regions, such as Africa and southeast Asia, SIAs have increased population immunity in countries with low MCV1 or MCV2 coverage. In these countries, SIAs have been a highly effective and equitable strategy for protecting hard-to-reach children who would otherwise be missed by routine immunisation [11,12], although the relative reach of SIAs versus routine immunisation varies between and within countries [13]. To prevent measles transmission and subsequent outbreaks, a commonly used criterion is that a follow-up SIA should be conducted before the cumulative number of susceptible children younger than 5 years approaches the size of a birth cohort (including the newborn population of a year) [14,15]. Historically, this criterion has been influential in informing the timing of SIAs so the number of susceptible children remains less than the size of one birth cohort and measles transmission can be interrupted, and elimination can be achieved [8]. In practice, even if countries recognise that a follow-up SIA is due and correctly identify the age groups with the highest prevalence of susceptibility, delays in obtaining funding or competing priorities, such as other pathogens, might lead to delayed implementation of an SIA or a narrower than ideal age

range targeted, which reduces the effects of the SIA [15]. Outbreak-response SIAs might then be needed, the effects of which depend on the speed of response, geographical extent, and coverage attained [16]. Many countries, therefore, have implemented a mixture of so-called preventive campaigns targeting various age groups at national or subnational levels and reactive campaigns that aim to shorten outbreaks.

In 2012, the World Health Assembly endorsed the Global Vaccine Action Plan, which included a commitment to achieving measles elimination in five of the six WHO regions by 2020. During 2000–10, estimated global MCV1 coverage increased from 72% to 84%, but has since stagnated. However, estimated routine MCV2 coverage has increased from 18% in 2000 to 70% in 2020 [17]. In this retrospective analysis of measles vaccination policies during 2000–20, we aimed to use the Dynamic Measles Immunization Calculation Engine (DynaMICE), a population-based dynamic model of measles transmission, to better understand the effects of different vaccination strategies that have been used in 14 high-burden countries.

# 4.5 Methods

#### 4.5.1 Data sources

Reported measles cases, collected through the WHO and UNICEF Joint Reporting Form on Immunization, and estimated measles incidence data from the Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME), were used to obtain separate rankings of countries by measles incidence from 2010 to 2019 [18,19] We included the ten countries with the highest incidence from each data source (Appendix p 242), which resulted in 14 countries being included in the analysis (i.e., India, Nigeria, Indonesia, Ethiopia, China, Philippines, Uganda, DR Congo, Pakistan, Angola, Madagascar, Ukraine, Malawi, and Somalia). These countries contained 53% of the global birth cohort and 78% of the global measles burden.

Country-specific routine MCV1 and MCV2 coverage data during 1980–2020 were obtained from the WHO and UNICEF Estimates of National Immunization Coverage (WUENIC) database for all modelled countries [20] and SIA data were obtained from the WHO summary of measles and rubella SIAs (Appendix pp 243–248) [21]. Year of MCV2 introduction varied between countries (Appendix p 242). We extracted the start and end dates of SIA implementation, targeted age group, and number of doses given during each SIA. Knowing whether the entire country was covered after phased or subnational SIAs was not always possible, so we calculated country-level coverage for each SIA by comparing

reported SIA doses with the national population in the target age range from World Population Prospects 2019 [22].

#### 4.5.2 DynaMICE model

DynaMICE is an age-structured compartmental model of measles transmission that considers timevarying states of disease (i.e., maternally immune or immune from birthing parent, susceptible, infectious, or recovered) and vaccination (i.e., no doses, one dose, two doses, or three or more doses). The model has been used previously for estimating the effects of measles vaccination [2,7] and a description of the model structure, parameters, and equations has been published [23]. Using the DynaMICE model, we modelled country-level routine immunisation programmes on the basis of historical WUENIC coverage estimates for MCV1 and MCV2 [19] following nationally recommended schedules (Appendix p 242). We modelled each SIA according to the target age group and median date of implementation in each country in the WHO record (Appendix pp 243–248). We assumed that SIA doses are more likely to reach children who had been previously vaccinated by distributing doses randomly among the target population, except for a proportion who are less likely to be reached by current childhood vaccination programmes. This population who are less likely to be reached could only be covered by a campaign when all the other target populations have received an SIA dose. This proportion of children who are less likely to be reached was assumed to be 7.7% of the total country level population in each country on the basis of the population-weighted mean estimate for children aged 1 year who were missing all diphtheria-pertussis- tetanus, BCG, measles-containing, and polio vaccines in 92 low-income and middle-income countries during 2010–19 (Appendix p 252) [24]. In the DynaMICE model, MCV1 efficacy increases linearly by 1.49% per increased month of age, resulting in 78% efficacy for children aged 9 months and 82% efficacy for children aged 12 months [20,25]. MCV2 efficacy depends on the level of MCV1 protection (i.e., the proportion of vaccinated people who are effectively protected) received previously, and two-dose vaccine efficacy is capped at 98%.20,26 The basic reproduction number (R<sub>0</sub>) of measles was 15.9 based on a summary estimate taken from endemic settings [27]. Country-dependent and age-dependent social-contact matrices [28] were used to inform the country-specific patterns of measles transmission. To include epidemic patterns since the global implementation of MCV, the model simulation began in 1980.

The coverage data and simulation code used for analysis can be accessed through GitHub (https://github.com/hfu915/dynamice\_ph).

# 4.5.3 Measles vaccination strategies and effect estimates

Using the DynaMICE model, we assessed cases of measles and deaths from measles during 2000-20 across the following vaccination strategies: no vaccination; MCV1 alone; MCV1 and MCV2; MCV1 and SIAs; and MCV1, MCV2, and SIAs. We estimated deaths by multiplying the model estimates of cases of measles with age-specific, year-specific, and country-specific case-fatality ratios [29]; the model did not account for non-measles-specific vaccine effects on preventing deaths. We calculated the annual incidence of measles per 1 million population and compared the susceptible population of children younger than 5 years with the birth cohort, defined as the mid-year population aged 0-1 year, to understand the potential of different delivery strategies to reduce transmission and outbreaks. To estimate the incremental effects of historical measles vaccine strategies, each strategy was compared with a counterfactual strategy that was representative of a historical policy decision for measles vaccination. MCV1 was compared with the alternative of no vaccination, whereas the MCV1 and MCV2 strategy and the MCV1 and SIAs strategy were compared with MCV1 alone. The MCV1, MCV2 and SIAs strategy was compared with the counterfactual strategy of MCV1 and SIAs, as well as separately compared with the MCV1 and MCV2 strategy. Although the same comparator strategies were evaluated across countries, countries adopted varying policies, such as year of MCV2 introduction or frequency of SIAs. For each strategy, historical coverage data were used, and for each pair of comparisons we estimated the health effects of an additional delivery strategy by calculating the cumulative vaccine-prevented cases and deaths, and the efficiency of adding a delivery strategy by calculating the incremental number of doses needed to vaccinate (NNV) to prevent an additional measles case during 2000–20.

## 4.5.4 Sensitivity analysis

We modelled vaccine effects if MCV2 had been introduced in 2000 under fast or gradual roll-out (Appendix p 251). For each year during 2000–20, we assumed that the alternative MCV2 coverage was either 10% lower than the MCV1 coverage of each country or equal to the MCV2 coverage of each country in that year, whichever was larger. Moreover, we modelled two alternative assumptions about the likelihood of receipt of an SIA dose according to past vaccination history (Appendix p 255). In this sensitivity analysis, we defined the so-called zero-dose population as children receiving no MCV doses. One assumption is that SIA doses preferentially reach children who are already vaccinated and that any remaining doses after all children who are already vaccinated are reached are then given to children in the zero-dose population. However, the other assumption is that a strategy reaches children in the zero-dose population first, and the remaining doses are then given to children who are already vaccinated.

# 4.5.6 Role of the funding source

The funders had no role in study design, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, or writing of the report.

# 4.6 Results

Between the 14 analysed countries, there were notable differences in MCV1 and MCV2 coverage during 2000–20 (figure 1)—some countries had not introduced MCV2 as of 2020 (i.e., Uganda, Somalia, and DR Congo) or introduced MCV2 much later in time (i.e., Madagascar, Ethiopia, Nigeria, and Angola). Comparatively, some countries introduced MCV2 early and sustained high coverage (i.e., India, Pakistan, and China), whereas in others, MCV2 coverage fluctuated over time (i.e., Indonesia and Ukraine).



Figure 1. Immunisation coverage for MCV1, MCV2, and SIAs (2000–20)

Compared with the no vaccination strategy, measles incidence rates declined substantially in all 14 high-burden countries in strategies with MCV1 only (figure 2). In the strategy in which MCV1 and MCV2 were used without SIAs, the annual burden of measles declined slowly over time and endemic transmission continued. With MCV1 and SIAs, there was a more rapid decline in measles burden, but large-scale outbreaks were predicted (figure 2). The largest absolute burden reduction attributable to MCV1, MCV2, and SIAs in comparison with no vaccination during 2000–20 was in India, China, and

SIA coverage was calculated from reported numbers of doses administered and national populations in the SIA target age group. As of 2020, Uganda, DR Congo, and Somalia had not implemented MCV2. Additional years of MCV2 introduction for other countries are available (Appendix p 242). MCV1=the first routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. MCV2=the second routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. SIA=supplementary immunisation activity.

Nigeria (Appendix p 253), which are the countries with the highest global IHME measles incidence estimates and largest population sizes of the 14 analysed countries. There are several countries (i.e. Pakistan, Angola, Ukraine) where an SIA vaccination strategy can lead to a higher incidence than the no vaccination strategy (figure 2). Following a large outbreak or a large-scale, targeted SIA, the susceptible population could be 'cleared' by measles transmission or vaccination, which could affect a wider population and increase the population-level immunity. However, this protective effect may only last short term—if high levels of routine immunisation coverage are not sustained, the susceptible population will accumulate and later on lead to a large outbreak. Before the overshooting happened in the vaccination scenarios, there was neither intense transmission (following previous outbreaks or large-scale SIAs) nor high-coverage routine immunisation to boost population immunity and close the susceptibility gap, while in the no-vaccination scenario, there was persistent transmission to sustain the population immunity (recovery from infection) at a certain level.



# *Figure 2. Estimated annual measles incidence rate per million population across different vaccination delivery strategies (2000–20)*

Temporal trends in measles incidence rates vary by different vaccination delivery strategies; the measles burden decreases with additional vaccination delivery strategies. For countries that have not yet introduced MCV2 (i.e., Uganda, DR Congo, and Somalia), there are overlapping trends for incidence rates for the delivery strategies of MCV1 and MCV2 (blue lines) and MCV1 only (green lines) and the delivery strategies of MCV1, MCV2, and SIAs (purple lines) and MCV1 and SIAs (red lines). Overlapping trends are also seen in most analysed years in countries that introduced MCV2 after 2017 (i.e., Nigeria, Ethiopia, and Madagascar). In Indonesia, the fluctuations seen in the no vaccination strategy are the result of dynamic sizes of the susceptible population over time, jointly affected by measles seasonality, transmissibility (R<sub>0</sub>), and the age-related contact structure. The incidence in the no vaccination strategy declines in time due to demographic transition. As the size of the aging population increases, children under 5 years of age, who are at a higher risk of measles infection, represent a smaller proportion of the total population, hence the decline in incidence over time per million population. MCV1=the first routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. MCV2=the second routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. SIA=supplementary immunisation activity. Compared with no vaccination, we estimated that MCV1 alone prevented 824 million measles cases and 9.6 million deaths from measles during 2000–20 in the 14 countries (table 1; Appendix p 250). SIAs conducted in these countries were estimated to have prevented a further 256 million cases and 4.2 million deaths compared with MCV1 alone. MCV2, as used by these countries, was estimated to have prevented 108 million cases and 404 000 deaths compared with MCV1 alone. SIAs showed more effects on burden reduction than MCV2 when added to MCV1, as indicated by the increased number of prevented cases and deaths in all countries except China and Ukraine. Furthermore, the strategy of MCV1, MCV2, and SIAs was predicted to have incrementally averted 303 million cases and 4.4 million deaths compared with MCV1 alone. **Table 1. Estimated number of prevented cases, in thousands, across different vaccination delivery strategies reported by each country (2000–20).** Five pairs of strategies were compared with two comparator strategies to assess the health effects of additional vaccination delivery strategies as reported by each country. MCV2 effects begin in the year when WUENIC first reports MCV2 coverage (Appendix p 242). Note that the strategy of MCV1, MCV2, and SIAs compared with no vaccination (represented in the first column of data) does not depict an actual historical policy implementation for vaccination strategies. Countries are presented in order of their introduction year of MCV2 and magnitude of measles burden (Appendix p 242). Sums of the prevented cases in the 14 countries are presented in the last row of the table. Entries with no value correspond to options involving MCV2 in the three countries that have not yet introduced MCV2 (i.e., Uganda, DR Congo, and Somalia), so prevented cases cannot be estimated. MCV1=the first routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. MCV2=the second routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. SIA=supplementary immunisation activity. WUENIC=WHO and UNICEF estimates of national immunisation coverage.

	Compared with r	no vaccination	Compare	Compared with MCV1 alone			
	MCV1, MCV2,	MCV1	MCV1 and	MCV1 and	MCV1, MCV2,		
	and SIAs	alone	SIAs	MCV2	and SIAs		
MCV2 introductio	n before 2017						
India	349481	295563	41272	28182	53918		
Indonesia	83082	61350	16176	9902	21732		
China	321262	257140	32643	57289	64122		
Philippines	42549	29887	11448	3164	12661		
Pakistan	76409	49163	26681	7070	27246		
Angola	15515	6780	8651	433	8735		
Ukraine	7306	6090	102	1132	1217		
Malawi	9944	7003	2926	313	2941		
MCV2 introduction	n during 2017-20						
Nigeria	93009	39343	53667	251	53667		
Ethiopia	49569	23045	26357	484	26525		
Madagascar	12033	6935	5087	25	5098		
No MCV2 introduc	ction until 2020						
Uganda	23922	15024	8898		8898		
DRC	40965	23429	17537		17537		
Somalia	7634	2931	4703		4703		
Total	1132682	823682	256146	108245	309000		

Compared with no vaccination, incremental NNVs for MCV1 ranged between 1.27 and 1.46, with a median NNV of 1.41 (IQR 1.35–1.44) across the 14 analysed countries. In comparison with MCV1 alone, SIAs had a median NNV of 6.02 (IQR 5.30–7.68), which was greater than including MCV2 in seven of the 11 countries that have introduced MCV2 (median NNV 5.41, IQR 4.76–6.11; table 2). The opposite trend of incremental NNV was observed in Nigeria, Ethiopia, Angola, and Madagascar, where frequent SIAs took place and MCV2 had only been introduced in 2015 at the earliest (Appendix p 242).

Furthermore, including SIAs when both MCV1 and MCV2 were used led to a median NNV of 6.44 (IQR 5.36–9.78), whereas including MCV2 when both MCV1 and SIAs were used resulted in a median NNV of 17.0 (IQR 9.34–42.33). There is diminishing return in efficiency for including an additional vaccination delivery strategy when multiple strategies are already in use.

**Table 2.** Incremental NNV to prevent a measles case across different vaccination delivery strategies (2000–20). Data are NNV. Incremental NNV is defined as the ratio of additional doses given to incremental prevented cases in a vaccine delivery strategy compared with its comparator. The median NNVs among countries with applicable values for the five comparison pairs are presented in the last row of the table. Entries with no NNV value correspond to options involving MCV2 in the three countries that have not yet introduced MCV2 (i.e., Uganda, DR Congo, and Somalia), so NNV cannot be estimated. As MCV2 did not contribute to burden reduction in these three countries, the incremental NNV values are the same between the MCV1, MCV2, and SIAs strategy vs the MCV1 and MCV2 strategy, and the MCV1 and SIAs strategy vs the MCV1 strategy. For the MCV1, MCV2, and SIAs strategy vs the MCV1 and SIAs strategy, the incremental NNV in Nigeria is exceptionally large due to a small number of prevented cases from MCV2 introduction in 2019. MCV1=the first routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. NNV=number needed to vaccinate to prevent a case. SIA=supplementary immunisation activity.

	MCV1 vs	MCV1and SIAs	MCV1 and	MCV, MCV2, and	MCV1, MCV2, and
	no	vs MCV1	MCV2 vs	SIAs vs MCV1 and	SIAs vs MCV1 and
	vaccination		MCV1	SIAs	MCV2
MCV2 introduction I	before 2017				
India	1.35	10.20	5.41	11.57	16.13
Indonesia	1.27	7.54	4.73	7.75	10.00
China	1.34	8.23	4.59	7.57	35.73
Philippines	1.33	5.57	4.39	10.92	6.65
Pakistan	1.44	6.95	4.80	57.52	9.12
Angola	1.45	4.48	5.32	27.14	4.66
Ukraine	1.26	12.51	6.10	6.17	14.72
Malawi	1.36	7.72	6.59	132.46	8.55
MCV2 introduction of	during 2017-2	20			
Nigeria	1.46	4.53	5.78	918368.12	4.55
Ethiopia	1.42	5.21	6.12	17.03	5.27
Madagascar	1.40	3.67	8.16	17.84	3.68
No MCV2 introducti	on until 2020	)			
Uganda	1.41	6.22			6.22
DRC	1.44	5.61			5.61
Somalia	1.45	5.83			5.83
Median	1.40	6.02	5.41	17.03	6.44
	(1.35–1.44)	(5.30–7.68)	(4.76–6.11)	(9.34–42.33)	(5.36–9.78)

The estimated total number of susceptible children younger than 5 years shows varying patterns by vaccination delivery strategy (figure 3). Historical coverage rates with MCV1 and MCV2 reduced measles susceptibility compared with the counterfactual scenario with no vaccination, but the numbers of susceptible children remained higher than one birth cohort in 11 (73%) of the analysed countries by 2020. China was an exception, where high MCV1 and MCV2 coverage successfully kept the susceptible population under the threshold of one birth cohort since 2007. Furthermore, sustained high MCV2 coverage in India resulted in the number of susceptible children being less than one birth cohort from mid-2017 onwards. Despite several rebounds of the susceptible population (i.e., when the susceptible population is larger than the size of one birth cohort) during 2000–20, MCV1 and SIAs had more potential to reduce the number of susceptible children than MCV1 and MCV2. However, we estimated that in two countries (i.e., India and Ukraine), MCV1 and SIAs would not have reduced the number of susceptible children to below the birth cohort in any year (Appendix p 249). Overall, measles vaccination strategies as reported by these countries were estimated to have reduced the number of susceptible children below the birth cohort in a median 24% (14–37) of years between 2000 and 2020.



**Figure 3:** Susceptible population younger than 5 years by vaccination delivery strategy (2000–20) Estimated total numbers of susceptible people younger than 5 years under different vaccination delivery strategies compared with the size of birth cohort. For countries that have not yet introduced MCV2 (i.e., Uganda, DR Congo, and Somalia), there are overlapping trends for incidence rates for the delivery strategies of MCV1 and MCV2 (blue lines) and MCV1 only (green lines) and the delivery strategies of MCV1, MCV2, and SIAs (purple lines) and MCV1 and SIAs (red lines). Overlapping trends are also seen in most analysed years in countries that introduced MCV2 in 2017 or later (i.e., Nigeria, Ethiopia, and Madagascar). In Indonesia, the fluctuations seen in the no vaccination strategy are the result of dynamic sizes of the susceptible population affected by natural seasonality of measles transmission. MCV1=the first routine dose of measlescontaining vaccine. MCV2=the second routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. SIA=supplementary immunisation activity.

We estimated prevented cases and incremental NNVs under alternative assumptions for MCV2 early introduction and SIA dose distribution (figure 4; Appendix pp 254–257). Compared with MCV1 alone, early introduction of MCV2, either under fast or gradual rollout, would have prevented more cases than occurred when MCV2 was actually introduced, resulting in a further estimated reduction of 75–97 million measles cases across the 14 analysed countries. Only a slight improvement in efficiency was seen from early MCV2 introduction, with a median NNV reducing from 5.41 (IQR 4.76–6.11) to 5.09 (IQR 4.71–5.25). The distribution of SIA doses between zero-dose and already-vaccinated populations had a strong effect on the incremental effects and efficiency of vaccination. When MCV1 was already in use, successfully directing SIA doses first to children in the zero-dose population then to children who were already vaccinated was estimated to prevent more cases of measles than early MCV2 introduction in all countries except China. This observation was particularly apparent when MCV1

eligible for vaccination with an additional dose via an SIA. Prioritising the zero-dose population for SIA doses was estimated to improve efficiency (median NNV 4.84 [IQR 4.09–5.40] vs 6.02 [IQR 5.30–7.68] in the main analysis) for countries with low routine-immunisation coverage, such as Nigeria and DR Congo. Conversely, when SIA doses first reached children who were already vaccinated, the median NNV increased to 8.32 (IQR 5.97–8.81) and was estimated to substantially reduce the number of prevented cases of measles compared with the main analysis.





(A) Prevented cases. (B) Number needed to vaccinate to prevent a measles case. In the sensitivity analysis, we modelled the incremental effect and efficiency of vaccination under the alternative assumptions of MCV2 introduction and SIA distribution. The incremental effects of each of the strategies were compared with the strategy in which MCV1 was already in use. The incremental effects of each of the strategies are compared with the strategy in which MCV1 was already in use. In the main analysis, MCV2 was introduced on the basis of its historical WUENIC coverage (dark blue) and SIAs were distributed with an assumption that 7.7% of children were less likely to be reached by vaccination than the rest of the targeted population (red). The alternative MCV2 assumption indicates early introduction of MCV2 (i.e., Uganda, DR Congo, and Somalia) have missing estimates for the original strategy with MCV1 and MCV2. Two alternative assumptions for SIA distribution were evaluated, including prioritisation of children who had not received any MCV doses (pink) and prioritising children who had been previously vaccinated (dark red). MCV=measles-containing vaccine. MCV1=the first routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. SIA=supplementary immunisation activity. WUENIC=WHO and UNICEF Estimates of National Immunization Coverage.

## 4.7 Discussion

Using MCV coverage data from 2000 to 2020, we investigated and estimated the relative effects and efficiency of different MCV strategies in 14 countries with high measles burden that include a wide range of socioeconomic, demographic, and immunisation-service settings.

The use of MCV1 resulted in the highest relative health effects of any dose and the best efficiency in reducing measles burden. The strategy of MCV1 and SIAs can more effectively keep the susceptible population size less than the size of one birth cohort and had a bigger effect on predicted measles incidence than MCV1 and MCV2 together, when both strategies were compared with MCV1 alone. Overall, SIAs reduced the susceptible-population size more than MCV1 and MCV2, whereas the efficiency of SIAs, as assessed by NNV, to prevent a measles case was lower than the efficiency of MCV2. However, there was variation between countries in the relative efficiency of each incremental strategy. The strategies used between 2000 and 2020 in the 14 included countries substantially reduced measles burden compared with a no vaccination strategy but, other than in China, were not predicted to prevent large outbreaks. This finding is consistent with other analyses in low-income and middle-income countries [30].

The high effects but reduced efficiency of SIAs could also be interpreted from the viewpoint of dose delivery—although SIAs could be delivered to more people than MCV1 and MCV2, many doses were predicted to reach children who had previously been vaccinated (Appendix p 254). Repeated vaccinations were seen more often in countries with high routine immunisation coverage than in countries with low routine immunisation coverage, such as Madagascar, where SIAs remained an important strategy to reach children who were unvaccinated. Compared with SIAs, MCV2 showed relatively less effect in countries with low MCV2 coverage such as DR Congo, Nigeria, Angola, Ethiopia, and Somalia, even under the assumption of early MCV2 introduction, compared with countries with higher sustained MCV1 coverage such as China and Malawi. Accompanied by better reach of SIAs to children in the zero-dose population, early introduction of MCV2 could have substantially reduced incidence over time. In countries that implemented routine MCV2 early and maintained high levels of coverage, such as China and India, there was little difference in estimated measles incidence rate between historical strategies and optimal assumptions for MCV delivery when MCV2 was introduced in 2000, and SIA doses were given first to children in the zero-dose population (Appendix p 255). This finding suggests that, in the future, SIAs might be needed less often if high coverage of MCV2 can be successfully attained, maintained, and aligned with WHO recommendations [8]. These results might also be generalisable to other vaccine preventable diseases; for example, similar findings have been

105

shown for polio, such that if high baseline routine immunisation can be maintained, SIA frequency can be reduced with low probability of an outbreak [31].

WHO advises countries that have not yet introduced rubella-containing vaccine (RCV) to do so via nationwide, non-selective SIAs of measles-rubella vaccine until at least age 15 years. Once RCV has been introduced, the timing and extent of further SIAs depends on the epidemiology of measles, which has higher transmissibility than rubella. The Measles and Rubella Strategic Framework 2021–2030 emphasises shifting from a so-called one-size-fits-all approach to focus on effective local approaches for vaccinating hard-to-reach populations with MCV [32]. For high-burden countries to achieve high levels of coverage and meet targets for measles elimination, SIAs should be strengthened but could be made more efficient and designed to fit local demand. If SIA efficiency is low in a particular setting, as shown by a high predicted NNV to prevent a case, but SIAs consistently result in a greater burden reduction than MCV2, investing in mechanisms to improve efficiency through improved surveillance and coverage data to target SIAs and improving so-called mop-up activities in specific areas where the virus is known or suspected to be circulating immediately after a campaign [33] will be valuable. Mopup activities involve going to areas where the reported number of doses administered in the SIA was lower than the target population, or to places where a rapid-coverage evaluation shows low coverage and conducting special vaccination activities to increase coverage (e.g., going to each house to identify and vaccinate any children who have not been reached).

We did not explore potential differences in effectiveness and efficiency between selective and nonselective approaches [34]. Some countries have implemented selective SIAs, but further empirical data are needed on the feasibility of this approach in a range of contexts. Further studies should also assess the combined effectiveness and efficiency of integrated campaigns [35], which deliver multiple vaccines or include other interventions, such as nutritional screening.

Our study has limitations. First, SIA doses were assumed to be randomly delivered to their target population, except for a fixed proportion of children who were assumed to be less likely to be reached by childhood immunisation programmes [24]. The extent to which in-practice doses are correlated with, or independent of, previous vaccination status is unknown because only a minority of countries report high-quality, post-campaign-coverage surveys to WHO and even fewer surveys report SIA coverage and previous measles vaccination status [36]. Other household surveys, such as Demographic and Health Surveys, try to capture specific information on measles vaccination [37], but the ability to compare SIA dose receipt among children in the zero-dose population or children who

were previously vaccinated is constrained by the low proportion of children with documentation of routine vaccination and potential misclassification of routine or SIA vaccination when relying on parental recall [37]. For each measles vaccination campaign, however, the size of zero-dose population reached by SIAs varies depending on local routine coverage and SIA-implementation approach [36]. Furthermore, SIA coverage reported in the WHO record might be overestimated [36,38,39], possibly due to vaccinating non-target populations or not capturing unreached populations in the denominator.

Second, MCV2 effect based on historical coverage could be underestimated, given our purposeful selection of high-burden countries that mostly had low coverage. Moreover, differences exist between MCV2 recommended policies and vaccination in practice. For example, lessons learned from MCV2 routine immunisation introduction in Africa found that, in practice, to reduce vaccine wastage, vaccinations were only administered on days when 10 or more children were present, missing opportunities for vaccination [40]. Furthermore, the interplay between MCV1, MCV2, and SIAs should be considered when planning future measles vaccination strategies. Third, although DynaMICE is a dynamic transmission model that captures the indirect effect (e.g., herd immunity) of vaccination, it does not capture international case importation. Furthermore, due to model limitations in simulating measles outbreaks in subnational areas, differentiation between outbreak response SIAs and preventive SIAs was not explored in our analysis. Additionally, accurately accounting for the effect of subnational SIAs and subnational variations in both routine immunisation and SIA coverage remains a challenge as subnational data on SIAs are not regularly collected. The potential effects of subnational variation in key determinants of measles transmission, such as birth rates, routine and SIA vaccination coverage, and migration, were also not assessed.

Finally, NNV is not applicable for comparison between strategies when an alternative strategy does not prevent additional cases and there is no established threshold to establish whether the efficiency of an immunisation programme is acceptable [41]. Further data, such as the costs of vaccine procurement and delivery, will be useful in understanding the cost-effectiveness of immunisation programmes.

The resources required for SIAs, including economic and human resources and logistical challenges, can be major deterrents to their implementation. Despite several unknowns regarding interpretation of estimated NNVs, our results show that routine MCV2 is not always more efficient than SIAs. Furthermore, the current trend towards including multiple interventions in a single SIA or integrating

many of the components of SIA planning across different interventions might increase efficiency, although monitoring the effectiveness of integrated campaigns will be important [42,43]. There is a need to improve the evaluation of SIAs to identify how they could increase efficiency, transfer best practices between countries, and ensure adequate and timely funding for SIA implementation and evaluation.

We assessed the incremental effects and efficiency of different measles vaccination strategies to inform future decisions about vaccination planning and policies. Understanding the relative effects and efficiency of the first routine dose, the second routine dose, and SIAs of MCV will assist stakeholders in assessing the value of measles vaccination programmes and further identify improved pathways towards measles elimination.

# 4.7.1 Acknowledgements

This study was conducted as part of the Vaccine Impact Modelling Consortium, but the views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the Consortium or its funders. The funders were given the opportunity to review this Article before publication but the final decision on the content of the publication was made by the authors. This study was supported by Gavi, the Vaccine Alliance and the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation via the Vaccine Impact Modelling Consortium (OPP1157270, INV-009125, and INV-034281). Under the grant conditions of the Gates Foundation, a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 Generic License has already been assigned to the Author Accepted Manuscript version of this Article.
## 4.8 Chapter 4 references

1. Dixon MG, Ferrari M, Antoni S, et al. Progress toward regional measles elimination worldwide, 2000–2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2021; 70: 1563–69.

2. Li X, Mukandavire C, Cucunubá ZM, et al. Estimating the health impact of vaccination against ten pathogens in 98 low-income and middle-income countries from 2000 to 2030: a modelling study. Lancet 2021; 397: 398–408.

3. Chang AY, Riumallo-Herl C, Salomon JA, Resch SC, Brenzel L, Verguet S. Estimating the distribution of morbidity and mortality of childhood diarrhea, measles, and pneumonia by wealth group in low- and middle-income countries. BMC Med 2018; 16: 102.

4. Santos H, Eilertson K, Lambert B, Hauryski S, Patel M, Ferrari M. Ensemble model estimates of the global burden of measles morbidity and mortality from 2000 to 2019: a modeling study. medRxiv 2021; published online Oct 18. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.08.31.21262916 (preprint).

5. Toor J, Echeverria-Londono S, Li X, et al. Lives saved with vaccination for 10 pathogens across 112 countries in a preCOVID-19 world. eLife 2021; 10: e67635.

Hanvoravongchai P, Mounier-Jack S, Oliveira Cruz V, et al. Impact of measles elimination activities on immunization services and health systems: findings from six countries. J Infect Dis 2011; 204 (suppl 1): S82–89.

7. Verguet S, Johri M, Morris SK, Gauvreau CL, Jha P, Jit M. Controlling measles using supplemental immunization activities: a mathematical model to inform optimal policy. Vaccine 2015; 33: 1291–96.

 WHO. Measles vaccines: WHO position paper—April 2017. Wkly Epidemiol Rec 2017; 92: 205– 27.

9. De Quadros CA, Izurieta H, Carrasco P, Brana M, Tambini G. Progress toward measles eradication in the region of the Americas. J Infect Dis 2003; 187 (suppl 1): S102–10.

10. Castillo-Solórzano C, de Quadros CA. Accelerated rubella control and the prevention of congenital rubella syndrome. Rev Panam Salud Publica 2002; 11: 273–76 (in Spanish).

11. Portnoy A, Jit M, Helleringer S, Verguet S. Comparative distributional impact of routine immunization and supplementary immunization activities in delivery of measles vaccine in low- and middle-income countries. Value Health 2020; 23: 891–97.

12. Lessler J, Moss WJ, Lowther SA, Cummings DAT. Maintaining high rates of measles immunization in Africa. Epidemiol Infect 2011; 139: 1039–49.

13. Utazi CE, Thorley J, Alegana VA, et al. Mapping vaccination coverage to explore the effects of delivery mechanisms and inform vaccination strategies. Nat Commun 2019; 10: 1633.

14. WHO. Measles vaccines: WHO position paper—April 2017. 2017. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/who-wer9217-205-227 (accessed June 21, 2022).

15. WHO. Planning and implementing high-quality supplementary immunization activities for injectable vaccines using an example of measles and rubella vaccines: field guide. 2016. https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/330568 (accessed April 14, 2023).

16. Grais RF, Conlan AJ, Ferrari MJ, et al. Time is of the essence: exploring a measles outbreak response vaccination in Niamey, Niger. J R Soc Interface 2008; 5: 67–74.

17. Patel MK, Dumolard L, Nedelec Y, et al. Progress toward regional measles elimination worldwide, 2000–2018. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2019; 68: 1105–11.

18. Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. GBD 2019 results. 2020. http://ghdx.healthdata.org/gbd-results-tool (accessed June 21, 2022).

19.WHO.Vaccinationscheduleformeasles.2020.https://immunizationdata.who.int/pages/schedule-by-disease/

measles.html?ISO\_3\_CODE=&TARGETPOP\_GENERAL= (accessed June 21, 2022).

20.WHO.Measlesvaccinationcoverage.2022.https://immunizationdata.who.int/pages/coverage/mcv.html (accessed April 14, 2023).

21. WHO. Summary of supplementary immunization activities from 2000 to 2023. 2023.
https://immunizationdata.who.int/assets/ additional-data/Summary\_Measles\_SIA\_Jan2023.xlsx (accessed April 14, 2023).

22. UN. World population prospects 2022. 2022. https://population. un.org/wpp/ (accessed April 14, 2023).

23. Fu H, Abbas K, Klepac P, et al. Effect of evidence updates on key determinants of measles vaccination impact: a DynaMICE modelling study in ten high-burden countries. BMC Med 2021; 19: 281.

24. Cata-Preta BO, Santos TM, Mengistu T, Hogan DR, Barros AJD, Victora CG. Zero-dose children and the immunisation cascade: understanding immunisation pathways in low and middle-income countries. Vaccine 2021; 39: 4564–70.

25. Hughes SL, Bolotin S, Khan S, et al. The effect of time since measles vaccination and age at first dose on measles vaccine effectiveness—a systematic review. Vaccine 2020; 38: 460–69.

26. Sudfeld CR, Navar AM, Halsey NA. Effectiveness of measles vaccination and vitamin A treatment. Int J Epidemiol 2010; 39 (suppl 1): i48–55.

27. Guerra FM, Bolotin S, Lim G, et al. The basic reproduction number (R0) of measles: a systematic review. Lancet Infect Dis 2017; 17: e420–28.

28. Prem K, Zandvoort KV, Klepac P, et al. Projecting contact matrices in 177 geographical regions: an update and comparison with empirical data for the COVID-19 era. PLoS Comput Biol 2021; 17: e1009098.

29. Portnoy A, Jit M, Ferrari M, Hanson M, Brenzel L, Verguet S. Estimates of case-fatality ratios of measles in low-income and middle-income countries: a systematic review and modelling analysis. Lancet Glob Health 2019; 7: e472–81.

30. Prada JM, Metcalf CJE, Takahashi S, Lessler J, Tatem AJ, Ferrari M. Demographics, epidemiology and the impact of vaccination campaigns in a measles-free world—can elimination be maintained? Vaccine 2017; 35: 1488–93.

31. Tebbens RJD, Hampton LM, Wassilak SGF, Pallansch MA, Cochi SL, Thompson KM. Maintenance and intensification of bivalent oral poliovirus vaccine use prior to its coordinated global cessation. J Vaccines Vaccin 2016; 7: 340.

32. WHO. Measles and rubella strategic framework: 2021–2030. 2020. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/measles-and-rubellastrategic-framework-2021-2030 (accessed April 14, 2023).

33. Cutts FT, Ferrari MJ, Krause LK, Tatem AJ, Mosser JF. Vaccination strategies for measles control and elimination: time to strengthen local initiatives. BMC Med 2021; 19: 2.

34. Hagedorn BL, Dabbagh A, McCarthy KA. The cost saving opportunity of introducing a card review into measles-containing vaccination campaigns. Vaccine 2019; 37: 6093–101.

35. Health Campaign Effectiveness Coalition. Learning from integrated health campaigns: promising practices from a synthesis of implementation research. 2023. https://campaigneffectiveness.org/ learning-from-integrated-health-campaigns-promisingpracticesfrom-a-synthesis-of-implementation-research/ (accessed April 14, 2023).

36. Cutts FT, Danovaro-Holliday MC, Rhoda DA. Challenges in measuring supplemental immunization activity coverage among measles zero-dose children. Vaccine 2021; 39: 1359–63.

37. Portnoy A, Jit M, Helleringer S, Verguet S. Impact of measles supplementary immunization activities on reaching children missed by routine programs. Vaccine 2018; 36: 170–78.

38. Lessler J, Metcalf CJE, Grais RF, Luquero FJ, Cummings DA, Grenfell BT. Measuring the performance of vaccination programs using cross-sectional surveys: a likelihood framework and retrospective analysis. PLoS Med 2011; 8: e1001110.

39. Trentini F, Poletti P, Merler S, Melegaro A. Measles immunity gaps and the progress towards elimination: a multi-country modelling analysis. Lancet Infect Dis 2017; 17: 1089–97.

40. Masresha BG, Luce R, Okeibunor J, Shibeshi ME, Kamadjeu R, Fall A. Introduction of the second dose of measles containing vaccine in the childhood vaccination programs within the WHO Africa Region—lessons learnt. J Immunol Sci 2018; (suppl): 113–21.

41. Hashim A, Dang V, Bolotin S, Crowcroft NS. How and why researchers use the number needed to vaccinate to inform decision making—a systematic review. Vaccine 2015; 33: 753–58.

42. Mohamed N, Simba D, Mphuru A, Lyimo D, Kyesi F. Lessons learned in the implementation of supplementary immunization activity (SIA) field guidelines for injectable vaccines—experiences from Tanzania. Vaccine 2020; 38: 7741–46.

43. Linksbridge. State of campaigns. 2022. https://campaigneffectiveness. org/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/SOC-CE-3\_Final\_20220502-1-1.pdf (accessed April 14, 2023).

# 5. Chapter 5: The impact of surveillance and other factors on detection of emergent and circulating vaccine derived polioviruses

Megan Auzenbergs<sup>1\*</sup>, Holly Fountain<sup>1\*</sup>, Grace Macklin<sup>2</sup>, Hil Lyons<sup>3</sup>, Kathleen M O'Reilly<sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup>Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, UK <sup>2</sup>Polio Eradication, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland <sup>3</sup>Institute for Disease Modeling, Bellevue, Washington, USA \*Authors contributed equally

Paper link and copyright information: https://gatesopenresearch.org/articles/5-94/v3

## 5.1 Research paper cover sheet



London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT

T: +44 (0)20 7299 4646 F: +44 (0)20 7299 4656 www.lshtm.ac.uk

## RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET

Please note that a cover sheet must be completed for each research paper included within a thesis.

## SECTION A – Student Details

Student ID Number	1604063	Title	Ms	
First Name(s)	Megan			
Surname/Family Name	Auzenbergs			
Thesis Title	Mathematical and statistical modelling to inform polio and measles vaccination programming			
Primary Supervisor	Dr. Kathleen M O'Reilly & Dr. Kaja Abbas			

## If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C.

## SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?	Gates Open Research		
When was the work published?	May 2021		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion			
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Yes	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes

\*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

## SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an item.

## SECTION D – Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	I worked on: conceptualisation, methodology, formal analysis, visualisation, and writing - original draft
---	---

## SECTION E

Student Signature	
Date	30 May 2024

Supervisor Signature	
Date	31 May 2024

## 5.2 Bridging section

This paper was published in *Gates Open Research*. The work was completed between June 2020 and April 2021 and revised following peer review in April 2022.

This research ties into the overall theme of this thesis because it evaluates an indirect effect of polio vaccination strategies, seeding future cVDPVs. Also, this analysis provides important considerations for global cessation of the OPV and eradication certification timelines. In this chapter, I demonstrate my understanding of the delicacy and complexity of polio vaccination policy decisions and how statistical methods can be utilised for identifying outbreak risks. Chapter 3 focused on vaccination approaches for mitigating *WPV1* outbreaks, whilst this chapter focuses on *cVDPV* outbreaks, demonstrating my understanding of the different challenges that exist within polio programming.

This work was a joint effort with Holly Fountain. I was Holly's supervisor for her MSc student project in 2020 and supervised her work creating a database of nucleotide mutations for historical cVDPV outbreaks. Holly was responsible for database creation and approved the final publication but did not have any involvement in the statistical analysis or write-up. I conducted the entire statistical analysis for this work, including estimating time from emergence to outbreak detection and the regression analysis identifying factors associated with time to detection. I led manuscript write-up, disseminated the results and made all corrections following peer-review.

## 5.3 Abstract and author summary

## 5.3.1 Abstract

Circulating vaccine derived poliovirus (cVDPV) outbreaks remain a threat to polio eradication. To reduce cases of polio from cVDPV of serotype 2, the serotype 2 component of the vaccine has been removed from the global vaccine supply, but outbreaks of cVDPV2 have continued. The objective of this work is to understand the factors associated with later detection to improve detection of these unwanted events. The number of nucleotide differences between each cVDPV outbreak and the oral polio vaccine (OPV) strain was used to approximate the time from emergence to detection. Only independent emergences were included in the analysis. Variables such as serotype, surveillance quality, and World Health Organization (WHO) region were tested in a negative binomial regression model to ascertain whether these variables were associated with higher nucleotide differences upon detection. In total, 74 outbreaks were analysed from 24 countries between 2004-2019. For serotype 1 (n=10), the median time from seeding until outbreak detection was 572 (95% uncertainty interval (UI) 279-2016), for serotype 2 (n=59), 276 (95% UI 172-765) days, and for serotype 3 (n=5), 472 (95% UI 392-603) days. Considerable variation in the time between emergence and detection of VDPVs were apparent, and other than surveillance quality and inclusion of environmental surveillance, the reasons for this remain unclear. Therefore, maintaining surveillance for poliomyelitis even after achieving local elimination is essential to quickly respond to both emergence of VDPVs and potential importations as low-quality AFP surveillance causes outbreaks to continue undetected.

#### 5.3.2 Author summary

I used nucleotide differences of cVDPVs to determine the time from emergence to outbreak detection. Significant improvement in the time to detection was found with increasing surveillance of non-polio acute flaccid paralysis (AFP) and adequate stool collection. cVDPVs remain a risk and all WHO regions have reported at least one VDPV outbreak since the first outbreak in 2000. Exacerbating the issue, outbreak response campaigns using monovalent OPV type 2 risk seeding future outbreaks. In this analysis, we show that some emergences took >3 years to detect. This has implications for the polio endgame strategy and certification of polio eradication because to confidently certify global polio eradication, the global community needs to be certain that there is no risk of virus emergence. If time to detection exceeds four years but circulation remains unknown, then eradication may be declared prematurely. Moreover, for successful removal of other serotypes from OPV, it is important to better understand why the predictions for OPV2 removal did not hold true. Analysing nucleotide divergence and estimated date of seeding of cVDPVs, including historic outbreaks pre-2016, is important to address this issue.

## 5.4 Introduction

Polio has been targeted for eradication since 1988 when countries represented within the World Health Assembly committed to eradication [1]. Whilst the initial goal to eradicate all poliovirus by 2000 was not achieved, two of the three wild serotypes have been eliminated, most recently type 3 in 2018 [2-4]. The main driver in this reduction of cases has been vaccination achieved through both routine and supplementary immunisation activities (SIAs), largely with the oral polio vaccine (OPV), a live attenuated vaccine. OPV is important for polio eradication, as it provides both humoral and intestinal immunity. However, the genetic instability of the attenuated virus can result in mutations that increase transmissibility and neurovirulence of infections [5,6]. Consequently, circulating vaccine-derived polioviruses (cVDPVs) can arise and cause paralysis in affected individuals. Prior to 2000, these outbreaks had not been reported in any countries using OPV [7], and recent analysis has suggested that cVDPV emergence and spread is more common in populations with low to moderate mucosal immunity against poliovirus [8,9].

Since observing this unwanted effect of OPV vaccination, along with vaccine-associated paralytic polio (VAPP) and immunodeficiency-associated VDPVs (iVDPVs), removal of OPV from use has been prioritised within the Global Polio Eradication Initiative (GPEI) [10,11]. Especially for serotype 2, the risks of OPV have begun to outweigh the benefits because OPV use can seed additional outbreaks in susceptible populations, and the continued use of OPV2 was deemed unnecessary [12]. The Switch from trivalent OPV (tOPV) to bivalent OPV (bOPV), removing serotype 2, was accomplished globally in a two-week period at the end of April 2016 [13]. Instead of the anticipated decrease in circulating VDPVs, in the third- and fourth-years post-Switch, outbreaks and geographic spread of outbreaks have increased.

The strategy for eradication described in the 2013–2018 GPEI Strategic Plan outlines that wild poliovirus should be interrupted whilst strengthening immunization systems, including the introduction of inactivated polio vaccine (IPV) [10]. Alongside, considerable investment has been made towards transition to a polio-free world that includes containment of all polioviruses, including minimising the risks of unintended release from laboratory facilities, and eventual removal of the OPV (known as cessation) [14]. This transition phase is needed to ensure that the chances of poliovirus transmission in a susceptible population would be as low as manageable, and that populations would remain protected from outbreaks. The Polio Post-Certification Strategy [14], describes the many facets of containing polioviruses, protecting populations, cessation of the OPV and detecting and responding to a polio threat. The Switch from tOPV to bOPV provided the first trial of removing one of the

serotypes from the global vaccine supply. Within the Polio Post-Certification Strategy, the precessation (zero-to-one-year post-certification) and immediate post-cessation (two to five years postcertification) were regarded as the time periods where VDPVs were most likely to emerge, where the risk was thought to be highest 12–18 months after (in the most recent example) bOPV withdrawal. The time until detection is based on modelling which suggests that the cumulative probability of detecting circulating poliovirus is over 99.9% by four years [15], but the modelling did not account for weaknesses in surveillance or include specific aspects of VDPV transmission.

cVDPVs are of particular concern in areas with low to moderate OPV induced immunity, as the virus can emerge and maintain transmission [9,16]. In (mostly high-income) countries with no OPV vaccination, there is minimal risk of VDPV emergence because the source is largely absent, transmission risk is lower, and vaccination coverage with the IPV is usually high. However, other risk factors for cVDPVs include continued OPV use at low rates of coverage, prior elimination of the corresponding wild poliovirus serotype, insensitive acute flaccid paralysis (AFP) surveillance, and use of monovalent OPV (mOPV) and bOPV in SIAs due to the emergent risk of the live attenuated vaccine [6,8,17]. A novel, genetically stable OPV2 that is a modified version of the existing OPV2 but better retains attenuation is currently in development and has been approved and deployed for emergency use as of 2021 to mitigate these risk factors [18,19].

Here we provide a retrospective analysis of cVDPV outbreaks between 2004 and 2019 and estimate the time from emergence to detection using publicly available data. We explore the differences in time to detection across VDPV serotypes and examine the effect of AFP surveillance and other factors on the time to detection. The aim is to provide useful information on the time to detection of VDPV outbreaks by serotype and the factors that affect this, to inform future cessation planning.

## 5.5 Methods

Detection of poliomyelitis outbreaks are dependent upon global surveillance for AFP and the Global Polio Laboratory Network where clinical specimens are investigated to identify poliovirus as the causative agent. To confirm poliovirus infection, at least two stool specimens should be collected 24–48 hours apart and within 14 days of the onset of AFP in affected individuals [20]. All samples undergo confirmatory testing and genetic sequencing at laboratories that are part of The Global Polio Laboratory Network (GPLN) following a standardised protocol to minimise contamination and maximise sensitivity [21]. Sequencing of the VP1 region of the viral genome is used to classify poliovirus; if the sample differs from the parental OPV strain by 1–15% (or from 0.6% for serotype 2),

the case is defined as a VDPV [9,22]. However, this definition changed in 2010 for serotype 2 only, such that prior to 2010, 10 nucleotide mutations in the VP1 region constituted a VDPV, but later, the cut-off dropped to 6 nucleotide mutations. Therefore, we exclude type 2 outbreaks prior to 2010 (n=16) to account for this change as historic type 2 outbreaks where the isolate had <10 nucleotide mutations would not have been counted as a cVDPV.

By definition, cVDPV refers to VDPV isolates for which there is evidence of person-to-person transmission in the community and 'genetically linked VDPVs' are isolated from at least two individuals who do not live in the same household, or from one individual and  $\geq$ 1 environmental surveillance (ES) sample reported through the comprehensive surveillance network [11]. Within the GPEI surveillance network, cVDPV outbreaks that spread across country borders are treated as separate outbreaks (requiring a response within each country). Here we are only interested in the emergence of new cVDPV outbreaks and exclude outbreaks because of international spread. For example, an emergence first detected in Jigawa State, Nigeria, which has spread to several countries in West Africa is only included once in the dataset. Where possible, the lineage code for each cVDPV2 emergence is provided (Appendix pp 259-262 [23]).

Poliomyelitis is a notifiable disease, and as part of global surveillance for poliomyelitis, the GPEI and WHO laboratories report all confirmed outbreaks through the Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Reports (MMWR). Consequently, we use these reports to compile a spreadsheet of all cVDPV outbreaks from 2000 to February 2020. Outbreaks were first identified using MMWR reports and then country and year(s) of the outbreak were searched using the search terms: 'vaccine-derived poliovirus\* OR VDPV OR circulating vaccine-derived poliovirus\* OR cVDPV'. This search criterion is not a systematic review of all literature for polio outbreaks within the period, but due to the nature of disease surveillance for poliomyelitis, resulted in a comprehensive list of outbreaks. The number of nucleotide sequences that are different to the Sabin 2 strain at first detection (referred to as 'VP1 divergence') and the dates of the first and last isolates of the outbreak were also collated through the literature search. As per exclusion criteria, we did not include outbreaks that did not meet the aforementioned cVDPV definition or were the result of international spread. The annual country-level non-polio acute flaccid paralysis (AFP) rate and percentage of adequate stool specimens collected, both indicators of surveillance quality, were extracted for each outbreak and year corresponding to the start of the outbreak. In order examine the effect of environmental sampling as a supplement to AFP surveillance, the mechanism via which the first isolate was detected (AFP or ES) was ascertained for each outbreak. Additionally, we included WHO region, Diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis vaccine dose 3 (DTP3) coverage (which is often used as a marker for routine immunisation coverage), and whether the outbreak was detected before/after 2016. Multiple independent emergences observed within the same country-year unit of observation were treated as multiple observations even if the associated surveillance data and outbreak response remained the same.

Variables associated with the number of nucleotide differences were explored using a negative binomial model. A negative binomial model was selected because the variance of the reported number of nucleotide differences was larger than the mean and the data was highly dispersed. The minimum number of mutations was 9 for serotypes 1 and 3, and 6 for serotype 2, and the outcome variable was shifted-left so that the minimum number was 0. Separate datasets were created for serotype 2 and serotypes 1 and 3 to account for the small sample size of types 1 and 3 outbreaks and because of the similar case to infection ratio for serotypes 1 and 3 [24]. The data set for types 1 and 3 retained a covariate for serotype. Preliminary analysis illustrated that outbreak with nucleotide mutations  $\geq$  30 (n=4) affected the fit of the model to the data (due to overdispersion that could not fully be accounted for) and were removed from the dataset as outliers. A multivariate regression model was built using stepwise removal by comparing differences in the Akaike information criteria (AIC) between candidate models and estimating the negative binomial dispersion parameter ( $\theta$ ). Interactions between the non-polio AFP rate and the percentage of stool samples adequately collected were also examined. The negative binomial regression model can be written in terms of the expected nucleotide differences E(Y), which is linked to the predictors through a logarithmic link function, where  $\beta_0$  is the intercept and  $\sum_{i=1}^k \beta_i \chi_i$  represents the additive effects of  $\kappa$  predictor variables  $\chi_1, \chi_2 \dots \chi_k$ , each with its own coefficient  $\beta_i$ :

$$\ln(E(Y)) = \beta_0 + \sum_{i=1}^{\kappa} \beta_i \chi_i$$

For every VDPV outbreak, we estimate the time to detection using the following methods. Each VDPV outbreak has included with it the number of VP1 mutations associated with the first case(s) and is used to estimate the time to detection. The first VP1 mutation of the Sabin strain is assumed to be instantaneous, and each subsequent mutation follows an average rate of  $1.14 \times 10^{-2}$  nucleotides per site per year [25,26]. The VP1 RNA gene consists of 906 nucleotides, so we would expect approximately 1 nucleotide change every 35 days under a constant clock model. We assume that the viral evolution rate is the same across all serotypes [27,28]. Each independent mutation was modelled using an exponential distribution and the sum of waiting times as an Erlang distribution, as done for a previous analysis of cVDPVs [26]. By treating each VDPV detection as a random sample of the

population parameter for the time to detection, we use bootstrapping of the sample estimates of time to detection to provide robust estimates for serotype 2 and serotypes 1 and 3. The empirical distribution function of the bootstrapped samples were used to calculate the probability of VDPV outbreaks being detected within one and four years. All analyses were carried out in R version 4.0.3. This project received ethical approval from the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine (LSHTM) on 29<sup>th</sup> June 2020: project ID 21929. The source code for this project is publicly available from: https://github.com/mauzenbergs/polio\_vdpv.

## 5.6 Results

## 5.6.1 Independent cVDPV outbreaks

Review of MMWR reports identified a total of 96 outbreaks in 28 countries. However, once outliers were excluded and the change of cVDPV2 definition was accounted for and cVDPV2 outbreaks pre-2010 were removed, a total of 75 cVDPV outbreaks due to independent emergences were analysed from 24 countries (Table 1). cVDPV type 2 was the most frequent serotype isolated, accounting for 80% of outbreaks, followed by serotypes 1 and 3, accounting for 13% and 7% of outbreaks, respectively. Of the 75 outbreaks, 18 (24%) were first detected via ES.

Table 1. Summary of all circulating vaccine derived polioviruses (cVDPVs) included in the analysis split by serotype.\*Median and \*\*range provided if there was more than 1 outbreak, otherwise a single value was provided. WHO = WorldHealth Organization; NPAF P= non-polio acute flaccid paralysis; CI = confidence interval; PNG = Papua New Guinea; CAR=Central African Republic; DRC = Democratic Republic of Congo.

		Median* nucleotide Mean NPAFP				
WHO Region	Country	Number of outbreaks	Median* duration days (range**)	difference from Sabin strain of the first isolate (range**)	rate (per 100,000 children <15) (95% CI)	adequate stool samples (95% CI)
			Serotype	1		
AFR	MADAGASCAR	1	338	20	4.2	85.6
AFR	MOZAMBIQUE	1	112	27	2.7	87.2
AMR	DOMINICAN REPUBLIC	1	190	17	-	-
EUR	UKRAINE	1	7	20	2.7	97.4
SEAR	INDONESIA	1	139	10	2.4	85.5
SEAR	MYANMAR	2	258 (59, 458)	19.5 (14, 25)	2.8	92.7
WPR	CHINA	2	55 (51, 59)	11 (9, 13)	1.9	92.2
WPR	LAOS	1	269	21	2.6	57.1
WPR	PNG	1	193	14	7.9	44.7
Global	Type 1 total	11	125.5 (7, 458)	17 (9, 27)	3.2 (1.9, 4.5)	82.7 (70.2, 95.2)
			Serotype	2		
AFR	ANGOLA	5	195 (39, 288)	7 (6, 10)	5.0	85.1
AFR	CAR	7	99 (0, 275)	7 (6, 10)	9.2	71.1
AFR	CHAD	2	184 (97, 270)	6 (6)	10.2	84.6
AFR	DRC	12	173 (1, 473)	8 (6, 19)	7.7	84.2
AFR	ETHIOPIA	4	94 (41, 151)	12 (10, 18)	2.9	90.8
AFR	GUINEA	1	475	12	2.6	96.6
AFR	MOZAMBIQUE	1	57	6	3.4	88.5
AFR	NIGERIA	9	84 (0, 637)	10 (6, 16)	11.9	95.4
AFR	SOUTH SUDAN	1	3	9	4.2	94.4
AFR	TOGO	1	78	13	4.6	70.2
AFR	ZAMBIA	1	71	9	3.8	84.3
EMR	AFGHANISTAN	1	1295	8	11.0	92.6
EMR	PAKISTAN	9	58 (8, 654)	6 (6, 9)	17.7	87.1
EMR	SYRIA	1	202	22	3.6	80.4
EMR	YEMEN	1	179	6	3.4	91.5
SEAR	MYANMAR	1	172	13	2.5	93.2
WPR	CHINA	2	300 (113, 487)	10 (6, 13)	2.0	92.3
Global	Type 2 total	59	105 (0, 1295)	8 (6, 22)	8.9 (7.3, 10.4)	86.2 (84.2, 88.2)
Serotype 3						
AFR	ETHIOPIA	1	556	12	2.6	79.0
AFR	MADAGASCAR	1	32	13	1.3	89.4
EMR	SOMALIA	1	183	14	4.8	97.7
EMR	YEMEN	1	454	18	4.3	93.2
WPR	CAMBODIA	1	50	17	2.0	95.8
Global	Type 3 total	5	255	14 (12, 18)	3.0 (1.2, 4.8)	91.0 (81.3, 100)
Total Outbreaks 75 109 (0, 1295) 9 (6, 27) 7.7 (6.3, 9.0		7.7 (6.3, 9.0)	86.0 (83.8, 88.2)			

For serotype 1 (n=11), the median nucleotide divergence for the first isolate of the outbreak was 17 (range: 9, 27) and the mean non-polio AFP rate was 3.2 cases per 100,000 of the population under 15 years of age (95% confidence interval (CI): 1.9-4.5) (Table 1). Half (50%) of type 1 outbreaks were contained or closed within 120 days. For serotype 2 (n=59), the median nucleotide divergence for the first isolate of the outbreak was 8 (range: 6, 22) and the mean non-polio AFP rate was 8.9 cases per 100,000 of the population under 15 years of age (95% CI: 7.3, 10.4). Most type 2 outbreaks (54%) were contained within 120 days. For serotype 3 (n=5), the median nucleotide divergence for the first isolate of the outbreak was 14 (range: 12, 18) and the mean non-polio AFP rate was 3.0 (95% CI: 1.2, 4.8) cases per 100,000 of the population under 15 years of age. In total, 40% of type 3 outbreaks were contained within 120 days.

For serotype 2, a regression model of the number of nucleotide differences of the first isolate for each outbreak suggests a decrease in nucleotide difference with increasing non-polio AFP rate and percentage of adequate stool samples collected (incidence rate ratio (IRR) 0.18, 95% CI 0.06-0.49, p<0.01 and IRR 0.91 95% CI 0.84-0.99, p=0.05, respectively), but no significant difference between classification (AFP or ES) (p=0.07), Table 2. Despite the non-significant p-value and wide confidence interval that crosses 1.00, the IRR (2.15 95% CI: 0.93, 5.4) provides weak evidence that rate of nucleotide mutations of outbreaks identified via ES is greater when compared to outbreaks first identified through AFP surveillance. Interaction between non-polio AFP rate and percentage of adequate stool samples was significant for both serotype 2 and serotypes 1 and 3 (IRR 1.02 95% CI 1.01-1.04, p<0.01 and IRR 1.01 95% CI 1.0-1.03, p=0.03, respectively). A regression model was attempted for the 15 outbreaks that were either type 1 or 3, but low sample size prevents meaningful interpretation (Appendix p 263 [23]). The mean estimates of the regression terms for serotypes 1 and 3 were similar in value to serotypes 1 and 3 (IRR 0.22, 95% CI 0.04-1.28, p=0.08), but the confidence intervals of the regression estimates were wide, likely due to low sample size.

## Table 2. Final regression model of factors associated with the number of nucleotide differences of the first isolate of vaccine derived poliovirus (VDPV) outbreaks.

Sample size and dispersion parameter ( $\vartheta$ ) for the serotype 2 model are reported. AFP = acute flaccid paralysis; ES = environmental surveillance; CI = confidence interval; \*IRR=incidence rate ratio, used to compare the relative rates between each of the variables and the intercept, or baseline comparator.

Serotype 2 (n = 59) A = 0.99					
Variable	Factor	P-value			
Intercept	-	-			
Unit increase of non-polio AFP rate (cases per 100,000 children aged <15 years old) Mean (95% CI): 8.9 (7.3, 10.4)	Linear term	0.18 (0.06, 0.49)	<0.01		
Percent of stool samples adequately collected Mean (95% Cl): 86.2 (84.2, 88.2) <80%: n = 9 (15%)	Linear term	0.91 (0.84, 0.99)	0.047		
Unit increase of non-polio AFP rate * Percent of stool samples adequately collected	Interaction term	1.02 (1.01, 1.04)	<0.01		
Type of surveillance via which first isolate was detected (AFP case or ES) AFP: n = 42 (71.1%) ES: n = 17 (28.8%)	ES (vs. AFP)	2.15 (0.93, 5.4)	0.069		

The effects of non-polio AFP rate on nucleotide differences are shown in Figure 1, where the negative binomial regression model for serotype 2 is used to predict counts of nucleotide differences. To illustrate the interaction between non-polio AFP rate and percentage of adequate stool samples, Figure 1a illustrates that as both non-polio AFP rate and percentage of adequate stool increases, predicted nucleotide differences decline. Although the type of surveillance via which the first isolate was detected (AFP case or ES) was not significant in the final model and could act as a confounder, in Figure 1b, predicted nucleotide differences decrease as non-polio AFP rate increases for both surveillance mechanisms, but to a greater extent for AFP at low rates of non-polio AFP surveillance.





#### Figure 1. Predicted nucleotide differences for serotype 2.

(A) Predicted counts of nucleotide differences for serotype 2 based on the final negative binomial regression model vs. nonpolio AFP rate (per 100,00 children <15 years of age). The different colour lines correspond to varying percentages of adequate stool samples collected and the shaded regions represent a 95% confidence interval of model predictions. The different colour points also correspond to varying percentages of adequate stool samples collected but represent data from a particular cVDPV2 outbreak. (B) Predicted counts of nucleotide differences for serotype 2 based on the final negative binomial regression model vs. non-polio AFP rate (per 100,00 children <15 years of age). The different colour lines correspond to the type of surveillance via which the first isolate was detected, and the shaded regions represent a 95% confidence interval of model predictions. The different colour points also correspond to the type of surveillance via which the first isolate was detected but represent data from a particular cVDPV2 outbreak. In both figures, the black dashed line represents the minimum threshold cut-off of nucleotide differences (n=6) to be considered a cVDPV2.

Model residuals (Figure 2a) for the serotype 2 model support an appropriate model structure as the plot illustrates homoscedasticity of the residuals. The Q-Q plot (Figure 2b) further supports the assumed theoretical distribution for the final models as most values are centred along the Q-Q line, but the extreme values illustrate deviation from the assumed normal distribution of residuals. Figure 2c provides a visual comparison of expected vs. observed frequencies of nucleotide mutations. For serotype 2, outbreak frequencies corresponding to 6, 13, 19 and 22 nucleotide mutations are underestimated by the model. Similar figures for serotypes 1 and 3 can be found on Appendix p 264 [23].



**Figure 2. Serotype 2 diagnostic plots.** (A) residual vs. fitted values, (B) Normal Q-Q plot and (**C**) Expected vs. observed frequencies of nucleotide mutations assuming a negative binomial distribution. Figure 2A shows how far the fitted values vary from the residual values, the closer to the red dashed line, the better fit. Figure 2B is used to analyse the distribution of the data. Because several points at the bottom left of the figure deviate from the Q-Q line, the data is positively skewed towards lower nucleotide mutations.

## 5.6.2 Estimating the time to outbreak detection

The time to detection was estimated for each outbreak, including uncertainty intervals (Figure 3). Using the bootstrap method, the median time from seeding until outbreak detection for serotype 1 (n=10), was 572.3 (95% UI 279.1 - 2015.8) days and it was estimated that 91.5% of outbreaks would be detected within four years. The median time from seeding until outbreak detection for serotype 2 (n=59) was 276.1 (95% UI 172.3-764.8) days and 99.7% of outbreaks are estimated to be detected within four years. For serotype 3 (n=5), the median time from seeding until outbreak detection was 472.4 (95% UI 392.1-603.1) days and it was estimated that 100% of outbreaks would be detected within four years. Using the full uncertainty of the estimated time to detection, 20 of the 59 (34%)

outbreaks of serotype 2 were detected under one year, whereas no serotype 1 or 3 outbreaks were detected within one year.



**Figure 3. Estimated time to detection of each outbreak from the reported number of nucleotide differences from the Sabin strain, by serotype and region.** Outbreaks are ordered on the x-axis by increasing time to detection, where uncertainty in the estimates are shown using 95% uncertainty intervals. Dashed lines represent one year (blue) and four years (red). Country names along the x-axis have been abbreviated using a country's corresponding United Nations ISO 3166-1 alpha-3 code and year of first detection.

## 5.7 Discussion

Polio eradication has been deemed an achievable undertaking, but with timeline and budget pressures ever present, it is importance to better understand the risks associated with cessation strategies and how to better plan for unwanted events. Emerging and circulating VDPVs are one of many threats to eradication, and detecting cVDPVs early to respond and limit transmission in communities will be important throughout the final stages of eradication.

This analysis illustrates several observations about cVDPV outbreaks. cVDPVs caused by serotype 2 have been more commonly detected than outbreaks caused by serotypes 1 and 3. This observation was apparent between 2000–2015 when the trivalent OPV was in use, as well as in subsequent years. When children are vaccinated with the OPV, the serotype 2 strain is more competitive in the gut mucosa [29,30], resulting in increased 'take' by vaccinated individuals and subsequently a higher rate of secondary spread. The increased rate of spread was exacerbated post-Switch as a larger proportion of populations were not vaccinated with the serotype 2 strain due to the strategy of cessation. Additionally, a recent modelling study using inference from data on several clinical trials suggests that

the order of transmissibility within equivalent populations is in the descending order of serotype 2, 1, and 3, which would further explain the observed frequency of each serotype-specific VDPV outbreak [31].

The number of nucleotide differences at the time of detection did not significantly vary between serotypes. For serotype 1, it has between estimated that there are approximately 200 infections for every case, 2000 infections for a serotype 2 case, and 1000 infections for a serotype 3 case [32]. Based on differences in the asymptomatic rate, one might expect nucleotide differences of type 1 and 3 to be lower than serotype 2 when first detected, which was not observed. Based on the data from reported outbreaks, detection of cVDPVs does not seem sensitive to differences in symptomatic reporting that is associated with serotype but may be influenced by unknown differences in where serotype specific detections emerge, which in-turn are affected by surveillance efforts within these countries.

In countries where ES is present, detection of emergent cVDPVs has previously been shown to be quicker than if surveillance relied on AFP alone [33]. Here, we identified weak evidence that outbreaks detected through ES had higher nucleotide divergence, which is contradictory. However, ES is likely placed in locations with known risks of poliovirus transmission and potential challenges in AFP reporting, which may potentially bias findings. Although WHO region did not account for differences in detection time, ES is more commonly implemented across the AFR and EMR regions in comparison to other WHO regions. The total number of active ES sites across AFR, EMR and SEAR WHO regions was 620 in 2020, a 15% increase in the number of reported active ES sites in 2019 [34], but the percentage of the population within a catchment area remains comparatively low and poorly measured. While ES remains a useful source for detecting circulating viruses, its low coverage will mean that ES can only supplement AFP surveillance to enable rapid detection of VDPVs.

The relationship between non-polio AFP rate and time to detection illustrates that in order to detect VDPVs early, a country needs to maintain a high rate of non-polio AFP surveillance. Now that wild poliovirus has been eliminated from the African continent, there may be incentive to reduce the intensity of non-polio AFP surveillance in the region. However, in line with the Global Polio Eradication Initiative Strategic Plan 2019–2023, which calls for closing gaps and strengthening global surveillance, this analysis has illustrated the importance of maintaining a high rate of non-polio AFP surveillance, especially for timely detection of cVDPVs [11]. While higher NPAFP rates well beyond the minimal threshold for quality are more predictive of earlier cVDPV detection, this does not necessarily mean

that the surveillance standard is too low. Instead, this suggests that while standards are in place, they perhaps do not accurately capture localised issues that may mitigate surveillance sensitivity. Accurate rates of clinical syndrome that are not associated with poliovirus (i.e., Guillain-Barré syndrome) would need to be detected with greater sensitivity to ensure true cases of poliovirus are not missed [35]. The most recent GPEI protocol for responding to poliovirus outbreaks describes NPAFP goals and how recommended levels of surveillance may vary across high-risk areas versus smaller areas with fewer children under 15 years of age [36]. Therefore, as cVDPVs remain a threat, AFP surveillance must remain high in all areas with OPV use and/or suboptimal IPV coverage. Low rates of NPAFP surveillance that persist across many settings coupled with the low case to infection rate for polio means undetected transmission is possible in many areas, jeopardising the attainment of polio eradication. As the risk of importation of infection across the African continent increases following the 2021 WPV1 importation in Malawi [37], adopting strategies to improve surveillance are increasingly important.

Adequate stool describes both the timeliness and quality of the samples (i.e., collected within 14 days of paralysis onset, 24–48 hours apart, and arrival at the laboratory in "good" condition) and current WHO guidelines state that at least 80% of AFP cases should have stool collection described as adequate, which this analysis further supports [38]. However, while the mean percentage of adequate stool specimens in this analysis exceeds 80% for all serotypes, 15% and 20% of outbreaks of serotypes 2 and serotypes 1 and 3, respectively, fall below this targeted 80%. Also, this indicator is often reported at the national level while research suggests that percentage of adequate stool specimens is not only disparate at subnational levels, but age groups are not well-covered by the surveillance system and some countries report inaccurate rates of adequate stool specimen collection [39]. After accounting for factors other than WHO regions, WHO region did not remain a significant explanatory variable, suggesting region specific differences do not account for nucleotide divergences as much as surveillance quality (both non-polio AFP rate and percentage of adequate stool samples collected).

Of the cVDPV2 outbreaks that were seeded post-Switch, the source of about 95% of isolates was found to be consistent with mOPV2 outbreak response campaigns [26]. This has been due to the inherent nature of mOPV2, and likely poorly implemented campaigns, and because children recently vaccinated with mOPV2, or their contacts, travelled outside the response zones to areas where children born after the Switch were fully susceptible to infection [40]. The need to improve these response campaigns has been recognised with an addendum to the Polio Endgame Strategy 2019–2023, whereby the strategy is to implement actions such as enhanced outbreak response campaigns and ensure sufficient supply of mOPV2 to diminish immunisation gaps [10]. The novel OPV2 vaccine replaced the mOPV and received WHO prequalification approval in December 2023 for use under the Emergency Use Listing regulatory pathway [41]. This new vaccine reduces the risk of cVDPV2 emergence [41]. As illustrated in this analysis, emergences of cVDPV2 from mOPV2 are likely to continue for up to four years after the last mOPV2 campaign, meaning that nOPV2 use in outbreak response will be required for at least this period.

A weakness of our approach is that we assume that VDPV mutations occur at a constant and independent rate. In reality, multiple mutations may result in a reduction in nucleotide divergence (through back mutations). Consequently, our estimates may under-estimate the time to detection. Additionally, we have not used data on ambiguous (aVDPVs – progenitors to cVDPVs) to observe the frequency of detection across WHO regions. Inclusion of this data may provide further insight on factors associated with detection but is reliant on consistent laboratory reporting of aVDPVs across WHO regions. Additionally, this analysis was a retrospective analysis of cVDPV outbreaks where few countries have included IPV into routine immunisation, meaning that we were unable to explore any effects of IPV on VDPV detection. Furthermore, this analysis was done at the national level, where no relationship between RI coverage and time to detection was observed. We recognise that at a smaller geographical level, the relationship between RI coverage may have a stronger relationship with time to detection, highlighting a potential type 1 error and limitation to this analysis.

In conclusion, this analysis of cVDPV outbreaks illustrates that surveillance for AFP—ensuring a high non-polio AFP rate with adequate stool collection—can result in quick detection of cVDPV outbreaks, having the potential to prevent transmission and subsequent cases in populations. In all regions, undetected circulation of poliovirus will remain an issue until the current OPV vaccines are no longer necessary.

## 5.7.1 Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation [OPP1191821]. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript. We thank members of the GPEI Risk Assessment Working Group, where discussions have been helpful in developing this analysis. We also thank Stephanie Kovacs from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention who provided valuable insight on methodology and manuscript edits. Scientists from the Institute for Disease Modeling at the Foundation are co-authors and were involved in the analysis of data, preparation of the manuscript, and the decision to submit for publication.

## 5.8 Chapter 5 references

1. World Health Organization: Global eradication of poliomyelitis by the year 2000. *Weekly Epidemiological Record*. 1988;63(22):161–2.

Thompson KM, Kalkowska DA: Review of poliovirus modeling performed from 2000 to 2019
 support global polio eradication. *Expert Rev Vaccines*. 2020;19(7):661–86.
 10.1080/14760584.2020.1791093

3. Razum O, Sridhar D, Jahn A, et al.: Polio: from eradication to systematic, sustained control. *BMJ Glob Health*. 2019;4(4): e001633. 10.1136/bmjgh-2019-001633

4. World Health Organization: Africa's wild polio-free status to be determined in August. 2020.

5. Parker EP, Molodecky NA, Pons-Salort M, et al.: Impact of inactivated poliovirus vaccine on mucosal immunity: implications for the polio eradication endgame. *Expert Rev Vaccines*. 2015;14(8):1113–23. 10.1586/14760584.2015.1052800

O'Reilly KM, Lamoureux C, Molodecky NA, et al.: An assessment of the geographical risks of wild and vaccine-derived poliomyelitis outbreaks in Africa and Asia. *BMC Infect Dis.* 2017;17(1):367. 10.1186/s12879-017-2443-4

Fine PE, Carneiro IA: Transmissibility and persistence of oral polio vaccine viruses: implications
 for the global poliomyelitis eradication initiative. *Am J Epidemiol.* 1999;150(10):1001–21.
 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a009924

8. Burns CC, Diop OM, Sutter RW, et al.: Vaccine-derived polioviruses. *J Infect Dis.* 2014;210 Suppl 1: S283–93. 10.1093/infdis/jiu295

9. Pons-Salort M, Burns CC, Lyons H, et al.: Preventing vaccine-derived poliovirus emergence during the polio endgame. *PLoS Pathog.* 2016;12(7): e1005728. 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005728

 Global Polio Eradication Initiative: Polio eradication and endgame: strategic plan 2013– 2018.Geneva: World Health Organization, 2013.

11. Global Polio Eradication Initiative: Polio endgame strategy 2019-2023: eradication, integration, certification and containment. World Health Organization, 2019.

12. Thompson KM, Duintjer Tebbens RJ: Modeling the dynamics of oral poliovirus vaccine cessation. *J Infect Dis.* 2014;210 Suppl 1: S475–84. 10.1093/infdis/jit845

13. Ramirez Gonzalez A, Farrell M, Menning L, et al.: Implementing the synchronized global switch from trivalent to bivalent oral polio vaccines—lessons learned from the global perspective. *J Infect Dis.* 2017;216(suppl\_1): S183–S92. 10.1093/infdis/jiw626

14. World Health Organization: Polio Post-Certification Strategy: a risk mitigation strategy for a polio-free world. 2018.

15. Eichner M, Dietz K: Eradication of Poliomyelitis: When Can One Be Sure That Polio Virus
Transmission Has Been Terminated? *Am J Epidemiol.* 1996;143(8):816–22.
10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a008820

16. McCarthy KA, Chabot-Couture G, Famulare M, et al.: The risk of type 2 oral polio vaccine use in post-cessation outbreak response. *BMC Med.* 2017;15(1):175. 10.1186/s12916-017-0937-y

17. Konopka-Anstadt JL, Campagnoli R, Vincent A, et al.: Development of a new oral poliovirus vaccine for the eradication end game using codon deoptimization. *NPJ Vaccines.* 2020;5(1):26. 10.1038/s41541-020-0176-7

18. van Damme P, de Coster I, Bandyopadhyay AS, et al.: The safety and immunogenicity of two novel live attenuated monovalent (serotype 2) oral poliovirus vaccines in healthy adults: a doubleblind, single-centre phase 1 study. *Lancet*. 2019;394(10193):148–58. 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)31279-6

19. Kalkowska DA, Pallansch MA, Wilkinson A, et al.: Updated Characterization of Outbreak Response Strategies for 2019-2029: Impacts of Using a Novel Type 2 Oral Poliovirus Vaccine Strain. *Risk Anal.* 2021;41(2):329–348. 10.1111/risa.13622

20. World Health Organization: WHO–recommended standards for surveillance of selected vaccine-preventable diseases. Geneva: World Health Organization,1999.

21. Global Polio Laboratory Network: Guidance Paper 5: Reporting Vaccine Derived Polioviruses (VDPVs). 2019.

22. Kew OM, Sutter RW, de Gourville EM, et al.: Vaccine-derived polioviruses and the endgame strategy for global polio eradication. *Annu Rev Microbiol.* 2005; 59:587–635. 10.1146/annurev.micro.58.030603.123625

23. Auzenbergs M, Fountain H, Macklin G, et al.: mauzenbergs/polio\_vdpv: VDPV Extended Data. (Version V1). *Zenodo*. 2021. 10.5281/zenodo.4776357

24. Molodecky NA, Jafari H, Safdar RM, et al.: Modelling the spread of serotype-2 vaccine derived-poliovirus outbreak in Pakistan and Afghanistan to inform outbreak control strategies in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Vaccine*. 2023;41 Suppl 1: A93–A104. 10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.09.037

25. Burns CC, Shaw J, Jorba J, et al.: Multiple independent emergences of type 2 vaccine-derived polioviruses during a large outbreak in northern Nigeria. *J Virol.* 2013;87(9):4907–22. 10.1128/JVI.02954-12

26. Macklin GR, O'Reilly KM, Grassly NC, et al.: Evolving epidemiology of poliovirus serotype 2 following withdrawal of the serotype 2 oral poliovirus vaccine. *Science*. 2020;368(6489):401–5. 10.1126/science. aba1238

27. Kew O, Pallansch M: Breaking the Last Chains of Poliovirus Transmission: Progress and Challenges in Global Polio Eradication. *Annu Rev Virol.* 2018;5(1):427–51. 10.1146/annurev-virology-101416-041749

28. Jorba J, Campagnoli R, De L, et al.: Calibration of multiple poliovirus molecular clocks covering an extended evolutionary range. *J Virol.* 2008;82(9):4429–40. 10.1128/JVI.02354-07

Patriarca PA, Wright PF, John TJ: Factors Affecting the Immunogenicity of Oral Poliovirus Vaccine in Developing Countries: Review. *Rev Infect Dis.* 1991;13(5):926–39. 10.1093/clinids/13.5.926
 Samoilovich E, Roivainen M, Titov LP, et al.: Serotype-specific mucosal immune response and subsequent poliovirus replication in vaccinated children. *J Med Virol.* 2003;71(2):274–80. 10.1002/jmv.10480

31. Famulare M, Selinger C, McCarthy KA, et al.: Assessing the stability of polio eradication after the withdrawal of oral polio vaccine. *PLoS Biol.* 2018;16(4): e2002468. 10.1371/journal.pbio.2002468

32. Nathanson N, Kew OM: From emergence to eradication: the epidemiology of poliomyelitis deconstructed. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2010;172(11):1213–29. 10.1093/aje/kwq320

33. Cowger TL, Burns CC, Sharif S, et al.: The role of supplementary environmental surveillance to complement acute flaccid paralysis surveillance for wild poliovirus in Pakistan - 2011-2013. *PLoS One.* 2017;12(7): e0180608. 10.1371/journal.pone.0180608

34. Zomahoun DJ, Burman AL, Snider CJ, et al.: Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on Global Poliovirus
 Surveillance. *MMWR* Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2021;69(5152):1648–52.
 10.15585/mmwr.mm695152a4

35. Tangermann RH, Lamoureux C, Tallis G, et al.: The critical role of acute flaccid paralysis surveillance in the Global Polio Eradication Initiative. *Int Health.* 2017;9(3):156–63. 10.1093/inthealth/ihx016

36. Global Polio Eradication Initiative: Standard operating procedures: responding to a poliovirus event or outbreak. 2022.

37. McCarthy K, Howard W, Yousif M, et al.: The show is not over – wild-type polio in Malawi is a wake-up call and an opportunity for elimination efforts. *Int J Infect Dis.* 2022; 119:32–33. 10.1016/j.ijid.2022.03.004

Porter KA, Diop OM, Burns CC, et al.: Tracking progress toward polio eradication - worldwide,
 2013-2014. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2015;64(15):415–20.

39. VanderEnde K, Voorman A, Khan S, et al.: New analytic approaches for analyzing and presenting polio surveillance data to supplement standard performance indicators. *Vaccine X.* 2020; 4:100059. 10.1016/j.jvacx.2020.100059

40. Alleman MM, Jorba J, Greene SA, et al.: Update on vaccine-derived poliovirus outbreaks worldwide, July 2019-February 2020. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2020;69(16):489–495. 10.15585/mmwr.mm6916a1

41. Bandyopadhyay, A. S., & Zipursky, S. (2023). A novel tool to eradicate an ancient scourge: the novel oral polio vaccine type 2 story. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases, 23*(2), e67-e71.

## 6. Chapter 6: Discussion

## 6.1 Summary of findings

## 6.1.1 Understanding risks and benefits of different polio vaccination strategies to avert outbreaks following WPV1 importations

This work highlights the risks and benefits of vaccination strategies with varying frequencies of pSIAs to mitigate and prevent an outbreak following a WPV1 importation into Africa. I conclude that areas with low levels of RI coverage (<67%) would benefit from doing annual or Biennial pSIAs to prevent a WPV1 outbreak—both annual and Biennial pSIAs are cost-effective at this RI threshold. Given a limited annual budget alongside difficult decisions about vaccination programming, this work demonstrates that in areas with high levels of RI coverage (>85%), pSIAs could be removed entirely from vaccination programming and a low outbreak risk would persist. To inform the polio endgame strategy, an increasing amount of focus is centred around consequential geographies. These geographical areas may be at an increased risk of an outbreak given low vaccination coverage and low population immunity, or migratory patterns may result in an increased risk of an importation or spread of virus across country borders. Given these considerations for future polio programming, it is important that the combined health system and GPEI perspectives is considered to analyse costs alongside risks of outbreaks and DALYs.

This chapter aligns with the aims and objectives of this PhD—it involved complex mathematical modelling of polio transmission dynamics and incorporated health economic methodologies to conduct a cost-effectiveness analysis. Lessons learned from this work have taught me the delicate balance between costs of vaccination programmes and risk of outbreaks when planning vaccination interventions for diseases near eradication. The skills obtained during this work are directly transferrable to a career in vaccine epidemiology and health economics.

## 6.1.2 Which measles vaccination strategies have resulted in the greatest impact over time?

Analysing historic measles vaccination strategies deployed at different time across different countries offers a unique perspective of evaluating the impact and efficiency of the different strategies. For example, in countries with low routine immunisation coverage, such as Madagascar, SIAs remained an important strategy to reach children who were unvaccinated. However, MCV2 showed relatively less effect than SIAs in countries with low MCV2 coverage such as DR Congo, Nigeria, Angola, Ethiopia, and Somalia, even under the assumption of early MCV2 introduction, compared with countries with

higher sustained MCV1 coverage such as China and Malawi. This direct comparison of strategies highlights that differences exist even between some bordering countries and that going forward, a 'one-size-fits-all' approach for SIA planning would fail to account for country level differences in strategy implementation.

This work uses the indicator NNV to evaluate the efficiency of strategies to deliver vaccine doses, for example, uncovering if doses are more likely to go to previously vaccination children or zero-dose children. In the IA2030 strategy alongside the Measles and Rubella Strategic Plan, addressing zero-dose populations is a priority. If SIA efficiency is low in a particular setting, as shown by a high predicted NNV to prevent a case, but SIAs consistently result in a greater burden reduction than MCV2, investing in mechanisms to improve efficiency could be used to help target zero-dose populations.

This chapter aligns with the aims and objectives of this PhD because alongside mathematical modelling of measles vaccination strategies, it demonstrates my ability to use different metrics to evaluate the incremental impact of SIAs in addition to RI. This chapter also showcases my ability to apply similar methodologies to different pathogens and the collaborative nature of the project has prepared me for future work in vaccine impact modelling.

## 6.1.3 Determining the importance of surveillance in quickly detecting cVDPVs

Learning from mistakes made during *The Switch* that led to pockets of susceptibility and subsequent increased spread of cVDPVs in important going forward in the polio endgame. For example, in 2023, a bOPV cessation task team was formed to evaluate existing literature on cessation risks and timelines for withdrawing global use of bOPV. To be well-informed ahead of global bOPV cessation, accurate estimates of time from cVDPV emergence to detection are crucial... declaring eradication and withdrawing bOPV from use prematurely could result in a catastrophe that undermines the entire polio programme. Chapter 5 of this thesis contributes to global literature on detection and circulation of cVDPVs. I identify the importance of high-quality AFP and environmental surveillance in detecting cVDPVs quickly. For example, the relationship between non-polio AFP rate and time to detection illustrates that to detect VDPVs early, a country needs to maintain a high rate of non-polio AFP surveillance. I also demonstrate an upper uncertainty interval approaching 4-years from emergence to detection, which highlights that in the absence of quality surveillance, undetected virus could circulate for a substantial amount of time. As we approach the timelines for bOPV cessation, this work has the potential to greatly influence cessation policy decisions.

This chapter's research aligns with the aims and objectives of this PhD because the epidemiological approaches showcase my ability to conduct statistical analyses with different forms of data (i.e. nucleotide mutations) that may have different distributions and variances across different virus serotypes. This work required in-depth knowledge of polio surveillance methods and an understanding of the history of cVDPVs. Conclusions from this work are important for my future career plans in vaccine epidemiology—understanding the adverse or indirect effects of vaccination strategies (i.e. seeding future VDPVs with use of OPV) is important for vaccination programming and policy making.

## 6.2 Strengths and limitations

Each research chapter in this thesis includes a discussion section outlining specific limitations of my research. Here, I will focus on the overall strengths and limitations of this thesis.

## 6.2.1 Strengths

## 6.2.1.1 Using real-world data

In the measles chapter, the novelty of the work is the direct comparison of historical vaccination strategies implemented at different times across high-burden countries, rather than comparing only hypothetical scenarios about coverage. Previous analyses of measles vaccine impact [1, 2] failed to analyse the incremental impact of different vaccination strategies between countries as the strategies deployed between countries were not always directly comparable—even neighbouring countries introduced strategies and vaccines (i.e., MCV2) at different points in time. By using historical vaccination data, we can provide meaningful comparators across countries and time.

In the cVDPV chapter, nucleotide mutation data obtained from actual cVDPV isolates was used to estimate the time from seeding to outbreak detection. Using real-world lab confirmed data on nucleotide mutations allowed us to produce accurate estimates of time from seeding to detection. Previous analyses that used the polio SIA calendar to estimate the date of likely seeding events are limited because they only provide rough estimates of circulation time and operate on limitations inherent in SIA reporting, for example, dates of the campaign, number of doses delivered, and proportion of the target population vaccinated. Using nucleotide data obtained from cVDPV isolates allows for a more accurate estimate of circulating time to be estimated and a direct comparison in time from emergence to detection across all serotypes.

## 6.2.1.2 Application across different diseases

I have demonstrated in this thesis that similar policy questions around vaccination strategies can be used across both measles and polio to achieve respective elimination and eradication programmatic goals. Even though the vaccination interventions vary slightly between polio and measles, for example house-to-house vs. fixed post SIAs, questions around efficiency, impact and costs associated with the varying strategies are similar across both diseases.

Skills acquired during this PhD research allowed me to research vaccination strategies for other diseases, such as chikungunya, for which global introduction of a new vaccine is now occurring. In November 2023, the United States Food and Drug Administration approved IXCHIQ, the first chikungunya vaccine developed by Valneva. To navigate the complexities of introducing this vaccine, stakeholder engagement is crucial for devising effective vaccination strategies, deciding on the optimal timing for vaccination, establishing vaccine stockpiles, and pinpointing target populations. I therefore conducted a stakeholder evaluation study, guided by Evidence to Recommendation (EtR) criteria used by National Immunisation Technical Advisory Groups (NITAGs).

This stakeholder engagement spanned four global regions at risk of chikungunya outbreaks and identified gaps in EtR criteria around unknown disease burden, stemming from diagnostic challenges, the unpredictable nature of outbreaks and lack of disease specific passive surveillance. Stakeholders also grappled with the disease's high morbidity yet lower mortality, which complicates disease prioritisation amidst competing health threats, like dengue and other febrile illnesses. Furthermore, there is ambiguity surrounding the target population for the vaccine, with logistical challenges in rollout, uncertainty about age-specific targeting, and deployment strategies, further exacerbated by socioeconomic factors of populations most at risk of chikungunya infection. The full-text published manuscript can be read in the Appendix section 7.1.1. To address in part the evidence gaps highlighted in the stakeholder analysis, I then collaborated on a systematic review, meta-analysis, and modelling study to estimate chikungunya seroprevalence, force of infection, and prevalence of chronic disability after infection in endemic and epidemic settings [3].

During this PhD, I also collaborated with the Vaccine Impact Modelling Consortium to estimate the health effects of COVID-19-related immunisation disruptions against 14 pathogens in 112 low-income and middle-income countries during 2020-30 [4]. Specifically, I co-generated the health impact estimates for vaccines against measles, *Streptococcus pneumoniae, Haemophilus influenzae* type b, and rotavirus. These estimates by used by key stakeholders (Gavi, the Vaccine Alliance and the Bill and

Melinda Gates Foundation) for decision-making on resource allocation strategies, further highlight that skills gained during this PhD are transferrable to other diseases and research questions.

I have also used the skills gained during this PhD to collaborate on research that evaluates different computational approaches and software for evaluating polio and other diseases, specifically Salmonella typhimurium in pigs [5]. This work demonstrates my understanding of computational considerations for disease modelling and my ability to collaborate on cross-cutting research spanning different diseases, species and disciplines. The full text of this work can be read in Appendix section 7.1.2.

## 6.2.2 Limitations and remaining gaps in knowledge

## 6.2.2.1 Modelling homogenously mixed synthetic populations

In Chapter 3's polio economic modelling, the modelled population is assumed to mix homogenously, which is a limitation. In the real world, population mixing contributes to disease transmission and heterogenous vaccination overage and population immunity create pockets of susceptibility within countries. If an imported virus were to enter a geography with low population immunity, there would be a greater risk of an outbreak than if an importation were to arrive in an area with higher population immunity. I modelled a hypothetical LMIC in Africa but assume baseline RI coverage is the same across the entire population. The research findings in Chapter 3 still have important implications for policy, especially as the model assumptions and outputs are coherent and easy to understand. But, to provide improved risk estimates, future research could account for subnational variations in population immunity, which could be used to improve costs assumptions and associated benefits of SIAs.

## 6.2.2.2 Limited time horizons

Each of the research chapters present work over a defined period: Chapter 3 focuses on a 5-year modelled time horizon from 2023-2028, Chapter 4 analyses historical strategies from 2000-2020 and Chapter 5 analyses cVDPVs from 2010-2020.

Firstly, estimates from Chapter 3's polio economic modelling align with the 2023 GPEI strategic plan, but do not allow for consideration of the costs associated with further delaying the polio eradication timeline through outbreaks, or the societal implications of outbreaks on polio eradication. By limiting the analysis to a five-year time horizon, the benefits of SIAs (particularly pSIAs) are under-estimated as they will increase the likelihood of eradication. Next, in Chapter 4's measles vaccine impact modelling, evaluating vaccination strategies only up to 2020 means that effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on vaccination were not modelled. Research has demonstrated the disruption caused to both RI and SIAs during the pandemic [6], so more research is needed to understand if NNV and efficiency of different strategies have rebounded after pandemic disruptions.

#### 6.2.2.3 Assumptions for SIA target populations and data reporting biases

In the measles vaccine impact modelling work, I did not explore potential differences in effectiveness and efficiency between selective and non-selective approaches—the former referring to SIAs that vaccinate only children with no previous history of vaccination and the latter referring to vaccination during an SIA regardless of doses previously received. Polio SIAs are usually non-selective. Measles SIAs can vary in selection criteria for the target population. Some countries have implemented selective measles SIAs, but more empirical data are needed to assess the feasibility of this approach in a range of geographies.

In both polio and measles modelling chapters, SIA doses were assumed to be randomly delivered to the target population, with an exception in the measles work where a fixed proportion of children who were assumed to be less likely to be reached by childhood immunisation programmes were not allocated doses. In practice, however, the random distribution of doses may vary in reality for several reasons: mother's recall of previous vaccination may be incorrect, accessibility issues may mean the entire target radius cannot be reached by vaccinators, mother's may refuse vaccination on behalf of their children, vaccine supply issues may cause changes or disruptions to the designated area or population for vaccination, amongst other logistical challenges that occur in the field [7, 8]. Therefore, the assumptions made in the polio and measles modelling chapters around random dose allocation during SIAs may vary in practice, causing the modelled estimates to be over or under-estimated.

### 6.2.2.4 Multi-intervention SIAs

Multi- intervention SIAs refer to SIAs that combine multiple interventions, such as OPV + MCV, OPV + de-worming medication, OPV + Vitamin A supplementation, MCV or OPV + bed net distribution [9]. Although multi-intervention SIAs occur less frequently and vary across regions, the indirect effects of SIAs are important for vaccine impact modelling and economic analyses. For example, if an SIA combines multi-interventions, the DALYs averted associated with this intervention may increase by protecting against multiple pathogens. Further studies are needed to assess the combined effectiveness and efficiency of integrated campaigns. The measles and polio modelling chapters do not consider the impact of multi-intervention SIAs due to limited data availability on combined campaigns. Also, because funding is usually disease specific, (i.e. GPEI funds are used only for polio

SIAs, not measles SIAs), the economic work on the cost-effectiveness of multi-intervention campaigns is limited in scope and geography [10]. By not considering multi-intervention SIAs in either of my models, the estimated impact of polio and measles vaccination strategies may under-estimate the true reach or potential of SIAs.

## 6.3 Feasibility of polio eradication

This PhD has given me perspectives into the complexities of disease control programmes and the delicate balance between elimination and eradication efforts, scientific innovation and political will. In the following sections, I critically summarise the feasibility of polio eradication and measles elimination given current timelines given the knowledge and insights I acquired during this PhD.

Efforts towards polio eradication alongside the GPEI have faced numerous challenges, especially in recent years, leading to critiques of the feasibility of global polio eradication. While substantial progress has been made in reducing the worldwide incidence of infection to zero, various issues have hindered complete eradication, resulting in a divide between those who believe eradication is still achievable and those who argue it may not be possible under current conditions.

## 6.3.1 Criticisms of global polio eradication efforts

The widespread use of the OPV and the vaccine's unintended consequence has raised concerns over the sustainability of eradication efforts as the emergence and geographical spread of VDPVs is increasing [11]. Even after the recent use of nOPV2 in response to cVDPV2 outbreaks, the epidemiology of cVDPV2 outbreaks in 2024 is concerning. A total of 532 cVDPV2 cases were confirmed in 26 countries during January 2023–June 2024 [12]. As of August 2024, there were 13 independent cVDPV2 emergences detected globally, including detections in July 2024 in Gaza Strip [12]. Most recently, as of 9 October 2024, cVDPV2 was detected in Barcelona, representing the first time that cVDPV2 was reported in Spain [13].

While type cVDPV2 outbreaks have been the most widespread, cVDPV1 and cVDPV3 cases are also increasingly reported, particularly in areas with gaps in immunisation coverage, where the virus can spread undetected and evolve further [14]. From January 2023–June 2024, a total of 140 cVDPV1 cases were confirmed, (111 of which were in DRC), 106 (75%) in 2023, and five (5%) in the first half of 2024 [12]. No new cVDPV3 emergences were detected during January 2023–June 2024. The ongoing transmission of multiple types of cVDPVs highlights vulnerabilities in global immunity levels and suggests that, despite advances, eradication efforts face considerable setbacks due to the need for

OPV in high-risk regions, which perpetuates the cycle of VDPV emergence. This evolving epidemiology underscores the importance of maintaining robust vaccination and surveillance programmes, even in regions that are polio-free, to prevent re-emergence and address immunity gaps that drive these outbreaks. The ongoing circulation of VDPVs raises doubts about the ability to achieve complete eradication. Research suggests that as long as OPV is used in some capacity, there remains a risk of VDPVs emerging, which may necessitate continued vaccination and surveillance indefinitely [15].

## 6.3.1.1 Security and accessibility challenges

Eradication efforts have been hindered by conflict and political instability in endemic regions, particularly in WPV endemic countries, Afghanistan and Pakistan. In these areas, vaccination workers often face significant security threats, making it challenging to reach all children [16, 17]. These issues have contributed to a persistence of susceptibility reservoirs in inaccessible populations. As of 29 October 2024, the total number of WPV1 cases in 2024 is 64, compared to 10 for the same period in 2023 and a total of 12 reported WPV1 cases in all of 2023 [13]. Until WPV1 transmission is interrupted in Afghanistan and Pakistan, importations of infection will remain a concern, which has risks and consequences, as I have outlined in Chapter 3.

## 6.3.1.2 Cost and resource allocation

Some experts argue that the costs of continued eradication efforts are becoming prohibitive, diverting resources from other critical health needs in LMICs [11, 18]. Given the high financial demands of the polio eradication programme, it is uncertain whether these resources might achieve better overall health outcomes if redirected to broader health infrastructure [19]. I agree with these arguments because in my experience, emphasising the importance of preventative SIAs has proven difficult. Whilst there is a clear benefit of doing preventative vaccination, other competing health priorities (for example, COVID-19) have required attention in recent years and ongoing polio efforts are sometimes seen as disruptive of other ongoing outbreaks that need attention.

## 6.3.1.3 Vaccine hesitancy, misinformation and challenges for the future

In recent years, vaccine hesitancy and misinformation have become more pronounced, particularly in regions with socio-political challenges. In Pakistan, for instance, misinformation regarding the polio vaccine has led to refusals and violent reactions against health workers, undermining eradication efforts [17]. Vaccine hesitancy has contributed to the persistence of polio in areas where community cooperation is critical for programme success [20].

Other challenges for the post-eradication period are containment of the virus and asymptomatic carriers. Thompson et al. cautions that, even if eradication were achieved, the risk of laboratory or environmental reintroduction of poliovirus would necessitate ongoing precautions, making the "end" of polio a costly, perpetual goal [18, 21]. The maintenance of virus containment and biosecurity adds further complexity to the eradication target. Some critics argue that eradication is a highly complex goal that may be unattainable with current tools and strategies, especially with the added challenge of asymptomatic carriers who can unknowingly transmit the virus [22]. This hidden transmission complicates eradication efforts by making it difficult to identify all cases and interrupt the virus's spread fully.

## 6.3.2 Support for the feasibility of polio eradication

Despite these challenges, some researchers and public health experts continue to support the goal of polio eradication. Innovations in vaccine formulation, such as the new monovalent OPV, offer hope that eradication is still possible by minimising the risk of VDPVs [23]. These vaccines provide immunity without the risks associated with live attenuated vaccines, making them safer options for widespread use in polio-free areas [23]. The GPEI has reduced polio cases by over 99% since its inception, demonstrating that eradication strategies have been effective in most regions [24]. Continued success in maintaining polio-free status in previously endemic areas suggests that, with increased efforts, eradication remains a viable goal.

From an economic perspective, achieving eradication has the potential to yield significant long-term cost savings by eliminating the need for ongoing vaccination and surveillance programmes [25]. Eradication proponents argue that the financial benefits of stopping polio entirely outweigh the current costs of control measures [26]. Alongside the research used to justify the sustained feasibility of polio eradication, non-governmental or charitable organisations, such as the Gates Foundation and Rotary International, remain optimistic. Renewed contributions from donors, such as high-income governments (i.e. via the UK's Department for International Development or the United States AID programme) are crucial for addressing budget gaps and sustaining high energy and motivation for reaching the final stages.

## 6.4 Feasibility of measles elimination

Measles has been targeted for elimination rather than eradication due to several key factors that make complete eradication challenging. Moreso than polio, measles is an extremely contagious virus with an  $R_0$  value between 12 and 18, the highest of any known infectious disease [27]. This high
transmissibility means that even a small number of susceptible individuals can maintain measles transmission within a population, making the achievement of global herd immunity harder to sustain [28]. The complexity of reaching such high vaccination coverage worldwide, along with challenges such as vaccine hesitancy, has led to measles being targeted for regional elimination rather than complete eradication, unlike polio.

#### 6.4.1 Why measles elimination is still feasible

Despite these challenges, measles elimination remains feasible in many regions due to the availability of the highly effective vaccines and strong regional public health initiatives. Various regions, including the Americas, have historically achieved prolonged periods of measles elimination, showing that with sufficient political commitment and sustained vaccination efforts, elimination is possible on a large scale [29, 30]. Successful elimination in regions such as the Americas provides a framework that can be adapted by other regions, particularly through the WHO Measles and Rubella Partnership.

Also, in contrast to polio eradication strategies, measles elimination can be achieved with high twodose coverage because of the very high VE of measles vaccines, or, in settings with suboptimal RI, with periodic measles SIAs implemented every 3–5 years [31]. Multiple repeated SIAs targeting the same age groups (as done in polio SIAs with the OPV), will not be required for measles [32]. Thus, measles elimination can move forward with a 'diagonal approach,' using measles surveillance data to identify areas missed by vaccination and using efforts to achieve high vaccination coverage to strengthen the wider health system [32, 33] versus focusing only on measles in a vertical approach.

#### 6.4.2 Challenges for measles elimination given current timelines

Maintaining measles elimination has proven difficult, and current timelines for global elimination may not be achievable due to challenges like vaccine hesitancy and inadequate health infrastructure in certain regions. Vaccine hesitancy, driven by misinformation and distrust in vaccines, has led to declines in immunisation uptake in regions where measles had previously been controlled or eliminated [34]. This hesitancy, coupled with resource constraints and limited access to vaccines in LMICs, has enabled measles outbreaks to resurge in countries with previously high coverage [30]. The global response has been hindered further by competing public health priorities and insufficient funding for SIAs, as measles control efforts have often had to share resources with other pressing health needs [35]. These factors make it challenging to achieve and sustain the high levels of coverage required for elimination in all regions, especially given the contagious nature of measles. Furthermore, the COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted vaccination programmes worldwide, exacerbating the challenges of maintaining measles elimination. The pandemic has led to the postponement of both RI and SIAs, increasing the number of susceptible individuals in many regions and raising the risk of large-scale outbreaks [6]. Additionally, measles elimination requires a wellcoordinated global surveillance system capable of rapid outbreak detection and response, but many regions lack the infrastructure and resources needed for this [36-38]. With these persistent issues and shifting public health priorities, the goal of global measles elimination within the original timelines set by public health agencies may be difficult to achieve, and efforts may need to be reassessed to account for these evolving barriers. Historically, the global coordination of modellers that exist within GPEI for polio has not been as well coordinated for measles modelling research. Recognition of this shortcoming has led to the creation of a new Measles Analytics Hub within the VIMC, which aims to: (i) facilitate technical discussions and innovation in measles modelling and analytics, (ii) improve communication and collaboration between modelers and stakeholders to deliver research with policy impact and (iii) be inclusive of researchers in high measles burden countries [39.] With improved coordination of measles modelling research, I believe that the important GPEI working groups that have been established for polio eradication can be mimicked for measles research and this will be important for elimination programming.

#### 6.5 The polio legacy and global health programmes

One consideration of disease eradication is the legacy that will be left behind once eradication has been achieved. Following smallpox eradication in 1980, the EPI emerged from the lessons learned and legacy of smallpox eradication, which has proven its value alongside the power of vaccines [40]. One example of the polio legacy being used to improve other public health needs is in Ethiopia. The government successfully used GPEI funding to enhance disease surveillance networks, improve the supply chain and expand human resources for health programmes [41, 42]. As we approach global polio eradication, it is important to further document lessons learned and the infrastructure accumulated by the GPEI to address other health priorities.

The Polio Legacy Management Group aims to both to protect a polio-free world and to ensure that investments in polio eradication will contribute to other health goals after polio is eradicated [40, 43]. For example, legacy planning aims to ensure the innovations that have helped the world achieve polio eradication can be adapted and applied to the EPI and surveillance for other vaccine preventable diseases. The polio legacy also hopes to enable long-term transitions to country ownership of public health activities and innovations historically provided through the GPEI. This includes things such as

the execution of SIAs, including robust planning and mapping of SIA target areas using geospatial technologies, mechanisms and personnel used to deliver vaccines to hard-to-reach areas and using finger-marking and independent monitoring, including lot quality assurance sampling, to monitor SIA quality [43].

However, there are criticisms of the vertical nature of the polio programme as the GPEI's commitment to and focus on polio eradication has taken precedence over strong collaborations with other global health programmes. In many countries with ongoing VPDVs that were more recently WPV-endemic (i.e. WHO AFRO region), the GPEI's approach over the years had not fostered strong relationships with RI and programme administrators for other vaccine preventable diseases [44]. Uncertainty also exists around who should be responsible for the transition process—which agencies will pay for and deliver polio-funded activities [40]? Despite these challenges, I believe that the polio infrastructure has public health importance that will be valuable long after polio eradication is achieved.

One example of a global health programme that could benefit from the polio legacy is measles elimination. Transitioning polio assets to measles elimination efforts could accelerate progress toward measles elimination, increase measles vaccination coverage and improve vaccine equity [31].

Several strategies for measles elimination are similar to those for polio eradication and could be included in a post-eradication transition, such as: (1) achieving and maintaining high levels of population immunity through vaccination via both RI and SIAs (2) using effective surveillance mechanisms to monitor disease; (3) maintaining outbreak preparedness and timely outbreak response; (4) engaging with stakeholders to enhance public confidence in immunisation programmes; and (5) implementing research and innovation to improve the disease programmes [45]. However, there are some differences in delivery of polio and measles vaccines that make some aspects of the polio legacy less applicable to measles elimination. For example, the OPV can be easily administered via drops in the mouth, which has historically made the polio programme heavily reliant on SIAs. Measles vaccines require a cold chain, injectable equipment and trained health care workers to administer the injections. Therefore, measles efforts must have a greater focus on strengthening RI service delivery because of the 'diagonal approach' required to strengthen overall EPI vaccine delivery systems [31].

#### 6.6 Implications of this PhD and future work

The research I have presented in this thesis has implications for further study of vaccine preventable diseases. I demonstrated in Chapter 3 that baseline RI coverage can be used as an indicator of outbreak risk given an importation of WPV1. By using baseline RI coverage and date of last pSIA, policymakers can make informed decisions about the best SIA strategy for different geographies. Additionally, the economic results presented in Chapter 3 also identify potential costs and risks associated with adopting different pSIA strategies. The total costs presented for annual pSIAs vs Biennial pSIAs have implications for future economic evaluations when countries need to decide how to proceed with polio vaccination in the future. For example, since publication, this work has been discussed with colleagues in South Africa who are interested in country-level economic estimates required to raise population immunity and prevent importations, given WPV1 outbreaks in nearby countries.

Using indicators such as NNV to estimate the efficiency of measles vaccination strategies, as done in Chapter 4, offers a framework that can be applied to other measles research. For example, the work from Chapter 4 laid the foundation for my post-doctoral research, investigating the impact of expanding the upper age limit for measles SIAs. Additionally, work from Chapter 4 has been discussed with researchers at the World Bank focused on supply chain logistics, for which NNV and efficiency of SIAs have major implications. The impact and efficiency of different strategies covered in Chapter 4 is also important for other vaccine preventable diseases that are lesser studied. For example, understanding the efficiency of oSIA vs. pSIA strategies was highlighted by global stakeholders as an important consideration for rolling out the first ever chikungunya vaccine, as documented in the stakeholder analysis (Appendix section 7.1.1).

Because timelines for global cessation of bOPV are now under discussion, the work presented in Chapter 5 on time from emergence to detection of cVDPVs has the potential to inform cessation planning. More work that complements this research is currently being done to evaluate genetic lineages of cVDPVs in Africa and the likely movements of the viruses following specifics SIAs [46].

#### 6.7 Concluding remarks

#### 6.7.1 Continued academic pathway

This PhD has prepared me for a career in vaccine epidemiology. I have developed an appreciation for the intersection between epidemiology, health economics, infectious disease modelling and health

policy. I have demonstrated a well-rounded knowledge base across methodologies and diseases and have applied skill learned during this PhD to other academic work. Alongside this PhD, I have conducted other research relevant to a career in vaccine epidemiology. The full-text version of two articles for which I was the lead author are included in Appendix Section 7.1 and other selected publications that I was involved in are listed below:

- Vaccine impact modelling for other antigens
  - Hartner, A. M., Li, X., Echeverria-Londono, S., Roth, J., Abbas, K., Auzenbergs, M., ... & Gaythorpe, K. A. (2024). Estimating the health effects of COVID-19-related immunisation disruptions in 112 countries during 2020–30: a modelling study. *The Lancet Global Health*, *12*(4), e563-e571. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2214-109x(23)00603-4
- Estimating the impact of COVID-19 on childhood vaccination
  - Abbas, K., Procter, S. R., van Zandvoort, K., Clark, A., Funk, S., Mengistu, T., ... & Medley, G. (2020). Routine childhood immunisation during the COVID-19 pandemic in Africa: a benefit–risk analysis of health benefits versus excess risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection. *The Lancet Global Health*, 8(10), e1264-e1272. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2214-109x(20)30308-9
- Evaluating the role of climate on COVID-19 mitigation strategies
  - O'Reilly, K. M., Auzenbergs, M., Jafari, Y., Liu, Y., Flasche, S., & Lowe, R. (2020). Effective transmission across the globe: the role of climate in COVID-19 mitigation strategies. *The Lancet Planetary Health*, *4*(5), e172. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2542-5196(20)30106-6
- Estimating the seroprevalence of chikungunya ahead of vaccine introduction
  - Kang, H., Auzenbergs, M., Clapham, H., Maure, C., Kim, J. H., Salje, H., ... & Abbas, K. (2024). Chikungunya seroprevalence, force of infection, and prevalence of chronic disability after infection in endemic and epidemic settings: a systematic review, meta-analysis, and modelling study. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*. 24(5):488-503. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1473-3099(23)00810-1

#### 6.8 Chapter 6 references

1. Portnoy A, Jit M, Helleringer S, Verguet S. Comparative distributional impact of routine immunization and supplementary immunization activities in delivery of measles vaccine in low-and middle-income countries. Value in Health. 2020;23(7):891-7.

2. Lessler J, Moss W, Lowther S, Cummings D. Maintaining high rates of measles immunization in Africa. Epidemiology & Infection. 2011;139(7):1039-49.

3. Kang H, Auzenbergs M, Clapham HE, Maure C, Kim J-H, Salje H, et al. Chikungunya Seroprevalence, Force of Infection, and Prevalence of Chronic Disability in Endemic and Epidemic Settings: Systematic Review, Meta-Analysis, and Modelling Study.

4. Hartner A-M, Li X, Echeverria-Londono S, Roth J, Abbas K, Auzenbergs M, et al. Estimating the health effects of COVID-19-related immunisation disruptions in 112 countries during 2020–30: a modelling study. The Lancet Global Health. 2024;12(4):e563-e71.

5. Auzenbergs M, Correia-Gomes C, Economou T, Lowe R, O'Reilly KM. Desirable BUGS in models of infectious diseases. Epidemics. 2019;29:100361.

6. Abbas K, Procter SR, van Zandvoort K, Clark A, Funk S, Mengistu T, et al. Routine childhood immunisation during the COVID-19 pandemic in Africa: a benefit–risk analysis of health benefits versus excess risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection. The Lancet Global Health. 2020;8(10):e1264-e72.

7. Cutts FT, Danovaro-Holliday MC, Rhoda DA. Challenges in measuring supplemental immunization activity coverage among measles zero-dose children. Vaccine. 2021;39(9):1359.

8. Cutts FT, Ferrari M, Krause L, Tatem A, Mosser J. Vaccination strategies for measles control and elimination: time to strengthen local initiatives. BMC medicine. 2021;19:1-8.

9. Health Campaign Effectiveness Coalition. Learning from Integrated Health Campaigns: Promising Practices from a Synthesis of Implementation Research 2023 [1 November 2024]. Available from: https://campaigneffectiveness.org/learning-from-integrated-health-campaigns-promisingpractices-from-a-synthesis-of-implementation-research/.

10. Vince JD, Datta SS, Toikilik S, Lagani W. Integrated package approach in delivering interventions during immunisation campaigns in a complex environment in Papua New Guinea: a case study. Vaccine. 2014;32(36):4614-9.

11. Duintjer Tebbens RJ, Thompson KM. Poliovirus vaccination during the endgame: Insights from integrated modeling. Expert Review of Vaccines. 2017;16(6):577-86.

Namageyo-Funa A. Update on Vaccine-Derived Poliovirus Outbreaks—Worldwide, January
 June 2024. MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2024;73.

13. Polio weekly global updates, 30 October 2024 [Internet]. 2024; 29 October 2024

150

14. Garon J, Seib K, Orenstein WA, Ramirez Gonzalez A, Chang Blanc D, Zaffran M, et al. Polio endgame: the global switch from tOPV to bOPV. Expert review of vaccines. 2016;15(6):693-708.

15. Thompson KM, Kalkowska DA. Reflections on Modeling Poliovirus Transmission and the Polio Eradication Endgame. Risk Anal. 2021;41(2):229-47. Epub 20200427. doi: 10.1111/risa.13484. PubMed PMID: 32339327; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC7983882.

16. Verma AA, Jimenez MP, Tangermann RH, Subramanian S, Razak F. Insecurity, polio vaccination rates, and polio incidence in northwest Pakistan. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2018;115(7):1593-8.

17. Hussain SF, Boyle P, Patel P, Sullivan R. Eradicating polio in Pakistan: an analysis of the challenges and solutions to this security and health issue. Globalization and health. 2016;12:1-9.

18. Thompson KM, Tebbens RJD, Pallansch MA, Kew OM, Sutter RW, Aylward RB, et al. The risks, costs, and benefits of possible future global policies for managing polioviruses. American journal of public health. 2008;98(7):1322-30.

19. Thompson KM, Tebbens RJD. Eradication versus control for poliomyelitis: an economic analysis. The Lancet. 2007;369(9570):1363-71.

20. Hudson A, Montelpare WJ. Predictors of vaccine hesitancy: implications for COVID-19 public health messaging. International journal of environmental research and public health. 2021;18(15):8054.

21. Duintjer Tebbens RJ, Kalkowsa DA, Thompson KM. Poliovirus containment risks and their management. Future virology. 2018;13(9):617-28.

22. Shaikh N, Swali P, Houben RM. Asymptomatic but infectious–The silent driver of pathogen transmission. A pragmatic review. Epidemics. 2023;44:100704.

23. Bandyopadhyay AS, Cooper LV, Zipursky S. One billion doses and WHO prequalification of nOPV2: implications for the global polio situation and beyond. PLOS Global Public Health. 2024;4(2):e0002920.

24. Thompson KM, Badizadegan K. Review of Poliovirus Transmission and Economic Modeling to Support Global Polio Eradication: 2020–2024. Pathogens. 2024;13(6):435.

25. Thompson KM, Kalkowska DA, Badizadegan K. Polio health economics: assessing the benefits and costs of polio, non-polio, and integrated activities of the Global Polio Eradication Initiative. Gates Open Research. 2022;6.

26. Thompson KM. Polio eradication: what kind of world do we want? The Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2022;22(2):161-3.

27. Durrheim DN, Crowcroft NS, Strebel PM. Measles–The epidemiology of elimination. Vaccine. 2014;32(51):6880-3.

151

28. Moss W. Measles in vaccinated individuals and the future of measles elimination. Oxford University Press US; 2018. p. 1320-1.

29. Minta AA. Progress toward measles elimination—worldwide, 2000–2022. MMWR Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2023;72.

30. Gastañaduy PA, Goodson JL, Panagiotakopoulos L, Rota PA, Orenstein WA, Patel M. Measles in the 21st century: progress toward achieving and sustaining elimination. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2021;224(Supplement\_4):S420-S8.

31. Goodson JL, Alexander JP, Linkins RW, Orenstein WA. Measles and rubella elimination: learning from polio eradication and moving forward with a diagonal approach. Expert review of vaccines. 2017;16(12):1203-16.

32. Kretsinger K, Strebel P, Kezaala R, Goodson JL. Transitioning lessons learned and assets of the global polio eradication initiative to global and regional measles and rubella elimination. The Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2017;216(suppl\_1):S308-S15.

33. Orenstein WA, Seib K. Beyond vertical and horizontal programs: a diagonal approach to building national immunization programs through measles elimination. Expert review of vaccines. 2016;15(7):791-3.

34. Dubé È, Ward JK, Verger P, MacDonald NE. Vaccine hesitancy, acceptance, and antivaccination: trends and future prospects for public health. Annu Rev Public Health. 2021;42(1):175-91.

35. Orenstein WA, Cairns L, Hinman A, Nkowane B, Olivé J-M, Reingold AL. Measles and Rubella Global Strategic Plan 2012–2020 midterm review report: Background and summary. Vaccine. 2018;36:A35-A42.

36. Goodson JL, Masresha BG, Wannemuehler K, Uzicanin A, Cochi S. Changing epidemiology of measles in Africa. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2011;204(suppl\_1):S205-S14.

37. Goodson JL, Seward JF. Measles 50 years after use of measles vaccine. Infectious Disease Clinics. 2015;29(4):725-43.

38. Goodson JL, Chu SY, Rota PA, Moss WJ, Featherstone DA, Vijayaraghavan M, et al. Research priorities for global measles and rubella control and eradication. Vaccine. 2012;30(32):4709-16.

39. Vaccine Impact Modelling Consortium. Measles Analytics Hub (MAH) 2024 [4 November 2024]. Available from: https://www.vaccineimpact.org/measles-analytics-hub.

40. Cochi SL, Hegg L, Kaur A, Pandak C, Jafari H. The global polio eradication initiative: progress, lessons learned, and polio legacy transition planning. Health Affairs. 2016;35(2):277-83.

152

41. Neel AH, Closser S, Villanueva C, Majumdar P, Gupta S, Krugman D, et al. 30 years of polio campaigns in Ethiopia, India and Nigeria: the impacts of campaign design on vaccine hesitancy and health worker motivation. BMJ Global Health. 2021;6(8):e006002.

42. Closser S, Cox K, Parris TM, Landis RM, Justice J, Gopinath R, et al. The impact of polio eradication on routine immunization and primary health care: a mixed-methods study. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2014;210(suppl\_1):S504-S13.

43. Cochi SL, Freeman A, Guirguis S, Jafari H, Aylward B. Global polio eradication initiative: lessons learned and legacy. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2014;210(suppl\_1):S540-S6.

44. Closser S, Neel AH, Gerber S, Alonge O. From legacy to integration in the Global Polio Eradication Initiative: looking back to look forward. BMJ Global Health. 2024;9(5):e014758.

45. World Health Organization. GLOBAL MEASLES AND RUBELLA STRATEGIC PLAN 2012-2020.2012.

46. Cooper LV, Bandyopadhyay AS, Gumede N, Mach O, Mkanda P, Ndoutabé M, et al. Risk factors for the spread of vaccine-derived type 2 polioviruses after global withdrawal of trivalent oral poliovirus vaccine and the effects of outbreak responses with monovalent vaccine: a retrospective analysis of surveillance data for 51 countries in Africa. The Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2022;22(2):284-94.

## 7. Appendices

### 7.1 Other published work to supplement this PhD research

Alongside this PhD, I have published two additional studies relevant to the methodologies used in this PhD: (1) Stakeholder engagement for introduction of the newly licenced Chikungunya vaccine and (2) Using BUGS for statistical modelling of infectious diseases.

These manuscripts are included here to provide additional justification for the methods used in the research chapters of this thesis and they also demonstrate my continued academic pathway in vaccine research. This PhD has given me an appreciation for the intersection between disease modelling and vaccine policy and these two select publications demonstrate this synergy alongside my ability to use interdisciplinary methods in vaccine research and policymaking.

# 7.1.1 Programmatic considerations and evidence gaps for chikungunya vaccine introduction in countries at risk of chikungunya outbreaks: Stakeholder analysis

# Megan Auzenbergs<sup>1</sup>, Clara Maure<sup>2</sup>, Hyolim Kang<sup>1</sup>, Andrew Clark<sup>1</sup>, Oliver Brady<sup>1</sup>, Sushant Sahastrabuddhe<sup>2‡</sup>, Kaja Abbas<sup>1,3‡</sup>

<sup>1</sup> London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, United Kingdom

<sup>2</sup> International Vaccine Institute, Seoul, South Korea

<sup>3</sup> School of Tropical Medicine and Global Health, Nagasaki University, Nagasaki, Japan

<sup>*‡*</sup> These authors share senior authorship on this work

Paper link and copyright information: https://journals.plos.org/plosntds/article?id=10.1371/journal.pntd.0012075

#### 7.1.1.1 Research paper cover sheet – Chikungunya stakeholder research



London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT

T: +44 (0)20 7299 4646 F: +44 (0)20 7299 4656 www.lshtm.ac.uk

## **RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET**

Please note that a cover sheet must be completed for each research paper included within a thesis.

#### SECTION A - Student Details

Student ID Number	1604063	Title	Ms		
First Name(s)	Megan				
Surname/Family Name	Auzenbergs				
Thesis Title	Mathematical and statistical modelling to inform polio and measles vaccination programming				
Primary Supervisor	Dr. Kathleen M O'Reilly & Dr. Kaja Abbas				

# If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C.

#### SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?	PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases				
When was the work published?	April 2024				
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion					
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Yes	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes		

\*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

#### SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an item.

#### SECTION D - Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	I worked on: conceptualisation, methodology, formal analysis, visualisation, and writing - original draft
---	---

### SECTION E

Student Signature	
Date	30 May 2024

Supervisor Signature	
Date	31 May 2024

#### 7.1.1.2 Abstract

Chikungunya can have longstanding effects on health and quality of life. Alongside the recent approval of the world's first chikungunya vaccine by the US Food and Drug Administration in November 2023 and with new chikungunya vaccines in the pipeline, it is important to understand the perspectives of stakeholders before vaccine rollout. Our study aim is to identify key programmatic considerations and gaps in Evidence-to-Recommendation criteria for chikungunya vaccine introduction. We used purposive and snowball sampling to identify global, national, and subnational stakeholders from outbreak prone areas, including Latin America, Asia, and Africa. Semi-structured in-depth interviews were conducted and analysed using qualitative descriptive methods. We found that perspectives varied between tiers of stakeholders and geographies. Unknown disease burden, diagnostics, non-specific disease surveillance, undefined target populations for vaccination, and low disease prioritisation were critical challenges identified by stakeholders that need to be addressed to facilitate rolling out a chikungunya vaccine. Future investments should address these challenges to generate useful evidence for decision-making on new chikungunya vaccine introduction.

#### 7.1.1.3 Author Summary

The first vaccine to prevent chikungunya fever has been recently approved in November 2023 by the US FDA and multiple chikungunya vaccine candidates are in different phases of the development pipeline. These will be the first-ever vaccines against an alphavirus and offer new technologies for vaccine development against other viruses of the same family that may cause future epidemics. We interviewed stakeholders from areas at risk of chikungunya outbreaks across Latin America, Asia and Africa, and identified gaps in Evidence-to-Recommendation criteria that should be addressed alongside vaccine introduction. Our findings show that stakeholders from different regions prioritised chikungunya differently, but all stakeholders agreed that the unknown burden of disease, undefined target populations for vaccination and non-specific disease surveillance were challenges that needed to be addressed imminently. To address these gaps, the involvement of stakeholders in all phases of vaccine development and rollout will be crucial to uncover future challenges and to ensure vaccine equity.

#### 7.1.1.4 Introduction

Chikungunya is a mosquito-borne neglected tropical disease (NTD) caused by the chikungunya virus (CHIKV), an alphavirus spread by the mosquito vectors Aedes aegypti and Aedes albopictus. Symptoms associated with chikungunya fever are often mild, but can be associated with severe morbidities, such

as persistent arthralgia, reported in 88% of cases up to one month after infection [1] and severe chronic arthralgia lasting years after infection [2, 3]. The severe, chronic morbidities associated with chikungunya fever can have longstanding effects on health and quality of life.

The stochastic transmission dynamics of CHIKV make it difficult to predict when the next outbreak will occur or if CHIKV will become endemic in any specific setting. Chikungunya cases have historically been clustered in tropical areas with warm, humid climates where the vectors thrive and cause recurring outbreaks of chikungunya fever. In a related systematic review and modelling study, we inferred subnational heterogeneity in the force of infection and transmission dynamics as well as identified both endemic and epidemic settings coexisting within countries such as Brazil, Ethiopia, and India [4]. However, the increasing spread of the vector to more geographic regions due to climate change poses a greater risk of CHIKV to more people in the future [5, 6]. CHIKV-carrying mosquitoes are currently endemic in the Americas, parts of Africa, and Southeast Asia [7]. These geographical regions are at high-risk of infection and carry the greatest burden of global chikungunya cases.

On November 9, 2023, the first ever chikungunya vaccine, Ixchiq, was approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) [8]. The vaccine was developed by Valneva, alongside investment from The Coalition for Epidemic Preparedness Innovations (CEPI) [9, 10]. The vaccine was approved for use in individuals 18 years and older who are at an increased risk of exposure to CHIKV. Currently the vaccine is a one-dose vaccine and is estimated to cost US \$350 per dose for US travellers with a discounted cost of US\$10–20 per dose in low- and middle-income countries [11]. Whilst chikungunya was not included in the Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunisation (GAVI) Vaccine Investment Strategy for 2024, a learning agenda will be developed to identify the gaps which need to be addressed before such an investment can be considered. CEPI's support for the chikungunya vaccine development alongside GAVI's learning agenda [12] for this vaccine provides a pathway towards equitable access for chikungunya vaccines in countries at risk of chikungunya outbreaks [13]. A schematic showing the chikungunya vaccine development to introduction pathway is presented in Fig 1.



**Fig 5. Chikungunya vaccine development to introduction pathway.** Schematic showing the vaccine development process for the chikungunya vaccine alongside stages of licensure and evidence-based recommendations for policy making decisions. WHO–World Health Organization; MOH–Ministry of Health, NRA–National Regulatory Agencies, SAGE–Strategic Advisory Group of Experts, EPI–Expanded Program for Immunization, NITAG–National Immunization Technical Advisory Group, PQ-Pre-qualification.

A chikungunya vaccine provides primary value in reducing global burden of CHIKV and long-term disabilities associated with CHIKV infection. It also provides additional significant value since this is the first vaccine against an alphavirus genus in the family Togaviridae, thereby enabling a novel vaccine development platform against emerging alphaviruses in the family Togaviridae [14]. As the risk of emerging infections increases with global travel and climate change, having an existing mechanism for development, as was done with mRNA and viral-vector vaccines during the COVID-19 pandemic [15].

The chikungunya vaccine value profile provided a high-level holistic assessment of available evidence to inform the potential public health, economic, and societal value of chikungunya vaccines in the development pipeline [16]. However, evidence to recommend chikungunya vaccine introduction is needed, including the disease burden, benefits and harms of chikungunya vaccination, values and preferences of the target population, acceptability to stakeholders, resources use and economic impact, equity, and feasibility [17]. As the global risk of CHIKV infection increases alongside introduction of the first chikungunya vaccine, we urgently need to understand the target populations for the new vaccine in addition to context specific social, logistical and financial barriers to rolling out the vaccine [18]. To date, qualitative research on chikungunya has been limited to patient experience, specifically quality of life and coping strategies following infection [19, 20]. Further, there is a lack of research exploring cultural explanations and conceptualizations of CHIKV aetiology in different geographical areas [21].

We aim to identify gaps in the Evidence-to-Recommendation (EtR) criteria needed to assess the introduction of chikungunya vaccine. To our knowledge, this is the first study to synthesise stakeholder perceptions on chikungunya outbreaks and vaccination by interviewing a diverse sample of global, national and subnational stakeholders involved in different elements of chikungunya epidemiology, policy, outbreak control and vaccinology. We provide timely implications for decision-making alongside qualitative data from a robust sample of stakeholders to inform introduction of the first available and licensed chikungunya vaccine.

#### 7.1.1.5 Methods

#### Ethics statement

Ethical approval for this project was received from the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine in January 2023, project reference number 28292. Written consent was obtained from all stakeholders ahead of the interviews.

#### Stakeholder selection

We conducted a scoping review on chikungunya epidemiology to identify geographical regions at risk of chikungunya outbreaks alongside countries with ongoing clinical trials of chikungunya vaccine candidates. The regions of Latin America, Africa and Asia were prioritised for stakeholder identification. From here, a diverse list of contacts was created using purposive and snowball sampling of organisational databases, search engines and input from project coordinators at the International Vaccine Institute who oversee several clinical trial networks for chikungunya. At the end of all interviews, we requested stakeholders to recommend colleagues that would be also interested in taking part in an interview, to which a follow-up invite was sent. Further explanation of the stakeholder sampling framework can be found in S1 Fig. Participants were first grouped into geographical categories and then grouped into one of three hierarchical categories: global, national or subnational stakeholders, referred to later as stakeholder tiers. From all geographical regions sampled, global stakeholders with a focus on arbovirus research in one of the aforementioned highburden regions. National stakeholders included experts working at country-level ministries of health or within a policy sector for vaccine regulatory approval and oversight. Subnational stakeholders included clinicians, laboratory scientists and community health workers with experience working with chikungunya patients or in high-burden areas. Participants were geographically representative of chikungunya burden and evenly split across stakeholder tiers.

#### Data collection

We developed a semi-structured interview questionnaire (S1 Table) through consultations with experts in vaccine epidemiology and reviewed existing studies evaluating the perception of stakeholders on other vaccine introductions and rollouts. Questions were focussed on perception of chikungunya outbreak risk, barriers to chikungunya vaccination, and pathways to advance the chikungunya vaccine agenda in the future. At the time of the interviews, there was no licensed chikungunya vaccine, although several vaccine candidates had ongoing or completed phase III clinical trials. As interviews were conducted, questions were revised to reflect new topics that emerged. Biweekly meetings with the research team occurred to ensure the interviews were going smoothly and new themes that emerged through data collection were discussed.

#### Data analysis

We conducted qualitative semi-structured interviews via video call during which detailed notes were transcribed. We analysed the interview data through an iterative process using MAXQDA 2022 (VERBI Software, 2021) for data analysis and codebook development was done following the methods discussed in MacQueen et al. [22]. We use inductive and deductive coding to analyse the raw interview data. We categorised the coded data into themes. Thematic differences between geographical regions were first identified and then stakeholder tiers were analysed.

#### Identification of evidence gaps

Guidance on the EtR used by national immunization technical advisory groups (NITAGs) [17] was used to identify evidence gaps in current chikungunya knowledge and research, as shown in Fig 2. EtR criteria were then aligned with stakeholder perspectives and grouped by geo- graphical region to highlight regional evidence gaps.



**Fig 2. Evidence-to-Recommendation criteria for chikungunya vaccine introduction.** The Evidence-to-Recommendation criteria for chikungunya vaccine introduction is based on the World Health Organization's Guidance on an adapted Evidence-to-Recommendation Process for National Immunization Technical Advisory Groups.

#### 7.1.1.6 Results

#### Participant characteristics

Between January-February 2023, approximately 60 stakeholders were emailed and invited to take part in an interview. Overall, a total of 18 stakeholder interviews were conducted via video call between February and July 2023 (see Table 1).

Table 1. Participant characteristics k	y geographical re	egion and type o	f stakeholder.
--	-------------------	------------------	----------------

Geographical region	Country	Type of stakeholder	Number of interviewees
	Drezil	National	3
	Brazii	Subnational	1
Latin America	Guatemala	Subnational	1
	Colombia	National	2
		Subnational	2
	Thailand	National	2
Asia	India	National	1
		Subnational	1
Africa	Kenya	Subnational	2
International		Global	3
	•	Total	18

#### Implications for decision making

We identified several themes for challenges associated with chikungunya vaccine introduction. Notable differences exist within stakeholders in different organisation tiers and by geographical regions (see Table 2).

#### Unknown burden of disease

The disease burden of chikungunya is unknown in many settings, which was the most frequently mentioned barrier to uptake of a chikungunya vaccine reiterated by stakeholders across all organisation tiers and geographical regions, alongside awareness of the unpredict- ability of chikungunya outbreaks.

Stakeholders partially attribute the unknown burden to non-specific or insensitive surveillance as surveillance for CHIKV is often done alongside other arboviral diseases, such as dengue and Zika. Surveillance for CHIKV is also often based on clinical cases, so passive surveillance only, which stakeholders believe results in under-reporting as surveillance systems usually only capture the cases that seek medical attention. Because this type of case detection relies on symptomatic patients reporting to health systems, passive surveillance excludes less severe or asymptomatic infections.

Without a comprehensive understanding of disease burden, quantifying the economic burden, including direct and indirect costs of acute but also chronic symptoms, is difficult. This barrier primarily affected national and global level stakeholders as countries cannot advocate for interventions, such as vaccination, without a cost-effectiveness and risk benefit analysis.

Theme	Challenges presented by stakeholders in different			Challenges presented by stakeholders in different			
		organisation tiers		geographical regions			
	Subnational level	National level	Global level	Latin America	Asia	Africa	International
Unknown burden of disease	A lack of diagnostic sensitivity and laboratory capacity in the most affected areas results in an under diagnosis and under reporting of chikungunya	Surveillance for chikungunya is lacking in areas, which makes it difficult to understand which areas are most affected, detect outbreaks and respond accordingly	Without a good understanding of disease burden, demonstrating the economic burden of chikungunya or economic impact of a vaccine is challenging	Non-specific disease surveillance makes it difficult to distinguish the burden of disease between CHIKV, dengue and zika	Unknown chikungunya burden makes it difficult to advocate for CHIKV prevention and vaccination over dengue	Inability to detect actual CHIKV cases amongst other febrile illnesses, such as malaria, results in a large under- estimation in disease burden	Prioritisation of the vaccine in certain geographical regions is uncertain, making investment case for the vaccine difficult
Chikungunya has a high burden of morbidity, but not mortality making disease prioritisation uncertain	Public perception around chikungunya can be lacking in areas with endemic dengue circulating	It is difficult to prioritise chikungunya over other pathogens (specifically dengue or zika) when it comes to investing in developing improved laboratory and surveillance methods	Country buy-in is important for future vaccine investment strategies	Despite co-circulation of chikungunya with other arboviruses and lower mortality rates, the chikungunya vaccine is a priority, and countries are preparing for vaccine rollout	Lack of buy in from national vaccine policymakers to prioritise the chikungunya vaccine over the dengue vaccine	Prioritisation of other diseases with higher mortality rates means chikungunya is rarely discussed, and public awareness about the disease is lacking	Varying levels of prioritisation and support for the vaccine makes it difficult to plan for vaccine introduction
Target population for the chikungunya vaccine is not well defined	Vaccine confidence and public perception of a chikungunya vaccine would affect the success of a vaccine roll-out	Ensuring that the right infrastructure is in place to deliver the vaccine is difficult because the exact target population and delivery method (outbreak response or routine immunisation) is unknown	Understanding the exact use of the vaccine and the target populations are important for stockpile estimates, which are part of a global vaccine investment strategy	Anticipated use in outbreak response and affected areas, but approval of the current vaccine only for use in 18-years and older individuals means uncertainty if/when children can be vaccinated	Disease burden varies greatly within some countries, so subnational infrastructures would need to be in place to improve diagnostics and support vaccination at the local level	Research shows a high burden amongst children, but lack of age-specific serodata makes it hard to define a target population, the vaccine has also not been evaluated in children	Following the safety approvals for the vaccine and recommended age groups may make outbreak trajectory uncertain if outbreak data shows high burden amongst children

#### Table 2. Themes and challenges presented by stakeholders in different organisation tiers and by geographical regions.

Chikungunya has	Different disease	As vector	The technology behind	Chikungunya and	Vector viability can	The animal reservoir	As global travel
specific climate or	burdens are	epidemiology	the chikungunya	dengue cocirculate	differ within the same	in Africa	patterns and climate
vector factors to	experienced by	changes, chikungunya	vaccine may aid	and concurrent	country, so	demonstrates sylvatic	change affect viability
consider	different sub-	may become endemic	vaccine development	outbreaks have	sometimes local	transmission and viral	of settings for the
	populations because	in some countries,	of other alphaviruses	occurred. It is	prevention measures	evolution, so global	chikungunya vector,
	of vector exposure	this has implications	in the <i>Togaviridae</i>	important to	and vaccination	chikungunya	epidemic trends and
		for vaccine stockpiles	family	understand how to	would be preferred	prevention should be	spatial epidemiology
		and roll-out		deploy both the	over national	concerned with	may shift
				dengue and	programmes or	natural origins of the	
				chikungunya vaccines	campaigns	virus	
				in outbreak settings			

"We need to better understand the burden of disease, disability adjusted life years (DALYs) lost, the benefits of a vaccine in terms of reducing morbidity and work loss."

-Programme lead for chikungunya, international organisation

"We don't have good chikungunya surveillance, and it is usually paired with surveillance for dengue and Zika. Surveillance can be coupled with dengue and Zika, but a good surveillance system should look for mild cases of chikungunya, not just severe cases that will look for medical attention. A lot of mild chikungunya cases are not found or not reported"

-Paediatric infectious disease specialist, Guatemala

#### Geographical variations in disease burden

We observed regional differences in stakeholder perceptions around chikungunya burden. For African countries, other febrile illnesses make fevers associated with chikungunya difficult to accurately detect.

"The burden of disease is not well defined for chikungunya. We do not understand the nature of outbreaks and the burden of disease in African nations because it is hidden in other febrile illnesses (malaria, etc.)."

-Programme lead for chikungunya, international organisation

In South America, stakeholders attribute unknown burden mostly to passive surveillance and the fact that outbreaks of chikungunya and dengue sometime occur concurrently.

"There is lots of under-reporting because current chikungunya surveillance is based on clinical cases, passive surveillance only, not active case detection, so we are only capturing cases that seek medical help, not community level cases."

-Neglected tropical diseases division, national organisation, Brazil

In India, the subnational burden of disease is of concern if a chikungunya vaccine were to be rolled out. This is of particular importance given the large population size of India and infra- structure needed to manufacture enough vaccine doses and deliver these doses to many people.

"There are subnational variations in burden within India. It is a question if the vaccine would be rolled out as a pan-national vaccine, or if it would be like the Japanese Encephalitis vaccine, which is restricted to only a few areas. Burden is limited in some parts of India, except for big states, like Delhi, Uttar Pradesh."

-Infectious disease clinician, India

#### Diagnostics

Subnational stakeholders identify additional concerns around improving laboratory diagnostics and not overloading laboratory capacity alongside vaccine interventions. At the subnational level, stakeholders expressed concerns on diagnostic sensitivity and capacity since some diagnostic tests are unable to detect CHIKV infections early enough, and that many high-risk areas are not well-equipped with the laboratory equipment required for CHIKV diagnosis and samples therefore are shipped elsewhere [23, 24].

"The amazon region of Brazil does not have good laboratory capacity for diagnostics, most samples are shipped to São Paulo, so most local diagnoses are left to clinical diagnoses. Enhanced serological testing for burden estimates would not be possible because of the remoteness of the area."

-Nurse and laboratory specialist, Amazon region, Brazil

"You need to know both the symptomatic and asymptomatic burden of chikungunya—we will need to determine the asymptomatic burden and confirm what genotypes are circulating. To do this, we require: good serology kits for IgM and IgG, good PCR that will detect the different circulating strains and a well working lab team."

-Virology laboratory specialist, India

#### Unpredictable outbreaks

In places where chikungunya is not endemic, outbreaks are unpredictable. The unpredictability of outbreaks affects stockpiling of vaccine as it is difficult to estimate the time, duration and number affected during each outbreak.

"Chikungunya tends to come in waves, but not predictable waves within regions and countries, the prioritisation and national public health interest (and therefore funding) is low because the waves only come once in a while and are unpredictable, so it is difficult to maintain attention to efforts."

-Programme lead for chikungunya, international organisation

# In other regions, policy stakeholders believe chikungunya would have to become an endemic disease for priority to be given to the chikungunya vaccine.

"Even if we have an efficacious [chikungunya] vaccine, there are a number of challenges for public use. In comparison to dengue, chikungunya would need to be endemic in our region [Southeast Asia]. However, from the epidemiology, we see the number of chikungunya cases occurring per year are less than dengue."

-Vaccine policy & safety, national organisation, Thailand

#### Prioritisation of chikungunya over other arboviral diseases

Because chikungunya has a high burden of morbidity, but not mortality in many regions, stakeholders admit it is currently not a high-priority disease. Since countries with the greatest burden of chikungunya also have high burdens of other arboviral diseases, specifically dengue, there are often competing priorities. For example, stakeholders in India and Southeast Asia mostly prioritised chikungunya lower than dengue. One stakeholder from Thailand even refused to partake in an interview because they saw the promotion of a chikungunya vaccine to detract from resources being allocated to dengue vaccine roll-out. Despite this perceived competition, stakeholders in Latin and South America overall had the greatest interest in the chikungunya vaccine and were confident in vaccine roll-out despite concurrent dengue out- breaks, albeit with some concerns about public perception of the vaccine due to lack of perceived risk of morbidities associated with chikungunya.

"Now that the dengue vaccine is about to be licenced globally in the very near future, dengue may be a higher priority in the same countries where chikungunya is also a problem, so dengue will probably be ahead of chikungunya in the priority list. Latin America is the region that has the most interest in chikungunya, the most concern and high prioritisation. Certain sectors in India may be interested, but overall, broadly, prioritisation in India is lower, they will prioritise dengue over chikungunya"

#### -Programme lead for chikungunya, international organisation

"The size of morbidity and mortality is lower for chikungunya than dengue, moreover, we rarely see a mortality rate from chikungunya that is similar to that of dengue, particularly in children, so severity (DALYs) is less, burden is less than dengue. The number of cases of chikungunya does not ring a bell and there is a longer duration between outbreaks, which is hard to predict. We [Thailand] have a number of competitive health problems and we have many things on the priority list".

#### -Vaccine policy & safety, national organisation, Thailand

"There will be challenges rolling out the chikungunya vaccine. On an individual level, people won't see it as an important vaccine because there is a feeling that chikungunya is a mild dis- ease. The perception is that it is not as important as other diseases. People won't be as eager to get the vaccine, which is different from dengue. Lots of people have seen severe dengue, so if you see people in the hospital with dengue, you know it is a severe disease. But with chikungunya, people usually don't go to the hospital and if they do, they usually don't die from chikungunya."

-Paediatric infectious disease specialist, Guatemala

Stakeholders state that the lack of vaccine evaluation and an underinvestment in chikungunya research in Africa perpetuates vaccine inequity. Whilst some stakeholders in Latin America have a better understanding of how a chikungunya vaccine would be rolled out, other stakeholders in Africa are concerned about the lack of knowledge about the disease in their geographical region.

"Chikungunya was discovered in Tanzania, there has never been a vaccine trial anywhere in Africa, there are no discussions about vaccine evaluations in Africa. And yet suddenly, we have all these advanced programmes for chikungunya and the chikungunya pipeline is very healthy, but none of those products actually have a strategy for evaluation in Africa, as far as I am aware . . .. This promotes inequity."

#### -Vaccinologist and One Health expert, Kenya

Because of prioritisation of other diseases, the community engagement process to raise awareness about chikungunya is lacking. This concern is emphasised by African stakeholders, where the lack of awareness about the disease poses challenges for future interventions and highlights evidence gaps associated with perception of the disease and stigma.

"Chikungunya is known, but it is stereotyped as a disease that came from spirits from the ocean, or is linked to witchcraft, they think that a treatment is drinking boiled papaya leaves. People know this thing (chikungunya) exists, but general knowledge about chikungunya is lacking. Most people know about malaria, what symptoms are, they know about malaria treatment, but if you talk about chikungunya they laugh at you because public engagement has not been done for chikungunya."

-Academic researcher, Kenya

#### Target population for the chikungunya vaccine is not well defined

The target population for a vaccine includes individuals within defined demographics and geographies that are eligible for a vaccine intervention. The unknown target population for the chikungunya vaccine presents challenges to all tiers of stakeholders. For global stakeholders, the biggest implication for unknown target population is the impact this has on industry manufacturing.

"Things have already been done and spearheaded by individual vaccine manufacturers to push the [chikungunya vaccine] development path forward. The biggest impediment for chikungunya vaccine development has not been technical, but defining what the market is for a chikungunya vaccine. There is not a huge amount of public funding for chikungunya vaccine development because of morbidity and mortality and burden issues. The commercial market is limited. Big players are not vaccine multinationals, but more intermediate developers, or ones located in endemic countries . . . the biggest impediment has been what is the commercial market that makes it worth developing?" -Programme lead for chikungunya, international organisation

For national and subnational stakeholders, the undefined target population presents more concerns for vaccine roll-out logistics in their countries.

"What we see in the Paraguay outbreak is that more children have been infected and there have been more fatalities in children, so we need more information on this. The diagnostics and surveillance previously available have been weak to detect the type of infection some of these children have . . . Maybe children were not affected so much in previous outbreaks, but going forward we need to be aware of child infections. For example, from which age should we vaccinate?"

-Physician and clinical researcher, Colombia

Additionally, concerns around vaccine hesitancy and vaccine equity highlight the need for identification of target populations ahead of vaccine roll-out and ensuring that vaccine roll-out is packaged alongside advocacy campaigns.

"Some important questions that need to be addressed soon, include: if vaccine supplies are limited, which population groups are considered priority groups? The purpose of vaccination is to achieve what objective? To ensure equity in vaccine distribution, what steps do we need to take?"

-Neglected tropical diseases division, national organisation, Brazil

#### Climate sensitivity of Chikungunya vectors

Sub-populations experience different disease burdens because of differences in exposure to mosquito bites. Stakeholders explain that variations in vector exposure is an important consideration in vaccine roll-out because certain populations are disproportionately affected. As climate change impacts vector and virus population dynamics, CHIKV may become endemic in some countries, this has implications for vaccine stockpiles and roll-out.

"In Guatemala, we have a lot of areas of high rain, humidity and areas for mosquitoes to grow. Alongside, our population is growing, and we have a large urban population, so more people in small places, which makes the perfect conditions for an outbreak."

-Paediatric infectious disease specialist, Guatemala

"Africa is the only continent that has reported sylvatic circulation, between primates and mosquitoes. This is the natural reservoir for chikungunya virus, so we need to do a thorough study of chikungunya in Africa because even if the vaccine is rolled out elsewhere and people are protected, we don't know what strains will come again from the natural habitat for the virus, especially as climate changes the evolution of viruses. So, these viruses, as much as you can control them elsewhere, these viruses will again spread from their original source. So, to address challenges for chikungunya, it is better to address them from the source."

-Academic researcher, Kenya

#### Existing evidence gaps

Regional stakeholder perspectives were aligned with EtR criteria to highlight existing gaps in knowledge. Where stakeholders believed an EtR criterion was a current challenge or a gap in knowledge, it was recorded in Table 3. If no annotation was made for any of the criterion, this means the topic was not discussed during the stakeholder interviews or the topic was not identified as a current evidence gap.

 Table 3. Mapping stakeholder perspectives with Evidence-to-Recommendation criteria.
 Stakeholder perspectives were aligned with Evidence-to-Recommendation cri- teria to highlight existing

 gaps in knowledge.
 Cells in the table without data mean these topics were not discussed by any of the stakeholders.

Fuidence to Dece	mmondation Critoria	Stakeholde	Inculientiene			
Evidence-to-Reco	mmendation Criteria	Africa (n=2)	Asia (n=4)	Latin America (n=9)	International (n=3)	implications
1. Framing the	Burden of disease	2/2	4/4	7/9	2/3	Unknown burden of disease leads to unknown epidemiology and lower prioritisation of the disease
problem	Clinical characteristics	2/2		4/9		Misdiagnosed cases result in under-reporting
2. Benefits and harms of vaccination	Vaccine efficacy and safety	2/2	3/4	1/9	2/3	Vaccine efficacy is based on neutralizing antibodies as a potential immune correlate of protection against chikungunya infection. The first and only chikungunya vaccine (VLA1553) currently under regulatory review has demonstrated good immunogenicity profile.
	Indirect effects of vaccination	1/2				Broader benefits include chikungunya vaccine serving as a prototype vaccine for other alphaviruses
	Well-defined target population	2/2	3/4	5/9	2/3	Unknown burden leads to unknown target populations and risk areas
3. Values and preferences of target population	Perception of the disease	1/2	2/4	4/9	1/3	Variable awareness about the disease can affect public perception of risk
	Perception of vaccination	1/2	3/4	6/9		Variable risk perception can affect willingness to get vaccinated
	Differences in subgroups	2/2	2/4	8/9	1/3	The vector and disease affect certain subgroups disproportionately

4. Acceptability of the vaccine	Financial & ethical considerations	2/2	1/4	3/9		Government prioritisation of disease may affect willingness to pay for the vaccine versus private
						market availability in country
	Economic impact of					Unknown disease burden leads to
	vaccination	1/2	2/4	1/9	3/3	evidence gaps in economic
						evaluation
	Socioeconomic factors			4/9		People living in poverty are
5. Resources				17.5		disproportionately affected
						Non-specific diagnostics and non-
	Diagnostics and	2/2	2/4	4/9	1/3	detection of asymptomatic
	laboratory capacities			,		infections leads to misreporting
						and underreporting
						If the vaccine is not available
	Access to vaccination	1/2		6/9		those affected by the disease may
	Access to vaccination	1/2				not he able to or willing to pay
6. Vaccine equity						not be able to or wining to pay
						Lack of public communication
	Stigma	1/2				about the disease leads to
		1/2				stigmatising misconceptions
						Understanding how the vaccine
	Storage and	1/2	2/4	6/9	2/3	will be delivered (i.e. outbreak
	distribution	_/ _	_/ ·	-/-	_, _	response) is important
						If the vaccine will be used in
		1 /2		1/9		outbreak response,
	vaccine availability	1/2	1/4			considerations for vaccine
						stockpile are necessary
7. Feasibility						The vaccine should be rolled-out
	Information	2/2	2/4	6/0	1/2	in parallel to a communications
	management 2/2 2/4	0/9	1/5	package to raise awareness about		
						both the disease and vaccine
						Non-specific disease surveillance
	Disease surveillance	2/2	2/4	4/9	1/3	can result in under-reporting or
						unknown disease burden

#### 7.1.1.7 Discussion

We infer from our stakeholder analysis that unknown disease burden, diagnostics, non-specific disease surveillance, undefined target populations for vaccination, and low disease prioritisation are critical challenges that need to be addressed to facilitate rolling out a chikungunya vaccine. Future investments should address these challenges to generate useful evidence for decision-making on new chikungunya vaccine introduction.

Both disease burden and surveillance were highlighted as gaps in the Evidence-to-Recommendation criteria across all geographical regions, further stressing these as major issues that need addressing ahead of vaccine rollout. Paucity of data and research illustrating the disease burden of chikungunya, exacerbated by non-specific disease surveillance presents several challenges. The disease burden of chikungunya remains unknown and likely under- estimated in many high burden settings due to a lack of chikungunya-specific disease surveillance [25]. Laboratory capacity and existing diagnostics for detecting chikungunya infection are limited in some high burden settings [26]. Passive surveillance methods currently used in many settings only pick up clinical cases of chikungunya presenting to hospital, resulting in an under diagnosis of asymptomatic and less severe infections. Analysis of agestratified seroprevalence data is a useful method for estimating long-term average infection burden [4]. In some African settings, misdiagnosis of chikungunya as another febrile illness, such as malaria, is common, which is concerning, given that research shows a higher burden of chikungunya in children [27]. Accurate detection and surveillance of alphaviruses in vectors is especially important in Africa (and other malaria endemic areas) where existing zoonotic reservoirs exist and there has been an increasing frequency of chikungunya detection in recent years [28]. Accordingly, stakeholders in Africa highlighted the indirect effects of vaccination as a current evidence gap that would be valuable to address alongside cross- protections from chikungunya and other viruses.

The unknown disease burden also affects prioritisation of chikungunya, both in terms of national vaccine policy decisions [25] and public perception of chikungunya risk [21]. Several stakeholders highlighted that by focusing on chikungunya vaccination, resources are taken away from dengue vaccination and prevention, which many stakeholders, especially those in South and Southeast Asia, believe is a higher priority on country agendas. In contrast, stake- holders in Latin America affirmed a higher prioritisation of chikungunya in national vaccine policy agendas, but voiced concerns that public perception of chikungunya risk was skewed by a greater awareness about dengue, including symptoms, transmission and infection risk. Because chikungunya is often seen as a disease with low

mortality, stakeholders voiced con- cerns in the public perception of risk [21,29]. Lower prioritisation of chikungunya is concern- ing because the long-term chronic disability of chikungunya such, as arthritis, can be debilitating, putting stress on health care systems and diminishing economic productivity. These health deficits for chikungunya are not usually captured in global health assessments despite the large populations currently at risk [30]. By illustrating the true burden of chikungunya and its long-term health and economic impact, stakeholders were confident that prioritisation and public perception of chikungunya risk can be increased.

Concern for social factors affecting vaccine rollout were varied across geographical regions. Stakeholders in Africa and Latin America identified vaccine perception and hesitancy, information management and socioeconomic factors affecting vaccine uptake as current challenges more often than stakeholders in Asia. This could be attributed to the overall perception and prioritisation of chikungunya—stakeholders in Latin America saw chikungunya as a higher priority disease whilst stakeholders in Asia stated other diseases with competing interests were a higher priority. This differential prioritisation could affect concern for social factors around vaccination, showing a greater level of thought has been put into chikungunya vaccine equity amongst stakeholders that see the vaccine as more favourable. Stakeholders discussed synergies with other vaccination programmes, specifically citing lessons learned from distribution and administration of COVID-19 vaccines. Stakeholders in Latin America and Asia believed les- sons learned during the COVID-19 pandemic could be leveraged for the chikungunya vaccine, however, stakeholders in Africa saw the ongoing inequity of COVID-19 vaccines in Africa to perpetuate concerns about chikungunya vaccine equity in the African continent.

New chikungunya vaccines provide broader value beyond the direct benefits of lowering the chikungunya disease burden. These will be the first-ever vaccines against an alphavirus and thereby offer new platforms for vaccine development against other alphaviruses of the family *Togaviridae* that may emerge to cause epidemics and potential for pandemics. Further, the lessons learned, and technologies developed by the chikungunya vaccine will pave the way for new regulatory approval processes as vaccines can be approved based on immunogenicity data estimated by measures of neutralizing antibodies as potential immune correlates of protection, instead of vaccine efficacy estimates based on disease events [31].

Our study has limitations. By limiting our analysis to stakeholders in regions at risk of chikungunya outbreaks, stakeholders in regions at future risk of chikungunya invasion due to climate change were

excluded from our interview sample. We used a limited number of organisational databases that so possibly not all relevant stakeholders were identified. Despite contacting over 60 stakeholders, the response rate was low, especially in Africa. When stakeholders were referred by other stakeholders, they were more likely to participate, suggesting that use of purposive sampling in addition to the low response rate could result in selection bias. The sample of interviewees is geographically representative of current willingness to roll-out the chikungunya vaccine, but the number of participants by region is not necessarily proportional to disease burden. For example, Latin America had the greatest number of participants across all geographies and it was also the region with the most eagerness to rollout the vaccine; however, the burden of disease in Africa is estimated to be relatively high, especially in children [27], and this burden was not proportional to the sample size of stakeholders from the African region included in our study. This limited sample size for Africa could be attributed to topics mentioned in interviews with stakeholders who expressed concern that chikungunya epidemiology is not currently well documented and disease awareness is low across the African region. Despite the low sample size, we were still able to interview stakeholders from three different high burden geographical regions, six different countries, and across the international, national and subnational organisation tiers, lending to diverse perspectives that will be valuable in making future decisions about chikungunya vaccine introduction and delivery strategies.

Especially given shifts in global travel patterns, urbanisation and climate change, as vector viability changes, public health officials must collaborate to improve surveillance, prevention, and control programmes for arboviral diseases [32–34]. In July 2023, the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) announced an increasing risk of mosquito-borne dis- ease in Europe following the spread of *Aedes* mosquito species capable of transmitting CHIKV [35]. While our analysis focused on perspectives in regions at current risk of chikungunya out- breaks and excluded Europe, the rising concern of transmission-competent mosquito populations in Europe highlights just one aspect of how changing climate patterns can shift the future epidemiology of chikungunya outbreaks. To address these evolving patterns, the involvement of stakeholders in all phases of vaccine development and rollout alongside risk assessment and climate sensitivity of chikungunya will be crucial to uncover challenges and gaps to be addressed in the future.

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Asha Mary Abraham, Ashish Bavdekar, Doris Nyamwaya, Eolo Mor- andi Jr, Jacqueline Borin, Jamille Dombrowski, Jose Moreira, Elsa Marina Rojas Garrido, Maria Isabel Estupiñan Ca´rdenas, Mario Melgar, Myriam Tatiana Medina Bernal and Timothy Endy for participating in an interview and their valuable insights and perspectives shared.

#### Author Contributions

Conceptualization: Megan Auzenbergs, Clara Maure, Kaja Abbas. Data curation: Megan Auzenbergs, Clara Maure. Formal analysis: Megan Auzenbergs, Clara Maure. Funding acquisition: Clara Maure, Sushant Sahastrabuddhe. Investigation: Megan Auzenbergs. Methodology: Megan Auzenbergs, Clara Maure, Kaja Abbas. Project administration: Megan Auzenbergs, Sushant Sahastrabuddhe, Kaja Abbas. Software: Megan Auzenbergs. Supervision: Kaja Abbas. Validation: Megan Auzenbergs, Clara Maure, Hyolim Kang, Kaja Abbas. Visualization: Megan Auzenbergs, Clara Maure, Andrew Clark, Oliver Brady. Writing – original draft: Megan Auzenbergs, Clara Maure. Writing – review & editing: Megan Auzenbergs, Hyolim Kang, Andrew Clark, Oliver Brady, Sushant Sahastrabuddhe, Kaja Abbas.

#### 7.1.1.8 References

1. Calabrese LH. Emerging viral infections and arthritis: the role of the rheumatologist. Nature clinical prac-

tice Rheumatology. 2008; 4(1):2–3. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncprheum0679 PMID: 18043599

- Dupuis-Maguiraga L, Noret M, Brun S, Le Grand R, Gras G, Roques P. Chikungunya disease: infec- tion-associated markers from the acute to the chronic phase of arbovirus-induced arthralgia. PLoS neglected tropical diseases. 2012; 6(3):e1446. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0001446 PMID: 22479654
- Burt F, Chen W, Mahalingam S. Chikungunya virus and arthritic disease. The Lancet Infectious Dis- eases. 2014; 14(9):789–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(14)70869-2 PMID: 25164188
- Kang H, Auzenbergs M, Clapham HE, Maure C, Kim J-H, Salje H, et al. Chikungunya Seroprevalence, Force of Infection, and Prevalence of Chronic Disability in Endemic and Epidemic Settings: Systematic Review, Meta-Analysis, and Modelling Study. 2024; S1473-3099(23)00810-1. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s1473-3099(23)00810-1 PMID: 38342105
- Bartholomeeusen K, Daniel M, LaBeaud DA, Gasque P, Peeling RW, Stephenson KE, et al. Chikungu- nya fever. Nature Reviews Disease Primers. 2023; 9(1):17. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41572-023-00429-2 PMID: 37024497
- Laporta GZ, Potter AM, Oliveira JF, Bourke BP, Pecor DB, Linton Y-M. Global distribution of Aedes aegypti and Aedes albopictus in a climate change scenario of regional rivalry. Insects. 2023; 14(1):49. https://doi.org/10.3390/insects14010049 PMID: 36661976
- Mourad O, Makhani L, Chen LH. Chikungunya: An Emerging Public Health Concern. Curr Infect Dis Rep. 2022; 24(12):217–28. Epub 2022/11/24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11908-022-00789-y PMID: 36415286; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC9672624.
- FDA Approves First Vaccine to Prevent Disease Caused by Chikungunya Virus [Internet]. 2023
   [cited 22 January 2024]. Available from: https://www.fda.gov/news-events/pressannouncements/fda- approves-first-vaccine-prevent-disease-caused-chikungunya-virus
- Accelerating access to the world's first Chikungunya vaccine [Internet]. 10 Nov 2023 [cited 24 January 2024]. Available from: https://cepi.net/news\_cepi/accelerating-access-to-the-worldsfirst-chikungunya- vaccine/
- Schneider M, Narciso-Abraham M, Hadl S, McMahon R, Toepfer S, Fuchs U, et al. Safety and immuno- genicity of a single-shot live-attenuated chikungunya vaccine: a double-blind, multicentre, randomised, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. The Lancet. 2023. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(23)00641-4 PMID: 37321235
- 11. Cohen J. A chikungunya vaccine is likely to get approved. Who will get it. Science. 2023; 382 (6670):503–4. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.adm6803 PMID: 37917696
- 12. More than US\$ 1.8 billion in support for African vaccine manufacturing, catching up missed children and pandemic preparedness approved as Gavi Board steps up efforts to tackle backsliding and fight health emergencies [Internet]. 2023 [cited 22 January 2024]. Available from: https://www.gavi.org/news/ media-room/initiatives-african-vaccine-manufacturing-approved-gavi-board
- Cherian N, Bettis A, Deol A, Kumar A, Di Fabio JL, Chaudhari A, et al. Strategic considerations on developing a CHIKV vaccine and ensuring equitable access for countries in need. npj Vaccines. 2023; 8 (1):123. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41541-023-00722-x PMID: 37596253
- 14. Lundstrom K. Alphavirus-based vaccines. Viruses. 2014; 6(6):2392–415. Epub 2014/06/18. https://doi. org/10.3390/v6062392 PMID: 24937089; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC4074933.
- Excler J-L, Saville M, Berkley S, Kim JH. Vaccine development for emerging infectious diseases. Nature Medicine. 2021; 27(4):591–600. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-021-01301-0 PMID: 33846611
- Flandes X, Hansen CA, Palani S, Abbas K, Bennett C, Caro WP, et al. Vaccine value profile for Chikun- gunya. Vaccine. 2023. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2023.07.069 PMID: 38407992
- 17. World Health Organization. Guidance on an adapted evidence to recommendation process for National Immunization Technical Advisory Groups. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe, 2022.
- Rezza G. Do we need a vaccine against chikungunya? Pathogens and Global Health. 2015; 109 (4):170–3. https://doi.org/10.1179/2047773215Y.0000000017 PMID: 25971340
- 19. Elsinga J, Grobusch MP, Tami A, Gerstenbluth I, Bailey A. Health-related impact on quality of life and coping strategies for chikungunya: A qualitative study in Curac ao. PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases. 2017; 11(10):e0005987.
- 20. Doran C, Duits A, Tami A, Gerstenbluth I, Bailey A. "It's very saddening, you keep on wondering when the symptoms will be over": A qualitative study exploring the long-term chikungunya disease impact on daily life and well-being, 6 years after disease onset. PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases. 2023; 17(12): e0011793. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0011793 PMID: 38055664
- Corrin T, Waddell L, Greig J, Young I, Hierlihy C, Mascarenhas M. Risk perceptions, attitudes, and knowledge of chikungunya among the public and health professionals: a systematic review. Tropical medicine and health. 2017; 45:1–15.

- 22. MacQueen KM, McLellan E, Kay K, Milstein B. Codebook development for team-based qualitative anal- ysis. Cam Journal. 1998; 10(2):31–6.
- Burdino E, Calleri G, Caramello P, Ghisetti V. Unmet Needs for a Rapid Diagnosis of Chikungunya Virus Infection. Emerg Infect Dis. 2016; 22(10):1837–9. Epub 2016/06/28. https://doi.org/10.3201/ eid2210.151784 PMID: 27347706; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC5038423.
- Natrajan MS, Rojas A, Waggoner JJ. Beyond Fever and Pain: Diagnostic Methods for Chikungunya Virus. J Clin Microbiol. 2019; 57(6). Epub 2019/04/19. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00350-19 PMID: 30995993; PubMed Central PMCID: PMC6535601.
- Puntasecca CJ, King CH, LaBeaud AD. Measuring the global burden of chikungunya and Zika viruses: A systematic review. PLoS neglected tropical diseases. 2021; 15(3):e0009055. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pntd.0009055 PMID: 33661908
- 26. Moreira J, Fernandez-Carballo BL, Escadafal C, Dittrich S, Brasil P, de Siqueira AM. Addressing Acute Febrile Illness Using a Syndromic Approach During A Chikungunya Epidemic in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil: A Prospective Observational Study. medRxiv. 2023:2023.04. 15.23288370.
- Nyamwaya DK, Otiende M, Omuoyo DO, Githinji G, Karanja HK, Gitonga JN, et al. Endemic chikungu- nya fever in Kenyan children: a prospective cohort study. BMC Infectious Diseases.
   2021; 21(1):186. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-021-05875-5 PMID: 33602147
- Sang RC, Dunster L. The growing threat of arbovirus transmission and outbreaks in Kenya: a review. East African medical journal. 2001; 78(12):655–61. https://doi.org/10.4314/eamj.v78i12.8936 PMID: 12199448
- Fritzell C, Raude J, Adde A, Dusfour I, Quenel P, Flamand C. Knowledge, attitude and practices of vec- tor-borne disease prevention during the emergence of a new arbovirus: implications for the control of chikungunya virus in French Guiana. PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases. 2016; 10(11):e0005081. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0005081 PMID: 27802275
- LaBeaud A, Bashir F, King CH. Measuring the burden of arboviral diseases: the spectrum of morbidity and mortality from four prevalent infections. Population Health Metrics. 2011; 9(1):1. https://doi.org/10. 1186/1478-7954-9-1 PMID: 21219615
- 31. Finch CL, Martinez C, Leffel E, Skiadopoulos MH, Hacker A, Mwesigwa B, et al. Vaccine licensure in the absence of human efficacy data. Vaccines. 2022; 10(3):368. https://doi.org/10.3390/ vaccines10030368 PMID: 35335000

- Gubler DJ. The Global Emergence/Resurgence of Arboviral Diseases As Public Health Problems. Archives of Medical Research. 2002; 33(4):330–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0188-4409(02)00378-8 PMID: 12234522
- Longbottom J, Walekhwa AW, Mwingira V, Kijanga O, Mramba F, Lord JS. Aedes albopictus invasion across Africa: the time is now for cross-country collaboration and control. The Lancet Global Health. 2023; 11(4):e623–e8. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(23)00046-3 PMID: 36841255
- 34. Love E, Walker D. The Road to a Chikungunya Vaccine: Accelerating Solutions to Addressing Health Threats Posed by Climate Change. Management Sciences for Health 2023 [cited 2023 25 September]. Available from: https://msh.org/story/the-road-to-a-chikungunya-vaccineaccelerating-solutions-to- addressing-health-threats-posed-by-climate-change/.
- 35. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Increasing risk of mosquito-borne diseases in EU/EEA following spread of Aedes species 2023 [3 July 2023]. Available from: https://www.ecdc. europa.eu/en/news-events/increasing-risk-mosquito-borne-diseases-eueea-following-spread-aedes- species#:~:text=of%20Aedes%20species-, Increasing%20risk%20of%20mosquito%2Dborne%20dis-eases%20in%20EU%2FEEA,following%20spread%20of%20Aedes%20species&text=The%20mos-quito%20species%20Aedes%20albopictus,the%20latest%20data%20from%20ECDC.

#### 7.1.9 Supporting information



# Sampling framework for stakeholder identification

**S1 Fig. Sampling framework used to identify individuals invited for the stakeholder inter- views.** First, articles on chikungunya vaccination were identified from a PubMed search, limited to geographical regions with a high risk of chikungunya outbreaks. There was no language restriction on articles, but the publication date was limited to the last five years, in line with chikungunya vaccine development. Next, a database of individuals involved in chikungunya vaccine clinical trials were added to the list of stakeholders to contact. Third, WHO regional websites were used to identify individuals working

on chikungunya in the AFRO, PAHO and SEARO regions. Individuals identified in steps 1–3 were then invited to partake in a stakeholder interview. If successful contact was made, during the interview stakeholders were invited to refer colleagues that would also be interested in sharing perspectives.

*S1 Table. Interview questionnaire used in the semi-structured interviews.* These questions were used to guide the interviews, but participants were invited to speak freely and structure the interview how they saw best.

#	Question
Q1	Please introduce yourself, explain your role within your organisation and summarise your work related to chikungunya
Q2	Based on your experience, what is your perception of (your region's) current risk of a chikungunya outbreak?
Q3	Do you think a chikungunya vaccine (in your region) would be feasible?
Q4	What are the potential barriers in chikungunya vaccine uptake?
Q4b	If not covered in Q4, what political, social, financial, logistical barriers would affect the roll-out of chikungunya vaccine in (your area)? What other factors would affect the feasibility of vaccination?
Q5	Is there any other information you think would be useful for us to know? Is there anything else unique to your experience in your region that you would like to share?

# 7.1.2 Desirable BUGS in models of infectious diseases

#### Megan Auzenbergs<sup>a,b</sup>, Carla Correia-Gomes<sup>c</sup>, Theo Economou<sup>d</sup>, Rachel Lowe<sup>b,e,f</sup>, Kathleen M O'Reilly<sup>a,b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Faculty of Infectious and Tropical Disease, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK

<sup>b</sup> Centre for the Mathematical Modelling of Infectious Diseases, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine,

London, UK

<sup>c</sup> Epidemiology Research Unit, SRUC, Edinburgh, UK

<sup>d</sup> College of Life and Environmental Sciences, University of Exeter, Exeter, UK

<sup>e</sup> Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK

<sup>f</sup> Barcelona Institute for Global Health (ISGlobal), Barcelona, Spain

Paper link and copyright information: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S17554365193003

#### 7.1.2.1 Research paper cover sheet



London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT

T: +44 (0)20 7299 4646 F: +44 (0)20 7299 4656 www.lshtm.ac.uk

# **RESEARCH PAPER COVER SHEET**

Please note that a cover sheet must be completed for each research paper included within a thesis.

#### SECTION A - Student Details

Student ID Number	1604063	Title	Ms		
First Name(s)	Megan				
Surname/Family Name	Auzenbergs				
Thesis Title	Mathematical and statistical modelling to inform polio and measles vaccination programming				
Primary Supervisor	Dr. Kathleen M O'Reilly & Dr. Kaja Abbas				

# If the Research Paper has previously been published please complete Section B, if not please move to Section C.

#### SECTION B – Paper already published

Where was the work published?	Epidemics		
When was the work published?	December 2019		
If the work was published prior to registration for your research degree, give a brief rationale for its inclusion	Used to support the methodologies used in the PhD thesis		
Have you retained the copyright for the work?*	Yes	Was the work subject to academic peer review?	Yes

\*If yes, please attach evidence of retention. If no, or if the work is being included in its published format, please attach evidence of permission from the copyright holder (publisher or other author) to include this work.

#### SECTION C - Prepared for publication, but not yet published

Where is the work intended to be published?	
Please list the paper's authors in the intended authorship order:	
Stage of publication	Choose an item.

#### SECTION D - Multi-authored work

For multi-authored work, give full details of your role in the research included in the paper and in the preparation of the paper. (Attach a further sheet if necessary)	I worked on: conceptualisation, methodology, formal analysis, visualisation, and writing - original draft
---	---

# SECTION E

Student Signature	
Date	30 May 2024

Supervisor Signature	
Date	31 May 2024

#### 7.1.2.2 Abstract

Bayesian inference using Gibbs sampling (BUGS) is a set of statistical software that uses Markov chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) methods to estimate almost any specified model. Originally developed in the late 1980s, the software is an excellent introduction to applied Bayesian statistics without the need to write a MCMC sampler. The software is typically used for regression-based analyses, but any model that can be specified using graphical nodes are possible. Advanced topics such as missing data, spatial analysis, model comparison and dynamic infectious disease models can be tackled. Three examples are provided; a linear regression model to illustrate parameter estimation, the steps to ensure that the estimates have converged and a comparison of run-times across different computing platforms. The second example describes a model that estimates the probability of being vaccinated from crosssectional and surveillance data, and illustrates the specification of different models, model comparison and data augmentation. The third example illustrates estimation of parameters within a dynamic Susceptible-Infected-Recovered model. These examples show that BUGS can be used to estimate parameters from models relevant for infectious diseases, and provide an overview of the relative merits of the approach taken.

#### 7.1.2.3 Introduction

BUGS is a software for Bayesian inference using Gibbs sampling [1]. The software is now in its third decade, and has undergone several developments in its use and application. Although the software is sufficiently generic that it can be used within many data-driven fields, perhaps due to the affiliations of its developers BUGS is often used in medical sciences, but has also been widely used in social sciences, ecology and environmental sciences.

For a full description of the developments of BUGS see the article by Lunn et al. [2] and the associated commentaries at the end of the article. The rationale behind developing BUGS was a need to make Bayesian analysis more accessible. Whilst the 1970-2000s saw many developments in Bayesian analysis, markov chain monte carlo (MCMC) analysis was largely restricted to models in closed form where a conjugate prior was required for specification of the model (where a conjugate prior is part of the same family of probability distributions as the posterior). A simple example of using conjugacy to estimate parameters from a model is the estimation of probability of occurrence from data. The likelihood is assumed to be binomially distributed where the data consists of k successes from n trials,  $Pr(x = k | p, n) = (n k) p^{k}(1 - p)^{n \cdot k}$ . To estimate the posterior distribution of the probability of success (p) we first specify the posterior from Bayes rule;  $Pr(p|n,k) \propto Pr(n,k|p)Pr(p)$  where Pr(p) is assumed to be a beta prior with parameters  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . The probability density function of a beta distribution is Pr(p) =

 $p^{\alpha-1}(1 - p)^{\beta-1}$ . Conjugacy occurs in this circumstance because the prior and posterior have the same distributional form, and the posterior can be sampled using  $p \sim B(\alpha + k, \beta + n - k)$  as  $Pr(p|n,k) \propto p^{\alpha+k}(1 - p)^{\beta+n-k}$  [3]. However, a closed form posterior distribution is unusual for most problems and additional (often impractical) mathematical manipulation is required to identify the posterior distribution, which prevents widespread use. The solution developed by Lunn et al. [2] makes use of graphical modelling theory [4], and the development of the BUGS language to specify models. The network of nodes define the model where each node is either data or a parameter, and the edges between each node define the dependencies between the nodes. The dependencies illustrate the conditional probabilities assumed between nodes (which are usually directed), and is a core element of Bayesian inference. Additionally, the specification of directed acyclic graphs (DAGs) and automated translation to code means that scientists without a statistics or programming background are able to develop their own models.

As opposed to other languages that require considerable translation of equations into code [5], the language used to specify models in BUGS has a much lower learning curve for scientists to translate theory into practice. The original WinBUGS software has been available since the 1990s [1]. Programming developments, applications and interest within the scientific community has grown steadily since. The estimation procedures within the software expanded from using a Gibbs sampler to a self-tuning Metropolis updater, to increase the flexibility of the full conditional probability that can be specified and increase the efficiency of the estimation procedure. Additional modules were developed for specific applications; PkBUGS for application to pharmacokinetic models [6] and the associated complex functions, and GeoBUGS for spatial modelling and the use of structured random errors [7]. Over 30 years of development has led to multiple software platforms performing very similar tasks. In the early 2000s clones and suitable alternatives of the original software were developed; first OpenBUGS [8] and then JAGS (just another gibbs sampler [9]), both of which facilitated use of the software by linux and MacOS users. To make use of multi-core processors (common to most computers) and reduce the run-time of MCMC estimation, multiBUGS was released in 2017 [10]. Small but important differences between them (Table 1) mean that all versions are likely to be in use for the foreseeable future. Integration with other software such as R is facilitated by calling the software within bespoke libraries (eg. BRugs [8], R2WinBUGS [11], runJAGS [12]). Development of additional custom distributions within JAGS is possible and requires a working knowledge of C++ [13].

-	WinBUGS	OpenBUGS	JAGS	multiBUGS
First available	Mid 1990s	2006	2008	2017
Operating system	MS Windows	MS Windows / Linux / Mac <sup>1</sup>	MS Windows, Mac, Linux	Windows (Linux under development)
Extensions	PkBUGS, glm, GeoBUGS	GeoBUGS, glm, MultiBUGS	glm, geoBUGS <sup>2</sup>	glm, GeoBUGS

#### Table 1: The available BUGS software and current scope of each for analysing data

<sup>1</sup> But note that OpenBUGS hasn't been fully tested within the Mac OS. <sup>2</sup> GeoBUGS has not yet been fully tested within JAGS.

There are now a vast number of worked BUGS examples and applications, which are available via affiliated websites, tutorials, peer-reviewed papers and books. Most applications are centred on the analysis of data where variation in the response requires explanation. Examples include the classic linear and generalised linear model structure, as well as mark-capture, markov-models, non-linear functions, and differential equations. Useful reference books include; Kery [14], Kery and Schaub [15], and McCarthy [16], Lawson [17] and Kruschke [18] as they explain the statistical details well and provide examples including code.

There are several reasons for choosing BUGS over other modelling options. First, BUGS fits data within a Bayesian context (for an introduction to Bayesian analysis see the first few chapters of Kery [14]). Second, the language and almost absence of additional coding required to implement models and estimate parameters brings the model structure to the front of what the researcher does. From the beginning of learning BUGS and Bayesian analysis the researcher is encouraged to consider what form the data takes, for example by asking what distribution approximates the response variable, and what corresponding parameters (and data) determine this distribution. It is then a relatively simple process to translate this equation to the BUGS code and a few clicks or lines of code later a posterior distribution of the parameter(s) are available to examine [19]. This is especially important when learning statistical modelling and in developing models that are different to those 'off the shelf' varieties which may, for example, require the researcher to make invalid assumptions about the data or removing data points because they are not fully observed. The model specification within BUGS makes it a useful stepping-stone into Bayesian analysis and model construction [19]; to this end BUGS is used in many postgraduate epidemiology courses [20, 21]. Whilst the estimation procedure is largely automated, knowledge of the appropriate MCMC parameters to select is needed to ensure that the posterior target distribution is stationary (i.e. a random sample of the posterior of sufficient size that additional samples will not influence its shape or summary statistics). An ability to assess the MCMC chains for convergence is required and some practical advice is given in this article. Data

simulation from a BUGS model is possible with only a small number of alterations, making model checking and validation a more natural process when compared to other software.

The rest of this paper provides working examples of common applications of BUGS to models of infectious disease, how to sensibly assess the output of a model, and a commentary on the relative merits and disadvantages elicited within each example.

#### 7.1.2.4 Case studies

#### A linear model, associated output and comparison of run time between software

#### Model specification

A simple linear regression model assumes that the response variable  $Y = \{Y_{i}, i = 1,...,N\}$  is normally distributed with mean value  $\mu$  and variance  $\sigma$  (ie.  $Y_i \sim N(\mu, \sigma)$ ). We assume that an explanatory variable  $X = \{X_i, i = 1,...,N\}$  explains some of the variation in Y. We assume that the model takes the form  $\mu = \alpha + \beta X$ , which introduces two additional parameters that require estimation. Within a Bayesian setting priors are assigned to these parameters; both are assumed to be normally distributed with mean 0 and precision ( $\tau$ ) of 0.5, which can be written as  $\alpha \sim N(0,0.5)$  and  $\beta \sim N(0,0.5)$ . These priors are regarded as minimally informative as they can encompass a wide range of values and consequently the posterior will largely be informed by the data. Selection of appropriate priors can be a challenging process and it is important to examine priors and understand the influence of priors on the posterior distribution [22]. Additionally, specification and estimation of the standard deviation is often more intuitive than use of precision for a parameter, and additional code may be used to specify the standard deviation instead of precision. This model can be written either as a DAG (Figure 1) or directly within the BUGS language;

```
model{
    for(i in 1:N){
        y[i] ~ dnorm(mu[i],tau)
        mu[i] <- alpha + beta*x[i]
    }
    alpha ~ dnorm(0,0.5)
    beta ~ dnorm(0,0.5)
    log.sigma ~ dunif(0,100)
    sigma <- exp(log.sigma)
    sigma.sq <- pow(sigma,2)
    tau <- 1/sigma.sq
}</pre>
```



*Figure 6.* Directed acyclic graph (DAG) for the linear model example.

The code is deliberately similar to the mathematical equations, creating a natural bridge from equations to code and vice versa. Note that BUGS specifies a normal distribution using the mean ( $\mu$ ) and precision ( $\tau$ ). For a generalised linear model structure it is also possible to specify the model using the standard lme-4 style syntax within R through loading the runjags package [12]; model <- template.jags(y ~ x, data, n.chains=3, family='gaussian').

Continuing with the linear model example above, this model is used to generate simulated data with sample sizes ranging from 100 to 10,000 to examine the differences between software and platforms. In MS Windows the models were run on a 4-core machine consisting of 3.40 GHz and 8 processors with 16GB of RAM. In the Mac operating system the models were run on a 3.2 GHz Intel core i5 machine with 4 processors consisting of 16GB of RAM. Estimation of the posterior distribution was implemented by specifying the number of MCMC iterations, the number of initial iterations that will be discarded (i.e. burn-in), the extent of thinning (i.e. extracting every j<sup>th</sup> iteration of the MCMC), and the number of MCMC chains. The general principal of specifying these settings is to obtain a stationary target posterior distribution. There is no certain way to assess when the stationary distribution has been reached, but rather there are techniques to establish when it has not been reached [23]. It is ideal to obtain the equivalent of 1,000 independent samples of the posterior distribution, and given that autocorrelation of MCMC chains is common, generating at least 10,000 samples per chain should be considered a minimum value. Some software provides estimates of the effective sample size which provides an estimate of the equivalent number of independent samples (for example the coda package in R [24]), and this value should exceed 1,000 for all parameters. Chain convergence can be assessed visually by plotting the sampled value against its number in the chain. Running several chains with different starting values and comparing the sampled values on the same figure will illustrate whether enough burn-in has been specified (more noise in early iterations may be identified) and that the chains have converged to a common mean value, if convergence has been achieved. To assess convergence, the Multivariate Potential Scale Reduction Factor (also known as the Gelman-Rubin

statistic [25]) can be applied. The Gelman-Rubin statistic compares the variance between the chains to the variance within the chains of each parameter, and if these are similar (indicating convergence) then its value should be less than 1.05. Autocorrelation plots can be used to assess the extent of autocorrection in MCMC chains and further inform the extent of thinning that needs to be specified.

#### Model results and interpretation

For this example each model was specified in an identical form and 15,000 MCMC iterations were run within each of three chains. The first 5,000 iterations were regarded as 'burn-in' and discarded. The Gelman-Rubin statistic was applied to an initial round of samples where values were <1.01 which suggests that the between-chain variance is low and consistent with convergence of the chains (Figure 2). The autocorrelation plot illustrated a lag to approximately 5, so the model was re-run (10,000 iterations with 5,000 burn-in) and the output was thinned to every 10<sup>th</sup> iteration. The time-series and density plots of the subsequent output (Figure 2) illustrate consistent values across the chains. The effective sample size of the 10,000 iterations was at least 1,435.



**Figure 2.** MCMC output from example 1 illustrating visual diagnostics used to assess whether a stationary distribution for each of the parameters has been reached. A) Gelman-Rubin diagnostic plot, B) autocorrelation plot of the un-thinned MCMC iterations, c) time-series plots of each of the parameters estimated, d) posterior density plots.

Table 2 illustrates that the run-time for each version of BUGS is linear with the size of the data for WinBUGS, JAGS and OpenBUGS. Whilst the run time also increases with models that have more parameters, the size of the data is usually the limiting factor for medical problems (especially when considering that the number of parameters should be much less than the number of observations within data). The relatively slow run time associated with the MCMC estimation has perhaps limited more widespread use of BUGS [19], but these issues are not unique to BUGS but are common to most MCMC estimation approaches. Recent developments of the R library Nimble enables conversion of BUGS code to C++ code, which in the example above, has improved the run time by a factor of approximately 25. Inclusion of Nimble into the model construction adds additional programming complexity, but a suitable model can be developed within BUGS on a subset of a large dataset, and

once developed, then specified within Nimble. Using multiBUGS to run the models resulted in a faster run time than JAGS, openBUGS and winBUGS and did not require any additional coding.

100,000 nerutions using 5	chunisj.				
Dataset size	WinBUGS	OpenBUGS	JAGS	Nimble	multiBUGS
100	6	15	15	<5	11
1000	31	194	175	29	92
5000	1565	1083	1157	135	452
10000	3500	2314	2970	214	937
run time of 1,000 independent samples from the dataset of	222	414	190	Э	08
1,000	532	414	109	3	98

**Table 2**: Runtime (in seconds) of the linear regression model according to the size of the dataset. (all models were run for 100,000 iterations using 3 chains).

#### Spatio-temporal analysis of data: Estimating vaccine effectiveness

Analysing polio vaccination data from Ethiopia shows how BUGS is particularly useful for combining multiple data sources into a statistical model. The aim of the analysis was to estimate the probability that a child aged 12 months would be vaccinated with the oral polio vaccine (OPV), and examine whether there was evidence for spatial or temporal variation in this estimate of vaccination coverage. Three different data sources were used: (1) Demographic and Health Survey (DHS) 2011; (2) DHS 2016; and (3) non-polio Acute Flaccid Paralysis (AFP) surveillance data for 2005-2016 from the WHO Polio Information System [26]. Within the DHS data, the number of OPV doses were reported for each child aged < 5 years of age included in each cross-sectional survey. For the non-polio AFP data, cases of non-polio AFP were assumed to be an opportunistic sample of children aged <5 years of age within Ethiopia where OPV vaccination histories were recorded as part of the case investigation. The non-polio AFP data have been previously used to estimate country- and province-level probabilities of being immunised with 3+ doses, where higher values were previously associated with a lower probability of reporting poliomyelitis outbreaks [27, 28], but its predictive ability may be affected by the uncertainty in the estimates. With the addition of DHS data estimates of vaccine effectiveness are likely to be more representative and reliable.

## Model formulation

The reported number of OPV doses were converted to a response variable of whether 3+ OPV doses had been received ( $y_i(d)$  where i refers to a child's index and d refers to the dataset origin, which is

omitted from further equations for clarity), and explanatory variables included in the model were year of vaccination according to the Gregorian calendar (t<sub>i</sub>, which was inferred from the child date of birth and that routine OPV doses in Ethiopia are administered at 6, 10 and 14 weeks [29]), district of residency (z<sub>i</sub>), number of eligible supplementary immunisation activities (SIAs, s<sub>i</sub>) extrapolated from an OPV SIA calendar and exposure to routine immunisation (r<sub>i</sub>) using Diptheria-Tetanus-Pertussis (DTP) vaccination information (the DTP vaccine is administered concurrently with OPV drops in the routine immunisation series). Dose history of DTP vaccination was included within the DHS surveys and was used to augment DTP vaccination data for AFP cases, as DTP vaccination is not included in the AFP surveillance data in Ethiopia.

The model was used to test the hypothesis that estimates of vaccination coverage vary across districts and in time and that SIAs increase the probability of a child being 'fully vaccinated' (ie. receiving 3+ OPV doses). Additionally, each data source is assumed to have an associated reporting factor to account for small changes in how the survey question is asked, differences in the sampled populations and potential reporting bias [30], modelled using an adjustment factor  $\beta_d$ . We assume a binomial model for the response with associated regression coefficients as described above and mechanistic variables that describe individual vaccination histories from the data. The response variable Y<sub>.</sub> = {Y <sub>i.,.</sub>i = 1,...,N} takes the value of 0 or 1 according to whether 3+ OPV were reported by data source (Y<sub>a</sub>: AFP, Y<sub>d1</sub>: DHS 2011, Y<sub>d6</sub>: DHS 2016) while z<sub>i</sub>, t<sub>i</sub>, d<sub>i</sub> are covariates used to explain the variation (in district, time and dataset, respectively) and s<sub>i</sub> are the number of SIA campaigns inferred from the child's birth date and interview date and dtp<sub>i</sub> are the number of OPV doses received via routine immunisation. The parameters  $\beta_s$  and  $\beta_r$  correspond to the parameters associated with SIAs and DTP OPV doses,  $\beta_z$  and  $\beta_t$  are the corresponding variables for the covariates. The effectiveness (ie. the probability of receiving 3+ OPV doses associated with each incremental increase in SIA or DTP) is 1 - (1/exp( $\beta_s$ )) and 1 -(1/exp( $\beta_r$ )). The model is as follows;

 $Y_i \sim binomial(\mu_i, 1)$  $logit(\mu_i) = \beta_z z_i + \beta_t t_i + \beta_d d_i + \beta_s sia_i + \beta_r dt p_i$ 

Developing the model in BUGS allowed for changes in the model structure such as inclusion of interaction terms and adaptation of the model beyond a standard generalised linear model framework to be made with relative ease. For example, data on OPV doses provided via routine immunisation was not available within the AFP dataset so it was augmented [15] from the spatial-temporal patterns in the DHS data assuming,

$$dtp_i \sim binomial(\mu_{r,i}, 1)$$

$$logit(\mu_{r,i}) = \alpha_t t_i \cdot \gamma_z z_i \cdot \log(age_i)$$

To complete the model, we specify minimally informative priors where the regression coefficients were assigned  $\beta_z$ ,  $\beta_t$ ,  $\beta_d$ ,  $\beta_s$ ,  $\beta_r \sim N(0,\tau)$  and  $\tau \sim U(0.1,1)$  so that the posterior was largely influenced by the data. In this circumstance selection of these and alternative priors resulted in consistent posterior distributions but sometimes the posterior is unidentifiable and different variances were selected [?]. The model was implemented in JAGS and the outputs examined within R. We generated three MCMC chains of length 10,000 iterations with a burn-in of 5,000 and thinning to every 10<sup>th</sup> to obtain 1,500 samples from the joint posterior distribution. To transform the model parameters into more interpretable outputs, the parameters were used to estimate the district-level probabilities of receiving 3+ doses of OPV through routine immunization and the probability of a child 12 months of age receiving 3+ OPV doses through both routine immunization and scheduled SIAs for 2011, along with estimates of vaccine effectiveness.

Different models were run in order to assess district estimates of vaccination in the presence of different covariates. The deviance information criteria (DIC) was used to compare the fit of each model and the model with the smallest DIC was assumed to provide the best fit to the data. At least two runs of the model were generated to compare the DICs to ensure consistency of the outputs.

#### Model results and interpretation

A model was developed to account for district of residency and year of vaccination as explanatory variables, and was compared to including the impact of the number of SIAs (by adding  $\beta_s$ ) and whether this impact varied by district, year, or both. The DIC values illustrate increased evidence for inclusion of the SIA exposure histories into the models (DIC 22679.3 compared to 22842.8, respectively). Further model developments included augmented data so it was not possible to directly compare DIC values. Outputs of the probability of being vaccinated via routine immunisation and overall vaccination probabilities show that OPV vaccination coverage in Ethiopia varies spatially (Figure 3), and vaccination has steadily improved since 2012 (Table 3). The effectiveness of the first SIA was estimated to be 0.44 (95% CI 0.34-0.53), and subsequent SIAs were estimated to further improve the chances of being fully vaccinated but with diminishing returns (DIC of constant effectiveness model = 36348.8 vs. DIC of per-dose model = 36285.9, difference = 62.9). The model also suggests that the source of vaccination data impacts estimates of vaccination coverage, with DHS data typically reporting a lower odds of a child 12 months of age being vaccinated with 3+ doses of OPV than the AFP data (odds ratio associated with DHS data 0.35 (95% CI 0.32-0.38)).



**Figure 3.** Predicted probability of a child aged 12 months of age reporting A) 3+ OPV doses received via routine immunisation B) 3+ OPV doses irrespective of mechanism, C) estimated residuals by fitted estimates for each district, D) Comparison of SIA effectiveness estimated within the constant dose model and the per-dose model.

 Table 3. Summary of the outputs from the polio vaccination model applied to Ethiopia.

Value	Relation to equations	Estimated value (95% CI)		
Scalar of output associated with DHS data	OR of $\beta_{d1}$ , $\beta_{d2}$	0.35 (0.33, 0.38)		
Mean value of district variation	$mean(\beta_z)$	-0.09 (-0.25, 0.06)		
Mean probability of receiving 3+ OPV doses in 2005	logit <sup>-1</sup> (t <sub>1</sub> )	0.35 (0.16, 0.57)		
2006	$logit^{-1}(\beta_t(2)$	0.33 (0.26, 0.41)		
2007	$logit^{-1}(\beta_t(3))$	0.26 (0.21, 0.33)		
2008	$logit^{-1}(\beta_t(4))$	0.26 (0.2, 0.32)		
2009	$logit^{-1}(\beta_t(5))$	0.3 (0.23, 0.36)		
2010	$logit^{-1}(\beta_t(6))$	0.22 (0.17, 0.27)		
2011	$logit^{-1}(\beta_t(7))$	0.15 (0.12, 0.19)		
2012	$logit^{-1}(\beta_t(8))$	0.29 (0.22, 0.38)		
2013	$logit^{-1}(\beta_t(9))$	0.34 (0.27, 0.41)		
2014	$logit^{-1}(\beta_t(10))$	0.42 (0.34, 0.5)		
2015	$logit^{-1}(\beta_t(11))$	0.43 (0.36, 0.51)		

2016	$logit^{-1}(\beta_t(12))$	0.36 (0.3, 0.43)
2017	$logit^{-1}(\beta_t(13))$	0.43 (0.36, 0.51)
2018	$logit^{-1}(\beta_t(14))$	0.36 (0.3, 0.43)
Effectiveness of first SIA	1 - (1/( $e^{\beta_2}$ ))	0.44 (0.34, 0.53)
second SIA	1 - (1⁄(e <sup>β</sup> <sub>3</sub> ))	0.57 (0.49, 0.64)
third SIA	1 - (1⁄(e <sup>β</sup> <sub>4</sub> ))	0.64 (0.57, 0.7)
forth SIA	1 - (1⁄(e <sup>β</sup> <sub>5</sub> ))	0.73 (0.67, 0.77)
fifth and subsequent SIAs	1 - (1⁄(e <sup>β</sup> <sub>6</sub> ))	0.78 (0.74, 0.81)

#### Comments as a first-time user

Building the model in JAGS was relatively straightforward and existing example code (from similar applications) was easily replicable, which made the process behind building the model easier. Because adjusting priors and parameters within the JAGS model could be done with ease, the model could be built in a stepwise manner for each dataset by adding one covariate and corresponding prior at a time until the final model with all the data was constructed. Once all data was added to the final model, it was straightforward to parameterise the model and easy to apply the aforementioned minimally informative priors. In an effort to fit the best model to the data, a conditional autoregressive model (CAR model [17]) was trialed using spatial adjacency data and implemented in OpenBUGS (as the GeoBUGS module has not yet been fully tested in JAGS). This model takes into account spatial autocorrelation between neighbouring areal units and uses a spatial covariance matrix to assess spatial correlation that cannot be explained by the other model covariates alone, assuming that v[1 : N] ~ car.normal(adj[],weights[],num[], $\tau_r$ ) where adj is a spatial matrix describing the neighbourhood structure, weights are the corresponding weights for the neighbourhood structure, num is the sum of all neighbours and  $\tau_r$  is the standard deviation. Here, the adjacency weights were taken to be simple binary values; 1 if district d<sub>i</sub> has a common boundary with d<sub>i</sub> and 0 otherwise.

In comparison to the model implemented in JAGS, making changes to the openBUGS model was more difficult. Priors needed adjusting each time a new covariate or parameter was added into the model (to prevent the model from crashing) and the run time was much longer than when run in JAGS. OpenBUGS trap windows pop up each time an unsatisfactory model is run and deciphering the convoluted error messages can be difficult and time consuming to amend. JAGS errors appear directly in the R Console and contain more constructive feedback, such as indicating exactly which line of code contains the error. We found the model without the CAR structure had a much better fit to the data (difference in DIC >100) so the CAR model was discarded.

#### Infectious Disease Dynamics: Estimating Transmission from Outbreak Data

Mechanistic (as opposed to statistical) transmission models are extremely useful in understanding disease dynamics. In particular, the class of Susceptible-Infectious-Resistant (SIR) models are widely used to estimate transmission and test the efficacy of control measures. SIR models describe the spread of infectious disease through a population in time, and the extent of spread depends on natural history parameters such as the transmission rate and the duration of infectiousness [31, 32]. Such parameters are traditionally assumed known, however with appropriate (i.e. detailed) data, these can be estimated exploiting the flexibility of Bayesian modelling to allow for flaws in the data, and to fully quantify the associated uncertainty.

Here, we consider data on occurrence of Salmonella typhimurium in pigs, using simulated data based on Correia-Gomes et al. [33]. The data consists of bi-weekly counts (over 18 weeks so that t=1,...,9) of animals that are either classified as susceptible (S) or infectious (I) or resistant/carrier (R), for 8 pig cohorts. These classifications of infection state were based on imperfect tests, a point we return to later.

#### Model formulation

Most conventional SIR models assume that the rate at which an animal has infectious contacts is constant in time and proportional to the density of infectious animals. The constant of proportionality  $\beta$  is called the transmission rate parameter. Assuming contacts between animals are random, the number of infections in a bi-weekly time step is Poisson distributed with mean  $\lambda_t = \beta(I_t/N_t)$ , where  $N_t$  is the total number of animals. The probability of no infectious contacts per animal is then exp(- $\beta(I_t/N_t)$ ) so that the probability of infection is  $p_t = 1 - \exp(-\beta(I_t/N_t))$ . The number of new cases assumed to be  $C_t \sim \text{Binomial}(S_{t,}p_t)$ . To allow for cohort variability (j=1,...,8) as well as temporal variation due to external factors, we include a zero mean random cohort-time effect, so that  $p_{jt} = 1 - \exp(-\beta(I_{jt}/N_{jt}))\exp(r_{jt})$ . As such, we can formulate the model for new infections at the end of time period t as

 $\begin{array}{l} C_{jt} \sim Binomial(S_{jt}, \, p_{jt}) \\ p_{jt} = 1 \, - \, exp\{ \, -\beta(I_{jt}\text{-}1/N_{jt}\text{-}1)exp(r_{jt})\} \\ cloglog(p_{jt}) = \, log(\beta) \, + \, log(I_{jt}\text{-}1) \, - \, log(N_{jt}\text{-}1) \, + \, r_{jt} \\ r_{jt} \, \sim \, N(r_{j,t-1},\sigma_r^2) \mbox{ for } t \! > \! 1, \, j \! = \! 1, \ldots, 8 \\ r_{j1} \, \sim \, N(0,100) \end{array}$ 

so that for each cohort, j, the effects  $r_{jt}$  capture the any unobserved but structured (modelled by a random walk) effects in time.

Recall however, that the detection of the infection was based on imperfect tests (serological and bacteriological), whose parallel specificity (true negatives) can nonetheless be assumed 100%. However, the sensitivity (true positives) of both tests is not 100% and as such the observed number of infected animals  $lobs_{jt}$ , are a lower bound of the true (unobserved) number  $I_{jt}$ . We can then write  $I_{jt} = lobs_{jt} + lob_{jt}$  where  $lnob_{jt}$  is the number of false positives. This can be modelled as:

#### Inob<sub>jt</sub> ~ Binomial(N<sub>jt</sub>, pND)

Where the probability of not detecting an infected case pND = (1 - SenC)(1 - SenE), with SenC and SenE representing the sensitivity probability of each test (and perfect specificity [34, 35]). Treating Inob<sub>jt</sub> as unobserved allows formal quantification of the uncertainty due to the test sensitivity. Historical information on the sensitivity of both tests ([34, 35]) was used to construct informative beta prior distributions for SenC and SenE, namely SenC ~ Beta(48.5,50.5) and SenE ~ Beta(58.5,27.5).

To model the transition from infectious to resistant we can use similar arguments as before (see Correia-Gomes et al. [33] for details) and write

Rnew<sub>jt</sub> ~ Binomial(I<sub>jt</sub>, pR<sub>j</sub>) cloglog(pR<sub>j</sub>) = log( $\alpha$ ) + s<sub>j</sub> s<sub>j</sub> ~ N( $\theta$ ,  $\sigma$ s<sup>2</sup>)

Where Rnew<sub>jt</sub> is the number of (new) animals that become resistant at the end of t, and  $pR_j$  is the probability that an animal becomes resistant. Parameter  $\alpha$  is the associated recovery rate, while  $s_j$  is a cohort random effect allowing for cohort heterogeneity.

Finally, considering the transition from resistant to infectious we use the following model

Inew<sub>jt</sub> ~ Poisson(
$$\mu_{jt}$$
)  
log( $\mu_{jt}$ ) = log( $\nu$ ) + log( $R_{j,t-1}$ ) +  $q_j$   
 $q_j ~ N(0, \sigma_a^2)$ 

again using similar arguments to before, but replacing the binomial with a Poisson on the basis that this transition is a very rare event and that a Poisson distribution is a good approximation to the binomial distribution for small values of p [3]. Inew<sub>jt</sub> is the number of new infectious animals (from this transition) in cohort j at end of time t, while v is the transmission rate parameter from resistant to infectious.  $R_{j,t-1}$  is the number of resistant animals in the previous time step, so its logarithm is used an as offset. Lastly,  $q_j$  is another cohort random effect.

#### Model implementation and results

To complete the model, we use minimally informative priors for the inverse of the three variance parameters  $(1/\sigma_r^2, 1/\sigma_s^2, 1/\sigma_q^2 \sim \text{Gamma}(0.5, 0.005))$ . This prior has mean 100 and variance 20000 so it is still a flat prior. Unlike conventional Gamma priors with mean 1, the larger mean of 100 can avoid

the chains getting stuck at very low values. Also, we use flat priors N(0,100) for log( $\beta$ ), log( $\alpha$ ) and log( $\nu$ ) (note the large standard deviation). The model was written in the BUGS language, but implemented in the Nimble package within R [36]. The run-time using Nimble was 20 minutes on a 16GB RAM laptop with an i7-8550U CPU. Three MCMC chains were ran for 300,000 iterations, and 200,000 of those were discarded as the burn-in. Only one in ten samples were collected to improve mixing, resulting in a total of 30,000 samples. Here the maximum Gelman-Rubin statistic (across 94 quantities) was 1.03, implying the chains had likely converged to the posterior.

The median estimates of the transmission parameters and the  $R_0$  from this case study are within what is expected for this infectious disease (i.e. Salmonella is an agent that mainly spreads via the faecaloral route). These estimates are also comparable with estimates from other simulation studies [37, 38] and very similar to what is known from experimental and field studies [39, 40]. The estimate of the transition rate ( $\beta$ ) is slightly higher than that reported in Lurette et al. [38]. For a more detailed discussion please see [33].

The top three panels of Figure 4 show the posterior distributions of the three transmission parameters  $\beta$ ,  $\alpha$  and  $\nu$ . These are the parameters of interest, and point estimates of these can be used to run SIR models, noting that the associated uncertainty can also be propagated by using the MCMC samples. The bottom left panel shows the posterior density of  $R_0 = \beta/\alpha$ , the basic reproduction ratio which quantifies the number of secondary cases to which a primary case gives rise during the infectious period. If  $R_0 < 1$  then the disease is receding, but  $R_0 > 1$  implies the disease is spreading. The bottom middle panel shows the posterior mean and 95% credible intervals of  $r_1$  given the data. This is the temporal random effect that captures any latent temporally varying effects in the transition from susceptible to infectious, in cohort 1. Lastly, the bottom right plot shows the posterior density of the probability of not detecting an infected case, pND, showing that although it is small, it is non-zero. As expected both tests are imperfect as bacteriology lacks sensitivity given intermittent shedding of Salmonella by infected pigs, and there is a delay between infection and expression of antibodies detected by serology. It was consequently important to include test sensitivity within the model as not accounting for this lack of sensitivity could generate a lower transmission rate [33].



**Figure 4.** Plots of posterior estimates from the transmission model from the Salmonella dataset. Top three panels (A, B, C) show posterior densities of the three transmission parameters. Lower panels show D) the posterior density of  $R_0$ , E) the temporal effect in the transmission from susceptible to infectious for cohort 1, and F) the posterior probability distribution of not detecting an infected case.

#### Comments as a first-time user

Building the model in WinBUGS was relatively straightforward, existing example code from different models were easily replicable, which made the process behind building the model easier. We have started with a simpler model (without cohort effects) and then step-by-step incorporated additional complexity. At each step the priors and parameters had to be adjusted to prevent the model from crashing. As mentioned previously the WinBUGS trap windows pop up each time an unsatisfactory model is run and deciphering the convoluted error messages can be difficult and time consuming to amend the model.

#### 7.1.2.5 Conclusions

The BUGS language is a useful way to put the theory of Bayesian inference into practice due to the clear distinction between model specification and model implementation (MCMC). BUGS has adapted to current best practice in statistical inference (through additional software development) applied to infectious diseases and many other medical fields. All versions of BUGS continue to gain popularity in research. Typing "WinBUGS Bayesian", "OpenBUGS Bayesian" or "JAGS Bayesian" into Google Scholar returns >24,700 >4,800 and >8,400 hits respectively. Using R to run BUGS models is preferred because of the ease in data manipulation, efficiency in running models and manipulation of the outputs.

For complex models applied to large datasets, model implementation can become increasingly slow. However, the option of using BUGS with R for model implementation, and the recent availability of multiBUGS have made BUGS more computationally efficient. The process behind model development and implementation was illustrated using the examples in this article. However, once the software becomes limiting, it is likely that alternative programming languages that enable alternative implementation to MCMC, or are just faster, would need to be considered. Moderate speed is not an issue unique to BUGS, so the choice of programming language becomes a trade-off between mode run-time and user friendliness.

This article aims to illustrate the utility of using BUGS rather than being an exhaustive list of models that can be implemented, but some additional frameworks are worth mentioning. Accounting for correlation between parameters and non-independent data are important for spatiotemporal analyses, for which several methods are available, such as the CAR model that was trialled using the OPV data. This class of auto-regressive models have been used to account for spatial infectious disease data and covariates not being fully independent, and enables a robust analysis (for example see Lawson [17] and a specific application to dengue modelling by Lowe et al. [41]). If it is not possible to specify a model using the distributions provided within BUGS, the likelihood function can be specified using the 'ones' or 'zeros' trick (and the log-likelihood minimised [42]) and the MCMC machinery used to estimate the posterior distribution (example provided in the SI).

The versatility, ease of use and implementation of Bayesian analysis makes BUGS an excellent tool in infectious disease modelling. For the authors, this means that BUGS has been used for over 10 years and will continue to be used in both teaching and research.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was part-funded funded (MA and KO) by the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation (OPP1191821) and RL was supported by a Royal Society Dorothy Hodgkin Fellowship. The authors thank the UK National Institute for Health Research Health Protection Research Unit (NIHR HPRU) in Modelling Methodology at Imperial College London in partnership with Public Health England (PHE) for funding (grant HPRU-2012–10080) that enabled us to participate in a seminar series at Imperial College London that was associated with this special edition. The authors thank the reviewers for constructive comments that improved the manuscript. The full code for each example is provided at https://github.com/kath-o-reilly/Command-BUGS

#### 7.1.2.6 References

1. Gilks, W., Thomas, A. & Spiegelhalter, D. A Language and Program for Complex Bayesian Modeling. Statistician 43, 169–177 (1994).

2. Lunn, D., Spiegelhalter, D., Thomas, A. & Best, N. The BUGS project: Evolution, critique and future directions. Statistics in Medicine 28, 3049–3067 (2009).

3. Rice, J. A. Mathematical Statistics and Data Analysis (Thompson Higher Education, Belmont, 2007), 3rd edn.

4. Bellot, D. Learning Probabilistic Graphical Models in R (Packt Publishing, Limited, 2016), 1st edn.

5. Handel, A. Learning infectious disease epidemiology in a modern framework. Plos Computational Biology 13 (2017).

6. Lunn, D., Best, N., Thomas, A., Wakefield, J. & Spiegelhalter, D. Bayesian analysis of population PK/PD models: General concepts and software. Journal of Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics 29, 271–307 (2002).

7. Thomas, A., Best, N., Lunn, D., Arnold, R. & Spiegelhalter, D. GeoBUGS User Manual (2004).

8. Thomas, A., O'Hara, B., Ligges, U. & Sturtz, S. Making BUGS open. R News 6, 12–17 (2006).

9. Plummer, M. JAGS: A Program for Analysis of Bayesian Graphical Models Using Gibbs Sampling. (2003). URL http://www.ci.tuwien.ac.at/Conferences/DSC-2003/Proceedings/.

10. Goudie, R. J. B., Turner, R. M., De Angelis, D. & Thomas, A. MultiBUGS: A parallel implementation of the BUGS modelling framework for faster Bayesian inference. arXlv.org arXiv:1704.03216v4 (2017).

11. Sturtz, S., Ligges, U. & Gelman, A. R2winbugs: A package for running winbugs from r. Journal of Statistical Software 12, 1–16 (2005). URL http://www.jstatsoft.org.

12. Denwood, M. J. runjags: An R Package Providing Interface Utilities, Model Templates, Parallel Computing Methods and Additional Distributions for MCMC Models in JAGS. Journal of Statistical Software 71, 9 (2016).

13. Wabersich, D. & Vandekerckhove, J. Extending JAGS: A tutorial on adding custom distributions to JAGS (with a diffusion model example). Behavior Research Methods 46, 15–28 (2014).

14. Kery, M. Introduction to WinBUGS for ecologists (Academic Press, 2010).

15. Kery, M. & Schaub, M. Bayesian Population Analysis using WinBUGS: A Hierarchical Perspective (Academic Press, 2011).

McCarthy, M. A. Bayesian Methods for Ecology. (Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK., 2007).

17. McCarthy, M. A. Bayesian Disease Mapping: Hierarchical modeling in spatial epidemiology. (Cambridge University Press,, Cambridge, UK., 2009).

18. Kruschke, J. K. Doing Bayesian Analysis: A tutorial with R and BUGS. (Academic Press, Kidlington, USA., 2011).

19. Cowles, M. Review of WinBUGS 1.4. American Statistician 58, 330–336 (2004). 20

20. LSHTM. Epidemiology MSc at the LSHTM (2019). URL https: //www.lshtm.ac.uk/study/newstudents/starting-your-course-london/ masters-orientation-and-programme-information/medicalstatistics.

21. ICL. Epidemiology MSc at Imperial College London (2019). URL https://www.imperial. ac.uk/study/pg/medicine/epidemiology/.

22. Seaman, J. W., III, Seaman, J. W., Jr. & Stamey, J. D. Hidden Dangers of Specifying Noninformative Priors. American Statistician 66, 77–84 (2012).

23. Toft, N., Innocent, G. T., Gettinby, G. & Reid, S. W. J. Assessing the convergence of Markov Chain Monte Carlo methods: an example from evaluation of diagnostic tests in absence of a gold standard. Prev. Vet. Med 79, 244–256 (2007). URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j. prevetmed.2007.01.003.

24. Plummer, M., Best, N., Cowles, K. & Vines, K. Coda: Convergence diagnosis and output analysis for mcmc. R News 6, 7–11 (2006). URL https://journal.r-project.org/archive/.

25. Brooks, S. & Gelman, A. General methods for monitoring convergence of iterative simulations. Journal of Computational and Graphical Statistics 7, 434–455 (1998).

26. Tangermann, R. H., Lamoureux, C., Tallis, G. & Goel, A. The critical role of acute flaccid paralysis surveillance in the Global Polio Eradication Initiative. International Health 9, 156–163 (2017).

27. O'Reilly, K. M. et al. An assessment of the geographical risks of wild and vaccine-derived poliomyelitis outbreaks in Africa and Asia. BMC Infectious Diseases 17 (2017).

28. Tegegne, A. A. et al. Characteristics of wild polio virus outbreak investigation and response in Ethiopia in 2013-2014: implications for prevention of outbreaks due to importations. BMC Infectious Diseases 18 (2018).

29. WHO. Immunization schedules by country (2019). URL http://apps.who.int/ immunization\_monitoring/globalsummary/schedules?sc%5Br%5D%5B%5D=AFRO&sc%5Bc% 5D%5B%5D=COD&sc%5Bd%5D=&sc%5Bv%5D%5B%5D=OPV&sc%5BOK%5D=OK.

30. Cutts, F. T., Izurieta, H. S. & Rhoda, D. A. Measuring Coverage in MNCH: Design, Implementation, and Interpretation Challenges Associated with Tracking Vaccination Coverage Using Household Surveys. Plos Medicine 10 (2013).

31. Keeling, M. J. & Rohani, P. Modeling Infectious Diseases in Humans and Animals (Princeton University Press, 2008). URL http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctvcm4gk0.

206

32. Renshaw, E. Modelling Biological Populations in Space and Time. Cambridge Studies in Mathematical Biology (Cambridge University Press, 1991).

33. Correia-Gomes, C. et al. Transmission parameters estimated for Salmonella typhimurium in swine using susceptible-infectious-resistant models and a Bayesian approach. BMC Veterinary Research 10 (2014).

34. Eriksson, E. & Aspan, A. Comparison of culture, ELISA and PCR techniques for salmonella detection in faecal samples for cattle, pig and poultry. BMC veterinary research 3, 21 (2007).

35. Harris, I. Serologic basis for assessment of subclinical Salmonella infection in swine: Part 2. Journal of Swine Health and Production 11, 300–303 (2003).

36. de Valpine, P. et al. Programming With Models: Writing Statistical Algorithms for General Model Structures With NIMBLE. Journal of Computational and Graphical Statistics 26, 403–413 (2017).
37. Hill, A. A., Snary, E. L., Arnold, M. E., Alban, L. & Cook, A. J. Dynamics of Salmonella transmission on a British pig grower-finisher farm: a stochastic model. Epidemiol Infect. 136, 320–333 (2008).

38. Lurette, A. et al. Modelling Salmonella spread within a farrow-to-finish pig herd. Vet Res. 39, 49–10 (2008).

39. Fravalo, P., Cariolet, R., Proux, K. & Salvat, G. Le portage asymptomatique de Salmonella enterica par les porcs: r´ esultats issues de la constituition d'un mod`ele en conditions exp´ erimentales.
35`emes Journ´ ees de la Recherche Porcine. Paris, France: ITP, INRA 393– 400 (2007).

40. Nicholson, A., F., Groves, J., S. & Chambers, J., B. Pathogen survival during livestock manure storage and following land application. Bioresour Technol. 96, 135–143 (2005).

41. Lowe, R. et al. The development of an early warning system for climate-sensitive disease risk with a focus on dengue epidemics in Southeast Brazil. Statistics in Medicine 32, 864–883 (2013).

42. OpenBUGS. Advanced Use of the BUGS Language (2006). URL http://www.openbugs.net/ Manuals/Tricks.html.

# 7.1.2.7 Supplementary material



*Figure S1.* Trace plots of the following parameters; probability of not detecting an infected case (pND), the transmission rate ( $\beta$ ), the recovery rate ( $\alpha$ ), the reinfection rate ( $\nu$ ).



**Figure S2.** Trace plots of the variance parameters; cohort heterogeneity ( $\sigma_s$ ), cohort random effect ( $\sigma_q$ ), time random effect ( $\sigma_r$ ).

#### 7.2 Chapter 3 appendix

#### Section 1: Model structure, parameters and limitations

#### Execution of pSIAs and oSIAs

SIAs, including both pSIAs and oSIAs include door-to-door delivery of OPV to children under five years of age. Before an SIA occurs, a target population for the activity is set and vaccinators operate within this target geography for the activity. OPV does not require a cold chain and therefore allows for vaccinators to vaccinate hard-to-reach children who would otherwise be missed by routine immunisations. Once a child has been vaccinated, the dose is recorded on a health card or the child's finger is marked with ink to indicate to the vaccinators that the child has already received a dose during the SIA. This prevents vaccinators from vaccinating the same children twice. This process is used in both pSIAs and oSIAs. Therefore, the transition of a child between model compartments following a vaccine dose is identical for pSIAs and oSIAs. The parameters such as SIA coverage, vaccine efficacy and seroconversion are the same for pSIAs and oSIAs

The difference between pSIAs and oSIAs is how they are funded and planned. oSIAs are emergency responses to outbreaks and therefore, occur rapidly following an outbreak (at least within 90 days) only in areas affected by the outbreak. Sometimes, a buffer area, or a geography surrounding the outbreak, can also be vaccinated during an oSIA. pSIAs occur as National Immunisation Days (NIDs) or Subnational Immunisation Days (SNIDs) and usually cover a larger geographical area than oSIAs. These funding and planning differences are important for the economic aspects of this analysis, but do not alter any model transitions in the SIR model below. For calculation of historical SIAs, we assumed that pSIAs included NIDs or SNIDs with bOPV (or trivalent OPV (tOPV) pre-2016) that did not occur within 365 days of a WPV1 or VDPV1 detection by AFP surveillance or ES. Any SIA that occurred within this interval was not included in the overall count of pSIAs.

#### Geographical setting modelled

In this analysis, we model a hypothetical geography for a non-polio endemic LMIC in sub-Saharan Africa with a population size of approximately 8 million children under five years of age. There are a few reasons we did not model a specific country. Firstly, WPV1 importation into Africa is not, in 2024, a common occurrence. Therefore, we cannot fit this model to actual WPV1 importation data in many geographies. We saw an unexpected, albeit understandable, importation event in 2021, which highlighted the need for other non-endemic countries in AFRO to evaluate their current vaccination strategies given baseline RI coverage and importation risk, given onward transmission from the

Malawi importation event. One benefit of using a hypothetical setting is that the implications of this model can be applied to a range of countries even in the absence of an importation to predict risk and understand the benefits and risks of adopting different SIA strategies.

#### Model structure

A stochastic non-linear mathematical model was used to simulate polio transmission dynamics, whereby infectious individuals develop either asymptomatic (I, or infectious, compartment), or symptomatic infection (C, or case, compartment), both of which are assumed to be infectious. Both infections and cases recover to the Rn compartment. In the model, children are either susceptible (S0 compartment), fully vaccinated and protected from poliovirus infection (Rv compartment) or have received an incomplete vaccination series (less than 3 bOPV doses + 1 IPV dose, modelled separately). Children who were not vaccinated via RI, can receive additional doses of bOPV vaccine through either pSIAs or oSIAs. Each subsequent dose of vaccine corresponds additional protection and an opportunity for a child to seroconvert and be considered fully protected from poliovirus infection (corresponding to each of the Sn tiers).

The left side of Appendix Figure 1 corresponds to children missed by RI who have an opportunity for additional bOPV doses via SIAs. Progression through the model to different Sn compartments happens only at the time of an SIA.

The right side of Appendix Figure 1 corresponds to RI and happens daily, when life births enter the population. Vaccination via RI is assumed to occur upon entering the model. Children vaccinated via RI are assumed to receive a sequential schedule of both bOPV and IPV, whereby they are assumed to seroconvert and be protected from poliovirus (transitioning to Rv compartment). Only children previously vaccinated via RI are eligible for vaccination with IPV and IPV is provided alongside the third dose of bOPV via RI in most African countries.

To guide understanding of the model diagram, the compartments correspond to the following:

- S0 = susceptible to poliovirus, no vaccine received
- I = infectious, but asymptomatic
- C = infectious and polio (AFP) case
- Rn = recovery via natural infection
- $S_n$  = susceptible to poliovirus infection, but have received *n* bOPV doses via SIAs (S<sub>3sia</sub> explicitly refers to children who received the 3<sup>rd</sup> bOPV dose via SIAs not RI)
- RI<sub>3bOPV + IPV</sub> = vaccinated with 3 bOPV doses + IPV at birth via RI
- S3<sub>ri</sub> = vaccinated with bOPV, but missed IPV dose

# Event table for the SIR model

Appendix table 1 shows transitions and transition probabilities in the stochastic SIR model. The compartments and probabilities correspond to Appendix figure 1 and Appendix Table 3.

Appendix	Table 1.	Model	transitions	and	transition	probabilities	in th	e stochastic	SIR	model
						p. 0.000.000.000		0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	····	

$S0 \rightarrow ((1-\rho) * \phi) * (\beta * S0 * (I+C)) / (S0 + S_n + RI_{3bOPV + IPV} + Rv + I + C + Rn) \rightarrow I$
$SO \rightarrow \rho^* \phi^* (\beta^* SO^* (I + C)) / (SO + S_n + RI_{3bOPV + IPV} + Rv + I + C + Rn) \rightarrow C$
$S_n \rightarrow ((1-\rho) * \phi) * (\beta * S_1 * (I + C)) / (SO + S_n + RI_{3bOPV + IPV} + Rv + I + C + Rn) \rightarrow I$
$S_n \rightarrow \rho * \phi^* (\beta * S_1 * (I + C)) / (S0 + S_n + RI_{3bOPV + IPV} + Rv + I + C + Rn) \rightarrow C$
$RI_{3bOPV + IPV} \rightarrow ((1 - \rho) * \phi) * (\beta * RI_{3bOPV + IPV} * (I + C)) / (SO + S_n + RI_{3bOPV + IPV} + Rv + I + C + Rn) \rightarrow I$
$RI_{3bOPV + IPV} \rightarrow \rho * \phi * (\beta * RI_{3bOPV + IPV} * (I + C)) / (SO + S_n + RI_{3bOPV + IPV} + Rv + I + C + Rn) \rightarrow C$
$I \rightarrow \gamma * I \rightarrow Rn$
$C \rightarrow \gamma * C \rightarrow Rn$



Appendix Figure 1. Model structure of the extended SIR model. Births enter the population either via the S0 compartment or the  $S3_{ri}$  compartment, assuming vaccination with three bOPV doses occurs via RI at the time of birth. Children can exit the population from any compartment via death. Children missed by RI at birth remain in the S0 compartment, with potential for vaccination with one dose of bOPV via pSIA or oSIA. Each of the SIA tiers ( $S_n$ ), where n corresponds to the number of bOPV doses received via an SIA, allow for potential seroconversion and transition to the Rv compartment according to assumed bOPV vaccine efficacy. Children who do not seroconvert following bOPV during an SIA progress to the next vaccination tier, n+1, and await subsequent SIA vaccination. Each of the SIA tiers remain susceptible to infection. In this model we assume that bOPV coverage = IPV coverage.

## Model compartments and transitions

A review of the immunogenicity of vaccination schedules with both IPV and three doses of bOPV indicate high rates of seroconversion alongside some geographical variability [1] and sustained protection against paralytic poliomyelitis [2]. Accordingly, we assume seroconversion and transition to the Rv compartment is 100% for children who received three doses of bOPV and one dose of IPV and no waning of protection. The assumptions described here about vaccination activities provide a 'steady state' immunity profile which we use to explore the effects of polio introductions. We assume that once five years of age is reached, children are no longer relevant to poliovirus transmission, due to the high likelihood of immunity against infection due to vaccination.

Compartment	Assumption
S <sub>0</sub>	Susceptible individuals in this compartment have not been vaccinated, i.e., zero doses received of both bOPV and IPV. The proportion of unvaccinated individuals born into this compartment depends on assumed RI coverage. From $S_0$ , individuals exposed to 1 dose of bOPV via an SIA progress to $S_n$ . Individuals who stay in $S_0$ remain susceptible to infection.
Sn	Individuals in this compartment have received <i>n</i> doses of bOPV via an SIA. From each $S_n$ compartment, a certain proportion will seroconvert after vaccination and transition to Rv, according to bOPV vaccine efficacy (see parameter $\phi$ below). While those that did not seroconvert stay in $S_n$ and remain susceptible to infection (adjusted by a factor of $\phi$ for protection received by <i>n</i> doses) and are eligible for future vaccination in a subsequent SIA. After 4 bOPV doses, all children are assumed to seroconvert and transition to Rv after completing a full series of vaccinations.
RI <sub>3bopv</sub> + ipv	Assuming bOPV coverage = IPV coverage. Children in this compartment are vaccinated via RI with a sequential schedule of OPV/OPV/IPV/OPV. It is assumed after 3 doses of bOPV and 1 dose IPV 100% of children seroconvert and transition to the Rv compartment and are also protected from paralysis.
S3 <sub>ri</sub>	Individuals in this compartment received 3 doses of bOPV at birth via RI. From S3 <sub>ri</sub> , a certain proportion will seroconvert after 3 doses and transition to Rv, according to bOPV vaccine efficacy (see parameter $\phi$ below in Appendix Table 3). Of those vaccinated with IPV, 100% are assumed to seroconvert and transition to Rv.
1	Individuals in this compartment are infectious, but asymptomatic. They can spread infection to others but are not a paralytic case of polio. Importations of infection who enter the population enter via this compartment.
С	Individuals in this compartment are a paralytic case of polio. They can spread infection to others and trigger an outbreak response campaign in the baseline strategy.
Rn	Individuals in this compartment have recovered from natural infection and are assumed immune to subsequent infection.
Rv	Individuals in this compartment have received sufficient vaccination to result in seroconversion and are assumed immune to subsequent infection.

Appendix Table 2. Model compartments and corresponding explanation of compartmental transitions and assumptions

# Model parameters, assumptions and transition probabilities

Parameter	Value	Assumption
γ	1/8	$\gamma$ = recovery rate – the infectious period for polio is between 7-10 days before AND after symptoms. Here, we took the average, 8 days that an individual can remain in the I or C compartment, before transitioning to R <sub>n</sub>
R <sub>o</sub>	3	Basic reproductive number. For polio, the basic reproductive number, R <sub>0</sub> , can vary substantially between locations depending on sanitation and hygiene conditions [3].
β	0.375	The effective contact rate, which affects the transition from the susceptible compartment to the infected compartment, and the rate of recovery, which affects the transition from the infected compartment to the recovered compartment. If, $R_o = \beta / \gamma$ Then, if $R_o$ is 3, and $\gamma$ is 1/8, then $\beta$ is 0.375
ρ	1/200	Case to infection ratio for WPV. The WPV1 case to infection ratio was assumed to be 1:200, which is consistent with estimates for poliovirus serotype 1 [4].
к	Varied between 0.25 – 1.0	Proportion that received 3 doses of bOPV via RI
ζ	0.25	Proportion of the target population reached by the SIA, those missed by the campaign are represented by 1- $\zeta$
ω	Varied between 0.25 – 1.0	Proportion exposed to IPV vaccination
φ	$1 - ((1 - 0.5)^{\text{doses}})$	Vaccine effectiveness of bOPV for protection against serotype 1, i.e., the proportion of the population that seroconvert and transition to Rv assuming vaccine efficacy (VE) is 50%
μ	5*10 <sup>-4</sup> * population	Birth rate = death rate 4,000 live births per day in a country of 8 million is the average number of live births across African countries, assumptions on the equal birth and death rate are in line with other research using a similar hypothetical population [5]
Herd immunity	1-1/R <sub>0</sub>	Using an $R_0=3$ , the herd immunity threshold would be assumed to be reached at 66.67% RI coverage

Appendix Table 3. Table of model parameters and corresponding values and assumptions

#### Model framework

It is important to discuss the model framework used in this analysis and associated pros and cons of the simplistic model structure and assumptions. Model simplicity allows for easy interpretation and is applicable to a range of settings. Here, we model a hypothetical population size for a LMIC in sub-Saharan Africa using certain fixed parameters, but the simple model structure can be easily adapted to fit specific countries, or even subnational populations. The model compartments and transitions are easy to understand by a wide range of audiences, not just mathematical modellers and the SimInf package allows for easy adaptation of scheduled vaccination activities to local contexts. SimInf uses continuous-time Markov chains using the Gillespie stochastic simulation algorithm (SSA) to integrate infection dynamics and incorporates available data such as births, deaths or vaccination as scheduled events.

The simplicity of the model does give rise to several limitations. In this model, we assume homogenous mixing, assume that the same polio programme has been in place for 50 years prior to model initiation, assume SIAs reach 25% of children unvaccinated by RI, assume a single value for R<sub>0</sub> and other model parameters with no uncertainty. Of particularly importance is heterogeneity in the population structure. If there are pockets with higher rates of transmission or lower vaccination coverage (or both) then this would increase the likelihood of outbreaks and thus decrease the likelihood that eradication will be achieved. Sensitivity analyses in Appendix Section 4 further explore varying assumptions about SIA target population, importation rate and R<sub>0</sub>. In summary, under different assumptions, model outputs across vaccination strategies are only affected when RI coverage is very low and therefore, support the assumptions used in the main analysis.

Further, the model structure assumes that children are vaccinated when they are born into the population, not accounting for infection prior to vaccination. Because the average age of infection with poliomyelitis occurs after the vaccination schedule of bOPV given at 6, 10 and 14 weeks of age alongside the effect of maternal antibodies, this limitation is unlikely to impact the expected number of AFP cases. However, because the size of the birth cohort vaccinated may be overestimated in the absence of infant mortality assumptions, the costs of RI may be over-estimated here. Additionally, we do not include indirect costs of vaccination, such as opportunity costs of time spent for vaccination, which may result in an underestimation of costs across all strategies. The indirect benefits of these additional interventions (such as productivity increases from averting polio cases) are also not quantified in the costs and benefits of SIAs described here, therefore the deaths and burden averted are polio specific and exclude indirect economic effects, in contrast to some other analyses.

216
#### Section 2: Model and cost assumptions

#### IPV and OPV coverage estimates

This WEUNIC data shows the relationship between IPV and OPV3 coverage (three doses of bOPV vaccine) for twenty-five countries in sub-Saharan Africa. IPV was introduced later in time in all countries, and although at the time of introduction IPV coverage was lower than OPV3 coverage in most countries, in 2021, IPV and OPV3 coverage was roughly equal across all countries. This data supports the model assumption that IPV coverage = OPV3 coverage, or all children that receive a third dose of bOPV, also received IPV via RI.



Appendix Figure 2. WUENIC coverage estimates 2000-2021 for OPV3 and IPV1 across Sub-Saharan African countries. The strong correlation between OPV3 and IPV1 coverage estimates in 2020 and 2021 (when scale-up of IPV implementation was reached) support model assumptions that OPV coverage is equal to IPV coverage. DRC = Democratic Republic of Congo.

#### Sample size calculation

The United Nations World Population Prospects (WPP) data was used in our sample size calculation [6]. We used WPP data from 2021 to calculate the mean under-5 population size in 25 Sub-Saharan countries: Burundi, Guinea, Benin, Zimbabwe, Senegal, Malawi, Zambia, Somalia, Chad, Burkina Faso, Mali, Madagascar, Côte d'Ivoire, Cameroon, Ghana, Niger, Mozambique, South Africa, Angola, Kenya, Sudan, Uganda, United Republic of Tanzania, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ethiopia, Nigeria. The mean under-5 population size was 8,000,000 and the range of the data was (2,500,000 – 41,000,000). Given this large range of population sizes across countries, we chose to use the mean under-5 sample size amongst these countries as our target-population size for this modelling. Historical pSIAs and RI coverage of an additional 10 countries with smaller under-5 populations are referenced in the manuscript to give regional context and our results are still relevant for these geographies, but absolute cases and costs need to be scaled according to population size.

#### Cost assumptions

We assume costs of SIAs are the same across the entire modelled time horizon. Costs associated with vaccine doses and the number of children vaccinated during an SIA are estimated using the entire target population of eight million children under five years of age, even though in practice, the true proportion of children reached during SIAs is often much lower due to operational challenges and other logistical shortcomings [7]. As model outputs captured the variability across all stochastic simulations, costs for each individual simulation were calculated across all strategies. The average expected costs for each strategy were then obtained by taking the mean cost across all simulations for each corresponding strategy. The GPEI costs include those associated with SIAs and IPV in RI. Treatment costs associated with paralytic polio (including VAPP) are paid for by the country and included as health care system costs; specific equations used in the costing estimates can be found below in Appendix Table 4.

Literature has shown that costs associated with RI administration can vary across RI coverage for different antigens [8, 9], but usually the threshold cut-off is below and above 80% RI coverage and explicit evidence of this differential for polio is not well documented. Accordingly, we use one value for costs associated with RI administration for polio as documented by Kalkowska et al.

## Appendix Table 4. Table of cost inputs and corresponding values and assumptions

ltem	Value (USD\$2023)	Assumption / reference
bOPV dose	\$0.18	Average cost for a GAVI country [9], price per dose in a
		10-dose vile
IPV dose	\$2.00	For a GAVI country 10-dose vile and translated into
		USD\$2023 [10]
RI OPV admin	\$1.06*3 doses	Costs associated with administration, procurement and
		storage of OPV for use in RI. 2019 costs were obtained
		from appendix Table A1 [11]. We assume costs and
		wastage are based on the size of the entire birth cohort.
RI IPV admin	\$2.00	Costs associated with administration, procurement and
		storage of IPV for use in RI. 2019 costs were obtained
		from appendix Table A1 [11]. We assume costs and
		wastage are based on the size of the entire birth cohort.
pSIA	\$0.50/child	Includes operational costs, social mobilisation and
		administration. We assume that SIAs are planned to
		reach 100% of the population and costed accordingly but
		the actual population vaccinated is 25% due to
		operational challenges. Costs are obtained from GPEI
oSIA	\$1.0/child	Includes costs associated with emergency response to an
	+ ,	outbreak. We assume that SIAs are planned to reach
	Range: \$0.50 –	100% of the population and costed accordingly but the
	\$1.50/child	actual population vaccinated is 25% due to operational
	<i>q</i> 1007 01110	challenges. Costs are estimated based on GPEL costs for
		pSIAs
VAPP rate	Dependent on dose	1 <sup>st</sup> dose: 0.9 VAPP cases/1 million bOPV doses
	and vaccination	administered, a 6.6-fold greater risk than following
	schedule	subsequent doses [12]
		The risk of VAPP following OPV vaccination is reduced if
		IPV has been received. We assume no risk of VAPP
		associated with IPV vaccination and a 53% reduction in
		VAPP cases following bOPV if IPV has already been
		received
	14/naralytic case	Assume AFP case = VAPP case
Paralytic case	\$700/case	Assume AFP case = VAPP case cost is for a low-income
i araiytio case	<i>ç, 00, 000c</i>	country [8]
bOPV wastage RI	Range 10-20%	Range of estimated wastage of bOPV in RI [13, 14]
bOPV wastage SIA	Range 5-15%	Range of estimated wastage of bOPV in both pSIAs and
		oSIAs [13, 14]
IPV wastage RI	Range 5-20%	Range of estimated wastage of IPV in routine settings
	1.01.80 0 20/0	Range varies based on vial size and setting [13, 14]
Health care system		Treatment costs (red) + RI OPV costs (blue)
& non-GPEL costs		
		(Cost per AFP case * AFP cases) +
		(Cost per VAPP case * VAPP cases)
		+
		(RI coverage *(New-horns eligible for hOPV vaccingtion *
		total doses received per child) * (Cost per dose of hOPV +
		RI delivery cost per dose of $hOPV$ ) * (1 + $hOPV$ wastage
		rate for RII)

GPEI costs	pSIA	a costs (green) + oSIA costs (purple) + RI IPV costs
	(ora	nge)
	(SIA	coverage * (Target population <sup><math>\dagger</math></sup> * Number of pSIAs) *
	(Co	ost per dose of $bOPV + pSIA$ delivery cost per dose of
	· · · ·	bOPV) * (1 + bOPV wastage rate for SIAs))
		+
	(SIA	coverage * (Target population <sup><math>\dagger</math></sup> * Number of oSIAs) *
	` (C	ast per dose of $bOPV + oSIA$ delivery cost per dose of
	(0.	$h \cap P(V) * (1 + h \cap P(V) \text{ wastage rate for } S(\Delta s))$
		borvy (1 · borv wastage rate for shasy)
		+
	(F	RI coverage * (New-borns eligible for vaccination) *
	(Со	st per dose of IPV + RI delivery cost per dose of IPV) *
		(1 + IPV wastage rate for RI))
	* T;	arget population for pSIAs and oSIAs refers to all children under five years of age

## Calculation of Incremental Cost-Effectiveness Ratios (ICERs)

ICERs were calculated using the following equation:

 $ICER = \frac{(costs \ of \ pSIA \ strategy - costs \ of \ baseline \ strategy)}{(DALYs \ averted \ by \ pSIA \ strategy)}$ 

Mean ICERs were calculated using the mean costs and DALYS of each vaccination strategy for each RI coverage level across all model simulations. Then to get uncertainty, we calculated an ICER for each of the simulations. We extracted the lowest (Democratic Republic of the Congo), median (Benin) and highest (South Africa) cost-effectiveness thresholds among the 25 low, lower middle and upper middle-income sub-Saharan African countries used in our sample size calculation from supplementary table 3 by Pichon-Riviere A et al. 2023 [15]. The results are provided not to drive a specific investment decision within a health technology assessment (HTA) or other decision-making framework (as a cost-effectiveness analysis for a new drug or vaccine would be), but to provide general evidence to inform policy making. GDP data was obtained from the World Bank database [16].



Variable number of outbreaks across all strategies

The stochasticity of epidemics means that there is considerable variability in outcome for identical assumptions focussing on simulations that had  $\geq 1$  paralytic polio case (Appendix Figure). We define an outbreak as at least one case of paralytic poliomyelitis, which we assume would present as acute flaccid paralysis (AFP). To count the total number of outbreaks, all cases that occurred within 90 days of the first case were considered part of the same outbreak. Cases that occurred in subsequent intervals of 90 days were considered part of different independent outbreaks. Even though some cases that are allocated to different outbreaks may in fact be linked or a part of the same outbreak, the 90-day threshold aligned with the schedule of oSIAs and was used as a consistent unit to count outbreaks across strategies. This method of counting outbreaks may incorrectly attribute linked cases from the same outbreak as independent outbreaks but was taken to reduce model complexity. As

Appendix Figure 3. Number of outbreaks in each individual model simulation for each vaccination strategy, among simulations with  $\geq$ 1 paralytic polio case. The low number of outbreaks at RI coverage levels >70% correspond to a lower probability of an outbreak, which was lowest in the annual pSIA strategy.

standard operating procedures for polio outbreaks recommend an oSIA in affected areas within 90days of the first case, if an outbreak is not stopped or subsequent cases arise later, this would trigger a subsequent oSIA, a chronology which is accurately accounted for in this analysis. In the absence of having uniquely identifiable outbreaks within the model, simplifying the outbreak count by using a 90day cut-off is a limitation that may over-estimate the total number of outbreaks, however, the counting methodology is consistent across all evaluated strategies.

#### Trends in VAPP and DALYs

Vaccine associated paralytic polio (VAPP) occurs when a strain of poliovirus that has genetically mutated from the original attenuated vaccine strain contained in OPV causes paralysis [17]. VAPP can occur following vaccination with OPV, or it can also occur in a close unvaccinated or non-immune contact of a vaccine recipient who excretes the mutated virus [17]. VAPP rate across settings with and without SIAs has been shown to vary [18], although this variation is not well understood or documented. OPV administration following IPV receipt is associated with a further risk reduction of VAPP [12] and is accounted for in model assumptions (Appendix Table 4). Expected VAPP cases over the same interval are greatest in the annual pSIA strategy, corresponding to the strategy with the greatest number of vaccine doses administered (Appendix Figure 4). The annual pSIA strategy administers the greatest number of vaccine doses and is the strategy that results in the fewest expected WPV cases over five-years (main text figure 2A). At RI coverage levels below 70%, DALYs incurred are greatest in the baseline strategy, the strategy with the greatest number of expected AFP cases. However, at RI coverage levels >70%, the average number of VAPP cases exceeds the number of WPV1 cases in all pSIA strategies, which drives these two strategies to have a greater number of estimated DALYs lost than the RI strategy alone. Expected DALYs in the annual pSIA strategy are greatest when RI coverage exceeds 70% because the number of pSIAs remains constant over time, resulting in more VAPP cases and consequently, a greater number of DALYs incurred. In contrast, above 70% RI coverage, the baseline strategy has fewer WPV1 cases and no or fewer oSIAs, resulting in fewer VAPP cases and therefore fewer expected DALYs incurred.



Appendix Figure 4. Average number of expected VAPP cases and DALYs per capita over 5 years amongst model simulations that reported at least one outbreak. The increase in VAPP cases is related to the increase in vaccine doses administered.

Appendix Table 5. Health system perspective: table of cases, VAPP, DALYS and costs across all strategies. Uncertainty in cases and associated costs is presented as 95% credible intervals (CI). Here, the mean values are obtained from taking the mean across all model simulations, not just amongst the simulations with an outbreak (as was done in table 2 in the main text).

			Cases	Cases	Mean			Mean	Total	Total
RI (%)	Strategy	Mean	lwr	unr	outbreaks	Mean	Mean	total costs	costs (\$)	costs (\$)
111 (70)	Strategy	cases	95% CI	95% CI	(range)	VAPP	DALYS	(\$)	lwr 95% Cl	upr 95%
								(+)		CI
25	Annual pSIA	156	129	183	4 (0-8)	40	2742	8065554	/955389	9028399
30	Annual pSIA	20	16	24	2 (0—6)	46	930	9560618	9545889	9652046
35	Annual pSIA	3	3	4	1 (0-5)	53	784	11139031	11136390	11150405
40	Annual pSIA	1	1	1	1 (0-3)	59	843	12727687	12726890	12730621
45	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—3)	66	931	14317772	14317391	14319951
50	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—3)	73	1024	15908119	15907891	15909613
55	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—2)	80	1118	17498506	17498392	17499412
60	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—2)	87	1214	19088967	19088893	19089831
65	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—2)	93	1310	20679448	20679394	20680270
70	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—2)	100	1406	22269934	22269894	22270717
75	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—2)	107	1502	23860434	23860395	23861221
80	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—2)	114	1598	25450918	25450896	25451599
85	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-1)	121	1694	27041413	27041397	27041399
90	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—1)	128	1790	28631903	28631897	28631899
95	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-1)	135	1886	30222399	30222398	30222399
100	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—0)	142	1983	31812928	31812928	31812928
25	Biennial pSIA	5520	5351	5689	6 (0-10)	37	77800	11818435	8287477	15535884
30	Biennial pSIA	2718	2577	2859	6 (0-10)	44	38663	11447281	9561613	14853006
35	Biennial pSIA	866	797	935	5 (0—9)	50	12822	11740950	11133068	13865749
40	Biennial pSIA	154	137	171	4 (0—8)	56	2936	12832320	12723213	13448221
45	Biennial pSIA	16	15	18	3 (0—7)	62	1093	14325840	14313359	14387991
50	Biennial pSIA	3	2	3	1 (0-5)	67	981	15905929	15903505	15915663
55	Biennial pSIA	1	1	1	1 (0-4)	73	1035	17494354	17493651	17497300
60	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-4)	79	1116	19084100	19083798	19085739
65	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	86	1203	20674109	20673944	20674993
70	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	92	1290	22264176	22264091	22265056
75	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	98	1379	23854299	23854237	23855158
80	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	105	1468	25444422	25444384	25445241
85	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	111	1557	27034555	27034531	27035333
90	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-1)	118	1645	28624688	28624677	28624679
95	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-1)	124	1735	30214829	30214824	30214825
100	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—0)	130	1824	31804991	31804991	31804991
25	Baseline	22158	22071	22246	4 (2—9)	31	310649	23460911	21665597	25612092
30	Baseline	19021	18938	19105	4 (3-10)	37	266811	22854690	20515728	25133539
35	Baseline	15753	15664	15842	4 (3—8)	42	221134	22156506	19692406	24125425
40	Baseline	12296	12182	12409	5 (0—9)	48	172812	21326123	18539293	23184345
45	Baseline	7990	7859	8120	5 (0—9)	54	112616	19901986	16503382	22298018
50	Baseline	3524	3399	3649	6 (0-10)	60	50181	18365947	15986096	21224605
55	Baseline	598	546	650	5 (0—8)	66	9290	17907087	17486193	19487919
60	Baseline	30	26	34	3 (0-7)	70	1399	19098238	19075847	19199688
65	Baseline	2	2	2	1 (0-5)	74	1073	20667602	20665501	20674099
70	Baseline	0	0	0	0 (0—3)	80	1119	22255585	22255155	22257731
75	Baseline	0	0	0	0 (0-3)	85	1193	23844979	23844808	23845898
80	Baseline	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	91	1270	25434546	25434462	25435474
85	Baseline	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	96	1349	27024160	27024116	27025050
90	Baseline	0	0	0	0 (0-1)	102	1428	28613790	28613770	28613770
95	Baseline	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	108	1507	30203435	30203424	30203424
100	Baseline	0	0	0	0(0-1)	113	1586	31793079	31793078	31793078

Appendix Table 6. GPEI perspective: table of cases, VAPP, DALYS and costs across all strategies. Uncertainty in cases and associated costs is presented as 95% credible intervals (CI). Here, the mean values are obtained from taking the mean across all model simulations, not just amongst the simulations with an outbreak (as was done in table 2 in the main text).

			Cases	Cases	Mean			Mean	Total	Total
BL (%)	Strategy	Mean	lwr	Lases	outbreaks	Mean	Mean	total costs	costs (\$)	costs (\$)
1(1 (70)	Strategy	cases	95% CI	95% CI	(range)	VAPP	DALYS	(\$)	lwr 95% Cl	upr 95%
			5570 61	5570 61				(\$)		CI
25	Annual pSIA	156	129	183	4 (0—8)	40	2742	25173474	15992148	31700148
30	Annual pSIA	20	16	24	2 (0—6)	46	930	23728011	17672577	30762577
35	Annual pSIA	3	3	4	1 (0—5)	53	784	22400359	19353007	29825007
40	Annual pSIA	1	1	1	1 (0—3)	59	843	22627798	21033436	28887436
45	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—3)	66	931	23512356	22713866	27949866
50	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—3)	73	1024	24954547	24394295	29630295
55	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—2)	80	1118	26365323	26074725	28692725
60	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—2)	87	1214	27959358	27755154	30373154
65	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—2)	93	1310	29595282	29435584	32053584
70	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—2)	100	1406	31239059	31116013	33734013
75	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—2)	107	1502	32919489	32796443	35414443
80	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	114	1598	34544941	34476873	34542323
85	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-1)	121	1694	36207044	36157302	36157302
90	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-1)	128	1790	37858676	37837732	37837732
95	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-1)	135	1886	39520779	39518161	39518161
100	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—0)	142	1983	41198591	41198591	41198591
25	Biennial pSIA	5520	5351	5689	6 (0-10)	37	77800	28308100	23428148	33900148
30	Biennial pSIA	2718	2577	2859	6 (0-10)	44	38663	30355049	22490577	35580577
35	Biennial pSIA	866	797	935	5 (0—9)	50	12822	30613905	16317007	34643007
40	Biennial pSIA	154	137	171	4 (0—8)	56	2936	29262690	17997436	33705436
45	Biennial pSIA	16	15	18	3 (0—7)	62	1093	26707196	19677866	32767866
50	Biennial pSIA	3	2	3	1 (0-5)	67	981	24900449	21358295	31830295
55	Biennial pSIA	1	1	1	1 (0-4)	73	1035	24489097	23038725	30892725
60	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-4)	79	1116	25446958	24719154	29955154
65	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	86	1203	26818464	26399584	29017584
70	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	92	1290	28305161	28080013	30698013
75	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	98	1379	29927995	29760443	32378443
80	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	105	1468	31556065	31440873	34058873
85	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	111	1557	33191988	33121302	35739302
90	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-1)	118	1645	34835766	34801732	34801732
95	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-1)	124	1735	36495251	36482161	36482161
100	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—0)	130	1824	38162591	38162591	38162591
25	Baseline	22158	22071	22246	4 (2—9)	31	310649	20023450	16256148	29346148
30	Baseline	19021	18938	19105	4 (3-10)	37	266811	21510147	17936577	28474027
35	Baseline	15753	15664	15842	4 (3—8)	42	221134	23381691	19617007	30089007
40	Baseline	12296	12182	12409	5 (0—9)	48	172812	25499326	21297436	31769436
45	Baseline	7990	7859	8120	5 (0—9)	54	112616	28753174	25595866	33449866
50	Baseline	3524	3399	3649	6 (0-10)	60	50181	32067235	27276295	37748295
55	Baseline	598	546	650	5 (0—8)	66	9290	32310383	18484725	36810725
60	Baseline	30	26	34	3 (0—7)	70	1399	28568934	20165154	35873154
65	Baseline	2	2	2	1 (0-5)	74	1073	24979330	21845584	29699584
70	Baseline	0	0	0	0 (0—3)	80	1119	24431841	23526013	28762013
75	Baseline	0	0	0	0 (0—3)	85	1193	25612233	25206443	27824443
80	Baseline	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	91	1270	27104167	26886873	29504873
85	Baseline	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	96	1349	28685112	28567302	31185302
90	Baseline	0	0	0	0 (0-1)	102	1428	30302710	30247732	30247732
95	Baseline	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	108	1507	31964813	31928161	31928161
100	Baseline	0	0	0	0(0-1)	113	1586	33611209	33608591	33608591

Appendix Table 7. Combined health system and GPEI perspective: table of cases, VAPP, DALYS and costs across all strategies. Uncertainty in cases and associated costs is presented as 95% credible intervals (CI). Here, the mean values are obtained from taking the mean across all model simulations, not just amongst the simulations with an outbreak (as was done in table 2 in the main text).

			Casaa	Casaa	Mean			Maan	Tatal	Total
BL (%)	Strategy	Mean	Lases	Lases	outbreaks	Mean	Mean	total costs	rocar costs (\$)	costs (\$)
IXI (70)	Strategy	cases	95% CI	95% CI	(range)	VAPP	DALYS	(\$)	lwr 95% Cl	upr 95%
			5570 CI	5570 CI				(\$)	WI 55% CI	CI
25	Annual pSIA	156	129	183	4 (0—8)	40	2742	33239028	23947537	40236483
30	Annual pSIA	20	16	24	2 (0—6)	46	930	33288629	27218467	40387381
35	Annual pSIA	3	3	4	1 (0—5)	53	784	33539389	30489397	40966777
40	Annual pSIA	1	1	1	1 (0-3)	59	843	35355485	33760326	41617075
45	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—3)	66	931	37830128	37031257	42269292
50	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—3)	73	1024	40862666	40302187	45539473
55	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	80	1118	43863829	43573117	46192137
60	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	87	1214	47048326	46844047	49462985
65	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	93	1310	50274730	50114978	52733854
70	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	100	1406	53508993	53385908	56004730
75	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	107	1502	56779923	56656838	59275664
80	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	114	1598	59995859	59927768	59993922
85	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-1)	121	1694	63248457	63198699	63198701
90	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-1)	128	1790	66490579	66469629	66469630
95	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-1)	135	1886	69743179	69740559	69740560
100	Annual pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0—0)	142	1983	73011519	73011519	73011519
25	Biennial pSIA	5520	5351	5689	6 (0-10)	37	77800	40126535	34251252	45144180
30	Biennial pSIA	2718	2577	2859	6 (0-10)	44	38663	41802331	32529975	46294381
35	Biennial pSIA	866	797	935	5 (0—9)	50	12822	42354854	27450074	47107075
40	Biennial pSIA	154	137	171	4 (0-8)	56	2936	42095010	30720649	47450549
45	Biennial pSIA	16	15	18	3 (0-7)	62	1093	41033036	33991225	47139598
50	Biennial pSIA	3	2	3	1 (0-5)	67	981	40806378	37261800	47739817
55	Biennial pSIA	1	1	1	1 (0-4)	73	1035	41983451	40532376	48388857
60	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-4)	79	1116	44531058	43802952	49040867
65	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	86	1203	47492573	47073528	49692577
70	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	92	1290	50569337	50344104	52963070
75	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	98	1379	53782294	53614680	56233601
80	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	105	1468	57000487	56885257	59504114
85	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	111	1557	60226543	60155833	62774635
90	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-1)	118	1645	63460454	63426409	63426410
95	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-1)	124	1735	66710080	66696985	66696986
100	Biennial pSIA	0	0	0	0 (0-0)	130	1824	69967582	69967582	69967582
25	Baseline	22158	22071	22246	4 (2-9)	31	310649	43484360	38992552	52597540
30	Baseline	19021	18938	19105	4 (3-10)	37	266811	44364837	40580950	51953897
35	Baseline	15753	15664	15842	4 (3-8)	42	221134	45538197	42218881	52444894
40	Baseline	12296	12182	12409	5 (0-9)	48	172812	46825449	44354110	51747400
45	Baseline	7990	7859	8120	5 (0-9)	54	112616	48655160	46132766	53020230
50	Baseline	3524	3399	3649	6 (0-10)	60	50181	50433183	45595353	54122545
55	Baseline	598	546	650	5 (0-8)	66	9290	50217470	35970918	55186699
60	Baseline	30	26	34	3 (0-7)	70	1399	47667172	39241001	54975934
65	Baseline	2	2	2	1 (0-5)	74	1073	45646932	42511085	50379689
70	Baseline	0	0	0	0 (0-3)	80	1119	46687426	45781168	51019444
75	Baseline	0	0	0	0 (0-3)	85	1193	49457212	49051251	51670341
80	Baseline	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	91	1270	52538712	52321335	54940346
85	Baseline	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	96	1349	55709272	55591418	58210352
90	Baseline	0	0	0	0(0-1)	102	1428	58916499	58861502	58861502
95	Baseline	0	0	0	0 (0-2)	108	1507	62168248	62131585	62131585
100	Baseline	0	0	0	0(0-1)	113	1586	65404287	65401669	65401669

#### Incremental costs per outbreak averted

Incremental costs per outbreak averted capture the global perspective of polio eradication as a single outbreak under any vaccination strategy has implications for global polio eradication. It is important to note that the figure below does not suggest that the baseline strategy is better performing at low RI coverage levels. Instead, negative (or no) outbreaks averted by both pSIA strategies at low levels of RI coverage correspond to two phenomena: (i) the baseline strategy has larger explosive outbreaks when RI coverage is low, so the susceptible population is depleted quicker, whilst the pSIA strategies have much smaller, albeit more frequent, outbreaks when RI coverage is low.



Appendix Figure 5. Incremental costs per outbreak averted. Incremental costs and outbreak averted under the annual pSIA (RI+oSIAs+annual pSIAs) and biennial pSIA (RI+oSIAs+Biennial pSIAs) strategies in comparison to the baseline strategy (RI+oSIAs) assuming a 3% discount rate for costs and 0% discount rate for health. The points correspond to 10,000 model simulations. Here, it is assumed that the cost per child in an oSIA is two times the cost per child in a pSIA. An outbreak is defined as at least one case of paralytic polio. It is important to note that this figure does not suggest that the RI+oSIAs strategies at low levels of RI coverage correspond to two phenomena: (i) the RI+oSIA strategy has larger explosive outbreaks when RI coverage is low, so the susceptible population is depleted quicker, whilst the pSIA strategies have much smaller, albeit more frequent, outbreaks when RI coverage is low.

## Section 4: Sensitivity analyses

## Sensitivity analysis—discounting for health



Appendix Figure 6. Incremental costs per DALY averted under the annual pSIA and biennial pSIA strategies in comparison to the baseline strategy assuming a 3% discount rate for costs and 3% discount rate for health. Incremental costs are split between health system/non-GPEI perspective and GPEI perspective and the plots are facetted by RI coverage level. Each individual model simulation is represented as a single dot. The dashed lines represent three cost-effectiveness thresholds (representing the lowest (red=Democratic Republic of the Congo), median (green=Benin) and highest (blue=South Africa) country thresholds) among low, lower middle and upper middle-income sub-Saharan African countries.

## Sensitivity analysis - different assumptions about vaccine wastage

GPEI estimates OPV wastage ranges from 5-15% in SIAs and wastage is lower in SIAs than in RI [13]. Estimates of IPV wastage vary between 5-20% in the literature [14] and country-specific analyses from Nigeria and The Gambia suggest IPV wastage can even be higher in practice, exceeding 20% for IPV wastage in some instances [19, 20]. Accordingly, the main analysis assumes an average of 10% wastage for OPV in SIAs, 13% for OPV in RI and 13% for IPV.



Total costs over 5 years - Wastage Low Size of the circles is proportion to the number of expected AFP cases Solid points indicate >80% probability of no outbreak





Appendix Figure 7. Total costs over five years under different wastage assumptions. The top plots represent conservative estimates of wastage using the lowest limit of the range of published wastage rates for both OPV and IPV vaccination via RI and SIAs while the bottom plots use the highest limit of the range of published wastage rates.



## Sensitivity analysis - different proportional costs between pSIAs and oSIAs

Appendix Figure 8. Sensitivity analysis exploring incremental costs per DALY averted under variable assumptions about oSIA costs. The different colours represent different proportional differences between annual pSIAs and oSIAs. For example, "Annual pSIAs if oSIA:pSIA costs are 3:1" presents the incremental costs and DALYs averted by annual pSIAs if oSIAs cost three times as much as pSIAs. Each individual model simulation is represented as a single dot. The dashed lines represent three cost-effectiveness thresholds (representing the lowest (red=Democratic Republic of the Congo), median (green=Benin) and highest (blue=South Africa) country thresholds) among low, lower middle and upper middle-income sub-Saharan African countries.

A sensitivity analysis explored incremental costs under variable assumptions about the proportional difference in costs between oSIAs and annual pSIAs. The main analysis assumed the cost per child for an oSIA was twice the cost per child for a pSIA, but available outbreak response cost data suggests a range across African countries. In the sensitivity analysis, two alternative cost assumptions were explored: (I) the cost per child in an oSIA equalled the cost per child in a pSIA (1:1) and (II) the cost per child of an oSIA was three times the cost per child in a pSIA (3:1). This sensitivity analysis answers the question, under what cost assumptions are annual pSIAs more cost-effective than oSIAs? Appendix Figure 8 shows the incremental costs per DALY averted across all oSIA assumptions and Appendix Figure 9 shows incremental costs per outbreak averted from the GPEI perspective as GPEI costs include SIA costs. When RI coverage exceeds the herd immunity threshold, the number of outbreaks, and consequently, the number of oSIAs required substantially decreases causing the GPEI incremental costs to be aligned across all oSIA cost assumptions.



Appendix Figure 9. Sensitivity analysis exploring incremental costs per outbreak averted under variable assumptions about oSIA costs. The different colours represent different proportional differences between pSIAs and oSIAs. For example, "Annual pSIAs if oSIA:pSIA costs are 3:1" presents the incremental costs and outbreaks averted by annual pSIAs if oSIAs cost three times as much as pSIAs. Each individual model simulation is represented as a single dot. The dashed lines represent three cost-effectiveness thresholds (representing the lowest (red=Democratic Republic of the Congo), median (green=Benin) and highest (blue=South Africa) country thresholds) among low, lower middle and upper middle-income sub-Saharan African countries.

## Sensitivity analysis - different assumptions about proportion of children reached by SIAs

The true effectiveness of SIAs (defined as the product of coverage and vaccine efficacy) remains uncertain in practice; although vaccine efficacy is well described in clinical trials, it is known to vary by population, and the population coverage achieved is uncertain resulting in variable effectiveness. For example, mathematical modelling demonstrates a dramatic range of SIA effectiveness estimates in Tajikistan versus the Republic of Congo: in Tajikistan, SIA effectiveness in response to a localised outbreak was estimated to be 69% (95% CI 55-80%) while in the Republic of Congo, SIA effectiveness was estimated to be 0.4% (95% CI 0.0-14.0%) per SIA [21]. In this analysis we define the SIA target population as children missed by RI. As research suggests that SIA effectiveness is highly variable in different locations, this model assessed outcomes under the assumption that all pSIAs and oSIAs reach 25% of the population missed by RI and bOPV vaccine efficacy is 50%. In the sensitivity analysis below (Appendix Table 7), we explore the average number of expected AFP cases over five years and the probability of an outbreak if SIAs reached 50% of the target population, or 50% of children under five years of age who were missed by RI.

Appendix Table 8. Expected average number of AFP cases and expected probability of an outbreak if each SIA were expected to reach 50% of the target population instead of the 25% assumption in the main analysis. Assumptions about vaccine efficacy are the same across all models. Expected AFP cases were calculated by taking the average number of AFP cases across all stochastic model simulations that had **at least one AFP case**.

		If SIAs vaccinate 2 popula	5% of the target ation	If SIAs vaccinate 50% of the target population	
RI	SIA stratomy	Average number	Expected	Average number	Expected
coverage	SIA Strategy	of expected AFP	probability of	of expected AFP	probability of
		cases over 5	an outbreak	cases over 5	an outbreak
		years		years	
25%	RI + oSIA + annual pSIA	176	88%	1	16%
35%	RI + oSIA + annual pSIA	5	65%	1	9%
50%	RI + oSIA + annual pSIA	1	20%	1	6%
75%	RI + oSIA + annual pSIA	1	4%	1	2%
25%	RI + oSIA + biennial pSIA	5,564	99%	15	83%
35%	RI + oSIA + biennial pSIA	894	97%	3	56%
50%	RI + oSIA + biennial pSIA	4	67%	1	17%
75%	RI + oSIA + biennial pSIA	1	6%	1	6%
25%	RI + oSIA	22,158	100%	18,093	100%
35%	RI + oSIA	15,753	100%	9,851	100%
50%	RI + oSIA	3,549	99%	602	99%
75%	RI + oSIA	1	14%	1	14%

#### Sensitivity analysis – different R<sub>0</sub> assumptions

As the true value of  $R_0$  for polio is unknown and depends on geographical settings, sanitation and hygiene, and age. In the main analysis, we assume an  $R_0$  of 3, which is in line with other research and the target population of children under five years of age living in an LMIC in Africa. However, in the sensitivity analysis below (Appendix Table 9) we explore the average number of expected AFP cases over five years and the probability of an outbreak if  $R_0 = 6$ . As shown the table, when RI coverage >50%, a higher  $R_0$  only increases the probability of an outbreak slightly in the annual pSIA strategy but has a bigger effect on outbreak probability for the biennial pSIA and baseline strategies.

Appendix Table 9. Expected number of AFP cases and expected probability of an outbreak under different  $R_0$  assumptions. Expected AFP cases were calculated by taking the average number of AFP cases across all stochastic model simulations that had **at least one AFP case**.

		R <sub>0</sub> =	3	$R_0 = 6$		
RI coverage	SIA strategy	Average number of expected AFP cases over 5 years	Expected probability of an outbreak	Average number of expected AFP cases over 5 years	Expected probability of an outbreak	
25%	RI + oSIA + annual pSIA	176	88%	16,379	100%	
50%	RI + oSIA + annual pSIA	1	20%	3,837	100%	
75%	RI + oSIA + annual pSIA	1	4%	1	19%	
25%	RI + oSIA + biennial pSIA	5,564	99%	24,403	100%	
50%	RI + oSIA + biennial pSIA	4	67%	9,542	100%	
75%	RI + oSIA + biennial pSIA	1	6%	4	68%	
25%	RI + oSIA	22,158	100%	37,069	100%	
50%	RI + oSIA	3,549	99%	20,229	100%	
75%	RI + oSIA	1	14%	2,046	99%	

### Sensitivity analysis - different importation rates

When RI coverage exceeds 50%, model assumptions for the importation rate of WPV infection have little effect on the expected number of AFP cases and expected probability of an outbreak across all vaccination strategies. This reiterates the importance of baseline RI coverage, which remains an important underlying factor that greatly influences the number of expected AFP cases and outbreak probability, more so than importation rate or assumptions around the proportion of children reached by SIAs.

Seasonality, with peaks in infection usually seen around late summer and autumn, has been observed for WPV in Northern Hemisphere endemic settings (Afghanistan and Pakistan), but remains a phenomenon not well explored for geographies in the Southern Hemisphere [22]. Furthermore, here outbreaks are dependent on WPV1 importations, which can occur at any time. To better understand if any trends in importations exist, better data on migration and travel patterns into African countries from endemic settings is needed.

Appendix Table 10. Expected number of AFP cases and expected probability of an outbreak if the rate of WPV importation is one importation of WPV infection every year and three importations every year, rates that are under and over the rate used in the main analysis (two importations per year). Expected AFP cases were calculated by taking the average number of AFP cases across all stochastic model simulations that had **at least one AFP case**.

		1 importatior	n every year	3 importations every year		
RI coverage	SIA strategy	Average number of expected AFP cases over 5 years	Expected probability of an outbreak	Average number of expected AFP cases over 5 years	Expected probability of an outbreak	
25%	RI + oSIA + annual pSIA	42	71%	49	96%	
50%	RI + oSIA + annual pSIA	1	11%	1	27%	
75%	RI + oSIA + annual pSIA	1	2%	1	5%	
25%	RI + oSIA + biennial pSIA	5,353	95%	5,363	100%	
50%	RI + oSIA + biennial pSIA	4	45%	5	78%	
75%	RI + oSIA + biennial pSIA	1	3%	1	8%	
25%	RI + oSIA	22,327	99%	22,236	100%	
50%	RI + oSIA	3,430	91%	3,399	100%	
75%	RI + oSIA	1	9%	1	20%	

## Section 5: Supporting information

## Raw data used to inform proportional differences between pSIA and oSIA costs

Appendix Table 11. Country level SIA data showing the differences in costs between oSIAs and pSIAs. The rightmost column shows the proportional difference between oSIAs and pSIAs for operational costs. \*pSIA cost data was available pre COVID-19 pandemic and given in USD\$2019, therefore, estimates have been calculated for USD\$2023 assuming 2019\$1 = 2023\$1.18. oSIA cost data for bOPV has historically been less readily available. Therefore, to estimate the proportional differences between oSIAs and pSIAs, oSIA cost data from campaigns administering novel OPV2 (nOPV2) was used, and we assume that while the vaccine costs may differ, the oSIA operational costs are similar.

Country	bOPV cost (USD\$)	pSIA - cost per child \$2019	pSIA - cost per child \$2023*	oSIA (nOPV) - cost per child \$2023	proportional difference - operational only
Benin	0.17	0.31	0.37	0.73	2.0
Burkina Faso	0.15	0.27	0.32	0.65	2.0
Cameroon	0.17	0.33	0.39	0.86	2.2
Central African Republic	0.17	1.09	1.29	2.79	2.2
Chad	0.16	0.45	0.53	0.42	0.8
Congo	0.16	0.44	0.52	2.29	4.4
Côte d'Ivoire	0.14	0.15	0.18	0.67	3.8
DR Congo	0.15	0.48	0.57	1.28	2.3
Eritrea	0.18	0.95	1.12	1.00	0.9
Ethiopia	0.17	0.89	1.05	0.56	0.5
Gabon	0.16	0.77	0.91	1.00	1.1
Gambia	0.18	0.60	0.71	0.78	1.1
Ghana	0.18	0.29	0.34	1.32	3.9
Guinea	0.19	0.26	0.31	1.23	4.0
Kenya	0.18	0.59	0.70	1.02	1.5
Liberia	0.20	0.83	0.98	1.58	1.6
Madagascar	0.17	0.37	0.44	0.53	1.2
Malawi	-	-	0.00	1.00	
Mali	0.17	0.24	0.28	0.52	1.8
Mauritania	0.12	0.81	0.96	1.00	1.0
Mozambique	-	-	0.00	0.80	
Niger	0.19	0.36	0.42	0.57	1.3
Nigeria	0.21	0.32	0.38	0.22	0.6
Senegal	0.18	0.29	0.34	0.47	1.4
Sierra Leone	0.16	0.46	0.54	0.92	1.7
South Sudan	0.17	0.78	0.92	1.17	1.3
Sudan	0.15	0.58	0.68	0.65	0.9
Tanzania	0.17	0.93	1.10	1.00	0.9
Тодо	0.17	0.27	0.32	0.73	2.3
Uganda	0.18	0.48	0.57	1.00	1.8
Zambia	-	-		2.78	
Zimbabwe	-	-		1.76	
Average	\$0.17	\$0.52	\$0.61	\$1.04	\$1.7



DALYs averted

Appendix Figure 10. Quadrants comprising a cost-effectiveness plane for interpretation of incremental costs and DALYs averted under each vaccination strategy. This figure was adapted for this analysis from Briggs et al. 2006 [23]. If the ICER (cost differences / DALYS averted) for a particular vaccination strategy falls below the threshold ratio (dashed line – which represents the willingness-to-pay), then the strategy represents a cost-effective option.

Appendix Table 12. Consolidated Health Economic Evaluation Reporting Standards 2022 (CHEERS 2022) checklist. The checklist has been taken from Husereau et al. and adapted to this analysis [24].

Section/topic	Item No	Guidance for reporting	Reported in section
Title			
Title	1	Identify the study as an economic evaluation and specify the interventions being compared.	Heading
Abstract			
Abstract	2	Provide a structured summary that highlights context, key methods, results, and alternative analyses	Heading
Introduction			
Background and objectives	3	Give the context for the study, the study question, and its practical relevance for decision making in policy or practice.	Introduction
Methods			
Health economic analysis plan	4	Indicate whether a health economic analysis plan was developed and where available	Methods paragraphs 1 & 2
Study population	5	Describe characteristics of the study population (such as age range, demographics, socioeconomic, or clinical characteristics).	Methods paragraph 2
Settings and location	6	Provide relevant contextual information that may influence findings	Methods paragraph 2
Comparators	7	Describe the interventions or strategies being compared and why chosen.	Methods: "vaccination strategies"
Perspective	8	State the perspective(s) adopted by the study and why chosen.	Methods: "Perspectives"
Time horizon	9	State the time horizon for the study and why appropriate.	Methods: "Time horizon and model assumptions"
Discount rate	10	Report the discount rate(s) and reason chosen.	Methods: "Health and economic outcomes"
Selection of outcomes	11	Describe what outcomes were used as the measure(s) of benefit(s) and harm(s).	Methods: "Probability of an outbreak occurring" & "DALYS"
Measurement of outcomes	12	Describe how outcomes used to capture benefit(s) and harm(s) were measured.	Methods: "Health and economic outcomes" & "Adverse events"
Valuation of outcomes	13	Describe the population and methods used to measure and value outcomes.	Methods: "Time horizon and model assumptions"
Measurement and valuation of resources and costs	14	Describe how costs were valued.	Methods: "Vaccine costs" & Appendix section 2
Currency, price data and conversion	15	Report the dates of the estimated resource quantities and unit costs, plus the currency and year of conversion.	Methods: "Vaccine costs"
Rationale and description of model	16	If modelling is used, describe in detail and why used. Report if the model is publicly available and where it can be accessed.	Methods: "Model structure" & Appendix sections 1 & 2
Analytics and assumptions	17	Describe any methods for analysing or statistically transforming data, any extrapolation methods, and approaches for validating any model used.	Methods: "Time horizon and model assumptions" & Appendix sections 1 & 2

Characterising	18	Describe any methods used for estimating how	
botorogonoity	10	the results of the study yary for subgroups	homogonous
neterogeneity		the results of the study vary for subgroups.	nonlogenous
			population
Characterising	19	Describe how impacts are distributed across	We assume SIAs reach
distributional effects		different individuals or adjustments made to	hard-to-reach children
		reflect priority populations.	otherwise missed by RI
Characterising uncertainty	20	Describe methods to characterise any sources	Appendix section 4
		of uncertainty in the analysis.	
Approach to engagement	21	Describe any approaches to engage patients or	GPFI stakeholders were
with natients and others		service recipients, the general public	involved in the analysis
affected by the study		communities or stakeholders (such as clinicians	from project incention
anceled by the study		or payors) in the design of the study	nom project meeption
Posults			
Ctudu pororectore	22	Depentelle polytic in pute (such as velues	Desults table 2
Study parameters	22	Report all analytic inputs (such as values,	Results table 2
		ranges, references) including uncertainty or	
		distributional assumptions.	
Summary of main results	23	Report the mean values for the main categories	Results paragraph 1
		of costs and outcomes of interest and	
		summarise them in the most appropriate overall	
		measure.	
Effect of uncertainty	24	Describe how uncertainty about analytic	Appendix section 4
		judgments, inputs, or projections affect findings.	
		Report the effect of choice of discount rate and	
		time horizon, if applicable	
Effect of engagement with	25	Report on any difference patient/service	This project has been
natients and others	20	recipient general public community or	nresented at
affected by the study		stakeholder involvement made to the approach	conforances and
anected by the study		stakeholder involvement made to the approach	contenences and
		or lindings of the study	stakeholder meetings
			and was well received
Discussion			
Study findings, limitations,	26	Report key findings, limitations, ethical or equity	Discussion
generalisability, and		considerations not captured, and how these	
current knowledge		could affect patients, policy, or practice.	
Other relevant			
information			
Source of funding	27	Describe how the study was funded and any	Acknowledgements
		role of the funder in the identification, design,	
		conduct, and reporting of the analysis.	
Conflicts of interest	28	Report authors conflicts of interest according to	Declaration of Interests
		iournal or International Committee of Medical	
		Journal Editors requirements	
1	1	Joannai Laitor Frequi chiento.	

#### 7.2.1 References - Chapter 3 appendix

1. Bandyopadhyay AS, Modlin JF, Wenger J, Gast C. Immunogenicity of New Primary Immunization Schedules With Inactivated Poliovirus Vaccine and Bivalent Oral Polio Vaccine for the Polio Endgame: A Review. Clin Infect Dis. 2018;67(suppl\_1):S35-s41. Epub 2018/10/31. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciy633. PubMed PMID: 30376081; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6206125.

2. Gao H, Lau EHY, Cowling BJ. Waning Immunity After Receipt of Pertussis, Diphtheria, Tetanus, and Polio-Related Vaccines: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. The Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2021;225(4):557-66. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiab480.

3. Fine PEM, Carneiro IAM. Transmissibility and Persistence of Oral Polio Vaccine Viruses: Implications for the Global Poliomyelitis Eradication Initiative. American Journal of Epidemiology. 1999;150(10):1001-21. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a009924.

4. Nathanson N, Kew OM. From emergence to eradication: the epidemiology of poliomyelitis deconstructed. American journal of epidemiology. 2010;172(11):1213-29. Epub 2010/10/26. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwq320. PubMed PMID: 20978089.

5. Kalkowska DA, Badizadegan K, Thompson KM. Outbreak management strategies for cocirculation of multiple poliovirus types. Vaccine. 2023.

6. United Nations. World Population Prospects 2022 2022. Available from: https://population.un.org/wpp/.

7. Utazi CE, Thorley J, Alegana VA, Ferrari MJ, Takahashi S, Metcalf CJE, et al. Mapping vaccination coverage to explore the effects of delivery mechanisms and inform vaccination strategies. Nat Commun. 2019;10(1):1633. Epub 2019/04/11. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-09611-1. PubMed PMID: 30967543; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6456602.

8. Zimmermann M, Hagedorn B, Lyons H. Projection of Costs of Polio Eradication Compared to Permanent Control. The Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2019;221(4):561-5. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiz488.

9. Portnoy A, Ozawa S, Grewal S, Norman BA, Rajgopal J, Gorham KM, et al. Costs of vaccine programs across 94 low-and middle-income countries. Vaccine. 2015;33:A99-A108.

10. UNICEF. Inactivated Polio Vaccine (IPV) price data [26 April 2023]. Available from: https://www.unicef.org/supply/media/16266/file/IPV-vaccine-prices-14032023.pdf.

11. Kalkowska DA, Thompson KM. Health and economic outcomes associated with polio vaccine policy options: 2019–2029. Risk Analysis. 2021;41(2):364-75.

12. Ni L, Seward JF, Santibanez TA, Pallansch MA, Kew OM, Prevots DR, et al. Vaccine policy changes and epidemiology of poliomyelitis in the United States. Jama. 2004;292(14):1696-701.

13. UNICEF. Guidance Note on Cold Chain Logistics and Vaccine Management During Polio Supplementary Immunization Activities. UNICEF, New York, NY; 2015.

14. Mvundura M, Hsu J-S, Frivold C, Kristensen D, Boyle S, Zehrung D, et al. Evaluating the cost per child vaccinated with full versus fractional-dose inactivated poliovirus vaccine. Vaccine: X. 2019;2:100032.

15. Pichon-Riviere A, Drummond M, Palacios A, Garcia-Marti S, Augustovski F. Determining the efficiency path to universal health coverage: cost-effectiveness thresholds for 174 countries based on growth in life expectancy and health expenditures. The Lancet Global Health. 2023;11(6):e833-e42.

16. World Bank. GDP (current US\$) - Sub-Saharan Africa. 2022.

17.Global Polio Eradication Initiative. Fact sheet: vaccine-associated paralytic polio (VAPP) andvaccine-derivedpoliovirus(VDPV)2015.Availablefrom:https://www.mchodessa.com/documents/systems/blog/VAPPandcVDPVFactSheet-Feb2015.pdf.

18. Tebbens RJD, Pallansch MA, Kew OM, Cáceres VM, Jafari H, Cochi SL, et al. Risks of paralytic disease due to wild or vaccine-derived poliovirus after eradication. Risk Analysis. 2006;26(6):1471-505.

19. Wallace AS, Willis F, Nwaze E, Dieng B, Sipilanyambe N, Daniels D, et al. Vaccine wastage in Nigeria: An assessment of wastage rates and related vaccinator knowledge, attitudes and practices. Vaccine. 2017;35(48 Pt B):6751-8. Epub 2017/10/27. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.09.082. PubMed PMID: 29066189; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5771486.

20. Thompson KM, Kalkowska DA. Potential future use, costs, and value of poliovirus vaccines. Risk Analysis. 2021;41(2):349-63.

21. Blake IM, Martin R, Goel A, Khetsuriani N, Everts J, Wolff C, et al. The role of older children and adults in wild poliovirus transmission. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2014;111(29):10604-9.

22. Martinez-Bakker M, King AA, Rohani P. Unraveling the Transmission Ecology of Polio. PLoS Biol. 2015;13(6):e1002172. Epub 2015/06/20. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1002172. PubMed PMID: 26090784; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4474890.

23. Briggs A, Sculpher M, Claxton K. Decision modelling for health economic evaluation: Oup Oxford; 2006.

24. Husereau D, Drummond M, Augustovski F, de Bekker-Grob E, Briggs AH, Carswell C, et al. Consolidated Health Economic Evaluation Reporting Standards 2022 (CHEERS 2022) statement: updated reporting guidance for health economic evaluations. BMJ. 2022;376:e067975. doi: 10.1136/bmj-2021-067975.

# 7.3 Chapter 4 appendix

Table 911 Hallinge								
Country	Reported number	Estimated	Nationally	Nationally	Year of MCV2			
	of cases	number of cases	recommended	recommended	introduction			
	(WUENIC)	(IHME)	age for MCV1	age for MCV2				
India	192566	112263832	9–12 months	16–24 months	2011			
Nigeria	169394	15381229	9 months	15 months	2019			
Indonesia	115974	15373892	9 months	18 months	2003			
Ethiopia	59824	10108569	9 months	15 months	2019			
China	213832	6171658	8 months	18 months	2005			
Philippines	149325	6050672	9 months	12–15 months	2009			
Uganda	20029	4555096	9 months	-	-			
DRC	791259	3976920	9 months	-	-			
Pakistan	74209	3271893	9 months	15 months	2009			
Angola	30564	3246826	9 months	15 months	2015			
Madagascar	234682	2966145	9 months	15–18 months	2020			
Ukraine	129608	154625	12 months	6 years	2000			
Malawi	118775	852873	9 months	15 months	2015			
Somalia	80769	2440208	9 months	-	-			

 Table S1. Number of cases across modelled countries 2010-2019 and vaccination schedules

**Table S1.** For countries without available data on the recommended MCV2 schedules, we assumed the age at vaccination to be 15–18 months old. In China and Philippines, where multiple types of vaccines are in use, we adopted the vaccination schedules from the two doses of MMR (measles-mumps-rubella). Year of MCV2 introduction was assumed to be the first year a country has available coverage data in the WUENIC database. (-) indicates a country has not yet introduced MCV2 and therefore, does not have a recommended age for MCV2 vaccination. In the model, MCV1 is assumed to deliver to unvaccinated infants at 9 months old in most countries, and MCV2 to previously vaccinated children at the recommended age of each country. IHME: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. MCV1: the first routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. MUENIC: WHO and UNICEF Estimates of National Immunization Coverage.

Year	N.A. a. a. t. b.	Target age	Target	Reached	Coverage -	Coverage -
	wonth	group	population size	doses	target	country-level
India						
2000	-	9-59m	974034	739417	75.9%	0.7%
2001	-	9-59m	1384891	962474	69.5%	0.9%
2010	Dec	9m-10y	10469901	9367822	89.5%	3.6%
2011	Apr	9m-10y	3375785	2709014	80.2%	1.0%
2011	Dec	9m-10y	30751228	27919442	90.8%	10.7%
2012	Mar	9m-9y	9416352	8215227	87.2%	3.5%
2012	Dec	9m-9y	40717834	36976587	90.8%	15.7%
2013	Jun	9m-9y	36012805	33639706	93.4%	14.4%
2017	Feb	9m-15y	16033000	15845000	98.8%	4.2%
2017	Feb	9m-15y	320000	312000	97.5%	0.1%
2017	Apr	9m-15y	16000	12000	75.0%	0.0%
2017	Apr	9m-15y	17605000	16953000	96.3%	4.5%
2017	Apr	9m-15y	304000	266000	87.5%	0.1%
2017	Aug	9m-15y	11854000	11458000	96.7%	3.0%
2017	Aug	9m-15y	114000	115000	100.9%	0.0%
2017	Aug	9m-15y	58000	62000	106.9%	0.0%
2017	Sep	9m-15y	9001000	9148000	101.6%	2.4%
2017	Sep	9m-15y	310000	301000	97.1%	0.1%
2017	Sep	9m-15y	1774000	1808000	101.9%	0.5%
2017	Dec	9m-15y	2836000	2876000	101.4%	0.8%
2017	Dec	9m-15y	7655000	6488000	84.8%	1.7%
2018	Feb	9m-15v	438000	443000	101.1%	0.1%
2018	Mar	9m-15v	11225000	11037000	98.3%	3.0%
2018	Mav	9m-15v	324000	324000	100.0%	0.1%
2018	May	9m-15v	818000	793000	96.9%	0.2%
2018	Jun	9m-15y	83000	78000	94.0%	0.0%
2018	Jul	9m-15v	6964000	6684000	96.0%	1.8%
2018	Jul	9m-15v	7438000	7364000	99.0%	2.0%
2018	Sep	9m-15y	15157000	14560000	96.1%	3.9%
2018	Oct	9m-15v	10602000	10257000	96.7%	2.7%
2018	Oct	9m-15v	1156000	1107000	95.8%	0.3%
2018	Oct	9m-15v	9209000	9028000	98.0%	2.4%
2018	Nov	9m-15v	7778000	7792000	100.2%	2.1%
2018	Nov	9m-15v	3762000	3757000	99.9%	1.0%
2018	Nov	9m-15v	449000	439000	97.8%	0.1%
2018	Nov	9m-15v	956000	897000	93.8%	0.2%
2018	Dec	9m-15v	76403000	75720000	99.1%	20.3%
2018	Dec	9m-15v	29052000	25866000	89.0%	6.9%
2019	Feb	9m-15v	37757000	38415000	101.7%	10.4%
2019	Feb	9m-15v	23245000	22822000	98.2%	6.1%
Nigeria					0012/0	0.2/0
2005	Dec	9m-15v	29500000	28538974	96 7%	47.8%
2006	Oct	9m-15y	31630011	26353793	83.3%	47.8%
2007	Jan	9-59m	2583480	2308527	89.4%	10.7%
2007	Mar	6y-17y	662164	517410	78.1%	1.2%
2008	Dec	9-59m	29828229	28848102	96.7%	130.4%
2011	Feb	9-59m	28272893	28435589	100.6%	119 3%
2013	Oct	9-59m	15957208	17004058	106.6%	68.0%
2013	Nov	9-59m	13344281	13575608	101.7%	54.3%
2015	Nov	6m-10v	23967617	24069024	100.4%	40.8%
2013	1101		23307017	24003024	100.7/0	-0.070

Table S2. Supplementary immunisation activities in 14 countries, 2000-2020.

2016	lan	9-59m	14577013	19065787	130.8%	71 2%
2018	Feb	9-59m	37412277	40044875	107.0%	144 4%
2018	Mar	9-59m	15969475	16955354	106.2%	61 1%
2010	Nov	9-59m	20531083	21/17932	100.2%	76.1%
Indonesia	NOV	5 5511	20551005	21417552	104.570	70.170
2000	_	6-121	6665950	63/1/07	95.1%	20.8%
2000		6-59m	11/2182	0/2012	83.0%	1 9%
2000	Son	0-59m	166087	155101	03.0%	4.5%
2002	Nov	0-59m	2667343	2031020	76 1%	11.0%
2002	Oct	6 121	1020445	2031023	70.1%	2 1%
2003	000	6 12y	2190019	2062556	93.2%	5.1%
2004	- Fob	6m 15v	1826001	2002330	94.0%	6.5%
2005	гер	6m 15v	4030094	4042030	90.0%	0.0%
2005	-	6 12v	079250	2040944	90.0%	0.9%
2006	Jdn	0-12y	3101323	3049844	90.5%	9.0%
2006	Iviay	6m-5y	234528	220777	94.1%	0.9%
2006	Aug	6111-5y	3743508	3440698	91.9%	13.9%
2007	Feb	6-59m	11237274	10099534	89.9%	49.7%
2007	Feb	6m-12y	2692912	2863068	106.3%	5.0%
2007	Aug	6y-12y	2569350	2609301	101.6%	8.2%
2007	Aug	6-59m	3679318	3499242	95.1%	17.2%
2008	Oct	1-3y	11203	8730	77.9%	0.1%
2009	Oct	9-59m	141685	126800	89.5%	0.6%
2009	Oct	9-59m	219765	126699	57.7%	0.6%
2009	Oct	9-59m	1763122	1700834	96.5%	8.7%
2010	Oct	9-59m	3619024	3294315	91.0%	16.7%
2011	Nov	9-59m	11989559	11365665	94.8%	57.8%
2016	Aug	9-59m	4222172	3638183	86.2%	17.3%
2017	Aug	9m-15y	34964384	35307148	101.0%	48.9%
2018	Oct	9m-15y	31963154	23453882	73.4%	32.5%
Ethiopia						
2000	Jul	9-59m	3800000	3610000	95.0%	35.0%
2001	Jan	9-59m	3026147	2346464	77.5%	21.9%
2001	Dec	9-59m	2166232	1646336	76.0%	15.4%
2002	Nov	9m-14y	2316214	2277988	98.3%	7.4%
2003	Aug	6m-14y	5605502	5101007	91.0%	15.8%
2004	Apr	6m-14y	8835802	7422074	84.0%	22.4%
2005	-	6m-14y	198456	136935	69.0%	0.4%
2005	Sep	9-59m	1073066	987221	92.0%	8.6%
2006	Apr	9-59m	11688720	10169187	87.0%	87.9%
2007	Nov	6-59m	1117345	1072701	96.0%	8.7%
2008	Nov	6-59m	11791819	10848474	92.0%	86.9%
2009	Jan	6-59m	773910	662168	85.6%	5.2%
2009	Jan	6-59m	279102	264134	94.6%	2.1%
2009	Jan	6-59m	62504	57762	92.4%	0.5%
2009	Jun	6-59m	285644	266621	93.3%	2.1%
2010	Mar	6-59m	1057327	961798	91.0%	7.5%
2010	Oct	9-47m	7656367	8171534	106.7%	88.1%
2011	Feb	9-47m	774658	757421	97.8%	8.1%
2011	Oct	6m-14y	7326463	7034264	96.0%	18.3%
2013	Jun	9-59m	11873928	11609484	97.8%	92.3%
2016	Apr	6m-<15y	25706550	24986589	97.2%	60.1%
2017	Mar	9m-14y	22035787	21225199	96.3%	51.3%
2017	Aug	6-179m	2579178	2524841	97.9%	6.0%
2020	Jul	9-59m	14135353	13970822	98.8%	98.5%
	•	•				

China						
2003	Nov	8m-12y	831600	819732	98.6%	0.4%
2004	Nov	8m-12y	1000000	7791796	77.9%	3.5%
2005	Mar	8m-14y	4222349	4032343	95.5%	1.5%
2005	May	8m-25y	2410000	2289500	95.0%	0.4%
2005	Jul	1-14y	5193749	4300424	82.8%	1.7%
2005	Sep	8m-14y	8000000	4800000	60.0%	1.8%
2006	Mar	8m-14y	6200000	5900000	95.2%	2.3%
2007	Sep	8m-14y	20400000	20100000	98.5%	8.1%
2008	Jul	, 8m-14y	35705379	34983574	98.0%	14.2%
2008	Nov	8m-6y	11842830	11570750	97.7%	11.0%
2009	Apr	8m-14y	5114101	5008565	97.9%	2.0%
2009	Jul	8m-14y	96487581	94167415	97.6%	38.4%
2010	Sep	8m-4y	106060935	102300000	96.5%	140.1%
Philippines		,				
2002	Jun	9-59m	507463	500897	98.7%	5.3%
2004	Mar	9m-7y	18394880	17291555	94.0%	108.0%
2007	Nov	9-48m	8648864	8201862	94.8%	85.7%
2009	Aug	15-23m	787693	459682	58.4%	7.8%
2010	Jul	9-59m	-	420129	-	4.5%
2011	May	9-95m	18651791	15649907	83.9%	98.8%
2013	Nov	6-59m	-	1937471	-	19.0%
2013	Dec	6-59m	-	108783	-	1.1%
2014	Jan	6-36m	2183971	1695930	77.7%	29.3%
2014	Sep	9-59m	11485540	10402489	90.6%	107.3%
2018	May	6-59m	4205517	2893466	68.8%	28.9%
2018	Oct	6-59m	6604059	2089432	31.6%	20.9%
2019	Apr	6-59m	3784099	3920103	103.6%	40.1%
2019	Jul	5-12y	8575452	2457514	28.7%	13.7%
2019	Jul	13y-100y	2179336	947677	43.5%	1.2%
Uganda						
2000	Mar	9-59m	1596240	1218737	76.4%	30.7%
2000	Nov	9-59m	1030490	957876	93.0%	24.2%
2001	Oct	9m-14y	503904	614156	121.9%	5.4%
2003	Oct	6m-14y	12861020	13457127	104.6%	108.8%
2005	Feb	9-23m	389696	557869	143.2%	41.5%
2006	Aug	6-59m	5263090	5239221	99.5%	103.9%
2009	Jun	9-47m	4699748	4893634	104.1%	122.7%
2012	May	6-59m	6314309	6283441	99.5%	107.0%
2015	Oct	6-59m	6658881	6349182	95.3%	101.0%
2019	Oct	9m-<15y	18200969	19432256	106.8%	100.2%
DRC						
2000	Oct	9-59m	1926879	1395451	72.4%	19.3%
2003	Jan	6m-15y	5774245	5554824	96.2%	23.5%
2003	Feb	6m-15y	100000	108000	108.0%	0.5%
2004	Oct	6m-15y	10055523	8604754	85.6%	35.3%
2005	Oct	6m-15y	7817076	6957653	89.0%	27.6%
2006	Aug	6-59m	2189069	2158329	98.6%	22.9%
2006	Nov	6m-15y	7164815	6966200	97.2%	26.7%
2007	Aug	6-59m	3736672	3768794	100.9%	38.5%
2008	Nov	6-59m	2852430	2811092	98.6%	27.8%
2009	Nov	6-59m	2593478	2412168	93.0%	23.1%
2010	Jan	6-59m	1226792	1259363	102.7%	11.7%
2011	Feb	6-59m	1673147	1701315	101.7%	15.2%

2011	Mar	6-59m	2672338	2649574	99.1%	23.7%
2011	Apr	6-59m	415909	430571	103.5%	3.8%
2011	May	6-59m	5227315	4864554	93.1%	43.4%
2011	Jun	6-59m	272392	266811	98.0%	2.4%
2012	Jan	6-59m	845002	948237	112.2%	8.2%
2012	Jan	6-59m	314283	303786	96.7%	2.6%
2012	Jan	6-59m	1253230	1239803	98.9%	10.7%
2012	Aug	6-59m	170530	175467	102.9%	1.5%
2013	Sep	6m-9v	6794574	6813783	100.3%	29.9%
2013	Dec	6m-9y	4087697	4213293	103.1%	18.5%
2014	Mar	6m-9y	5346158	5482612	102.6%	23.3%
2014	May	6m-9y	6137295	6211685	101 2%	26.4%
2014	lun	6m-9y	2883624	2803550	97.2%	11.9%
2014	Jul	6m-9y	1196822	1163251	97.2%	4 9%
2014	Διισ	6m-9y	2858403	2878785	100.7%	12.2%
2014		6-59m	7081288	7212977	101.9%	55 7%
2016	Oct	6-59m	3725998	3708843	99.5%	28.6%
2010	Feb	6-59m	5725556	5/66923	103.3%	/1 2%
Pakistan	100	0-3511	5251510	5400525	105.570	41.270
2005	Dec	12-50m	160000	1232000	77.0%	6.8%
2003	Mar	9m 15v	2571526	2511927	77.0%	2.8%
2007		9m-13y	1210264	1202222	105.2%	2.0%
2007		9m-13y	6890603	6906376	100.2%	11 0%
2007	Nov	9m-13y	21262060	20566407	100.270 06.7%	25 5%
2007	Mar	911-13y 9m 12y	21202900	20300497	102 5%	53.3 <i>%</i>
2008	Fob	911-13y 9m < 12y	15200520	12740006	103.3%	24.9%
2010	Son	6 50m	7250700	6001065	90.3%	24.070
2010	Oct	6 50m	000774	1007105	101.0%	32.370 1 70/
2010	lan	0-59m	988224	1007195	101.9%	4.7%
2011	Jan	9-59111 0 50m	1401209	1299010	92.7%	0.5%
2011	Jan	9-59m	512267	784337	89.9%	3.8%
2011	Jan	9-59m	2028274	1744206	99.1%	24.8%
2011	reb	9-59m	2028374	205551	80.0%	8.5%
2011	Jui	9-5911	223947	205551	91.0%	1.0%
2011		9-5911	270238	547710 1054175	90.0%	Z.7%
2012	Dec	9m-9y	1918207	1954175	101.9%	4.5%
2014	IVIdy	GIII-9y	13418283	14026013	104.5%	30.4%
2014	iviay	6m-9y	9346563	9432492	100.9%	20.4%
2014	Dec	6m-9y	1438492	1439892	100.1%	3.1%
2015	Feb	6m-10y	29670753	30633406	103.2%	59.7%
2015	Feb	6m 10v	240921	227702	54.5%	0.4%
2015	Feb	6m-10y	262601	204308	123.0%	0.4%
2015	Apr	6m-10y	3474044	3512771	101.1%	6.8%
2015	iviay	6m-10y	414494	413695	99.8%	0.8%
2015	Aug	6m-10y	1607543	1519242	94.5%	3.0%
2017	Aug	9-59m	1355202	1279819	94.4%	5.7%
2018	Uct	9-59m	35199413	3/131234	105.5%	161.4%
Angola			7040-00		04.54	
2003	May	9m-14y	/642739	7226105	94.5%	90.8%
2006	Jul	9-59m	3218676	3210160	99.7%	100.2%
2009	Jun	9-59m	3430913	3469806	101.1%	96.3%
2011	Sep	9-59m	5472822	4635248	84.7%	119.1%
2014	Sep	6m-9y	7829940	9169335	117.1%	104.8%
2018	Apr	6m-14y	12858213	12001436	93.3%	86.7%
2019	May	6m-4y	108673	127740	117.5%	2.5%

		1				
2019	May	6m-4y	84101	110280	131.1%	2.2%
2019	Jun	6m-4y	141802	164410	115.9%	3.2%
Madagascar						
2004	Sep	9m-14y	7626090	7546229	99.0%	100.5%
2007	Oct	9-59m	3123163	3053702	97.8%	112.0%
2010	Oct	9-47m	2603510	2415792	92.8%	108.7%
2013	Oct	9-59m	3610265	3316542	91.9%	109.8%
2016	Oct	9-59m	3715133	3547466	95.5%	111.6%
Ukraine						
2008	May	15-29y	8000000	113000	1.4%	1.1%
2017	Oct	1-9y	287240	163782	57.0%	3.7%
2017	Oct	6-9y	231102	154430	66.8%	7.7%
2019	Apr	1-18y	506232	387731	76.6%	4.7%
2019	Apr	6-18y	618756	462407	74.7%	7.8%
Malawi						
2002	Aug	9-59m	1583664	1906985	120.4%	106.8%
2005	Sep	9-59m	1851176	2137152	115.4%	111.3%
2008	Oct	9-59m	2120557	2087375	98.4%	99.5%
2010	Aug	9m-15y	6370409	6785428	106.5%	101.9%
2013	Nov	6-59m	2297546	2405018	104.7%	97.5%
2015	May	9-59m	436257	453202	103.9%	19.2%
2017	Jun	9m-14y	7991666	8132788	101.8%	109.9%
Somalia						
2005	Nov	9m-15y	384725	319321	83.0%	6.5%
2006	May	9m-15y	2266917	2019717	89.1%	39.7%
2007	Jun	9m-15y	3191161	2774178	86.9%	52.9%
2008	Mar	9m-15y	150000	142654	95.1%	2.6%
2008	Dec	9m-15y	238355	138205	58.0%	2.6%
2009	Mar	9-59m	1483134	909687	61.3%	49.0%
2009	Apr	9-59m	1117384	835927	74.8%	45.0%
2009	Aug	9-59m	380911	276994	72.7%	14.9%
2010	Mar	9-59m	1562336	1335892	85.5%	70.4%
2011	Apr	9-59m	-	2924	-	0.1%
2011	Jul	6m-15y	90000	71653	79.6%	1.2%
2011	Jul	9-59m	169414	151279	89.3%	7.8%
2011	Jul	9-59m	380911	323986	85.1%	16.6%
2011	Aug	6m-15y	745234	656226	88.1%	10.9%
2011	Sep	6m-15y	86373	74300	86.0%	1.2%
2011	Oct	6m-14y	672054	626625	93.2%	11.0%
2012	Mar	6-59m	578457	509042	88.0%	24.0%
2012	Mar	6m-4y	1012879	886033	87.5%	41.8%
2012	Oct	9-59m	959424	872230	90.9%	43.8%
2013	Dec	6m-4y	1029870	923580	89.7%	43.0%
2014	Oct	9-59m	1483574	1306426	88.1%	63.6%
2015	Dec	9m-9y	3884554	3518358	90.6%	82.7%
2016	Aug	, 9-59m	676557	602136	89.0%	28.2%
2017	Feb	6-59m	4700000	4400000	93.6%	189.4%
2017	Mav	6m-5v	503812	472033	93.7%	16.9%
2018	Jan	6m-10v	4745484	4424261	93.2%	86.5%
2019	Nov	6-59m	1149117	1061064	92.3%	43.3%

**Table S2.** WHO records for measles SIAs with a confirmed status of implementation between 2000–2020 in the 14 countries were extracted. We excluded SIAs for the purpose of outbreak response, since they were usually driven by emergency events and restricted in a local area. (-) indicates missing information in the records. Year and month denote the mid-point of each campaign and July 1<sup>st</sup> is assigned for SIAs with missing dates. Two

coverage estimates are presented: one is calculated from the number of target population reported in each SIA (sub-national), and the other is based on the country-level population from the World Population Prospects 2019 at the target age group (national). When there is no information on target population in the WHO records, the sub-national coverage estimates are assumed to be the same as national ones in the analysis. DRC: Democratic Republic of the Congo. SIA: supplementary immunisation activity.

CONDICISIEC					
Country	No vaccination	MCV1	MCV1+ MCV2	MCV1+SIAs	MCV1+MCV2+SIAs
India	0%	0%	9.5%	0%	14%
Nigeria	0%	0%	0%	24%	24%
Indonesia	0%	0%	0%	9.5%	24%
Ethiopia	0%	0%	0%	14%	14%
China	0%	0%	67%	19%	67%
Philippines	0%	0%	0%	24%	38%
Uganda	0%	0%	0%	38%	38%
DRC	0%	0%	0%	14%	14%
Pakistan	0%	0%	0%	19%	33%
Angola	0%	0%	0%	24%	24%
Madagascar	0%	0%	0%	29%	29%
Ukraine	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%
Malawi	0%	0%	4.8%	48%	57%
Somalia	0%	0%	0%	4.8%	4.8%
Median (25 <sup>th</sup> —75 <sup>th</sup> percentiles)	0% (0%—0%)	0% (0%—0%)	0% (0%—0%)	19% (11%—24%)	24% (14%—37%)

Table S3. Percentage of years over 2000–2020 showing a smaller number of susceptible children than the birth cohort size

**Table S3.** This table presents the percentage of years over the analysis period that had an outbreak potential among different vaccination strategies. The outbreak potential in a year is indicated by a larger size of susceptible population under 5 years old compared to the size of birth cohort in each country. The median and 25<sup>th</sup> and 75<sup>th</sup> percentiles of percentage among 14 countries are shown in the bottom row. DRC: Democratic Republic of the Congo. MCV1: the first routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. MCV2: the second routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. SIA: supplementary immunisation activity.

Country by MCV2	Comparator: no v	accination	Comparator: N	Comparator: MCV1 alone		
introduction year	MCV1 + MCV2 +	MCV1 alone	MCV1 + SIAs	MCV1 +	MCV1 + MCV2 +	
	SIAs			MCV2	SIAs	
MCV2 < 2017						
India	2392	2223	125	84	169	
Indonesia	373	308	48	30	65	
China	1544	1377	91	149	168	
Philippines	199	160	35	9.82	38	
Pakistan	1368	989	365	94	379	
Angola	531	262	266	9.93	269	
Ukraine	56	50	0.18	5.84	6.01	
Malawi	337	264	72	5.69	73	
MCV2 > 2017						
Nigeria	2918	1475	1443	5.19	1443	
Ethiopia	1712	858	852	9.45	854	
Madagascar	192	135	57	0.21	57	
No MCV2						
Uganda	798	546	252	0	252	
DRC	1352	841	511	0	511	
Somalia	229	110	119	0	119	
Total	14002	9598	4237	404	4403	

Table S4. Averted deaths (thousands) across different vaccination strategies from 2000–2020

**Table S4.** This table presents the total deaths averted in the 5 pairs of vaccination delivery strategies for comparison. Sums of the averted deaths in the 14 countries are shown in the last row of the table. DRC: Democratic Republic of the Congo. MCV1: the first routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. MCV2: the second routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. SIA: supplementary immunisation activity



#### Figure S1. Immunisation coverage for early introduction of MCV2 over 2000–2020.

In the sensitivity analysis, all countries were assumed to introduce MCV2 early in 2000, with each year's coverage 10% lower than MCV1 coverage, or the same as the country's actual MCV2 coverage in that year, whichever was larger. Under fast rollout, MCV2 coverage would reach the assumed level in 2000, whereas MCV2 coverage would increase linearly over 2000–2005. DRC: Democratic Republic of the Congo. MCV1: the first routine dose of measles-containing vaccine.

Target population at country level							
zero-dose	already-vaccinated						
SIA reached doses	Less-likely-to-be-reached						
SIA distribution strategy							
7.7% less-likely-to-b	7.7% less-likely-to-be-reached (main analysis)						
zero-dose already-vaccinated							
Zero-dose first (sensitivity analysis)							
zero-dose	aiready-vaccinated						
Already-vaccinated first (sensitivity analysis)							
zero-dose	already-vaccinated						

### Figure S2. Distribution strategies of SIAs included in the analysis.

In the main analysis, 7.7% of target population are assumed less likely to receive MCV doses through current immunisation programmes and SIAs doses are given randomly to the rest of population. In addition, the distribution strategies to direct SIA doses first to MCV zero-dose and already-vaccinated children are assessed respectively in the sensitivity analysis. MCV: measles-containing vaccine. SIA: supplementary immunisation activity.



Figure S3. Annual number of measles cases (top row) and deaths (bottom row) across different vaccination delivery strategies over 2000–2020.

Country measles burden is present in different colours and stacked over time. The measles burden decreases with adding vaccination delivery strategies. DRC: Democratic Republic of the Congo. MCV1: the first routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. MCV2: the second routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. SIA: supplementary immunisation activity.


Predicted vaccination state of population reached 📕 zero-dose 📕 single-dose 📕 multi-dose

# Figure S4. Doses reaching zero-dose, single-dose, and multiple-dose children across different vaccination delivery strategies

Total vaccine doses administrated over 2000–2020 are aggregated by estimated vaccination state of the target children reached. DRC: Democratic Republic of the Congo. MCV1: the first routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. MCV2: the second routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. SIA: supplementary immunisation activity.



Figure S5. Estimated measles incidence rate (per million) under alternative assumptions of delivering MCV2 and SIAs over 2000–2020.

To estimate the impact of "optimal" vaccination impact (though not changing assumed MCV1 coverage or overall SIA coverage), we combined the alternative assumptions of early MCV2 introduction and SIA dose allocation prioritised for zero-dose populations. Incidence rates for different strategies are in different colours. Note that the y-axis is on the log scale. DRC: Democratic Republic of the Congo. MCV1: the first routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. MCV2: the second routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. SIA: supplementary immunisation activity.



Figure S6. Estimated measles cases (thousands) under different assumptions of SIA dose distribution over 2000–2020.

This figure shows estimated measles cases using three SIA dose delivery methods based on historical coverage of MCV1, MCV2, and SIAs over 2000–2020. In the main analysis, we used the national SIA coverage and assumed SIA doses to be distributed equally to the zero-dose and already-vaccinated populations except for 7.7% of children who are considered less likely to be reached under current immunisation programmes. Alternatively, distributing SIA doses at the subnational level while holding the 7.7%-less-likely-to-be-reach assumption would result in fewer estimated measles cases. Random distribution of SIA doses leads to the lowest burden among the three delivery methods due to better targeting the zero-dose population. DRC: Democratic Republic of the Congo. MCV1: the first routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. MCV2: the second routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. SIA: supplementary immunisation activity.



# Figure S7. Estimated number needed to vaccinate to avert a measles case under different assumptions of SIA dose distribution over 2000–2020.

The number needed to vaccinate is calculated by dividing the number of additional doses by the number of averted measles cases. The comparator vaccination strategy of MCV1 only was used. DRC: Democratic Republic of the Congo. MCV1: the first routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. MCV2: the second routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. SIA: supplementary immunisation activity.



Figure S8. Estimated measles cases and reported cases under different values of R₀ over 2000–2020.

Blue solid lines denote model estimates of measles cases by different values of R<sub>0</sub>, based on historical coverage of MCV1, MCV2, and SIAs over 2000–2020. WHO data for reported measles cases and IHME incidence estimates from the Global Burden of Disease 2019 study are included for comparison. The magnitude and trend of our model burden estimates show similarities to the IHME estimates. However, these case estimates are substantially different from the WHO country notifications, which suffer from underreporting and varying capacity for surveillance and diagnosis over time. DRC: Democratic Republic of the Congo. IHME: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. MCV1: the first routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. MCV2: the second routine dose of measles-containing vaccine. SIA: supplementary immunisation activity.

### 7.4 Chapter 5 appendix

### **Table 1.** Database of all cVDPVs 2000-2019 (n=96). Note that for the final analysis, outliers and serotype 2 outbreaks pre-2010 were removed.

Country	Region	Date first isolate collected	Date last isolate collected	Туре	AFP Cases	Isolates	First NC <sup>1</sup>	Smallest NC	Largest NC	NPAFP <sup>2</sup>	Estimated seed date	Days to detect	Emergence lineage <sup>3</sup>	Reference(s)
DOMINICAN REPUBLIC	AMR	24/07/2000	30/01/2001	1	13	21	17	17	23	-	16/01/1999	554	-	(1,2)
PHILIPPINES	WPR	28/03/2001	23/09/2001	1	3	4	28	28	32	-	27/08/1998	943	-	(2,3)
MADAGASCAR	AFR	21/03/2002	12/04/2002	2	4	6	23	23	27	0.30	13/02/2000	766	-	(4,5)
CHINA	WPR	16/06/2004	06/08/2004	1	3	7	9	9	11	1.85	18/09/2003	271	-	(6,7)
DRC	AFR	01/01/2005	31/08/2005	2	7	7	9	6	9	5.10	04/04/2004	271	-	(8–10)
MADAGASCAR	AFR	22/04/2005	24/05/2005	3	1	8	13	9	16	1.30	05/03/2004	413	-	(2.0.11)
MADAGASCAR	AFR	16/06/2005	07/09/2005	2	4	9	21	10	24	1.30	21/07/2003	696	-	(2,9,11)
INDONESIA	SEAR	09/06/2005	26/10/2005	1	46	46	10	10	20	2.41	06/08/2004	307	-	(12,13)
NIGERIA	AFR	05/07/2005	08/06/2006	2	3	3	10	-	-	6.50	01/09/2004	307	-	(7,9,14)
CAMBODIA	WPR	26/11/2005	15/01/2006	3	2	2	17	17	22	2.09	20/05/2004	554	-	(9,15)
CHINA	WPR	18/03/2006	16/05/2006	1	1	7	13	13	20	1.99	29/01/2005	413	-	(16,17)
MYANMAR	SEAR	19/04/2006	21/07/2007	1	4	11	14	14	20	2.11	26/01/2005	448	-	(15,17)
NIGERIA	AFR	19/05/2006	04/03/2015	2	384	527	6	6	-	6.60	04/13/2005	165	-	
NIGERIA	AFR	05/07/2006	07/02/2008	2	6	6	9	-	-	6.60	06/10/2005	271	-	(14.17.22)
NIGERIA	AFR	17/07/2006	17/10/2006	2	2	2	15	-	-	6.60	20/03/2005	483	-	(14,17-22)
NIGERIA	AFR	26/02/2007	05/03/2009	2	6	6	13	-	-	5.30	09/01/2006	413	-	
SOMALIA	EMR	01/07/2008	09/01/2013	2	19	19	6	6	36	3.96	17/01/2008	165	-	(10,18–20,22–24)
DRC	AFR	19/01/2008	02/03/2009	2	14	14	8	8	16	6.09	28/05/2007	236	-	(0.10.10.10)
DRC	AFR	29/07/2008	25/02/2009	2	5	5	12	10	16	6.09	17/07/2007	377	-	(8,10,18,19)
ETHIOPIA	AFR	04/10/2008	16/02/2009	2	4	4	10	10	11	3.00	02/12/2007	307	-	(20,25)
NIGERIA	AFR	01/12/2008	25/05/2010	2	7	7	12	-	-	6.59	19/11/2007	377	-	(14,19–21)
NIGERIA	AFR	20/04/2009	02/06/2009	2	2	2	17	-	-	7.00	13/10/2007	554	-	(14,19–21)
ΕΤΗΙΟΡΙΑ	AFR	27/04/2009	04/11/2010	3	7	7	12	12	28	2.59	14/04/2008	377	-	(20,25)

Country	Region	Date first isolate collected	Date last isolate collected	Туре	AFP Cases	Isolates	First NC <sup>1</sup>	Smallest NC	Largest NC	NPAFP <sup>2</sup>	Estimated seed date	Days to detect	Emergence lineage <sup>3</sup>	Reference(s)
AFGHANISTAN	EMR	29/07/2009	13/02/2013	2	15	23	8	8	50	10.99	05/12/2008	236	-	(20,22,26)
INDIA	SEAR	19/10/2009	31/01/2010	2	16	16	9	9	14	9.53	20/01/2009	271	-	(20,25)
DRC	AFR	09/08/2009	24/09/2010	2	5	5	12	12	32	4.68	27/07/2008	377	-	(0.20)
DRC	AFR	20/04/2010	13/10/2010	2	9	9	19	11	19	5.72	03/08/2008	625	-	(8,20)
MOZAMBIQUE	AFR	10/02/2011	02/06/2011	1	2	2	27	27	39	2.68	16/08/2008	908	-	(20.27)
YEMEN	EMR	09/04/2011	05/10/2011	2	9	11	6	6	14	3.35	25/10/2010	165	-	(20,27)
DRC	AFR	17/10/2011	04/04/2012	2	30	30	8	6	32	5.53	23/02/2011	236	-	(22,27,28)
CHINA	WPR	18/10/2011	08/02/2012	2	3	4	6	6	11	1.94	05/05/2011	165	-	(23,24,29)
YEMEN	EMR	27/04/2012	25/07/2013	3	4	6	18	18	27	4.26	15/09/2010	589	-	(23,24,30)
CHAD	AFR	15/08/2012	12/05/2013	2	16	16	6	6	16	6.95	02/03/2012	165	-	(23,24,30,31)
PAKISTAN	EMR	30/08/2012	15/06/2014	2	81	87	6	6	33	8.28	17/03/2012	165	-	(30,32–34)
NIGERIA	AFR	16/08/2014	28/05/2015	2	1	6	7	7	13	12.9	27/01/2014	201	-	(33,35–37)
GUINEA	AFR	06/09/2014	25/12/2015	2	6	13	12	12	27	2.60	24/08/2013	377	-	(36–38)
SOUTH SUDAN	AFR	09/09/2014	12/09/2014	2	2	2	9	9	9	4.20	11/12/2013	271	-	(33,36)
MADAGASCAR	AFR	29/09/2014	02/09/2015	1	11	24	20	20	30	4.20	07/12/2012	660	-	(33,35–37)
PAKISTAN	EMR	13/12/2014	28/03/2015	2	1	30	7	7	19	6.50	26/05/2014	201	-	
PAKISTAN	EMR	01/02/2015	09/02/2015	2	2	2	6	6	6	9.20	19/08/2014	165	-	(25.27)
MYANMAR	SEAR	16/04/2015	05/10/2015	2	2	2	13	13	15	2.54	27/02/2014	413	-	(33,37)
UKRAINE	EUR	30/06/2015	07/07/2015	1	2	2	20	20	26	2.67	07/09/2013	660	-	(35,39,40)
LAO PEOPLE'S DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC	WPR	07/09/2015	02/06/2016	1	14	43	21	21	35	2.61	11/10/2013	696	-	(35,39)
PAKISTAN	EMR	20/10/2016	28/12/2016	2	1	5	9	9	18	12.5	22/01/2016	271	PAK-QTA-1	(11.12)
NIGERIA	AFR	28/10/2016	24/11/2016	2	1	2	12	12	16	21.2	16/10/2015	377	NIE-SOS-2	(+1,+2)
DRC	AFR	20/02/2017	08/06/2018	2	27	37	15	14	29	5.80	25/10/2015	483	-	(43–46)
DRC	AFR	26/03/2017	18/04/2017	2	2	3	7	7	9	5.80	06/09/2016	201	-	(43–46)
SYRIA	EMR	03/03/2017	21/09/2017	2	74	113	22	22	33	3.60	03/03/2015	731	SYR-1	(43,44)
SOMALIA	EMR	22/10/2017	04/02/2020	2	10	61	38	33	58	6.30	04/04/2014	1297	-	(43,44,47–51)

Country	Region	Date first isolate collected	Date last isolate collected	Туре	AFP Cases	Isolates	First NC <sup>1</sup>	Smallest NC	Largest NC	NPAFP <sup>2</sup>	Estimated seed date	Days to detect	Emergence lineage <sup>3</sup>	Reference(s)
NIGERIA	AFR	10/01/2018	09/10/2019	2	46	191	13	13	33	10.90	23/11/2016	413	NIE-JIS-1	(44.47.49)
NIGERIA	AFR	30/01/2018	24/03/2019	2	1	18	6	6	14	10.90	17/08/2017	165	NIE-SOS-3	(44,47,48)
SOMALIA	EMR	08/03/2018	07/09/2018	3	7	24	14	14	23	4.80	15/12/2016	448	SOM-BAN-2	(43,44,47,49)
CHINA	WPR	18/04/2018	18/08/2019	2	1	5	13	13	33	2.08	01/03/2017	413	CHN-XXX	(44,47)
PAPUA NEW GUINEA	WPR	25/04/2018	04/11/2018	1	26	41	14	13	24	7.90	01/02/2018	448	PNG-MOR-1	
DRC	AFR	26/04/2018	29/10/2018	2	11	21	19	18	26	6.60	09/08/2016	625	RDC-MON-1	
DRC	AFR	06/10/2018	07/10/2018	2	2	2	7	7	8	6.60	19/03/2018	201	RDC-HKA-1	(43,44,47)
MOZAMBIQUE	AFR	21/10/2018	17/12/2018	2	1	3	6	6	10	3.40	08/05/2018	165	MOZ-ZAM-2	
INDONESIA	SEAR	27/11/2018	13/02/2019	1	1	3	58	58	60	2.40	02/06/2013	2004	IDN-PAP-1	
DRC	AFR	08/02/2019	17/03/2019	2	1	3	6	6	7	9.31	26/08/2018	165	RDC-KAS-1	
DRC	AFR	10/02/2019	13/12/2019	2	20	26	8	8	15	9.31	19/06/2018	236	RDC-HLO-2	
NIGERIA	AFR	18/03/2019	10/06/2019	2	0	3	16	16	20	10.27	15/10/2019	519	NIE-SOS-4	
DRC	AFR	03/04/2019	22/06/2019	2	4	5	6	6	11	9.31	19/10/2018	165	RDC-KAS-2	
ANGOLA	AFR	05/04/2019	14/05/2019	2	1	2	7	7	10	4.99	16/09/2018	201	ANG-LNO-2	
DRC	AFR	21/04/2019	30/11/2019	2	32	35	6	6	16	9.31	06/11/2018	165	RDC-SAN-1	
ANGOLA	AFR	27/04/2019	09/02/2020	2	78	105	6	6	16	4.99	12/11/2018	165	ANG-HUI-1	(47.48.50-52)
CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC	AFR	02/05/2019	20/11/2019	2	5	22	10	7	19	9.19	29//06/2018	307	CAR-BAM-1	(47,40,50-52)
CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC	AFR	06/05/2019	29/06/2019	2	2	3	9	9	11	9.19	07/08/2018	271	CAR-BIM-1	
CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC	AFR	06/05/2019	05/02/2020	2	9	22	6	6	17	9.19	21/11/2018	165	CAR-BNG-1	
NIGERIA	AFR	20/05/2019	20/06/2019	2	1	2	14	14	15	10.27	26/02/2018	448	NIE-SOS-5	
CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC	AFR	27/05/2019	27/05/2019	2	0	3	6	6	6	9.19	12/12/2018	165	CAR-BAM-2	
CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC	AFR	28/05/2019	11/09/2019	2	0	16	9	9	20	9.19	29/08/2018	271	CAR-BIM-2	
ANGOLA	AFR	01/06/2019	25/12/2019	2	15	16	10	10	20	4.99	29/07/2018	307	ANG-LNO-1	(47,48,50–52)
DRC	AFR	03/06/2019	08/03/2020	2	21	27	8	8	20	9.31	10/10/2018	236	RDC-KAS-3	(47,48,50–52)
PAKISTAN	EMR	10/06/2019	10/02/2020	2	41	124	6	6	18	24.49	26/12/2018	165	PAK-GB-1	(47,48,50–52)

Country	Region	Date first isolate collected	Date last isolate collected	Туре	AFP Cases	Isolates	First NC <sup>1</sup>	Smallest NC	Largest NC	NPAFP <sup>2</sup>	Estimated seed date	Days to detect	Emergence lineage <sup>3</sup>	Reference(s)
ANGOLA	AFR	15/06/2019	27/12/2019	2	34	51	6	6	14	4.99	26/02/2019	201	ANG-LUA-1	(47,48,50–52)
MYANMAR	SEAR	23/06/2019	21/08/2019	1	5	12	25	25	33	3.43	08/03/2017	837	-	(47,48,51,53)
PHILIPPINES	WPR	26/06/2019	24/01/2020	2	14	50	61	61	70	4.30	14/09/2013	2110	PHL-NCR-1	
DRC	AFR	27/06/2019	14/08/2019	2	1	2	7	7	7	9.31	08/12/2018	201	RDC-TPA-1	(47.49.51.52)
PAKISTAN	EMR	01/07/2019	28/08/2019	2	0	3	6	6	12	24.49	07/11/2018	236	PAK-GB-2	(47,48,51,52)
PAKISTAN	EMR	01/07/2019	22/08/2019	2	1	2	8	8	9	24.49	16/01/2019	165	PAK-KOH-1	
PHILIPPINES	WPR	01/07/2019	28/11/2019	1	1	24	30	30	40	4.30	20/09/2016	1014	PHL-NCR-2	(48,54)
ZAMBIA	AFR	16/07/2019	25/09/2019	2	1	3	9	9	10	3.75	17/10/2018	271	ZAM-LUA-1	
NIGERIA	AFR	22/07/2019	26/01/2020	2	3	9	8	8	14	10.27	28/11/2018	236	NIE-KGS-1	
CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC	AFR	30/07/2019	23/08/2019	2	2	9	7	7	14	9.19	10/01/2019	201	CAR-BIM-3	
NIGERIA	AFR	07/08/2019	17/08/2019	2	2	5	6	6	10	10.27	22/02/2019	165	NIE-KGS-2	
ΕΤΗΙΟΡΙΑ	AFR	30/08/2019	30/12/2019	2	0	3	14	14	14	2.91	08/06/2018	448	ETH-SOM-1	
CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC	AFR	31/08/2019	08/12/2019	2	3	7	7	7	11	9.19	11/02/2019	201	CAR-BER-1	
NIGERIA	AFR	11/09/2019	11/09/2019	2	0	1	10	10	10	10.27	08/11/2018	307	NIE-SOS-6	
ΕΤΗΙΟΡΙΑ	AFR	14/09/2019	12/02/2020	2	11	15	10	10	23	2.91	11/11/2018	307	ETH-ORO-1	(48,50–52)
ANGOLA	AFR	15/09/2019	18/12/2019	2	12	14	7	7	14	4.99	26/02/2019	201	ANG-MOX-1	
PAKISTAN	EMR	15/09/2019	12/11/2019	2	1	4	6	6	12	24.49	02/04/2019	165	PAK-GB-3	
CHAD	AFR	31/10/2019	05/02/2020	2	8	21	6	6	23	13.35	18/05/2019	165	CHA-NDJ-1	
PAKISTAN	EMR	15/11/2019	03/01/2020	2	2	10	6	6	14	24.49	02/06/2019	165	PAK-TOR-1	
TOGO	AFR	15/11/2019	01/02/2020	2	3	5	13	13	17	4.57	28/09/2018	413	TOG-SAV-1	
ETHIOPIA	AFR	16/12/2019	26/01/2020	2	3	3	11	11	14	2.91	05/05/2018	589	ETH-ORO-2	
ΕΤΗΙΟΡΙΑ	AFR	16/12/2019	21/02/2020	2	1	2	18	18	20	2.91	08/01/2019	342	ETH-ORO-3	

<sup>1</sup>Nucleotide divergence of the first isolate <sup>2</sup>NPAFP rate (per 100,000 children <15) for the first year of the outbreak <sup>3</sup>Reporting of emergence lineage only began in 2016. Lineage is reported only where data is available

**Table 2.** Final regression model of factors associated with the number of nucleotide differences of the first isolate of VDPV outbreaks. Sample size and dispersion parameter ( $\theta$ ) for the serotypes 1 and 3 model are reported.

Serotypes 1 & 3 (n = 15) $\theta$ = 3.91											
Variable	Factor	IRR, multivariable (95% CI)	P-value								
Intercept	-	-									
Type of surveillance via which first isolate was detected (AFP case or ES) AFP: n = 14 (93.3%) ES: n = 1 (6.7%)	ES (vs. AFP)	0.22 (0.04, 1.28)	0.077								
Unit increase of non-polio AFP rate (cases per 100,000 children aged <15 years old) Mean (95% Cl): 3.1 (2.2, 4.0)	Linear term	0.49 (0.21, 1.02)	0.087								
Percent of stool samples adequately collected Mean (95% CI): 85.5 (77.1, 93.9) <80%: n = 3 (20%)	Linear term	0.98 (0.95, 1.02)	0.415								
Unit increase of non-polio AFP rate * Percent of stool samples adequately collected	Interaction term	1.01 (1.0, 1.03)	<0.05								



**Figure 1.** Serotypes 1 & 3 diagnostic plots: (A) residual vs. fitted values, (B) Normal Q-Q plot and (C) Expected vs. observed frequencies of nucleotide mutations assuming a negative binomial distribution. Model residuals (Figure 1a) for the serotypes 1 and 3 model support an appropriate model structure as the plot illustrates homoscedasticity of the residuals. The Q-Q plot (Figure 1b) further supports the assumed theoretical distribution for the final model as most values are centred along the Q-Q line, but the extreme values illustrate deviation from the assumed normal distribution of residuals. Figure 1c provides a visual comparison of expected vs. observed frequencies of nucleotide mutations. For serotypes 1 and 3, some outbreak frequencies corresponding to  $\geq$ 13 nucleotide mutations are under-estimated while smaller mutations (9-10) are over-estimated by the model.

#### 7.4.1 References - Chapter 5 appendix

 Kew O, Morris-Glasgow V, Landaverde M, Burns C, Shaw J, Garib Z, et al. Outbreak of poliomyelitis in hispaniola associated with circulating type 1 vaccine-derived poliovirus. Science (80-). 2002 Apr 12;296(5566):356–9.

2. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Update on Vaccine-Derived Polioviruses. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2006 Oct 13;55(40):1093–7.

3. Shimizu H, Thorley B, Paladin FJ, Brussen KA, Stambos V, Yuen L, et al. Circulation of Type 1 Vaccine-Derived Poliovirus in the Philippines in 2001. J Virol. 2004 Dec 15;78(24):13512–21.

4. Rousset D, Rakoto-Andrianarivelo M, Razafindratsimandresy R, Randriamanalina B, Guillot S, Balanant J, et al. Recombinant vaccine-derived poliovirus in Madagascar. Emerg Infect Dis. 2003 Jul 1;9(7):885–7.

5. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Public Health Dispatch: Poliomyelitis ---Madagascar, 2002. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2002 Jul 19;51(28):622.

6. Liang X, Zhang Y, Xu W, Wen N, Zuo S, Lee LA, et al. An Outbreak of Poliomyelitis Caused by Type 1 Vaccine-Derived Poliovirus in China. J Infect Dis. 2006 Sep 1;194(5):545–51.

7. World Health Organization. Weekly Epidemiological Record. Geneva; 2005 Mar.

8. Gumede N, Lentsoane O, Burns CC, Pallansch M, de Gourville E, Yogolelo R, et al. Emergence of vaccine-derived polioviruses, Democratic Republic of Congo, 2004-2011. Emerg Infect Dis. 2013 Oct;19(10):1583–9.

9. Health Organization W. Weekly epidemiological record. Geneva; 2006 Mar.

10. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Update on Vaccine-Derived Polioviruses ---Worldwide, January 2008--June 2009. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2009 Sep 18;58(36):1002–6.

Rakoto-Andrianarivelo M, Gumede N, Jegouic S, Balanant J, Andriamamonjy SN,
 Rabemanantsoa S, et al. Reemergence of Recombinant Vaccine-Derived Poliovirus Outbreak in
 Madagascar. J Infect Dis. 2008 May 15;197(10):1427–35.

12. Estívariz CF, Watkins MA, Handoko D, Rusipah R, Deshpande J, Rana BJ, et al. A Large Vaccine-Derived Poliovirus Outbreak on Madura Island—Indonesia, 2005. J Infect Dis. 2008 Feb 1;197(3):347–54.

13. Soedarmo SP, Utoro S. Controlling polio outbreak due to imported wild poliovirus in Indonesia: A success story. Paediatr Indones. 2009 Aug 31;49(4):234.

Burns CC, Shaw J, Jorba J, Bukbuk D, Adu F, Gumede N, et al. Multiple Independent
 Emergences of Type 2 Vaccine-Derived Polioviruses during a Large Outbreak in Northern Nigeria. J
 Virol. 2013 May 1;87(9):4907–22.

264

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Update on Vaccine-Derived Polioviruses -- Worldwide, January 2006--August 2007. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2007 Sep 28;56(38):996–1001.
 Yan D, Li L, Zhu S, Zhang Y, An J, Wang D, et al. Emergence and localized circulation of a vaccine-derived poliovirus in an isolated mountain community in Guangxi, China. J Clin Microbiol. 2010 Sep;48(9):3274–80.

17. World Health Organization. Weekly epidemiological record. Vol. 82. Geneva; 2007 Mar.

18. World Health Organization. Weekly epidemiological record. Geneva; 2009 Mar.

19. World Health Organization. Weekly epidemiological record. Geneva; 2009 Nov.

20. World Health Organization. Weekly epidemiological record. Geneva; 2011 Dec.

21. World Health Organization. Weekly Epidemiological Record. Geneva; 2011 Apr.

22. World Health Organization. Weekly epidemiological record. Geneva; 2013 Dec.

23. Diop OM, Burns CC, Wassilak SG, Kew OM. Update on Vaccine-Derived Polioviruses — Worldwide, July 2012–December 2013. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2014 Mar 21;63(11):242–8.

24. World Health Organization. Weekly Epidemiological Report. Geneva; 2013 Apr.

25. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Update on Vaccine-Derived Polioviruses ---Worldwide, July 2009--March 2011. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2011 Jul 1;60(25):846–50.

26. Sharif S, Abbasi BH, Khurshid A, Alam MM, Shaukat S, Angez M, et al. Evolution and circulation of type-2 vaccine-derived polioviruses in Nad Ali district of Southern Afghanistan during June 2009-February 2011. PLoS One. 2014 Feb 18;9(2):88442.

27. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Update on Vaccine-Derived Polioviruses — Worldwide, April 2011–June 2012. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2012 Sep 21;61(37):741–6.

28. Bazira L, Coulibaly T, Mayenga M, Ncharre C, Yogolelo R, Mbule A, et al. Épidémie de poliovirus circulants dérivés de souches vaccinales de type 2 en République démocratique du Congo de 2011 à 2012. Bull la Soc Pathol Exot. 2015 Oct 29;108(4):235–41.

29. Yan D, Zhang Y, Zhu S, Chen N, Li X, Wang D, et al. Limited and localized outbreak of newly emergent type 2 vaccine-derived poliovirus in Sichuan, China. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 2014 Jul 1;21(7):1012–8.

30. World Health Organization. Weekly epidemiological record. Geneva; 2014 Apr.

31. Endegue-Zanga MC, Sadeuh-Mba SA, Iber J, Burns C, Nimpa-Mengouo M, Demanou M, et al. Circulating vaccine-derived polioviruses in the Extreme North region of Cameroon. J Clin Virol. 2015 Jan 1; 62:80–3.

Alexander JP. Progress toward poliomyelitis eradication - Pakistan, January 2012-September
 2013. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2013;62(46):934–8.

33. Diop OM, Burns CC, Sutter RW, Wassilak SG, Kew OM. Update on Vaccine-Derived Polioviruses — Worldwide, January 2014–March 2015. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2015 Jun 19;64(23):640–6.

34. World Health Organization. Weekly epidemiological record. Geneva; 2015 Dec.

35. Jorba J, Diop OM, Iber J, Sutter RW, Wassilak SG, Burns CC. Update on Vaccine-Derived Polioviruses — Worldwide, January 2015–May 2016. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2016 Aug 5;65(30):763–9.

36. World Health Organization. Weekly epidemiological record. Geneva; 2015 Apr.

37. World Health Organization. Weekly Epidemiological Record. Geneva; 2016 Apr.

38. Fernandez-Garcia MD, Majumdar M, Kebe O, Fall AD, Kone M, Kande M, et al. Emergence of vaccine-derived polioviruses during Ebola virus disease outbreak, Guinea, 2014-2015. Emerg Infect Dis. 2018 Jan 1;24(1):65–74.

39. Morales M, Nnadi CD, Tangermann RH, Wassilak SGF. Notes from the Field: Circulating Vaccine-Derived Poliovirus Outbreaks — Five Countries, 2014–2015. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2016 Feb 12;65(05):128–9.

40. Khetsuriani N, Perehinets I, Nitzan D, Popovic D, Moran T, Allahverdiyeva V, et al.
Responding to a cVDPV1 outbreak in Ukraine: Implications, challenges and opportunities. Vaccine.
2017 Aug 24;35(36):4769–76.

41. Jorba J, Diop OM, Iber J, Henderson E, Sutter RW, Wassilak SGF, et al. Update on Vaccine-Derived Polioviruses — Worldwide, January 2016–June 2017. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2017 Nov 3;66(43):1185–91.

42. World Health Organization. Weekly Epidemiological Report. Geneva; 2017 Apr.

Jorba J, Diop OM, Iber J, Henderson E, Zhao K, Sutter RW, et al. Update on Vaccine-Derived
Polioviruses — Worldwide, January 2017–June 2018. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2018 Oct
26;67(42):1189–94.

44. Patel JC, Diop OM, Gardner T, Chavan S, Jorba J, Wassilak SGF, et al. Surveillance to Track Progress Toward Polio Eradication — Worldwide, 2017–2018. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2019 Apr 5;68(13):312–8.

45. Alleman MM, Chitale R, Burns CC, Iber J, Dybdahl-Sissoko N, Chen Q, et al. Vaccine-Derived Poliovirus Outbreaks and Events — Three Provinces, Democratic Republic of the Congo, 2017. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2018 Mar 16;67(10):300–5.

46. Mbaeyi C, Alleman MM, Ehrhardt D, Wiesen E, Burns CC, Liu H, et al. Update on Vaccine-Derived Poliovirus Outbreaks — Democratic Republic of the Congo and Horn of Africa, 2017–2018. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2019 Mar 8;68(9):225–30.

266

47. Jorba J, Diop OM, Iber J, Henderson E, Zhao K, Quddus A, et al. Update on Vaccine-Derived Poliovirus Outbreaks — Worldwide, January 2018–June 2019. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2019 Nov 15;68(45):1024–8.

48. Alleman MM, Jorba J, Greene SA, Diop OM, Iber J, Tallis G, et al. Update on Vaccine-Derived Poliovirus Outbreaks — Worldwide, July 2019–February 2020. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2020 Apr 24;69(16):489–95.

49. Eboh VA, Makam JK, Chitale RA, Mbaeyi C, Jorba J, Ehrhardt D, et al. Notes from the Field: Widespread Transmission of Circulating Vaccine-Derived Poliovirus Identified by Environmental Surveillance and Immunization Response — Horn of Africa, 2017–2018. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2018 Jul 20;67(28):787–9.

50. World Health Organization. Weekly epidemiological report. Geneva; 2020 Jul.

51. World Health Organization. Weekly epidemiological record. Genevea; 2020 Mar.

52. Macklin GR, O'Reilly KM, Grassly NC, Edmunds WJ, Mach O, Santhana Gopala Krishnan R, et al. Evolving epidemiology of poliovirus serotype 2 following withdrawal of the serotype 2 oral poliovirus vaccine. Science (80- ). 2020 Apr 24;368(6489):401–5.

53. World Health Organization. Circulating vaccine-derived poliovirus type 1 – Myanmar
[Internet]. WHO. World Health Organization; 2019 [cited 2020 Sep 1]. Available from: http://www.who.int/csr/don/22-august-2019-polio-myanmar/en/

54. Lickness JS, Gardner T, Diop OM, Chavan S, Jorba J, Ahmed J, et al. Surveillance to Track Progress Toward Polio Eradication — Worldwide, 2018–2019. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2020 May 22;69(20):623–9.